

This is a digital copy of a book that was preserved for generations on library shelves before it was carefully scanned by Google as part of a project to make the world's books discoverable online.

It has survived long enough for the copyright to expire and the book to enter the public domain. A public domain book is one that was never subject to copyright or whose legal copyright term has expired. Whether a book is in the public domain may vary country to country. Public domain books are our gateways to the past, representing a wealth of history, culture and knowledge that's often difficult to discover.

Marks, notations and other marginalia present in the original volume will appear in this file - a reminder of this book's long journey from the publisher to a library and finally to you.

Usage guidelines

Google is proud to partner with libraries to digitize public domain materials and make them widely accessible. Public domain books belong to the public and we are merely their custodians. Nevertheless, this work is expensive, so in order to keep providing this resource, we have taken steps to prevent abuse by commercial parties, including placing technical restrictions on automated querying.

We also ask that you:

- + *Make non-commercial use of the files* We designed Google Book Search for use by individuals, and we request that you use these files for personal, non-commercial purposes.
- + Refrain from automated querying Do not send automated queries of any sort to Google's system: If you are conducting research on machine translation, optical character recognition or other areas where access to a large amount of text is helpful, please contact us. We encourage the use of public domain materials for these purposes and may be able to help.
- + *Maintain attribution* The Google "watermark" you see on each file is essential for informing people about this project and helping them find additional materials through Google Book Search. Please do not remove it.
- + *Keep it legal* Whatever your use, remember that you are responsible for ensuring that what you are doing is legal. Do not assume that just because we believe a book is in the public domain for users in the United States, that the work is also in the public domain for users in other countries. Whether a book is still in copyright varies from country to country, and we can't offer guidance on whether any specific use of any specific book is allowed. Please do not assume that a book's appearance in Google Book Search means it can be used in any manner anywhere in the world. Copyright infringement liability can be quite severe.

About Google Book Search

Google's mission is to organize the world's information and to make it universally accessible and useful. Google Book Search helps readers discover the world's books while helping authors and publishers reach new audiences. You can search through the full text of this book on the web at http://books.google.com/



Harvard College Library



FROM THE J. HUNTINGTON WOLCOTT FUND

GIVEN BY ROGER WOLCOTT [CLASS OF 1870] IN MEMORY OF HIS FATHER FOR THE "PURCHASE OF BOOKS OF PERMANENT VALUE, THE PREFERENCE TO BE GIVEN TO WORKS OF HISTORY, POLITICAL ECONOMY AND SOCIOLOGY"



THE STORY OF MY LIFE



(Photo: Elliott & Fry, Baker Street, W.)

Your very truly Richard Temple

The Story

of My Life

d. Fille



IN THE UCLOMES, - VOL 11

CASSELL AND COMPANY LIGHTED

10800N, PARIS & MELLO RAE . 1896 //

. II AN ARTS PUSHES NO



Puc

The Story of My Life,

BY

THE RT. HON.

SIR RICHARD TEMPLE BART., G.C.S.I.

D.C.L. (Oxon.), LL.D. (Cantab.), F.R.S.



THE NASH, WORCESTERSHIRE.

IN TWO VOLUMES.—VOL. II.

CASSELL AND COMPANY LIMITED

LONDON, PARIS & MELBOURNE

1896

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED



Ind 1120.1





CONTENTS.

CHAPTER I.

/1977	1990 \	THE	GOVERNMENT	ΛE	DOMPAY
(10//-	-100U.)	-111	GUVERNMENI	UF	DUMBAI.

PAGE

1

Arrival at Parell the Government House Bombay—Departure of Sir Philip Wodehouse—Residence at Malabar Point—First visit to Sind—Return to Bombay—Railway tour to Kattywar—Resort to Poona—House at Ganeshkind—Relief of Famine—Lord Lytton's visit—Plans for material improvement Deccan—Presentation at Bombay of address from Bengal—Second visit to Sind—Visit to Lord Lytton at Calcutta—Oodeypore in Rajputana—Bombay docks—Address to University of Bombay—Opening of new railway in Deccan—Despatch of Troops to Malta—Preservation of Forests—Bombay waterworks—Plague of rats in Deccan—Third visit to Sind via Goojerat—Distinguished visitors to Bombay—The High Court—The Volunteers—Inspection of Canara forests—Acceptance of offer to stand as candidate for Parliament

CHAPTER II.

(1878-1880.)-WORK ON AFGHAN FRONTIER AND DEPARTURE FROM INDIA.

Lord Lytton's policy—War undertaken against Amir Shere Ali—Am directed to supervise transport and supply between Indus and Southern Afghanistan—Proceed viâ Sind to Sibi—Meet Sir Robert Sandeman—Inspect Bolan Pass—Return to Bombay—News of destruction of British Mission at Caubul—Am directed to cause railway to be constructed from Indus to Sibi—Proceed thither—Meet Sir Robert Sandeman—Am directed to extend the railway to Pishin on Candahar border—Visit Quetta and Pishin—Ride to Candahar and back—Railway line from Pishin to Sibi—Progress of railway in the desert—Return to Bombay—Revert to Sind to arrange for extending railway to Candahar—Farewell to Kurrachi—Return again to Bombay—Preparations for final departure—News from England of General Election—Departure hastened—Parting scenes...

31

> CHAPTER III.

TRAITS IN THE NATIVE INDIAN CHARACTER.

Style of Native conversation—Picturesque wit—Natural eloquence— Plausibility—Insinuation and flattery—Question of gratitude—



VIII	CONTENTS.	
	Fidelity of Native domestic servants—National adherence to custom —Yet many tendencies to change—Western knowledge—Eastern religious beliefs—Question of integrity—Domestic virtues—Filial relations—Courage in face of death—Question of loyalty	PAGE
	CHAPTER IV.	
	(1849-1890.)—RETROSPECT OF INDIA IN MY GENERATION.	
Му	generation, 1848 to 1880—Additions of territory—Neighbourhood of Russia and of France—Proclamation of Empire of India—The Native States—Legislative Councils—High Courts of Judicature—Imperial Civil Service—Mutinies in Native Army—Military rearrangement—The Indian Navy—Railways and Electric Telegraph—Canals for Irrigation—Famine relief—Property in Land—Public health and sanitation—Public Instruction and State Education—Their effect on Hinduism—Christian Missions—Native vernacular press—Character borne by Native officials—Census of the population—Commercial progress—Revenue and National Debt—European Society	68
	CHAPTER V.	
	(1880-96.)—LIFE IN ENGLAND.	
Arr	Proceed to Worcestershire—Defeated in election—Revert to London —Write book "India in 1880"—Make speeches Birmingham and Manchester—Residence at Hampstead—Write book "Men and events of my time in India"—Varied literary work—My "Oriental Experience" and "Cosmopolitan Essays"—Memoirs of John Law- rence and James Thomason—Addresses to various societies—Honours from Universities Oxford and Cambridge—Move in London society— Travel in Scotland—Negotiations with various constituencies— Resume candidature for Worcestershire—The Evesham Division— Electoral campaign—Elected Member December 1885	84
	CHAPTER VI.	
	(1882-1863.)—TRAVELS IN EASTERN EUROPE.	
Jou	rney to Constantinople—Seraskier Tower—Scutari—San Stefano—Galata Tower—Prince's Islands—Broussa—Turks and Turkish government—Across Black Sea to Russia—Odessa—Kieff—The Jews—Moscow—Kremlin—Political tendencies—Nijni Novgorod—St. Petersburg—Esthonia—Warsaw—Return to England—Voyage to Palestine—Jaffa to Jerusalem—Jordan and Jericho—Bethel and Shechem—Samaria—Nazareth and Tiberias—Tyre and Sidon—Beyrout and Baalbec—Benefit of Travel in Holy Land—Sacred scenery	109

CHAPTER VII.

(1882-1894.)-TRAVELS	IN	EUROPE.
-------------	-----------	----	---------

PAGE

Health resorts in Continent of Europe—Remarkable churches—Component parts of Poland—Dolomite mountains—Pyrenees—Riviera—German literature—Bohemia—My oil-pictures—Sweden—Stockholm and Upsala—Norway—North Cape midnight—Coast and islands—Norwegian lyric poetry—Spain—Picture Gallery, Madrid—Chapel of Escurial—Seville—Alhambra—Bridge at Ronda—Portugal—Cintra and the Tagus—Return to Madrid—Royal festivities—Spanish literature—Saragossa and Barcelona—Greece—Salonica—General election in Greece—Gulf of Corinth—Parnassus—Olympus—Moonlight at Thermopylæ, Sunium, and Acropolis

126

CHAPTER VIII.

(1882-1884.)-TWO VISITS TO CANADA.

First visit to Canada 1882—Mouth of the St. Lawrence—Quebec—River voyage to Montreal—Visit to Sir John A. Macdonald at Ottawa—Second visit to Canada, 1884—Voyage to New York—Meeting of British Association at Montreal—My Presidency of Economic Science Section—Ball given by Sir Donald Smith—Our journey to Toronto—Excursion to Rocky Mountains—My Chairmanship of Excursionists—Hospitality of Canadian Pacific Railway Company—Across great Prairie—Snow-topped chain of Rocky Mountains—Enter British Columbia—Re-cross North-West Prairie—Arrive at Winnipeg—My address to citizens there

143

CHAPTER IX.

(1892.)-FIRST VISIT TO THE UNITED STATES.

Approach United States from Montreal—Boston—Newport, Rhode Island—First visit to New York—Voyage up the Hudson to Albany—To Falls of Niagara—To Chicago—To Omaha—To Kansas City—St. Louis on the Mississippi—Cincinnati—Columbus in Ohio—Washington—Richmond, Virginia—Back to Washington—Baltimore—Philadelphia—Second visit to New York—Mr. John Jacob Astor—Second visit to Boston—Return to New York—American characteristics—Voyage homewards—Queenstown, Ireland—Killarney—Return to England ...

160

CHAPTER X.

(1884.)—SECOND VISIT TO THE UNITED STATES.

New York—Mr. Pyne's Villa—President Arthur—Newport, Rhode Island
—Mr. Thayer—Boston—Thence to Dakota viâ Canada—Yellowstone
Park—Geyser Valley—Prairie of Idaho—Salt Lake City—San Francisco—Monterey—Yosemité Valley—The "Big Trees"—Mr. Consul

	LAC
Stanley—Central Prairie to Colorado Springs—Denver—Presidential	
election—Political meetings Peoria—Chicago—Pullman town—Pitts-	
burgh—Altoona—Philadelphia—New York—Banquet to Mr. Blaine	
-Union League Club, Republican-Manhattan Club, Democratic-	
Processions before Mr. Blaine and Mr. Cleveland-Election day 4th	
November - Recount Votes in New York State-Mr. Cleveland at	
Albany-Smith College-Mr. John Welsh at Philadelphia-Return	
New York—General Ulysses Grant—Voyage homewards—Ireland—	
Limerick and Galway—Return to England	18

CHAPTER XI.

(1884-1894.)-SCHOOL BOARD FOR LONDON.

I become Member of the Board in 1884—General Election of the Board for London in 1885—Am elected for the City of London—Become financial Member of the Board—Budgets in 1886, and in succeeding years—The Economical Party—Fresh election for London in 1888—Am re-elected for the City—Growth of expenditure—Further election for London in 1891—Am elected for City of London for third time—Religious instruction—Resign my seat Easter 1894—Conduct and policy of the Board—Merits and demerits—Educational results ...

216

CHAPTER XII.

(1886.)-PARLIAMENT IN 1886.

First entrance to Commons—Speech by the Queen in Lords—My Parliamentary Journal—Maiden Speech—Defeat of Conservative Ministry—Mr. Gladstone's Liberal Government—Home Rule Bill—Great debate Second Reading—Liberal Unionist Party—Bill rejected on decisive Division—Dissolution of Parliament and General Election—My election at Evesham—House meets under Conservative Government—Prorogation in Autumn—My position and duty in the Commons

226

CHAPTER XIII.

PARLIAMENT FROM 1887 TO 1892.

House meets January 1887—Conservative policy—Lord Randolph Churchill and Mr. W. H. Smith—Sir Michael Hicks-Beach and Mr. Balfour—Rules of Procedure—All-night sittings—Irish Crimes Bill—Irish Land Bill—Opening Session 1888—Hours of Business—Conversion National Debt—Local Government Bill for England—Parnell Commission—Autumn Sitting—Session 1889—Scotch Local Government and Universities—Session 1890—Mr. Goschen's Budget—Licensing clauses—Mr. Balfour's success in Ireland—Imperial arrangements Africa—Session in November—Re-assembling 1891—Tithes Bill and Irish Land Purchase Bill—Free Education—Death of

CONTENTS.	xi
Mr. W. H. Smith—Session 1892—Mr. Balfour leader—Irish Local Government Bill—Agricultural Small Holdings Bill—Dissolution of	P AGE
Parliament	237
CHAPTER XIV.	
(1887-1892.)—LIFE IN THE COMMONS.	
Jubilee of the Queen's reign—Service in St. Margaret's Church—Scene in Westminster Abbey—Character of House 1887 to 1892—Opposition and Obstruction—Work with "the Old Guard"—Attendance in Divisions—Nocturnal sittings and morning walks—Drives from Westminster to Hampstead—Routine of labour—Service on Committees—Educational work—Superannuation of Teachers—Hartington Commission—Party meetings at the Carlton Club—Parliamentary comrades—Guests in precincts of House—Hours of business—Resign seat Worcestershire—Accept candidature Kingston division of Surrey	255
CHAPTER XV.	
(1892-1896.) PARLIAMENT FROM 1892 TO 1895, AND CONCLUSION.	
My election Kingston—Meeting of House August 1892—Defeat of Conservative Ministry—Mr. Gladstone succeeds—Session 1893—Home Rule Ireland Bill passed through Commons by "guillotine" process—Rejected in Lords—Autumn sitting for District and Parish Councils Bill—Protracted into 1894—New Session in March—Resignation of Mr. Gladstone—Sir William Harcourt leader—New Death Duties—Irish Tenants Bill in Commons—Rejected in Lords—Session 1895—Bill relating to Church in Wales—Ammunition for Army—Resignation of Lord Rosebery's Ministry—Unionist Ministry under Lord Salisbury—Dissolution of Parliament—I resign my seat—Privy Council—Royal Society	274
Council—Royal Society	214

Index



305

THE STORY OF MY LIFE

CHAPTER I.

(1877-1880).—THE GOVERNMENT OF BOMBAY.

Arrival at Parell, the Government House, Bombay—Departure of Sir Philip Wodehouse—Residence at Malabar Point—First visit to Sind—Return to Bombay—Railway tour to Kattywar—Resort to Poona—House at Ganeshkind—Relief of Famine—Lord Lytton's visit—Plans for material improvement, Deccan—Presentation at Bombay of Address from Bengal—Second visit to Sind—Visit to Lord Lytton at Calcutta—Oodeypore in Rajputana—Bombay docks—Address to University of Bombay—Opening of new railway in Deccan—Despatch of troops to Malta—Preservation of forests—Bombay Waterworks—Plague of rats in Deccan—Third visit to Sind via Goojerat—Distinguished visitors to Bombay—The High Court—The Volunteers—Inspection of Canara forests—Acceptance of offer to stand as candidate for Parliament.

IN January, 1887, I was at what proved to be the culminating point of my career in India. I was Lieutenant-Governor of Bengal actually, and I was Governor-elect of Bombay. Intermediately I was delegate from the Government of India to the Madras Presidency. Of the three Presidencies which make up British India, I had in this the month of my zenith an official connection with the whole of two Presidencies, and with a goodly portion of the third.

At the end of April, 1877, passing from the Madras Presidency and through the Nizam's dominions to my

future Presidency, I reflected that I was about to become Governor of Bombay. This made me think upon the portrait of my maternal uncle, Sir James Rivett-Carnac, in my ancestral home. How well I remembered, as a boy, scanning the handsome features, on being told that he had been Governor of Bombay. I wondered, too, at the uniform, never dreaming that I should one day wear it myself. Mr. Rivett-Carnac, who became the father of him and of my mother, was in the beginning of this century a Member of Council at Bombay. As he used to sit at that Council Board, with a noble lord from England presiding as Governor, he could hardly have thought that in the two succeeding generations his son and grandson would both occupy that Presidential chair.

Soon my train stopped at a country station inside the Bombay Presidency. There I alighted in order to ride and drive to Beejapore, one of the districts threatened with famine. I knew well that all arrangements for meeting the calamity had been made with due foresight by the Governor, Sir Philip Wodehouse, and his colleagues, with their henchman, General (afterwards Sir Michael) Kennedy. I inspected the remains of the Moslem dynasty at Beejapore, and indeed few ruins, even in India, were better worth seeing. The architecture, though stiff and quaint, was severely artistic. I thought of Meadows Taylor's "Tara," of which the scene is laid here, the most graphic story of Native life

ever penned by a European hand. The dome of the regal mausoleum was the finest ever erected in the world

Returning to the railway, and travelling through Poona, during the night, I alighted at the Parell station near Bombay. I was there met by an assemblage of the principal officers of Western India, civil, political, military, marine. The daily newspaper remarked that as I rapidly recognised each old friend, my aspect was toil-worn and bronzed from exposure. I then drove to Parell House, where I was the guest of the retiring Governor, Sir Philip Wodehouse. I was with him as he sat at sunset for the last time in the leafy arcades of the garden rich with tropical vegetation. With him I descended the great staircase, on the next day, as he made his final exit to enter the State carriage. Turning round to the bystanders and attendants of various nationalities, he said in a manly yet touching tone, "Good-bye, all, all!" I accompanied him, being myself in full uniform, to the Apollo Bunder, the point where Governors, arriving or departing, have always landed or embarked. Here, then, troops of his friends had gathered, and hence the pinnace, decorated with bunting, took him on board the mail steamer bound for England.

I then drove to the Council Chamber, situate in the great suite of public buildings hard by. I was there met by the Members of my Executive Council also in

4

uniform, and took my seat as President of the Board under a salute from the guns of the old Bombay Castle. The business was formal; but I had to present to my Honourable Colleagues a paper of peculiar interest. A telegram had just been received from Lord Lytton, the Governor-General in Council, giving verbatim a notification in their Gazette, which was then being published. They described in the most cordial terms their view of my labours and services in the Madras Presidency, since my relinquishment of the Government of Bengal in the previous January. They wound up by declaring that I was assuming the Government of Bombay with the best wishes of the Governor-General. in Council. My senior colleague, Mr. James Gibbsan old companion of mine at Haileybury Collegeproposed that this should be republished in our Bombay Gazette, as it would give me additional weight in my new position.

The next day, accompanied by Mr. Charles Buckland the Private Secretary and Colonel Stirling Rivett-Carnac the Military Secretary, I travelled by rail and road to Mahabaleshwar, the summer resort in the loveliest part of the Western Ghat Mountains, there to meet my wife. She had fallen out of health, and was to proceed to England at once. With her I looked at the romantic and historic scenery, the long layers of basaltic rock, the shadowy forests, and the ocean shimmering in the distance. We feared that it might

not be our fate to see these things again together. Then we travelled to Bombay and proceeded, not to Parell, but to the Governor's marine villa on Malabar Point. This was a rocky sea-washed promontory, commanding beautiful views of the city and harbour of Bombay with the distant mountains. I escorted her and her sister Mrs. Buckland on board the steamer bound for England. My daughter remained with me for awhile, but afterwards she also fell sick and returned to England. My two sons were about to run civil and political careers in other parts of India.

I found myself able at once to fall in with my new As compared with Bengal, my position was more dignified and more diversified in function, but less potential in reality. There I governed alone, here I must do so with the advice of my Council. Here I had several sorts of work not known there; but the Civil Administration was much more extensive there than here. My peace must largely depend on the co-operation of my Honourable Colleagues in Council. They were appointed by the Secretary of State in England. I was most fortunate in my colleagues, and throughout my time they acted in the best possible way towards me and with me. Sir Charles Staveley was then the Commander-in-Chief of our Bombay Army. Distinguished in the Government secretariat were Mr. Ravenscroft, who became Member of Council in my time, Mr. (afterwards Sir James) Peile, Mr. Nugent,

and Mr. Lee Warner. I was fortunate in obtaining the services of Mr. (afterwards Sir Theodore) Hope. He soon became a Member of the Government of India. The Legislative Council was of the same constitution as that which I had known in Bengal. I had the pleasure of nominating to it several Native gentlemen who did honour to their respective communities.

I followed the same method here as in Bengal of recording a Minute on every matter of consequence that came before me in any Department. These Minutes were printed, and formed a record of my conduct and policy in all branches of the Government, so that I could precisely trace what I had, or had not, thought, what I had or had not proposed, on each of the numerous and varied subjects. Besides the government of a large British Indian population with a capital city of the very first rank, I had the supervision over several clusters of Native States. Beyond the limits of India proper, I governed Aden, and with it controlled the south-western corner of Arabia. had to do with Perim and Jedda on the Red Sea, with the island of Socotra off the Somali coast of Africa, with Muscat on the Persian Gulf, and with Bussora in Mesopotamia.

My very first care was that of attending to the defences of Bombay against attack from the sea, according to instructions I had received from England. Together with my military advisers, I caused ordnance

of suitable calibre to be drawn by elephant power, and mounted on the vantage points round the mouth of the harbour. I also satisfied myself that the mercantile shipping could in event of need be placed, with favourable anchorage and with safety, in the rear and under the protection of Elephanta Island.

Soon I embarked by a steamer bound for Kurrachi the British capital of Sind. To my personal staff was added Dr. George Waters as surgeon, a talented officer and my hearty friend, who accompanied me on all my tours.

Sind was then the one part of my new charge which I had never seen, and I must visit it by sea voyage before the monsoon season should set in. At Kurrachi I met the Commissioner, Sir William Merewether, and his officers. He hospitably received me in the residence which had been the Government House of Sir Charles Napier. I found there my old schoolfellow Thomas Valpy Ffrench, the Bishop of Lahore, to whose diocese Sind had been attached for ecclesiastical matters. After studying the affairs of Sind for a few days, I paid a flying visit to Hyderabad, the old capital of the Amirs, with its curiously quaint fortifications. At Kurrachi we had breathed only the cool sea-breeze, but at Hyderabad we inhaled the heated and parching wind of the desert.

Then I returned to Bombay and to my marine villa on Malabar Point. As some days yet remained

before the monsoon, I journeyed by rail along the coast north of Bombay in company with Mr. Matthews, the local chief on behalf of the Bombay and Baroda Railway Company, a very able and zealous man. We passed by the broad wheat-fields of Goojerat, renowned for quail-shooting, on to Ahmedabad the provincial capital, abounding in peculiar styles of Moslem architecture. So we advanced to the peninsula of Kattywar, containing a group of Native States well administered by enlightened chiefs. I had to arrange the extension of the railway system in that quarter; and this visit was fruitful in subsequent results.

Early in June the volumes of clouds came rolling up from the Indian Ocean to drop fatness on our land. I then travelled by rail to Poona, and alighted at Ganeshkind, the beautiful house built for the Governors under Sir Seymour Fitzgerald's Administration. The Governor and his Council had for many years resorted to Poona for the rainy season. The climate then was cool and pleasant, though not bracing like that of the mountains. For me at this juncture the place had the advantage of being in the midst of the Mahrattas, forming the most important among the nationalities of my Presidency. It was also close to the famine-stricken country and to the relief operations.

I had occasion, however, to revisit Bombay more than once. I presided at a public meeting in the Town Hall there, to arrange and settle the formation of a Volunteer Corps. On another day I delivered in the same hall a speech to the Parsee community, my object being to stir their just pride of race, and to rouse them to benevolent exertions for particular institutions. I happened to be fortunate in my allusions to the history of their "blue blood," and to the annals in the "Shahnameh" of Firdûsi. The scene as I rode away from the hall is still in my recollection—as they crowded round my horse, cheering, saluting and touching my hand, while I reciprocated their expressions of good will.

On another occasion I had the honour of unveiling the statue of the Prince of Wales erected at Bombay by the munificence of Sir Albert Sassoon. I found the Jewish community in Bombay to be signalized by educational effort, by charity and by good works generally.

Shortly afterwards returning to Poona, I had the honour of receiving there the Governor-General Lord Lytton, then on his way from Simla to confer with the Governor of Madras under the new development of the famine. I gave the entertainments at Ganeshkind usual on such occasions, in His Lordship's honour.

The rains, after descending well everywhere, had begun to fail in Southern India, so that the Madras Government were face to face with a second year of famine. We fared somewhat better in the Bombay Presidency, and the rains were for some time propitious.

Our relief operations, too, proved successful. But then a new enemy appeared stalking by noonday. After holding off for a certain interval, the rains returned with such copiousness that by autumn not only was the land refreshed, but an excessive damp set in, prostrating the people with low fever. So I had the sorrow of seeing that many lives, which we had with infinite exertion saved from starvation, were succumbing to malaria beyond human power to remedy—and this, too, just as plenty was returning with an abundant harvest.

During the autumn, together with my colleagues and our engineer advisers—first among whom was Colonel Merriman of the Royal Engineers—I took up schemes for extending railways and canals of irrigation in the recently distressed districts. We provided financial means for carrying out these projects and many, or most, of them have been executed in after years.

Some important criticism on the land-settlement of the Deccan had been offered from the outside. So I studied and then vindicated the work to which the best mind of the Bombay officers had been devoted for many years. Colonel Anderson was then head of that Department under me. I found, however, that the people had in some degree abused the valuable rights thus secured, by pledging them as security for social expenditure which could not properly be afforded. Thus they often fell within the grip of money-lenders who

were but too ready at hand. This indebtedness of some among the Deccan peasantry became such that I was induced to make certain legislative proposals. As the Civil Law applicable to all India would be thus affected, a long correspondence with the Government of India became necessary, of which I did not see the end.

In companionship with my old friend Colonel Baigree—one of the best amateur artists ever known in India—I resumed my water-colour work by painting a picture of the Thibetan border as seen from the Eastern Himalayas. Soon afterwards he fell ill mortally, and I, with many other officers, stood at his grave-side, while Sir Charles Staveley in a broken voice uttered a few heartfelt words in his memory.

The autumn over, I returned to Bombay where a pleasant function awaited me. My countless friends among the Natives of Bengal had been disappointed on finding that, although I had left Calcutta for a ten days' trip to Delhi with the fullest intention of returning, I never did return. Consequently they had no opportunity of making any farewell demonstration at the time. They resolved to find some way of making one nevertheless. So during the summer they prepared an address, in excellent English, setting forth their opinion of the manner in which I had ruled over them. This was signed by representative men from every town and district of Bengal—till at length the number of signatures was computed to exceed fifteen thousand.

They then communicated with the leading Natives of Bombay, and sent thither a Bengali deputation from Calcutta. The Bombay men arranged a Native assemblage and entertainment, during which the Calcutta deputation should present the address with due ceremony. I could not fail to be touched by the evident genuineness of the kind expressions in the address. It had come across the Continent of India from a people with whom I had parted for ever, and for whom I never could do anything more.

I then revisited Kurrachi, in order to concert with the military authorities some improved arrangements for its defence against possible attack from the sea. further provided for the better dredging of the harbour, so as to deepen it and thus enlarge the anchoring space for ocean-going ships. I passed up the Indus by a river-steamer to Sukkur, which would be the point of departure for military communication with Southern Afghanistan. Leaving there my steamer, I reflected that this was the last time any Governor would use one of these beautiful vessels which had for a whole generation been plying on the Indus. For the railway was now nearly complete from Kurrachi to Sukkur, and on to Multan to join the Panjab railway system. days of passenger traffic on the Indus were numbered, and this was a landmark in the history of Western India.

I then proceeded across my Sind border to Multan,

in view of travelling thence by Northern India to Calcutta to meet Lord Lytton there. On my way I diverged to Ajmere in Rajputana, in order to talk again with my old friend Sir Alfred Lyall. My visit to Lord Lytton was but a flying one, and I returned quickly to my own Presidency, wondering at the rapid and easy way of moving from one side of this vast Continent to the other, and at the change which railways had recently wrought on the face of Indian affairs.

On my way back, I journeyed up the Vindhya mountains to Mhow, a cantonment of Bombay troops, and to Indore the capital of a leading Mahratta prince. My real object was to visit Oodeypore, and see the most distinguished among the Rajput Sovereign-Chiefs. Oodeypore, with its lakes and palaces, was esteemed the most beautiful and romantic place in Rajputana. chief had an illumination in honour of my visit. At nightfall I and my Staff embarked on the lake in a State barge. Its prow and its helm had finely carved swans, griffins and other creatures. Itself illuminated, it glided over the dark waters as a vision of light. Round about the lake, the castles and palaces that crowned the heights, the villas and dwellings thatfringed the margin, were all outlined with lamp-light. This was the most picturesque display of lighting I ever saw, even in India the land of illuminations.

Then I passed by Mount Aboo called "the majestic," which had been for centuries one of the temple-crowned

seats of the Jain religion, and during this century the health-resort for the Europeans in Rajputana. Thence I entered my own province of Goojerat, and heard much of the wondrous quail-shooting. In the early spring, the young grain crops on the irrigated lands are literally alive with these little birds. It is supposed that they breed in Arabia, are then wafted by the zephyr across Beluchistan and the Indus, and stop to feed in the young grain of the western coast of India. That over, they migrate to the wheat and barley crops inland. My friend Mr. Sheppard was a renowned shot with the quail. I then passed quickly down to Bombay where important affairs awaited me.

The docks of Bombay, "wet and dry," private and public, were numerous and extensive. Chiefest among them was the Prince's Dock a noble work begun and carried on by my predecessors, and still in progress under me. But they were wanting in uniformity of management. So it was decided to amalgamate most of them under a new and unified Dock Trust. On the brink of the harbour, in verbal conference with all concerned, I was able to arrange this complex affair in a few days with the minimum of correspondence.

The annual Convocation of the Bombay University was at hand, and as Chancellor I was to deliver my first Address. By tradition the occasion had to be invested with ceremony. In uniform and with my Chancellor's

robe, I was followed in procession by the Fellows in their robes, and by the graduates or undergraduates in their gowns. The hall being spacious there was a large attendance both of the European society and of the Native gentry. I then read my Address, which had been elaborately prepared and printed beforehand.

Soon Mr. Charles Buckland, my able Private Secretary, received a post in the Secretariat of the Government of India. He was succeeded by Mr. George Hart my old assistant in the Finance Ministry. In addition to Captain Frith, I had the valued services of Captain Dean Pitt and Captain Plant as Aides-de-Camp—and for some time of Captain Anderson also.

Then I was confidentially informed by Lord Lytton that, in reference to the pending Russo-Turkish War, a body of troops might have to be despatched from Bombay to Malta. I was to secretly enquire into the means of marine transport then in the Bombay harbour. This I did, ship by ship, with my Marine advisers, and not a whisper got abroad.

Just at that moment a pleasing avocation called me away from Bombay. During the famine of the previous year, I had obtained the necessary sanction to the construction of a Chord-line, connecting the railway from Bombay towards Calcutta with the railway towards Madras, saving a long détour in the conveyance of food grains. I then had caused the line to be rapidly completed so that it was already fit for traffic. Those

concerned, and the public generally, were desirous that I should be present at the opening ceremony. By the main line I ascended the Western Ghat mountains, and arrived at the northern end of the new Chord-line. With a long silver hammer having an ebony handle I drove in the last bolt, and acknowledged the greetings of the multitude. Then I travelled along the line by its first passenger train to the southern end at Poona.

There I received a telegram from Lord Lytton, intimating that he had publicly notified the intention of the Government of India to despatch the military expedition from Bombay to Malta, instructing me to give immediate effect to that intention, and allowing me the freest hand for action. An express train soon carried me to Bombay, where I laid the matter before my colleagues in council.

I was thankful to recognise the zeal and co-operative energy displayed by the people of Bombay at large, and by all classes whether official, professional, commercial, or industrial, whether corporations or individuals. Each person vied with his neighbour in helping, and without such universal assistance the work could not have been done in time. I myself left my marine villa at Malabar Point, and dwelt for a fortnight in a State building close to the harbour. I was duly instructed by Lord Lytton as to what troops would come from the Madras and Bombay Presidencies. My own Commander-in-Chief chose the troops from the Bombay Presidency.

The artillery was to be European, but the cavalry and the infantry were to be wholly Native. The number of men was to be about six thousand and the number of horses about two thousand. The most zealous service was rendered by Colonel Macdonald the Military Secretary to my Government, also by Colonel Burrows the Quarter-Master-General and Colonel Hogg of the same Department.

With my Marine advisers, I decided that sailing ships should generally be engaged for transport, and that steamers should be employed to tug them. The steamers would, however, carry their own complement of troops. The sailing ships were then, in technical phrase, "gutted," that is, their decks and interior fittings were entirely removed, and fresh accommodation substituted in adaptation to military requirements. The new fittings were in some vessels adapted to cavalry, in others to infantry. In the vessels for the cavalry, we had to set up rows of wooden boxes to serve as stabling for the horses. In the steamers the internal change was less, but even it became very considerable. Thus the carpentry business was enormous, and extremely diversified. There was also much mechanical work to be executed. In this was included the construction of iron tanks for holding water, as each vessel must carry a water-supply for several weeks. As no single Department could do all this, for a large number of ships within a very brief time, there had to be a division of



labour. So I induced the two principal railway companies, with their artificers and workshops, to take over so many ships and prepare them, the Municipality so many, certain private establishments so many. Then the remainder was assigned to the various Government yards and workshops. The several parties concerned at once emulated each other, and regarded participation as an honour.

When after a few days the ships were ready, the filling of the tanks with water proved a far harder task than I should have anticipated. The quantity of liquid for so many men as we had, and especially for the horses, during several weeks, was immense. It strained our resources to place all this on board within the given time. For two whole days I had so to draw on the Municipality for water, that they were obliged to restrict the inhabitants almost entirely to a supply for drinking only, and left little or nothing for domestic purposes. The people bore the privation, in these the hottest days of May, quite cheerfully. For two or more evenings I steamed about the harbour in mypinnace, and watched the signals of each ship indicating whether she had her water supply made up or not. case any water-tanks should fail during the voyage, I had a condensing apparatus supplied to every sailing ship.

Then the Native troops arrived from the several Presidencies; and as each ship had her men all on

board ready to start, I went on deck myself to wish them God-speed. I was curious to note the demeanour of the men. Their bearing was marked by alacrity and joyousness, and they were highly pleased at the prospect of seeing the Mediterranean. When I asked them, in their own vernacular, what they expected to see and do, they replied that some share in the campaigning would be allotted to them, if there should be war with Russia. They used to cheer me heartily as I left the ships. Some vessels started on an earlier day, and some on a later, but the last vessel was off in exactly a fortnight from the time when I began the operations. Her departure, indeed, took a load off my mind. The Admiral commanding in chief assisted us in divers ways, and at the end he detached warvessels to accompany the several sections of the flotilla on their voyage. The tension on the steamers, that had to tow two sailing vessels each, was very severe, especially in the Red Sea. In one case only was there any mishap-and that not at all grave-owing to bad weather. The Expedition reached Malta in due time and in capital order. Immediately after their landing there, the troops were reviewed by the Duke of Cambridge, and acquitted themselves to the satisfaction of His Royal Highness.

These costly and extensive operations were conducted by me under Lord Lytton's instructions entirely by the electric telegraph. The correspondence between His



Lordship and me was wholly telegraphic, without one letter being written from beginning to end. Indeed, the distance was too long and the time too short for any other procedure. This was a capital instance of the benefit to India from the electric telegraph in emergency.

The hot season had far advanced, and now was the time for visiting Mahabaleshwar, which for some months in the early summer and the autumn became the fashionable resort of Bombay society. I had seen this beautiful place twice before; but I wished to be acquainted with the people gathered there. I had also to study the forest conservancy in that quarter, which was, indeed, the finest part of the Ghat Mountains. I rode up to it from the coast, and marvelled at the rockwalls of the natural citadel of Pertabgurh, which were typical instances of the frowning precipice and the beetling crag. But the genius loci quite haunted my thoughts, for this was Sivaji's stronghold, when he raised the standard of Mahratta revolt against the Moslem sovereign, an event which set on foot the overthrow of the Mogul Empire and the restoration of Hindu Dominion. Amidst these far-famed surroundings, these marked geological features, these darkling woods, I composed my Minute on the preservation of the forests in this mountain rangewith the skilled advice of Mr. Shuttleworth, the Conservator. My Colleagues in Council having concurred in the Minute, it formed the basis of our policy in this important matter.

When the rains set in I proceeded to Poona, as my headquarters for the rest of the summer. In the early mornings I began painting a water-colour picture of a Himalayan subject; and one day, while thus occupied, an interruption came upon me. It was a telegram to report that a great dam belonging to the Bombay waterworks was in peril from flood. Instantly I rose from my easel, dropped my paint-brushes, and caught a train which within three hours would convey me to the scene of danger. I learned that the people of Bombay were alarmed lest the bursting of the dam should cause a part of the city to be submerged. In order to quiet public opinion I telegraphed that I was myself commanding on the spot. Soon a staff of engineers was collected, the labour market of Bombay was drawn upon for the supply of working strength, and, with great exertion, in two days the dam was placed beyond risk. Then I returned to my library and studio at Poona.

Soon another interruption occurred, owing to a long break in the rains. In this withering interval, a plague of rats broke out in the Deccan districts recently affected by famine. The vermin multiplied at a fabulous rate, till the crops were desolated in whole tracts of country by myriads of these creatures. They not only devoured all they could lay their teeth upon, but they stored quantities of grain



in the long shafts which they burrowed underneath the ground. I watched the villagers striving to exterminate the pest, and stirred them to still further efforts. At length the rains descended in torrents, to flush the ratholes and drown the rats that remained there.

Afterwards I attended the wedding festivities at Baroda, the capital of His Highness the Gaekwar. The occasion was celebrated with the gaiety which never failed at Native Courts. The special feature was the fighting between animals mostly wild, the rhinoceros, the buffalo, the ram and others, in an arena surrounded by spectators. The spectacle, however, was in effect quite tame. Had it been in earnest, the result would have been barbaric, but such was not at all the case. The rhinoceros combat was simply amusing; the ram seemed the only one with any stomach for the fight. What I wanted to do, however, was to converse with Sir T. Madhava Rao, a Mahratta Brahmin and one of the first Native administrators of the age.

Towards the end of the year I journeyed through the Province of Goojerat to the peninsula of Kattywar, with its champaign and its group of mountains rising in the midst and surmounted by fanes. I congratulated the Native chiefs on the progress of their railway and of their administration generally. Then I passed by Somnath, with its gates dramatically famous in the days of Lord Ellenborough. Thus I reached Cutch, which separated us from the Desert of Sind. Riding along the

seashore near Cutch I was surprised by crackling sounds under my horse's hoofs on the sand. It appeared that a flight of locusts from landwards had crossed this way. Whether their wings were tired, or whether the seabreeze checked them, they had succumbed, and subsided into the water, so that the waves washed them ashore. Thus I found myself galloping over myriads of dead in-Entering the desert I began for the first time to ride long distances on camels. But I found the jolting distressful, and never repeated the experiment. The surface consisted of sandy hillocks and hollows interspersed with hardy shrubs, of ridges and depressions succeeding each other with some regularity. Thus I was at one moment mounting to the crest, at another dipping into the trough, of the sandy waves. So I entered on the landscape of Sind, dotted over with green oases of rising crops, but often hideous from low-lying swamps after the subsidence of the Indus inundations. The ground was partly covered with rank vegetation, as with rags and tatters of clothing. Sometimes I came upon sheets, even lakes, of water fringed with rich herbage. Their surface was decked with aquatic plants, over which birds of beauty would hover. Then the rush of bigger birds would be whirring and resounding in the air overhead, and at times my prospect would be darkened by the circling flight of wild fowl. I admired the Moslem peasantry who maintained their agricultural resources, amidst grievous trials and disadvantages from



alternations of aridity and inundations, from extremes of heat and chill, of drought and damp.

Returning to Bombay, I had the pleasure of receiving at Malabar Point several visitors of distinction from England, among whom were Lord Dalkeith now Duke of Buccleuch, Lord Hinchinbroke and Mr. (afterwards Sir William) Evans of Derbyshire. More particularly I provided a little villa, on the crest of the wave-washed promontory of Malabar, for an accomplished lady Miss North. There she worked at those pictures of which many are now treasured at the Royal establishment of Kew, and in which art is skilfully combined with science. I rejoiced to have the company for a while of Sir Samuel and Lady Baker, who were travelling in India with the halo of their African fame still around them.

I was glad to welcome Mr. (afterwards the Right Honourable James) Caird from England, one among the first living authorities on agriculture. He was then a member of the Commission appointed to inquire into the whole subject of Indian famines. At his request I agreed to give before the Commission my evidence, which was taken indeed at full length. I had the benefit of his counsels when establishing an Agricultural College and extending agricultural education in the interior of the country.

The most famous of my visitors was General Ulysses Grant, Ex-President of the United States, with his wife. Under instructions from England I caused the same honours in salutes, escorts, and in other respects, to be shown to him as would have been paid to an actual President. Being occupied by important duties in Southern Afghanistan, I could not be present, but I directed by telegraph all the entertainments and receptions which were to be given in his honour at my Government House.

From the European Press of Bombay I received a general support, all the more valuable because it was discriminating, was far from unvarying, and was sometimes even chequered by difference of opinion. I was present and spoke at the farewell banquet given at the Byculla Club to Mr. J. M. Maclean, the greatest journalist of his day in Western India, and now a Member of Parliament. Mr. Grattan Geary, a well-known Pressman of Bombay, rode through Asia Minor, and was good enough to dedicate to me his book describing that journey.

At Bombay, as at Calcutta, I maintained the best possible relations with the High Court of Justice, of which the Chief was Sir Michael Westropp. In the execution of the Criminal Law I was anxious to give due support to its authority. Sometimes pressure was put upon me from the outside to interfere with sentences capital and other. But I steadily refrained from doing so, save by the advice of the Judges. I had a particular friend in Mr. Justice (now Sir Lyttelton) Bayley,

who besides his judicial duties performed many good works pertaining to citizenship in a public-spirited manner.

I delivered in 1879 my Chancellor's Address to the University, with the same ceremony as that which had been observed in the previous year. this time a project long in my contemplation was matured. This was the conferring of Degrees Physical Science. I thought at Bombay, as Calcutta, that the superior instruction had been too exclusively literary, and had not been sufficiently directed to the Physical Sciences which might lead to practical results. At Calcutta I had been powerless to remedy this, but at Bombay, I was Chancellor, and had power to nominate the Fellows of the Governing Body. As vacancies occurred, I had accordingly nominated men of science as well as persons of literary distinction. Thus the scientific element was by degrees raised to its due proportion. I remember that at the decisive meeting the requisite motion was made in my presence by Dr. (afterwards Sir Guyon) Hunter. Thus was passed a scheme of Science Degrees, more adequate than anything which had as yet been attempted in India

As in Calcutta, so in Bombay, the Roman Catholic College of St. Xavier vied honourably in educational efficiency with our excellent Protestant Institutions and our Government, or Presidency, College. At St. Xavier's

some of the reverend fathers were good instructors in the physical sciences. Two or three times I had small parties, or symposia, at Malabar Point, of an eclectic character, at which a limited number of European gentlemen, of diverse creeds, persuasions and sentiments, attended at my invitation, to exchange opinions on philosophic questions.

The Volunteer movement advanced apace, so as to constitute an addition to our fighting strength in event of emergency. The railway companies had excellent Volunteer corps composed of engine-drivers, firemen, guards, and others. My own corps at Bombay, composed chiefly of clerks, grew at a fair rate of progress. I tried to give a certain social status to the individual Volunteer. Once I gave a dance at Malabar Point for the Volunteer privates and their families. The handsome dancing-room was thrown open; the Governor's band, under an Austrian conductor, discoursed music; supper-tents were pitched close to a ridge of rock overlooking the moonlit sea. As I anticipated, many families, who had not yet joined the movement, were desirous of being invited, but the reply was that they did not belong to the Volunteers. However, I notified another party of the same kind to be given later on, and doubtless very many took care in the interval to obtain the military qualification for participating in the festivity.

The successful working of the electoral franchise in

the Municipality of Bombay confirmed my confidence in the system which I had introduced into Calcutta. The ratepayers of Bombay elected the members of the Corporation with a fair view to the general interests of a capital city.

· After the warlike movements in Europe and Asia in 1878-9, there arose in the minds of many people an excitability, which reflected itself in the Native vernacular Press. A law was passed by the Government of India for the supervising and, if needful, for the checking of disloyal effusions. Mixed up with much that was loyal, several passages of a dangerous tendency were found in the vernacular newspapers of Western India. But I avoided the necessity of putting the repressive law in force by giving private notice to the Native gentlemen concerned, and happily no further passages of that sort appeared.

In these days I was honoured by receiving the Insignia of a Knight Grand Commander of the Star of India, and consequently I gave up my old Star of a Knight Commander. There arose a question of my going to Calcutta to attend a Chapter of the Order before the Viceroy as Grand Master, in the robes of my new rank. But at that moment I was on the Afghan frontier booted and spurred, begrimed, too, with dust. Owing to the urgency of my avocations, His Lordship was good enough to excuse my attendance at the ceremony.

In the summer of 1879 I returned to the Deccan. after an inspection of the Canara forests in all their luxuriance, and in company with Colonel Peyton one of the first among forest rangers. I then received some startling intelligence which had to be dealt with coolly as well as promptly. A certain sort of conspiracy against British rule had actually been set on foot in the Deccan. It was in imitation of the tactics pursued by Sivaji, the type of Mahratta warriors, against the Mogul Empire, and on exactly the same field of action. Destructive raids were being undertaken against the villages lying in or near the Western Ghat Mountains, and the plunder was being carried off to the fastnesses inside the mountain range. Thus, strangely enough, history was beginning to repeat itself, and though the attempt was absurd in its audacity, yet the fact was pregnant with lessons to us rulers and administrators. causes were hard to fathom, but one of them may have been the protracted excitement in reference, first to the Russo-Turkish war, and then to the military operations in Afghanistan. We vigorously suppressed the fast advancing movement before it had gone very far, by closing the mountain-passes and pursuing the offenders to their lairs amidst the rocks and caves. I never knew an officer evince greater capacity for police work than that which Major Daniell evinced in this grave affair.



By this time I had given up water colours, and adopted oil painting instead. One day at Ganeshkind, I had snatched a couple of hours from my busy life for completing an oil-study of the Bolan Pass. At that moment the English mail brought me a letter from the oldest of my friends; Lord Hampton, formerly Sir John Pakington, of Worcestershire. It was a request from the Conservative Party of that county that I should stand as the Parliamentary candidate in their Eastern Division at the coming General Election expected in the following year 1880. This was the fulfilment of the ambition entertained by me from boyhood, and the idea of retiring from service in India for this purpose had been for some time familiar to me. I thought that the school of Palmerston, in which I had been brought up, was virtually represented by the school of Beaconsfield, and that there were many elements in the then Liberal Party adverse to the principles which I had always cherished. So I resolved to throw in my political lot with the Conservative Party, and wrote back my acceptance of the kind offer. But as the event might not occur for some little time, and as it was well to avoid disturbing the public mind in Western India, the matter was kept secret from all except my personal The knowledge that my days in Bombay were numbered gave a fresh impulse to my efforts in doing all I could before leaving the country, perhaps for ever.

CHAPTER II.

(1878-80.)—WORK ON AFGHAN FRONTIER AND DEPARTURE FROM INDIA.

Lord Lytton's policy—War undertaken against Amir Shere Ali—Am directed to supervise transport and supply between Indus and Southern Afghanistan—Proceed viå Sind to Sibi—Meet Sir Robert Sandeman—Inspect Bolan Pass—Return to Bombay—News of destruction of British Mission at Caubul—Am directed to cause railway to be constructed from Indus to Sibi—Proceed thither—Am directed to extend the railway to Pishin on Candahar border—Visit Quetta and Pishin—Ride to Candahar and back—Railway line from Pishin to Sibi—Return to Bombay—Revert to Sind to arrange for extending Railway to Candahar—Farewell to Kurrachi—Return again to Bombay—Preparations for final departure—News from England of General Election—Departure hastened—Parting scenes.

EVER since my arrival at Bombay I had correspondence with the Governor-General Lord Lytton, regarding the entire North-West frontier, one third of which was within my own Presidency. This correspondence referred to the relations between the British Government and the then Amir of Caubul Shere Ali, with which subject I had been for years familiar when Foreign Secretary and when Member of the Government of India. As Governor of Bombay I had neither participation in, nor responsibility for, the policy that might be adopted in this respect. Nor had I any complete information, as I saw none of the papers that



were before the Government of India. I only knew that which Lord Lytton might see fit to communicate to me. The official papers from Teheran did indeed pass through my hands on their way to the Governor-General. But they related to Persia, and touched but incidentally on Afghanistan.

Still Lord Lytton was so good as to open his mind freely to me regarding the Amir and His Highness' country also. Evidently he apprehended that a change would be necessary in the conduct of the British Government towards Shere Ali. He concluded that the Amir's behaviour was not only disloyal and ungrateful, but actually hostile. So dangerous was this attitude to the North-West frontier and to British interests generally, that resort to arms might become inevitable. I was not a judge on these points, and had not, indeed, the means of judging. Manifestly, much depended on Her Majesty's Government at home, who were in communication with the Government of India. Therefore Lord Lytton was the only person in India able to form a judgment as to what was best to be done. in duty bound to promise, and to afford, every cooperation on behalf of myself and my colleagues, of my officers and my Presidency, in whatever measures His Lordship might undertake on his own part or prescribe to us.

At Bombay, in the autumn of 1888, I received the news that war had been undertaken by the Government



of India against Shere Ali Amir of Afghanistan, and that the Khyber Pass had been forced by the British arms. Besides this work in the North, an equally formidable movement was to take place in the South upon Candahar by the Bolan Pass.

Soon I learned that the movement on Candahar, by the troops belonging to the Bengal Army, and under arrangements made by the Government of India, would have its base on the Indus within the Bombay Presidency, and would pass across Sind on its way through Beluchistan to the Bolan Pass. This march, under Sir Donald Stewart, was rapid and successful. In the first instance the transport supplies had been ample, and consisted partly of bullocks and carts, but mainly of camels. Afterwards, however, the Governor-General began to feel anxiety, for the mortality had been very great among the camels after entering into the mountains. Numbers of them sank amidst the rocky paths, with intensely cold streams running in all directions. Whole lines of them were found on the upland grounds frozen to death when the hour sounded for marching. Still worse, desertions had been alarmingly frequent among the camel-drivers, born and bred in the Indian plains, when they found themselves environed by horrid There was at first some doubt whether Candahar, when it should have fallen to British arms, could furnish for any long time the supplies needed for our troops. So it was deemed necessary that some

adequate stores should be collected at Quetta and in Pishin, inside the mountains on the road to southern Afghanistan.

For these and other reasons, Lord Lytton instructed me to proceed myself to the Bolan Pass by way of Sind, to give my personal attention to the transit route, to the military supplies, and to the transport arrangements. I was to apply the resources of Sind or of any other Province in my own Presidency to these purposes.

So, journeying with due despatch through Sind, I arrived at Sukkur, which must ever be the real basis on the Indus for any movement towards Southern Afghan-I was accompanied by my able Military Secretary, Colonel Stirling Rivett-Carnac, whose knowledge and experience were of the utmost value to me. He was an accomplished officer; and though lost to us by early death, he became a writer on military subjects. In conjunction with the army officers, I studied the transport requirements of the moment. Sind itself, and the half-desert lands between it and India proper, had enormous resources in camels and camel-men. and cart-drivers were available in any reasonable number from the northern parts of my Presidency. Wielding the whole power of the Government, I had complete advantage for engaging the men with their animals, under such conditions as might in some degree secure their fidelity when they should reach the theatre of war inside the mountains. Then I crossed, near Jacobabad, the

Sind border into Beluchistan, the territory of the Khan of Khelat. Thence I was to be escorted by His Highness' officials and by Political officers belonging to the Government of India. I had to ride across a vast sandy tract which afterwards became known as the Sibi Desert. With relays of horses I marched sixty miles a day to the foot of the Bolan Pass. There the Governor-General's Agent, Sir Robert Sandeman, met me offici-The news then came to us that Candahar had fallen to Sir Donald Stewart and remained in his possession. Our object consequently was to inspect this Pass of Bolan, and see whether it would be suited to the transport required for the service of the troops in Southern Afghanistan during perhaps many months to come.

I was full of curiosity when riding up the Bolan, which had for many years exercised my imagination. I had pictured it to myself as arid and gloomy; but I found that, though stern and rough, it was yet beautiful and bright, with limpid streams, under a tender blue sky and hazy sunshine. The rocks were abruptly bold, with varied formations and jagged outlines. Every turn of the winding bridle-path gave a fresh aspect to my surroundings. Noticing that my horse disliked the frequent crossing of the streamlets, I tried the water and found it to be intensely cold. I learned that many of our transport men and camp-followers, fatigued with marching, had waded through these frigid currents.

The chill, thus caught, would spread from their limbs to their system, making them feel so drowsy that they would sit down on the bank and drop into the sleep that knows no waking. The brooklets generally rattled down their stony beds as the incline was sharp. sometimes they were, by rocky barriers, gathered into pools. Nothing could exceed the loveliness of these small expanses of water—gems set in limestone, shale, and laminated rocks. Then we left the Pass itself, and wound our way up a precipitous hillside by a zigzag road to an elevated plateau. This road had been improved, and rendered fairly passable, by the Bombay troops under General (afterwards Sir Robert) Phayre. Up to the foot of this ascent I had thought the Pass just practicable for a railway, though extensive precautions would be required to protect the line from the flooding of the many streams. But on this ascent I deemed the incline, though not insuperable, to be very arduous.

The plateau was called "Dasht-i-bedowlat," a Persian name meaning luckless and poverty-stricken. The gusts, sweeping across it, not only pierced but penetrated us; as we said, it was as if they came in at our chests and went out at our backs. Dust-storms, too, approached us, superb to look at, but chilly and cutting when they enveloped us. We soon felt severe thirst despite the cold, and there was nothing like tea for slaking this. But the Beluches used kindly to

bring us monster melons from the neighbouring villages or valleys. Nothing could be more delicious than the plentiful juice from the roomy interior of this fruit. But the nectar was treacherous, and if imbibed without due care, was apt to cause internal trouble.

Having satisfied myself that my transport arrangements were adequate, I returned to my own Presidency by much the same means as those by which I had come.

Early in 1879, when the peace had been concluded, I learnt that the Afghan districts of Sibi and Pishin, adjoining the country I had just visited, were assigned by the new Amir to the British Government, and that Candahar was for the present to be occupied by a British force.

In the autumn of that year, 1879, there came a shock to public opinion when the news was flashed that the British Mission recently established at Caubul had been destroyed. The effect of so untoward an event as this might have been very injurious in India, had not the Governor-General in Council confronted the emergency with firmness and energy. The instant promptitude with which Lord Lytton vindicated British authority, reasserted our military supremacy, and retrieved what had been lost—did indeed win admiration in the Bombay Presidency, as it must have done everywhere else in India. The sudden disruption of a settlement, from which much had been hoped, must have been in the first instance disheartening. But

the example set to the Empire by Lord Lytton, caused all men to think of naught save the means of repairing the disaster. The confidence I had ever felt in his high mettle, resolute spirit, and administrative vigour in the presence of danger, was fully confirmed.

immediate efforts were directed against His Northern Afghanistan, the seat of offence. But he apprised me that the British position in Southern Afghanistan was not only to be maintained, but also strengthened in a more permanent manner than heretofore. With this view he gave me several instructions for my guidance in work to be immediately undertaken. A railway was to be made from our military base on the Indus at Sukkur to Sibi, at the foot of the Afghan mountains, under officers who would be appointed by the Government of India. This work was to be under my supervision, the officers on the spot being placed at my disposal. I was to proceed to the ground myself, and see to the work being done at the utmost practicable speed. I had to make arrangements with my Colleagues in Council for carrying on the current work of the Government during my absence.

So late in the autumn I proceeded to Sind, this being my fourth visit to that Province. I was again accompanied by my excellent Military Secretary, Colonel Stirling Rivett-Carnac. At Sukkur I met the Engineer officers for the new railway, and had good reports from them of the preparations for the

line as far as Sibi. Together with these officers, chief among whom was Colonel the Marquis de Bourbel, I reconsidered our needs in regard to men and materials for the construction at the rate of a mile or a mile and a half a day. Some of the wants I could supply from my own Presidency; but many of them had to be met by the Government of India. So we sent the necessary requisitions by telegraph to Calcutta and Bombay. Next I proceeded to my own border Station of Jacobabad, where the final arrangements were completed. Our best forethought was demanded for the peculiar exigencies that would arise in a foodless and waterless territory, the Desert of Sibi. Then I had to hasten onwards, accompanied by Colonel James Lindsay as Engineer-in-Chief, for a further instruction came from Lord Lytton. I was to meet Sir Robert Sandeman at Sibi, and determine together with him the best route for carrying on the line from Sibi to the New British frontier at Pishin.

At Sibi I rejoiced to meet Sir Robert Sandeman again, and we at once conferred as to the best way of extending the railway. We both thought that the Bolan Pass, though practicable, was a bad route. We would search for some preferable line, and he suggested that such might be found in the mountain district of Sibi, leading up to the elevated plateau of Pishin. This Afghan district had been assigned by the Amir to British management since the beginning of 1879,

and it was desirable to carry our railway through districts virtually British. The territory was not yet pacified; Afghans with vengeful intent, sharpshooters with deadly purpose, lurked about. So we were fully escorted with well-mounted guards, and sentries were posted round our small military tents at night. Sir Robert Sandeman was a most cheery companion, and, so to speak, his atmosphere was refreshing. Still, as the local authority responsible for my safety, he was solicitous that I should never, while examining the ground or the country, outride, or get separated from, my guards. We diverged from the direct line between Sibi and Pishin, in order to ascend the mountain-flank which supports the plateau of Quetta. We halted halfway up the ascent at night, and in the morning rode up to the ridge, when Quetta and its surroundings burst upon my view. Though really a plateau of high elevation, it looked like a hollow with some groves and fields and a Beluch fort in the middle. For it was encircled by several separate mountains of grand formation. Its strategic point, with its capabilities for cultivation and supply amidst a barren region, rendered it a valuable place. Further instructions from Lord Lytton reached me here to the effect that if the extension of the railway from Sibi to Pishin were found practicable, then I was to consider whether it might not be further extended to Candahar. In that case I was to visit Candahar itself if time allowed.

Having spent the day with charts, plans, and local reports, I watched at eventide the setting sun light up with pink hues the pinnacles of the mountains around, and cast long cold shadows over our valley. I received a telegram from my Worcestershire friends enquiring whether, having proceeded towards Afghanistan, I adhered to my intention of standing for parliamentary election. My reply was in the affirmative, as my absence in this quarter would not be very long.

Next morning we marched forwards, and riding round one of the massive hills that seemed to mount guard over Quetta, I caught sight of the Pishin Valley. Here again the plateau was called valley because of its being environed by mountains. In my front was the grey flat-topped range of mountains, known as the Khwaja Amran, which was the new boundary between the British territory and Southern Afghanistan, or the Candahar Province. That night I encamped at the foot of the Khwaja Amran Pass, second only to the Bolan Pass in military fame. The next morning I ascended the pass, and from its brow obtained my first view of Afghanistan proper. As I looked northwards, all Afghanistan was in my front, while Beluchistan and the Indus lay behind me. For some ninety miles an undulating plain stretched far below the eye. Along its northern extremity were the Central Afghan mountains, and near their base was Candahar, hardly perceptible at this distance of ninety miles. On my right were

the hill ranges that form the Panjab frontier, and on my left was a wide desert flanking the Candahar district. Amidst that sandy expanse a dust-storm was rising from afar, in a vast volume and with towering columns. It rushed towards us with wondrous speed, though the sky was still blue. We had just time to tether our horses in safety behind rocks, while we ourselves stood to watch the gusty currents whirl around us. Deeming this pass unfavourable for the railway, and not anticipating that the Government of India would undertake a tunnel through the range, we searched for and found a dip and a gap in the ridge through which a line might be more easily made.

Rivett-Carnac, on my ride of ninety miles to Candahar which was accomplished in a day and a half. Having marched in the early morning, I slept in tents that night. Starting again the next morning, I reached Candahar at noon, quite in time for public business during that afternoon. The march was lively but not eventful, the ground being fairly level. The background scenery was moderately fine at this the best season of the year, though doubtless at other seasons it must be arid and desolate. But as we neared Candahar the aspect became more marked; for the horizon was broken up by a row of castellated formations, square and light coloured, and these constituted the old citadel. Near the base of these lay the compara-

tively new city, of which the circumvallation was good, but not otherwise striking. The suburbs and environs, however, were most noteworthy from a practical point of view. The fertile ground was threaded by a network of canals for irrigation. The rich and varied cultivation provided a succession of crops for all seasons. the resources for supply were evidently great. Outside the walls I had the pleasure of meeting my old friend Sir Donald Stewart. In his company I rode through the city, well built, with some mosques but otherwise with nothing wonderful. By his desire I at once held a reception for all the European officers in the garrison. That same evening I rode along the wooded banks of the Urgandab, which gave the water for all the canals, and presented a verdant contrast to the prevailing landscape. Beyond it lay a plain, and then there came a nearer view of the Afghan mountains which I had noticed before, The next morning I went round the old citadel, an extraordinary example of hardened earth. It was one of Nature's fortifications, much more easily manipulated than rock, offering equal resistance to artillery, and far harder to break than any kind of masonry. It had every strategic advantage as commanding the Urgandab, the waters of which were essential to military occupation in this quarter.

I was struck by the advantages, probably unequalled, which Candahar offered, as a possible British position for resistance to any invasion from the far West. The left flank, resting on a desert, could not be turned, while the right flank was on a deep river with difficult banks. In the rear were the irrigated tracts yielding ample supplies of grain and vegetables. The supplies of water, for the people and the fields, were beyond hostile reach, and were under the command of those who held the city. In the rear of the whole position would be the future railway from the Indus. Nor could the position be approached from the front, save by a march of three weeks or a month over a comparatively barren region. For India this position was—though sufficiently near for military purposes—yet out of sight inside the frontier mountain-ranges. That, too, was an advantage as regards moral effect.

The following day being Sunday I attended divine service with the troops. The chaplain read from a big drum with a flag spread over it, in the midst of a large hollow square of infantry with fixed bayonets. There was a crowd of Afghans standing around and watching the scene. That night I suffered from sharp indisposition, probably caused by the delicious melons which hospitable Afghans had been giving me at the halting places on the thirsty and dusty march. Though slightly shaken, I was able the next day to resume my ride back to Pishin. Having conferred with Sir Donald Stewart and his Engineer officers, then having traversed the line myself, I was quite sure of its practicability for a railway temporary or permanent, and of the speed

—perhaps a mile and a half a day—at which it could be constructed.

At Pishin Sir Robert Sandeman rejoined me, and we resumed our study of the line between Pishin and Sibi. We marched to the eastern end of the valley, where he thought that the drainage must have some outlet leading into the streams that unite near Sibi. To our glad surprise, we found that this drainage, with a great rift or chasm, broke through the flank which supports with mighty buttresses the plateau of Pishin. This rift, which bore the local name of Chapar, with the stream along its base, had straight sides. effect was like that of a mediæval street with houses on either hand, many storeys high, and with just a narrow strip of sky visible overhead. We all thought that here was a line provided by Nature for our railway. Emerging herefrom the line entered into a vale which joined other vales, till the Nari Gorge near Sibi was reached. At this time, the latter part of November, the air at sunrise used to be so cold that once, having paused for a few minutes to sketch, I found my fingers too benumbed for me to hold my horse's reins. was obliged to halt for awhile in order that Sir Robert Sandeman might kindly rub my hands, and restore their power.

It was some relief to us all to emerge from the Afghan mountains, and to settle once more on the plain outside Sibi. Though all had gone well with us,



yet the tension of ceaseless vigilance caused fatigue. Encamped there, I composed a Minute dated the 25th of November, with the concurrence of Sir Robert Sandeman and Colonel Lindsay. In this I recommended the construction of the railway from Sibi to Pishin by the route we had just traversed—that is by the Nari Gorge and the Chapar Rift, as far as the foot of the Khwaja Amran Pass. This I transmitted to Lord Lytton, with an intimation that, under the powers entrusted to me by His Lordship, I had instructed Colonel Lindsay as Engineer-in-Chief to proceed with the line accordingly. For success, much depended on the co-operation of Sir Robert Sandeman, and that was sure to be afforded with all his ability. I informed Lord Lytton separately of all I had seen, heard and thought at Candahar.

I then inspected the railway work in the Sibi Desert, and found that the advance, during the interval of my absence, had coincided with the expectation of a mile and a half a day. The large working parties in the waterless tracts formed an interesting sight. Each day, as the line made good its advance, it carried trains to bring up the necessaries, not only for the work but also for the workmen. First among these necessaries was water, and every evening the water-train was charged with the liquid supply for many thousand persons. Thus for a goodly part of my way back through the desert and on to Sukkur, I was carried by the new railway.

Thence I returned early in December to Bombay for Christmas. On New Year's Day 1880 I opened with due ceremony the Dock at Bombay, which had connexion with the project promoted by me in 1878. I was presented with a walking-stick made from the wood of a submarine forest which the excavations had disinterred. I congratulated the Engineer-inchief Mr. Ormiston on the signal service which he had rendered.

Early in 1880 however I reverted once more to the Afghan frontier. For meanwhile I had received from Lord Lytton, not only full confirmation of my proceedings in respect to the railway from Sibi to Pishin, but also some further instructions respecting the extension to Candahar itself by an early date. The new railway carried me from Sukkur across the desert right up to Sibi. I there met Colonel Lindsay, and after due consultation, I gave him the necessary orders for constructing the work, in at least a temporary fashion, to Candahar by the 1st of May 1880. These I embodied in a Minute dated the 6th of February, which was transmitted to Lord Lytton. To all this also I subsequently received His Lordship's confirmation. arranged further supply and transport for an additional brigade of troops at Candahar, in the event of the Government of India ordering that augmentation of strength. I then returned by rail to Kurrachi as my presence was required in my own Presidency.

By this time it was well known at Kurrachi that, though I might yet remain some little time in India, I should see Sind no more. So the members of the Sind Club—with the Commissioner, Mr. Erskine, at their head—gave me a farewell banquet which was followed by several patriotic speeches. They had been impressed by my proceedings on the Afghan frontier; they thanked me for my frequent visits to their Province, whereby its public business in all branches had, in their opinion, been promoted. They specially commended the measures I had taken for the military defence of the port, and for the deepening of the harbour.

I then took steamer for Bombay, and arriving there somewhat late, did not go up to Malabar Point that night; but stayed in my rooms at the Secretariat close by. Early the next morning I heard martial music and the tramp of men, for my own corps of Volunteers were parading to welcome me back.

Meanwhile the Bombay newspapers were full of the intelligence from England regarding the preparations for the coming General Election, with the lists of the opposing candidates in all the constituencies. Naturally my name appeared in the list for Worcestershire. Great was the surprise in Bombay, as the secret had been well kept. In effect my friends said, why leave Bombay, with all its pomp and circumstance, to encounter the distress and discomfort of a contested

Election in England? Still, my departure was not expected to be immediate, and I might yet stay some months. My resignation of the Governorship had already been intimated privately to the Secretary of State. It was now officially recognised, and the name of my successor, Sir James Fergusson, became known. The intention was that I should receive my successor about the 1st of May, and return to England, where I hoped to have several months of preparation for the Election, which according to general expectation, was to occur in the autumn. I went about, setting my administrative and political house in order, finishing up incomplete measures, saying or writing the last word on divers subjects, and receiving my friends European or Native in appropriate ways. So for a few days at my beautiful capital, in the finest season of the year, I had a halcyon time, and a restful feeling which had been long unknown to me. I imprinted on the tablets of my memory the features of this city, doubtless the queen of Asiatic cities—the highlands and islands, the bays and creeks, the forest of masts in the wide-spreading harbour, the horizon on one side bounded by the Western Ghat mountains and on the other side extended far out to the Indian Ocean. As a foreground to this scenery of sea and land was the ornate and palatial line of Government edifices. One of the very last affairs in which I was concerned was the architectural design for a most handsome station at the

terminus of the Great Indian Peninsula Railway. These were some of the pleasantest days I had ever known, but they were rudely interrupted.

One morning, early in March, I received a telegram from the Secretary of State, Lord Cranbrook, informing me that the General Election had been announced to take place immediately after Easter, and kindly giving me the dates for the Elections in the counties. was a Tuesday morning, and a summary calculation showed that if I sailed from Bombay for England on · the following Saturday, I should just be in time for the Election-date given me. But even then I should be under grave disadvantage from shortness of time. Indeed this unlooked-for turn of affairs so impaired my chance of success, that it might have been a question whether I could persevere in my candidature. But I had been so committed to stand as a candidate that I did not, indeed could not, hesitate. So at once a telegram was sent to Lord Lytton asking sanction to my arranging with the Secretary of State to obtain the Royal permission for me to resign my office, and to make over charge to the Senior Member of Council pending the arrival of my successor. I received telegraphic replies so speedily as to enable me to summon a special meeting of Council the same day. I then informed the Commander-in-Chief, General (afterwards Sir Henry) Warre, and my Honourable Colleagues of what had happened, adding that on the following

Saturday I should make over charge of the Government to the Senior Member of Council, Mr. Lionel Ashburner, and then depart. During the four days that remained there was no time for arranging or disposing of the effects which gathered round a man in my position. These matters would be dealt with by my devoted friends Mr. George Hart the Private Secretary and Colonel Stirling Rivett Carnac the Military Secretary, together with my several Aidesde-Camp, after my departure. I applied myself to putting the last touch on each public affair, and to leave-taking generally.

Immediately I was invited to a farewell banquet at the Byculla Club on the Friday evening. That afternoon I had a large reception at Malabar Point, for which the invitations had been issued before the occurrence of this crisis. I observed that the ladies came early and in large numbers, but without the gentlemen. They told me that the gentlemen had all assembled in the Town Hall at a public meeting, held to devise the means of preserving my memory. Presently the gentlemen began to come in, and then it was bruited about that the erection of a statue had been determined.

That evening I drove from Malabar Point to the Byculla Club, and the Municipal authorities, having just completed the gas-lighting along the ridge of the Malabar Hill, escorted me by that line, so that I might

see the prospect. Certainly this my last view of Bombay by gas-light was one of the best illuminated prospects I have ever known in any country. The Byculla Club was a famous institution which had for generations contained the best elements of the European society in Bombay. This evening it was crowded for the hastily arranged banquet at which Mr. Kemball, the President of the Club, presided. I sat between him and the Chief Justice, Sir Michael Westropp, one of my fastest friends. After the loyal toasts my health was proposed, and I can never forget how the whole assembly sprang to their feet to give the toast. I then made the last of my many speeches to a Bombay audience. Fortunately at that moment the Bombay Presidency happened to be standing at its very zenith. I would not claim credit for that, but I had a right to note the fact. So I reminded the company of the extent of our sphere, which then stretched from Mysore in Southern India right up the Deccan on to the valley of the Indus, and thence to the border of the Candahar province. I recounted briefly the principal measures in which we had been engaged together. Towards my conclusion, I touched on the cordial relations and good fellowship which had subsisted between us, declaring that even public obedience and respect had paled before the general heartiness with which all classes had supported me in the performance of duties which were theirs as well as mine. If I had asked my officers and friends to undergo hardship in imperial interests, I had myself shared it with them. If this proved severe, it had been the same for us all alike. Speaking personally I quoted some Horatian lines, to the effect that a man must be ready for any change of life that may befall him. I said that without waiting for that inexorable Fate which cuts the thread of official existence, I would cut it myself. Just before resuming my seat I recited the parting lines of the song "Kathleen Mavourneen"—with the slightest alteration—"it may be for years, it may be for ever."

The next morning I sent my farewell to Lord Lytton; and indeed the relations between us had been most cordial. On my part, I had since 1877, on several arduous occasions, striven to fulfil his behests. Whatever the external criticism may have been on points in their nature controversial—there was no doubt as to the imaginative breadth of his opinions, or the promptitude of action with which he proceeded when his mind was made up. His fertility of thought, his facility in giving expression to it, and in turning it towards many different directions almost simultaneously, could hardly be surpassed. On his part he was most appreciative of all the efforts I put forth. His quickness in replying to emergent references, often on complex points, was of immense advantage to me as the Executive on the spot. In the heavy affairs



entrusted to my charge, he gave me a confidence so full and generous, that I felt under the highest obligations to try and deserve it. The work that I did under his eye, hard and rough though it was, lives in my happy recollection because of his kindness.

The forenoon I gave up to receiving Addresses. The first was from the Chamber of Commerce, mainly European, recounting the principal measures of public improvement and of legislation in which I had been engaged. This was read to me by a deputation from that body, representing one of the great ports of the British Empire. Then came the Address from the inhabitants of Bombay, and this was read by a deputation including several nationalities. There were some affecting circumstances in this leave-taking with them, for it really would be the last. There had not been time for them to illuminate this address; but they afterwards transmitted to me a copy with some of that ornamentation for which the East is renowned. deputation came from the Mahomedans in the interior of the country, with my friend Synd Idrûs of Surat at its head, to say that they were preparing an address in their own Hindustani language, which they would transmit to me afterwards in England; and this they actually did. A representation came from my own Volunteer Corps in regard to the lining of the road by which I should pass for embarkation. This duty would ordinarily be taken altogether by the Regular troops; but the Volunteers asked that

they might line the last half mile. It was not in my power to do more than commend their request to the kind consideration of the Commander-in-Chief.

In the afternoon I issued forth for the last time from Malabar Point, and drove to the House of Sir Jamsetjee Jeejeebhoy, the head of the Parsee community. There the Parsees-foremost among whom was my valued friend Dosabhoy Framji-gave me their farewell, in the presence of many Natives and Europeans also. Then I went to meet the Native students and ex-students of the University in its various branches, who had assembled in the Medical College. Leaving them I proceeded to the Apollo Bunder, the streets being so fringed with saluting crowds that it looked as if I were the rising, instead of the setting light which I really was. As I alighted from the carriage at the harbour's edge, to enter the pinnace, I shook hands with the Commander-in-Chief, the Members of the Council, the Admiral Commandingin-Chief, and the principal persons. Some rows of seats had been provided for the ladies, and there they were, the brightest of crowds in their gay costumes under the sunset light. This closing scene was the prettiest among the many pretty sights I had ever seen in India. Swiftly the pinnace bore me away amid the roar of the guns from the fort. Soon I stood on the deck of the mail steamer in the afterglow, and watched the lights of Bombay recede as the vessel put out to sea.

CHAPTER III.

TRAITS IN THE NATIVE INDIAN CHARACTER.

Style of Native conversation—Picturesque wit—Natural eloquence—Plausibility
—Insinuation and flattery—Question of gratitude—Fidelity of Native
domestic servants—National adherence to custom—Yet many tendencies
to change—Western knowledge—Eastern religious belief—Question of
integrity—Domestic virtues—Filial relations—Courage in face of death
—Question of loyalty.

THE story of my career in India being closed, I will now touch upon some traits in the Native character, which could not have been done before without interrupting the flow of the narrative.

The Natives of all sorts and conditions, though at first sight grave and reticent, were interesting in their talk with a European who knew their language well enough to really converse with them. The Hindustani language was facile in admitting of satire and witticism, even of pun. In varied imagery it included all that is best of the Persian language. I always found amusement in thus conversing with the Natives. They were fond of fables in which animals figured. I used to express to them what we imagined might be passing in the half-formed ideas of the elephant, the mule, the buffalo, and more especially the dog.

The Natives, from the peasantry upwards, were born actors, with innate eloquence, and endowed by nature with the faculty of expression by gesture. If there should have been opportunity or motive for preparation, they had consummate plausibility in telling a made-up tale. Otherwise, if caught unawares, they were truth-telling. They were neither careless in observation, nor indiscriminate in inference, nor shadowy in recollection. On the contrary, they were judicious in their conclusions—provided always that they were taken before the breath of any motive had sullied the mirror of their minds.

A natural reserve, in the presence of their foreign masters, rendered them useless in discussing generalities. They could best be approached in particularities. If a man were asked sympathetically about himself and his family, he would open his heart—thence ab uno disce, not omnes, perhaps, but alios. Having learned one typical instance well, I could perceive how things were going, how causes were operating. I could ask a villager driving a bullock-cart about his carrying business, his little losses and profits, and so enter into the very core of rural concerns.

But in the conversation of the Natives there were two noteworthy faults. The first of these was poisonous insinuation, which would arise from so many causes that it was hundred-headed as the hydra. Admirably as Shakespeare has pourtrayed his Iago, he might well have gathered ideas from the Natives, had he known them, when drawing that wondrous character. The second was flattery, neither palpable nor gross, but conveyed with discrimination of the temper of every European with whom they had to do, by words gently dropped or distilled into his ear.

It was often said that the Natives did not understand gratitude, and knew not how to express it. Nevertheless, if anything signal were given them to be grateful for, they would show gratitude fast enough. In fact, they were, as a rule, ever mindful of favours received from Europeans. Though it would be too much to say that in all the tremendous events of my generation there were no instances of ingratitude, yet in cases where abiding benefits had been conferred by a European on Natives they would evince fidelity even unto death.

Respecting Native domestic servants, the European master would at first form opinions which he afterwards found to be harsh. He generally arrived in India without any adequate experience of servants in Europe. He would find Indian servants but too often careless and troublesome. He would revert to England, and find in his household much the same complaints as those which he used to hear in India. Many Europeans, contemporary with me in India, will, after their return home, have looked back wistfully towards the favourites among their Indian servants. On the line of march

the uncomplaining endurance of the Natives under inevitable fatigues and vexations, their patient efficiency in the absence of the commonest appliances, were not to be surpassed anywhere and would rarely be equalled. They preferred to serve one and the same master as long as they could, rather bearing any little ills they had with him than fly to others. They were especially glad that their sons should enter the service of his sons. They were tenderly kind to his children, and were delighted to see them return to India, after a lengthy sojourn in England for nurture and education.

The fidelity they evinced towards their distressed masters and mistresses, during the Mutinies and the Rebellion, has been honourably recorded in history. Amidst covert treachery and overt treason, they were true. When soldiers murderously mutinied, and mobs rose, and insurgents approached—all being people of their own colour—they did not turn. Despite temptations, and facilities for wrong-doing, and hardships manifold, they rarely, or never, abandoned their duty.

At Calcutta, in 1847, I engaged a Hindu valet of middle age, whose home was to the south in Orissa. He went to his home for a while, and then travelled twelve hundred miles to rejoin my service in the North-Western Provinces. He stayed with me all his working days, and he retired on a pension from me until his death. In upper India, during 1848, I engaged a butler and a footman both Moslems. They served me



Government Houses I could not conveniently find posts for them. I thereon procured suitable places for them elsewhere. One of them must still be living, for he recently sent an ornamental sword for a son of mine whom he had tended in childhood. I had several grooms; one of them served me for twenty, another for fifteen years. Their only reason for leaving me, was that I went too far afield from their homes for them to follow. I had many other servants who stayed for a long time, and would have remained for ever, had it not been that my migrations extended to distances too great, and to climatic changes too hard, for them to bear.

Having thus strongly commended the merits of the Native domestic servants I am obliged to mention regretfully some facts which tell the other way—if my picture is to be true in its shadows as well as in its lights. Once I was at night robbed of bank-notes from my bedside. After the calling in of the police and on searching the trunk of an under-valet, the notes were discovered therein. Two gold pencil-cases, parting gifts from English friends, were abstracted from my writing-desk. Later on a gold watch, my father's gift, was by sleight of hand drawn from under my pillow as I was sleeping in a tent. These deeds could have been done only through the collusion of some among my own servants.

In reference to the solid portions and the abiding elements of the national character-I gathered in my earlier days that tenacity in adherence to ancient customs, and a reverence for immemorial tradition, were among its most marked features. In my later days, while believing that these qualities still existed, I thought that counter-tendencies had set in. country and the people long unchanging, and supposed to be unchangeable, were becoming changeful. Probably no region and no nationality altered more, within my generation, than did India and the Indians. In their ready resort to railways, in their use of European manufactures, in their adoption of publicity by the Newspaper Press, in their assimilation of modern knowledge, in their employment of scientific methods medical and other, in their frequent imitation of English ideas —the Natives proved themselves apt scholars in the school of change. The alterations, however, sprang from no motive power in the people themselves. These were directly consequent on Western education, modern civilisation, and works of material development.

The Moslem faith, on the whole, stood the assaults of the new knowledge. But the Hindu faith, whenever touched by it, withered or vanished. Still, as the mass of the Hindus had not yet been reached by such influence, the ancestral faith yet remained with them. Those educated Hindus who had ceased to believe in Hinduism flew, not forwards to a fresh religion, but

backwards to the antique religion of the Vedas, antecedent to the Hinduism which they had abandoned. So far they vindicated their original attitude of immutability. Whether the iron system of caste continued to prevail with such people was doubtful; probably it did not. On the whole my impression was that as knowledge and culture spread wider and wider, or penetrated deeper and deeper into Indian society, so the disposition to change would grow.

Want of integrity was held to be a crying sin of the Natives when I began my service. Perhaps we hardly stopped to reflect that this may arise from temptations, by the removal of which it would be remedied in a large degree at least. I lived to see a happy improvement in this respect, as the Native officers and officials received more responsible positions, higher emoluments, better assured prospects. We had fair reasons for hoping that the ethical effect of Western education conduced to this improvement. I believed that with Natives thus trained and thus placed integrity was the rule.

From the first I thought the Natives to be signalized by domestic virtues, especially in the parental and filial relations. The ties between father and son were of the very closest, and were patent to every European ruler. Those between mother and daughter or sister and sister, so beautiful in many other countries, were, however, beyond the ken of Europeans, and we could

not judge thereon. The charitableness of the Natives to the infirm and the indigent, their endurance of hardship and suffering, were known to me from an early time. But I was not fully alive to the force of these qualities till I saw them displayed in the crisis of famine.

Marriage at an early age, and nearly universal in all classes, conduced to good conduct in life. The prohibition of wine by Islam was almost always obeyed. When the month of Ramazan fell in the hot weather, I saw Moslems endure thirst all day with marvellous self-control. The Hindus, by precept and ancient practice, were free from restriction in regard to alcohol. Still their national drink-bill was relatively very moderate. As compared with the inhabitants of higher latitudes, a fair standard of temperance prevailed in their country.

The conscience discriminating between right and wrong, the ideal of moral virtue, seemed to be much the same among Natives as among Europeans. Many Natives, indeed, acted up to that standard. Otherwise, the real question was whether the Natives, on the whole, had as much strength as Europeans in with standing temptation to depart from such rectitude. I hoped that Christianity, with all the Western influences in its train, would here be found to assert itself.

In nerve and physical courage many of the Indian races were very far below the European standard. But here and there some races came up to any model that



could reasonably be set before them, and supplied men who might be counted as among the good soldiers of the nations. In one respect, however, Natives would often evince a quality akin to courage, if it were not courage itself, namely, calmness in the presence of certain and inevitable death. As a Magistrate I had often to supervise men under capital sentence, even up to the moment of execution. I was amazed at their apparent fortitude, though doubting whether it was really fortitude or not. They seemed to have no "fear of something after death." If Hindus they expected absorption into some other existence; if Moslems, they trusted to the profession of Islam without any further consideration. The idea that the individual soul will be answerable at a last judgment, before a Supreme Judge was not present to their minds.

Of the female disposition in India it was hard for a European to judge. The education of girls in the schools made a favourable beginning in my time. On a reasonable comparison with their fellows in other countries, I believed that the peasant women in India bore a fair character. Countless instances of merit and self-sacrifice came under my notice. One fiendish instance to the contrary occurs to my recollection, and she was a Brahmin. I thought at the time that Bulwer Lytton would have liked to see her, before writing his novel of "Lucretia, Daughter of the Night." Regarding the higher classes, I heard and read in many

f

places of ladies who had emerged from the harem with all its disadvantages, and played vigorous, and sometimes even heroic, parts. The chance of playing such parts hardly occurred in my generation, because the times had grown quieter. Even then, however, there were some signal examples within my own experience. The Maharani, widow of Ranjit Sing, gave me much trouble, after having given still more to my predecessors. Later on I had, as a Knight of the Star of India, the honour of escorting the Begum, or princess-ruler, of Bhopal up to the dais where she received knighthood of the same rank.

The strength, or otherwise of Native loyalty to a Crown, a dynasty, a State, a Government, was ever in my day a moot question. Several times the British Government received not only proofs but lessons, regarding the intense and passionate loyalty of some classes towards the indigenous sovereigns and chieftains. One among the wonders of the Mutinies was the readiness with which men flung away substantial advantages, accumulated during a lifetime, for the sake of rulers sprung from the land, of the ancestral faith with the time-honoured titles and surroundings. Thus the dominion of sentiment was powerfully asserted. were vain to expect any such sentimental loyalty towards the British Government, which must be irremediably alien, however good it may become. But there has been a nearer approach to this sentiment



since the direct rule over India by the Crown, than there ever was before.

Further, the objection taken by the sentimentally loyal classes, against foreign domination, has been mitigated by the preservation of a great many Native States with dignity and prosperity. The position of the Queen-Empress as Suzerain and Paramount over a noble body of rulers, princes, chiefs, and vassals, consolidated one of the greatest interests in the county. This tended to stability and to the conciliation of many opinions that might otherwise have been hostile. It also afforded an avenue and an outlook for Native ambition, a chance of greatness for aspiring men—the want of which was a defect, perhaps unavoidable, in British rule. If, in the chivalrous sense of the term, there were loyalty anywhere in India towards the British nation, it was to be found in the Native States.

On the other hand, there were many individuals who would never bow the knee to the Baal of change, and who regarded the novelties and innovations of this century with hate and scorn. The mind of such men was the theme of poetry which has adorned Anglo-Indian literature. Many, again, were from fanaticism quite irreconcilable to any rulers from beyond the seas. Many too, sighed, even panted, for the brave days of rapine, when any strong arm might carve out its fortune with the sword. These several elements in

combination would be dangerous in the event of any feebleness overtaking the Government. Nevertheless the industrial, the moneyed, the landowning classes displayed that cheerful acquiescence in the foreign rule, which was a sort of practical loyalty. This acquiescence was felt in a duller and more passive way by the labouring classes. But it depended on the Government continuing to be puissant and victorious, conquering and to conquer. In case of reverse, it could not be relied upon for serving the same ends as patriotism would serve, in countries where the Government and the people are of the same blood.

The natives, though they could not discourse on the beautiful, had an unerring eye for beauty of situation. Every one of the structures stood on a striking position. I noticed their inner sentiments half-expressed, when together we contemplated such scenes as the Lake of Naini Tal embosomed in the mountains; the snowy range in misty magnificence overlooking the plateau of Almora; the Ganges at Hurdwar, where the river was, through Cautley's genius, turned into a canal; the ruins of old Jeypore in the highlands of Rajputana; the blue flowers blooming around the mountain-tomb of Sivaji.

CHAPTER IV.

(1848-1880).—RETROSPECT OF INDIA IN MY GENERATION.

My generation, 1848 to 1880—Additions of territory—Neighbourhood of Russia and of France—Proclamation of Empire of India—The Native States — Legislative Councils — High Courts of Judicature — Imperial Civil Service—Mutinies in Native Army—Military re-arrangement—The Indian Navy—Railways and Electric Telegraph—Canals for irrigation—Famine Relief—Property in land—Public Health and Sanitation—Public Instruction and State Education—Their effect on Hinduism—Christian Missions—Native Vernacular Press—Character borne by Native Officials—Census of the population—Commercial progress—Revenue and National Debt—European Society.

THE India of 1847, when I first landed there, has been already surveyed. It remains to cast a brief retrospect over the noteworthy changes between that year and 1880 when I departed; an interval of time which may be called my generation.

The area added to the Eastern Dominion involved consequences momentous to the British position in Asia. On the western side, it gave us that North-West frontier towards which the anxious gaze of our countrymen is ever turned. It brought us into close contact with the Afghans. It took us so much nearer to Russia, that the British suzerainty in Asia and the Russian suzerainty became conterminous. On the eastern side, it gave us such a mastery over the lower

valley of the Irawaddy, that the domination of the upper valley and of the Ava kingdom was a matter of time only. Thus we were brought into contact with China, and proximity with the French Dependencies in the Indo-Chinese Peninsula. Consequently the British Empire in Asia began to have Russia for a neighbour in the west, and France in the east.

The solemn proclamation of the Indian Empire, with the British Sovereign as Empress, produced due effect. Yet it was but a formal recognition of facts which had previously existed. Even in the days of the East India Company, whenever any project affected the whole country it was spoken and written of as imperial. This feeling gained in vitality after the direct assumption of the Indian Government by the Crown. It was well to emphasise, with magnificence of ceremony, a sentiment that dwelt in the minds of all. Foreign nations, too, had notice thereby that the British nation looked upon India as a possession to be held with that tenacity which has been evinced on many fields of action.

When I arrived in India the Native States were regarded as an element of doubtful strength, perhaps even as a source of imperial weakness. Their repute was much changed for the better by their good conduct during the Mutiny and the Rebellion. I then rejoiced to see their position consolidated as a bulwark of strength to the Empire. Moreover they afforded fully,

what British Administration could afford but scantily if at all, a vent, a safety-valve for Native ambition, and a scope for winning personal eminence hardly to be achieved under a foreign system.

Regarding the popularity of British rule perceived a change gradually supervening. Formerly the East India Company used to be popular in its well-governed territories, because it competed with neighbouring States badly governed. Its faults were overlooked, in reference to its virtues contrasted with the far greater faults of its competitors. It had, however, become supreme when I arrived in India, and the people thought of nothing but its every fault and every drawback, forgetting the evils from which it had rescued them, and reflecting not on the far greater faults or drawbacks incidental to indigenous rule. They had lost the means of immediate comparison which the conquered competitors were wont to afford. During the heyday of my career I never thought that the Government was as popular as it ought to be. almost feared that it was unpopular without any assignable cause. But towards the end of my career I fancied that the old popularity was beginning to revive. Invasion from the West, or from other quarters, had been vaguely spoken of. Though no credence was attached to such rumours, yet people began to think whether they would lose or gain by a change of masters. They doubtless anticipated loss

thereby, and this thought drew them towards the British as being, with all their shortcomings, better than any other foreigners. Thus I discovered an incipient loyalty not previously discernible.

In my views on this subject I was never disturbed by the political conspiracies of divers sorts which confronted me, time to time, place to place, from the beginning to the end of my career. Nor was I abashed by the suddenness with which outbreaks on various occasions would burst forth and flow like lava over tracts of country. I knew well that beneath our society, there were volcanoes not wholly extinct and hardly extinguishable within any definite time—and that under foreign rule the people are ever passive or feeble in resisting disorder.

In the constitution of the British Indian Government, the old title of Governor-General, illustrated by many heroic men, was preserved. But to it was added that of Viceroy, indicating that the holder not only governed, but also represented the Sovereign. The Members of his Council, formerly appointed by the East India Company, were afterwards appointed directly by the Crown. Legislation, in the strict sense of the term, hardly existed before my generation. Within this time, however, Legislative Councils, for the Empire at large and for the principal Provinces, were constituted. The aid of the best English jurists was invoked, until at length India possessed Codes of



law inferior to few in the world. Subsidiary thereto, the old Supreme Courts of English law, and the Sudder Courts of Indian law, were abolished, and in their places High Courts for both English and Indian law were set up, the Judges being appointed by the Crown. The entrance to the Covenanted Civil Service as it used to be called, and to the Imperial Civil Service as it was afterwards styled, had to be won after competitive examination in England, instead of by nomination as formerly. The alteration was needed in order to satisfy public opinion in England, and in principle is not to be gainsaid. The efficiency of the Service remained, however, very much what it was before. In 1847 I was informed, under the nomination system, that the Service was the finest in the world; in 1880, under the competition system, I was told the same on returning to England. The old nomination system produced a long series of imperial administrators. Their conduct was resplendent and must be recorded by every historian who investigates the achievements of his countrymen in the East. I fully trusted that the new system would be found to bear as bright an escutcheon; it could scarcely have a brighter.

Respecting the Native Army, a gigantic error had prevailed during several generations. My generation saw it culminate in the War of the Mutinies which brought British dominion into critical peril. If the British nationality had not been gifted with the

highest fighting qualities, and possessed military resources by sea and land of a unique character, nothing could have saved the empire. As things went, the magnificence of the retrieval equalled the gravity of the error. For future rectification the European forces were doubled, and the Native forces were halved. The European separate forces of the East India Company were abolished, and their place was taken by the troops of the Crown. After my experience at Lahore in 1859, I appreciated the wisdom of this measure. The Indian Navy after a long and historic service, was given up, and its duties were transferred to the Royal Navy in Indian waters.

A blessed improvement was, during my generation, effected in the accommodation, the surroundings and the general condition of the European soldiery. Double-storied barracks, sometimes called palatial, were built in many places, the ground story for living the upper story for sleeping above the reach of malaria. The industrial employments indoors to relieve the tedium of closed windows in the hot blasts of summer—the recreations of various sorts out of doors—the comfort and cleanliness of all subsidiary arrangements—conduced to good conduct and temperance on the part of men whose lot in the East was thus bettered.

My generation saw the introduction of the railway and of the electric telegraph. The opening of the trunk lines of railway, although the branches were as yet



incomplete or untouched, did yet yield an enormous advantage to the Native population, of which they were quick to avail themselves. The effect, too, upon their minds was commensurately great. If anything could make an inroad on the system of caste it would be this. It aided the State and the people immensely in the prevention of famine. The addition it gave to the military power of the Government was too obvious to need description. In an empire not far from two millions of square miles in area, with an Administration everywhere concentrated either imperially or provincially, the electric telegraph was a great accession of strength both to the State and to the commercial classes.

After my arrival in India, I found the system of irrigation canals well begun. Before the end of my time it was developed in a degree not equalled, so far as I could learn, in any country or in any age. Untold augmentation thus accrued to the agricultural resources of the people, especially in time of drought. The duty of devoting the power and the means of the Government to saving life from famine—at any cost, at almost any sacrifice—had before my generation been but casually and imperfectly followed. But during and after 1873-4 it was formally acknowledged and acted upon.

The virtual property in land—whether belonging to landlords, or to middlemen, or to subordinate holders, or to occupancy cultivators—was finally settled during my generation, subject always to the payment of the

land revenue, or of the rent. This settlement, too, was made after statistical inquiries supported by surveys cadastral, topographical, trigonometrical, with skill, science and expense rarely exceeded in any country.

In this generation the Public Health received from the State an effectual attention not known before. Cholera ceased to be endemic at Calcutta and other great centres, doubtless because of the thorough improvement in the water-supply and in the drainage. Indeed the works for these purposes in the capital cities were of the finest and largest kind. These essential improvements spread to the towns of the interior, and even to some of the village areas. A vast amount of municipal capital was laid out on sanitation. Although outbreaks still occurred, beyond human remedy in the present state of our knowledge, yet the prevention of preventible disease was enough to mark the difference between British and Native rule in this respect.

Public Instruction or State Education was introduced. In the elementary branch a very good beginning was made, but not much more. The principle of village or parish rating for this purpose was acted upon nearly everywhere. But the rule of compulsory attendance at school had not been promulgated. The percentage of children at school upon those of a schoolgoing age was insufficient. The superior and middle-class instruction was successful in regard to literary and

general culture, but defective in respect to physical science, and to industrial or technical training.

There was a bright exception, however, in which some signal successes were achieved. Medical instruction had been imparted previously, but in my time it was nobly developed. The Native students proved adepts in learning and in practising, so as to form a large Profession of influence and usefulness among their countrymen.

The mitigation of suffering, perhaps also the saving of life, by the medical dispensaries and the hospitals established in all parts of our vast territories—did win Native respect. Indeed the Natives regarded this kind and gracious work as an example of merit without worldly alloy.

The Western education had, in my time, a potent effect on the religious faith of the Hindus who had thus been trained. They ceased to believe in the Hinduism which was still popular with the masses. They set up theistical systems for themselves, based on the traditions of hoar antiquity. Among these classes the progress of Christianity was disappointing and less than what might a priori have been expected. Still there were from year to year signal conversions of which the spiritual significance, and even moral effect, far transcended any mere numerical account.

Among other classes of the population—Hindu, but not Moslem—in many scattered districts, under the

influence of the Protestant religious missions, the advance of Christianity was a cause of thankfulness. It received a greater impulse in my generation than at any previous time. The aggregate of souls connected with these missions constituted a statistical factor even in India, where the statistics generally mounted up to high figures. The missionaries as a body became an engine of general good, and a moral force respected alike by the Government and the people. The Roman Catholic missions in many centres were also well maintained.

The growth of the Native Vernacular Press was due to the Western education. In many respects this Press was most loyal to British rule. In other respects it lent itself to excesses of thought and language verging on disloyalty, and so far it abused the freedom which had been generously conceded. Necessity arose for restricting this freedom temporarily by law. The fault perhaps arose in part from the indiscriminate imitation of extreme language sometimes used by the European Press, without observing the limits which patriotism would forbid an English publicist to transgress.

A movement, which subsequently became known as that of the Indian National Congress, had begun in my time and had advanced a certain way. But it had hardly approached the lengths which it seems to have reached later on. Even then its claims were of an exaggerated character, though they had not attained

their present climax, which is quite inadmissible, and which in effect is that those should control the Finance who do not undertake the defence of the country and the maintenance of order.

I saw many social reformers arise in the country, and it was hoped that sooner or later they would succeed in changing many customs detrimental to Native society. But in my generation they hardly achieved any substantial result that could be chronicled.

If personal greatness could hardly be achieved by individual natives under British administration, honour could be conferred. In my time the Government granted not only English knighthood but also Oriental titles to Natives. Though granted by a foreign Viceroy, such Oriental titles were much prized in Native society. But they were casually or incidentally bestowed. Towards the end of my time I thought that the procedure might well be systematised, and that a Native aristocracy, based on antiquity and on the traditions of indigenous rule, might be consolidated and developed under British rule.

A marked advance took place in the employment of Natives of all grades in the Public Service. In 1847, the clerks in the offices of the many Civil Departments were almost entirely European or East Indian. The work, being English, could not be performed by Natives, but before I left India, it was almost entirely done by them. In the middle grades of the magistracy, of the

police, of the revenue-collection, the employment of Natives had always been in vogue. But in my time its value and its credit were much raised, in respect to emoluments, to leave, and to pension. Natives were appointed to seats in the High Courts and in the Legislative Councils. While the emoluments of the European agency in State employ often remained stationary, those of the Native agency were increased largely.

This improvement in status and in prospect, combined with the Western education, wrought a marked improvement in the conduct of the Native officers and officials. When I recalled the character they had as I first knew them in 1848, and that which they enjoyed as I left them in 1880, the moral advancement was greater than anything I ever expected to see.

I always believed that much good might be produced by investing Native worthies with honorary functions and duties in the administration of the country, thereby attaching them to the Government under which they lived. Much, no doubt, was attempted in this way; but I never thought that enough was undertaken in my generation on this behalf. I did what I could in my several Provinces; but until opinion was more ripe than it proved to be among Europeans as well as Natives, I could not give full effect to my views.

In this generation to hold a census of the popula-

tion was recognised as among the first duties of the State. But as there were only estimates at the beginning of the time, a full comparison could not be made with the proper enumeration which was effected towards the end. Undoubtedly there had been an enormous increment, not much short of one hundred millions of souls. Of that about one-fourth had been due to the incorporation of fresh territory into the empire, and three-fourths to natural increase. When the question was raised as to how this growing multitude could be sustained, it was shown that the average density to the square mile was still very moderate, that the cultivation had expanded pari passu, and that the people were not likely to starve when they were exporting vast masses of food-grain to Europe.

The foreign trade was multiplied about fivefold within the time. It was for the most part transferred from the Cape of Good Hope to the Suez canal, and from sailing vessels to steamers. Some industries, textile and other, in India were superseded by British-made goods. The readiness with which the Natives clothed themselves with the English stuffs was among the wonders of the time. On the other hand, the industries of tea and coffee were set up by the British in India. Certain industries, too, originally European,—relating to cotton, to jute-fibre and others—were established in India by the British in competition with Europe. Thus, despite the loss of some industries,

the industrial advancement of India was enormous. All this, in combination with economic circumstances, caused a marked rise in wages and prices, whereby the condition of the Natives was raised.

A striking instance might be adduced of progress in the labour market. When I arrived in India recruits for the Native Army could be procured, in any number of thousands, on a signal from authorities. Before I left the country, difficulty began to be felt in obtaining recruits in several provinces, much like that which has sometimes been found in England.

The revenues and receipts of the State were doubled in the space of time. From about thirty-five millions sterling they rose to about seventy millions. The fall in the value of the rupee, which afterwards became financially disastrous, had begun indeed but had not advanced far. The National Debt was trebled, the increase amounting to more than a hundred millions sterling. Some of this was expended on military operations, especially the suppression of the Mutinies, but the rest was for remunerative work on railways and canals.

The condition of the Europeans, chiefly the servants of the Government, had been financially affected by the rise of prices and wages. It was threatened further if the rupee should fall in value when measured by a gold standard. But it had been sensibly ameliorated by the new rules of leave and furlough to Europe, and by the



railway locomotion within India, especially facilitating access to the health-resorts.

Sixteen years have elapsed since my departure from India, so closing the space of this retrospect. In these subsequent years, she may, perhaps must, have still further changed; and will, I hope, have advanced in every way. She has been in pathetic poetry described as a land of regrets. Personally I never felt any such, while residing within her limits. If I failed to feel due regret after leaving her, it was because of the new interest springing from my avocations in England. There was much in the Indian life to evoke my liveliest sympathy. Fortune had given to few men the chances which I had of seeing the whole country. I was on official duty-from the mid snowy range of the Himalaya in the north to within sight of Cape Comorin in the south—from the border of Thibet on the north-east to the border of Candahar on the south-west-at the mouth of the Irawaddy and at the mouth of the Indus -from the frontier of Siam on the east to Beluchistan on the west. The love of travel might have impelled me to visit these widely scattered places, but in fact the performance of my varied work had taken me thither. As a Governor, a traveller, and a student, I had discerned virtues and graces in the Natives, more than counterbalancing the faults and crimes which I had seen as a Magistrate, a Collector, and a Judge. If I were required to give a concrete example of an

ever-present sense of duty animating conduct—I should indicate the Anglo-Indian Administrators Civil and Military. If I were asked the practical meaning of devoted patriotism, and a singleness of desire for the popular welfare, I should point to the British governance of India.

CHAPTER V.

(1880-86.)-LIFE IN ENGLAND.

Arrival in London from India March 1880—The General Election—Proceed to Worcestershire—Defeated in election—Revert to London—Write book "India in 1880"—Make speeches Birmingham and Manchester—Residence at Hampstead—Write book "Men and events of my time in India"—Varied literary work—My "Oriental Experience" and "Cosmopolitan Essays"—Memoirs of John Lawrence and James Thomason—Addresses to various Societies—Honours from Universities Oxford and Cambridge—Move in London Society—Travel in Scotland—Negotiations with various constituencies—Resume candidature for Worcestershire—The Evesham Division—Electoral campaign—Elected Member December 1885.

ARRIVED in London during the afternoon of Wednesday the 31st of March 1880. After admiring the snow-capped mountains of Crete in golden light, high above the violet sea-waves—I arrived at Brindisi. Thence I travelled with the mails to Paris. They had to go by the circular railway round the city; but I drove across the city and caught an earlier train. So I actually reached London some three hours before the mails and their despatches. Thus I was hailed by my friends as the man who "had beat the mail."

I was to enter at once, without any preparation, on an electoral campaign, with only a few days within which to fight a severely contested election, where my opponents had been for some weeks in the field. So I went to the Carlton Club to seek my first political lesson. I heard that the earliest polls of the General Election had been declared that day. On entering the club I was struck by the sight that met my eyes. In the hall there had been placed wooden stands, against which were posted the results of the polls in the boroughs. Eager politicians were pacing backwards and forwards, scanning the figures.

It was thought best for me to learn all I could that very night from the central authorities of the Party in London-before proceeding on the morrow for the campaign. So I was kindly conducted to the Conservative headquarters in St. Stephen's Chambers, and was introduced to Mr. Roland Winn, afterwards Lord St. Oswald, one of the Whips. I asked him what were the main points to be advocated before the electors, and he was good enough to expound them to me. Then Sir William Hart Dyke also a Whip, came in with a bundle of campaign leaflets, like a quiver full of arrows, bristling with facts and arguments on the Conservative side for this General Election in particular. Out of the batch he selected several tracts for my special edification. was now growing late, and the two Whips dismissed me with their blessing.

The next morning I journeyed to Worcester in company with Mr. Allsopp, afterwards Lord Hindlip, my colleague in the candidature for East Worcestershire. At Worcester I was met by my brother-in-law

Mr. John Willis Bund, afterwards Chairman of the Worcestershire County Council. That evening I went to my home, The Nash, in the parish of Kempsey. Mrs. Temple, my father's widow, was living there. My wife and daughter had just come back from the Continent to meet me. The next morning I drove to Croome Court, to see the Earl of Coventry the head of our Conservative party in Worcestershire. I had known the members of His Lordship's family from my childhood onwards; and he himself proved to be one of the best and kindest friends I ever had. He subsequently became Lord Lieutenant of the county.

Then I proceeded by train to Oldbury near Birmingham to attend my first political meeting, and to make my opening speech to the electors.

At Oldbury I asked my leading supporters what I had best say to the electors. They replied—tell the audience about Russia and Turkey, or the Eastern Question generally, and never mind about domestic topics. I heard ringing cheers and hearty applause all down the street as I walked to the meeting place. People enquired whether I felt the change from a Governor's status to an election campaign. I replied that the cheers of my Bombay friends had hardly died out of my ears, when the cheers of my Worcestershire friends began. Just after we had taken our seats, the sound of thick boots mounting to the galleries, and the confused noises in the body of the hall, showed me that

trouble was in the air. Indeed cheers began to be raised for our opponents. After I had uttered a few sentences of my speech, many men stood up in evident concert, and pushed their way through the rows of my supporters towards the platform. The meeting would apparently be broken up, and we held a hasty consultation. would not leave the platform while it was being assaulted, but would stand in its defence. Meanwhile the assailants were on us. Fortunately there were at the foot of the platform two rows of hardy, prickly plants in large pots. So the storming party had to get over these, in order to gain the rails of the platform. As fast as they reached the rails, we, standing on a vantage ground, pushed them back. Thus checked, they soon found that the body of our men were forming up in their rear, and that their attack had failed. was sorry to learn that several men were hurt in the scuffle, one Radical having injured his arm and another his rib—though the fault was theirs entirely. We then left our unconquered platform, and adjourned to the long room of the publichouse. There I gave to an audience of my supporters the speech which was to have been delivered to the public meeting.

After that, I encountered no rough treatment, except on one evening at Halesowen. When I was driving away after the meeting, a young man thrust his head into the carriage, and cursing me with a voice of suppressed rage, dashed a stone against my chest.



I received during this brief electoral campaign a generous hospitality from Mr. and Mrs. Allsopp at their seat Hindlip Hall, which I shall ever remember. I was zealously befriended by Mr. Charles Noel, a typical county gentleman, and our honorary secretary; also by Mr. Ralph Benson of Shropshire, a friend of my boyhood, who had already been making speeches to the electors on my behalf until I could appear on the scene.

I rejoiced to find that the electors cared far more to hear speeches about the Eastern Question, and the Empire abroad, than about any domestic topic. The recent policy of the Conservative Government in Eastern Europe loomed so large before the public mind that I had to devote myself to its vindication—a task highly congenial to me. I had often been warned that the electors would take no interest in India. To the honour of my patriotic countrymen, I found the very reverse to be the case.

I was struck by the excitability of the public mind during a crisis of this nature. For example, an opponent had said in a speech that I had come red-handed from the Afghan War; and I took this to be, what it really was, a mere figure of speech to indicate that I had very recently been in the theatre of military operations. Some of my good supporters, however, were so touched by this metaphor, that they obliged me to publicly defend myself, and to deny that my own hands had been imbrued with the blood of Afghans.

There were only ten days available for my campaigning, and I was gaining votes every day by my speeches on Russia and Turkey. Had a few days more been spared me, I might have won success. As it was I learned, without surprise on the election day, that my senior opponent, the eldest son of Mr. Gladstone, was ahead of me by a fair majority.

Meanwhile, the Conservative Government was in the throes of resignation, and after the briefest respite at home, I went to London to wait upon the leaders of my Party, before they should leave office. The Levées for the year being over, I fortunately found myself able to appear in the presence of Her Majesty at a Drawing Room in Buckingham Palace. I was thankful to be elected straightway a Member of the Carlton, and about the same time I came on for election successfully by ballot at the Athenæum.

I shortly afterwards became a Justice of the Peace for Worcestershire, and taking my seat on the Bench, recalled the memories of early youth when my father sat there. This was on the recommendation of the late Lord Beauchamp, then Lord Lieutenant. I was proud to have received his support regarding politics and local affairs. In common with my neighbours, I mourned his death and revered his memory.

I received a letter from my friend Sir Michael Westropp, on behalf of the inhabitants of Bombay, requesting me to sit to the sculptor Mr. Brock, now a Royal

Academician, for a statue to be erected in marble at that city. I was naturally proud to be thus remembered by my friends there. The sittings began during this year, and the work was completed in the course of a twelvemonth. The statue was placed in the Exhibition of the Royal Academy during the next year, and was subsequently erected in the Esplanade of Bombay. The mover on this occasion was Mr. Justice (now Sir Lyttelton) Bayley. He spoke in the most hearty and appreciative manner, being one of my best friends. The then Governor, Lord Reay, performed the ceremony of unveiling, with courteous and friendly expressions. The inhabitants of Bombay were good enough to send me a photograph of the scene.

In those days I met Mr. Fergusson, the renowned author on architecture. He advised me to write without delay a book about India, and suggested Mr. John Murray as publisher. Shortly afterwards I delivered before the Royal Geographical Society an address on the projected railway from the Indus to Candahar, for which the illustrations were painted by my brother, Lieutenant George Temple of the Royal Navy, from my sketches. After the conclusion of the address Mr. Fergusson introduced me to Mr. John Murray, who had been among the audience. The next day I agreed with Mr. Murray to write two books, the first to be done in the current year and to be called "India in 1880," the second to be completed in the

following year and to be styled "Men and Events of my time in India." Subsequently, I delivered two similar addresses to the Society, one upon the frontier of Thibet, the other upon the mountain fastnesses of the Mahrattas. Referring to my speeches and to my brother George's illustrations in combination, the President, Lord Aberdare, spoke of us as "par nobile fratrum."

I returned for awhile to my Worcestershire home, to begin the composition of "India in 1880." I continued this work at Vichy, where I renewed my old friendship with Lord Houghton. Leaving Vichy I made, with my sister Augusta, a short tour in France. Thence I joined my wife at Malvern, and worked at my book till the autumn. I then proceeded to London for its completion and publication by the end of the year.

Early in 1881 I was invited to address a great meeting in the Town Hall of Birmingham on "the value of India to the industrial classes of England." I felt nervous at standing up on the very platform where, as a boy, I used to hear the great singers entertain the vast audience, each for a few minutes one after the other. How, thought I to myself, shall I with my single voice entertain just as large an audience for more than an hour? My courage rose, however, as I caught the eye of the listening multitude. I had to deal with facts, grand, telling and magnificent. As each fact fell

on the ear of the audience it evoked cheering. Indeed, the constant applause so delayed my discourse, that one hour and three quarters were taken up. When, at last, I sat down, the applause was so long sustained that I rose repeatedly to bow in acknowledgment, like a public performer. As I lay my tired head to rest, I thought that this had been one of the finest evenings in my whole career.

I met Lord Beaconsfield for the last time at the Carlton Club. I had not seen him since my entrance into English politics. He had quite recently been making an impressive speech about Central Asia and India, using the memorable words that the keys of India were not in Herat or Candahar, but in Westminster! He was sorry that I had not been able to enter Parliament at the last General Election. But he hoped I would persevere, and assured me of ultimate success. I little thought that within a day or so he would be seized with mortal illness.

In the early spring I went to Manchester for the purpose of delivering two addresses, one in the Town Hall on behalf of the Church Missionary Society, the other to the Chamber of Commerce in special reference to the Indian import duties on cotton goods. I was to be the guest of Bishop Fraser at Bishop's Court. But a gouty affection overtook me, so that I walked with difficulty; still I addressed the audience in the Town Hall. The next day I had to be carried in a

chair with shafts to address the Chamber of Commerce. I was allowed to keep my seat while speaking about the Indian import duties on cotton goods. The purport was, that while Finance Minister of India I had advocated the gradual reduction of these duties, and that I hoped the then Minister, Sir Evelyn Baring, afterwards Lord Cromer, would be able to abolish whatever might remain of them. After the speech was over I was being carried down the stone staircase, when the shaft of my chair broke causing me to be thrown with some force on the hard ground, and thus aggravating my ailment. The next day in my sick-bed I read the favourable comments in the several Manchester papers on my speech. For several days my host and hostess, Bishop and Mrs. Fraser, cared for me in a manner which claimed my lasting gratitude. They then seemed so strong and I so sick; yet they are both gone to everlasting rest, and I am left.

I was at Liverpool on several public occasions under the hospitable guidance of my valued friends, Mr. (now Sir William) Forwood and Mr. Edward Lawrence.

Meanwhile my wife, finding that Worcerstershire did not suit her health, had established an abode for us both at Hampstead, close on the Heath. As soon as I could be moved from Manchester I joined her there. I quickly recovered, and by May I was nearly as well as ever. I then began to compose my promised book "Men and Events of my time in India," and with

slight intermissions, devoted myself to this task for the remainder of that year.

Besides these larger works I contributed, in the following years, articles or essays to several Royal Societies, the Historical, the Geographical, the Asiatic, the Statistical—to the "Contemporary" and "Fortnightly Reviews "-to the "Quarterly Review." Many of these were republished in two separate volumes; one by Mr. Murray entitled "Oriental Experience," the other by Mr. Chapman styled "Cosmopolitan Essays." I wrote a Memoir of John Lord Lawrence for Macmillan's series of "English Men of Action." For that purpose I visited Londonderry, being the guest of Bishop-now Archbishop-Alexander and his gifted wife. I prepared the volume "James Thomason" for the Oxford Clarendon Press Series of "Rulers of India" -under the able editorship of Sir William Hunter. In reference to this Memoir I had to study the career of Charles Simeon at Cambridge. When this important series had been completed I dined at Oxford with the Vice-Chancellor Dr. Magrath, in company with the eminent men who as authors had contributed to the literary undertaking. I wrote the article on India for the new edition of "Chambers' Encyclopædia"; and that on the Mahrattas for the new edition of the "Encyclopædia Britannica." I lamented that parliamentary avocation prevented my attending the dinner at Cambridge, which was afterwards given by the conductors

of the "Encyclopædia Britannica" to the numerous authors who had taken part in that comprehensive work.

I delivered many addresses in different parts of England on behalf of religious missions from all Protestant denominations, using Indian experience for giving weight to my testimony. The most interesting of these occasions was at Lincoln when I was the guest of Bishop Wordsworth, the venerable and distinguished author. I was soon chosen to be a Vice-President of the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel. I was afterwards elected Vice-President of the Church Missionary Society-my friend Sir John Kennaway being then President-on account of the many speeches I had made in support of the Society at the Universities of Oxford and Cambridge, in the Metropolis, and at the chief industrial centres in the interior. I was astonished as well as rejoiced by the May meetings of the Society at Exeter Hall. In regard to magnitude, earnestness and fervour, to weight of numbers, to quality of influence and experience from many lands—these assemblages seemed to be among the moral phenomena of the age. The House of Laymen being constituted mainly with members elected from the counties of England and Wales—the Archbishop of Canterbury was empowered to nominate a limited number of members, and I had the privilege of being one of His Grace's nominees.

I conversed much regarding the Royal College of Civil Engineering at Cooper's Hill with General Chesney, afterwards Sir George and Member of Parliament—a friend ever since my Panjab days. At the request of the Secretary of State for India, I became Chairman of the Board of Visitors for the scientific and practical curriculum of this important institution for technical education. Its President was my ally Sir Alexander Taylor of Delhi fame, and to it was added a Forestry branch under Dr. Schlich another old friend of mine in Bengal.

I was honoured by receiving the Honorary Degree of D.C.L. at Oxford, and of LL.D. of Cambridge. The ceremonies and social gatherings on those occasions were marked by the red gowns of us Doctors amid the verdant surroundings of the colleges. I was favoured with these distinctions in company with several eminent men, British and foreign—among the former were Watts and Millais, among the latter was Menabrea. The acquisition of these Degrees enabled me to become a member of two Colleges, Christchurch at Oxford and Trinity at Cambridge.

In the delivery of addresses my activity was exceedingly diversified. I had the honour to make speeches on general topics at the request of several Chambers of Commerce, notably those of London, Liverpool, Manchester, Bradford, Stoke-on-Trent. I was elected an Honorary Member of the College of Preceptors in London. I was President of the Social Science Congress at Huddersfield, and was

offered the Presidency of a Sanitary Congress, which my political engagements prevented my accepting. I was twice President of Sections of the British Association for the advancement of Science, namely that of Geography at Southampton, and that of Economic Science at Montreal. Thrice I gave lectures before the Institute of Bankers in the City of London on the Currency system of India old and new, also the monetary practices of the Natives; further, on the recent closing of the Mints. To the Society of Arts in London I explained the principles of Indian Forestry. several years I was President of the East India Association. I addressed the Royal Institute of British Architects on picturesqueness in architecture, and they published my paper with beautiful illustrations of their I made a speech to the Art Institute in the Pottery Districts on the works of Wedgwood. Thrice as President of the Richmond Athenæum I made historical speeches from the chair on striking episodes in Greece, in Spain and in Turkey.

Above all, when the United Service Institution was entering its new quarters in Whitehall—which had just been declared open by the Prince of Wales—I was chosen to deliver the inaugural address on the professional culture necessary for British officers on sea and land. Field-Marshal Sir Lintorn Simmons was in the chair, and many distinguished officers of the Army and of the Navy were among the audience.



Together with all this, I desired to see something of London society. I cherish gratefully the remembrance of the gracious and hospitable reception which was accorded to me and which far exceeded my anticipation. For three London seasons I went faithfully over the social round, learning for the first time what it was to make a business of pleasure. This régime seemed severe even to a man like me accustomed to hard work. I did not indeed appear on horseback in the Park during the gay months. in some years, when it became empty owing to the slackening of the season, I really did ride there, and found it the best galloping ground ever met with by me. The social routine implied the devotion of fourteen hours out of the twenty-four, for some three months in the year, to Society. Experience of the world in one of its phases was thus gained. My recollections of it are blended in a golden atmosphere, with unfailing sunshine, with brightness of speech and aspect, with brilliancy of adornment and surroundings.

One afternoon I had the honour of showing to Mr. (afterwards Lord) Tennyson a portfolio containing a long series of water-colour studies indicating cloud effects in the Himalaya, near Simla. He on the other hand read to me some of his patriotic odes. Among these little sketches I shall ever remember one set, to which he was attracted, and which seemed to suggest poetic thoughts. For it represented the same view

from four different aspects; namely, the distant Satlej winding through the Plains, as seen from a mountain summit. The first aspect was pale with a tender grey sky; the second was violet with a golden sky; the third was red, even the river catching the rosy colour of sunset; the fourth was dark with the approaching nightfall, the horizon being streaked with the light of departing day, and the river just breaking the gloom with a subdued light.

I learned my first lessons in Uganda politics from H. M. Stanley himself on his return from his last African expedition. I was among the guests at his wedding in Westminster Abbey, amidst a large gathering of celebrated persons. When he entered Parliament, I rejoiced that he was there to help in guarding Imperial interests.

I was chosen by the friends of Sir Bartle Frere to preside on two occasions, one joyous, the other sorrowful. The first was the banquet given to him by his admirers, after his return from the Cape of Good Hope. The second was when I became Chairman of the Committee for arranging his public funeral in St. Paul's Cathedral. In a similar capacity I attended and read the address when his statue on the Victoria Embankment was unveiled by the Prince of Wales.

I paid a noteworthy visit to Scotland, when travelling to Edinburgh for the delivery of an address to the Scottish Arboricultural Society. Then I joined them on a charming excursion. We visited Lord Haddington's grounds, studded and adorned with noble trees. No thought entered our minds that we were only just in time to view them before they perished. Thence I journeyed to Ross-shire and studied Sir John. Fowler's estate, ranging from the shore washed by salt water, past cultivated lands, including woods and lochs, ending at length in deer forests several thousand feet above sea level. Returning southwards, I arrived at the Trossachs overnight. Early the next morning the hotel-master warned me not to go out, as some tempest was impending. By consulting the weather-glass I perceived that a cyclone was approaching, and I would fain see it burst on Loch Katrine. So passing quickly through the sheltered ravine of the Trossachs with my guide, we emerged upon the lake. Then, sure enough, the cyclone was on us, and we had to cling as close as possible to rocks and trunks of trees. The spectacle was terrifically splendid; the lake water was scourged into contortions, and was driven up aloft into the air in columns of spray. Proceeding southeastwards, I heard of the tremendous havoc that had been wrought among the woods of the eastern coast, and that, in the wreck, Lord Haddington's trees, which we were recently admiring, had been lost.

During a subsequent visit to Scotland I stood at the mouth of Fingal's Cave. The geological formations were the most wondrous ever seen by me. I gazed at

Nature's exquisite elaboration of the rocks. As the waves from the Atlantic rolled into the cavern, and resounded with a melancholy cadence, the romance of the place was ineffable. The purplish black of the basaltic columns was partially reflected in the deep green of the sea. I suppose that there may be some six gems of Nature on the face of our earth. Of these one would be the marble wall of the Nerbudda in India, another might be the best of the sulphur springs in the Yellowstone Park of America, and Fingal's Cave would certainly be another.

My eldest son Richard returned for a while to England with his wife, having done well in the Civil Employ of Northern India, and having already won for himself a name in Anglo-Indian literature. He took up the manuscript journals kept by me in Cashmere, in Hyderabad of the Deccan, in Sikkim, in Nepal. For these he prepared a preface, and several introductions, with learned or useful notes in many places. Thus he produced a work which was published by Messrs. Allen He afterwards became President of in two volumes. the Rangoon Municipality, and is now Chief Commissioner of the Andaman Islands. My second son Henry also rose in the Indian Service, and is now a Political Agent in Rajputana. He has become eminent in water-colour art; so that now the walls of the old drawing-room at The Nash are hung entirely with water-colour pictures, painted by three generations of our family—namely, my father, myself, and my son. My third son, Charles, has chosen a Colonial career.

As my wife was obliged for her health to stay at Heath Brow, Hampstead, I could not live continuously at The Nash. But I occasionally stayed there for a time in perfect accord with Mrs. Temple, my father's widow, who lived in the old house permanently, till her death in 1892. She took charge of my two sons during their childhood in my father's lifetime, and was as good as a mother to them. I cherish her memory with the most affectionate respect.

Despite my frequent absences, I sometimes received my Worcestershire neighbours at The Nash. Once there was a dance, at which I was favoured by the presence of gentlemen belonging to several Hunt Clubs; so that I actually beheld the uniform coats of five Hunts among my guests. Once, too, the Croome Hounds met on the lawn in front of the house, and made up a picturesque scene. At the hunt-breakfast I had the pleasure of receiving many former constituents, rural gentry, and farmers.*

* I have often been interrogated regarding the etymology of "The Nash." Traditionally we have held the name to mean the ash-trees—the plural of the ash being formed by prefixing the letter n. But a friend has pointed out to me the following passage in Earle's "Philology of the English Tongue," p. 138.: "... the tendency of N to adhere as an initial where it has no organic place, as Ned, Noll, Nell. Most instances have been caused by combination with a precedent word ending in N, generally an article, sometimes a pronoun. Thus nuncle arose from 'mine uncle,' nickname from 'an eke name.' In local names we have Nash, Noke, from 'at then ashe,' or 'atten ashe'—'at then oke,' or 'atten oke.'"

Since my return to England in 1880 I never lost sight of Parliamentary politics. I hoped to stand again for Worcestershire, inasmuch as, having come from India for that purpose, I wished to abide thereby. Meanwhile overtures or offers came to me from various constituencies. The first of these related to Canterbury, but that did not end in any definite conclusion. second referred to Evesham, which I did not feel able to accept. I also was favoured with communications regarding the Leigh Division of Lancashire, and Barnstaple in Devonshire. I had some private communications regarding the borough of Liverpool-before it was separated into several divisions—and I agreed to stand in the event of a certain conjuncture arising, which however did not arise, and so the affair dropped. By this time the election law had been essentially changed by the Corrupt Practices Act. Next came the Franchise Act of 1885, and the redistribution of seats. The county of Worcester was broken up into several new divisions. Fortunately that division fell to my lot which comprised a goodly portion of the area that I had contested in 1880, which was nearest my home, and which had Evesham for its headquarter. So far all promised well; but then a temporary obstacle sprang Many of my supporters favoured Protection, and that I was unable to advocate. So I had to ask for an assurance that such advocacy was not to be expected of me. At that juncture an offer came from the Harrow

division of Middlesex, and I might have accepted it had the Worcestershire negotiation fallen through. My Worcestershire supporters, however, were so very kind as to take me without Protection, and thus I was in every way bound to them. My Liverpool friends had not forgotten me, for I received by telegraph an offer from one of the newly-formed divisions of that great borough, but naturally I had to decline with much expression of thankfulness.

Yet one more pleasing trial awaited me. The Conservatives of the Edgbaston division of Birmingham had been pleased to fix on me as the one candidate who would suit them all round. In their kindness they believed that, if due pressure were applied, my Worcestershire friends might be induced to give me up for the good of the Party in the Midland counties, leaving me free to transfer my allegiance. In the summer of this year, 1885, there was a political banquet in Edgbaston at which I was to speak. Unknown to me, an Address had been prepared and signed by several thousands of electors, urging me to stand for reasons of a most complimentary character. This was presented to me in the ante-room just before dinner, quite unexpectedly. After expressing my thanks most cordially, I could only say that my fate was in the hands of the Worcestershire constituency. The moment was one of triumph for me; indeed I have hardly ever felt more complimented than on this occasion. Very many of

the best people in Birmingham resided within the Edgbaston division. From every point of view it was a constituency of high rank and distinction. In the event I was unable to accept, being under the fullest obligation to Worcestershire.

Under the altered circumstances since the new Franchise Act, I found the campaigning in 1885, for the Evesham division, or South Worcestershire, to differ much for the worse from what it had been in 1880. Formerly we had only the upper section of rural society, with the farmers and the freeholders, to deal with. But now to them were added the farmlabourers and the small allotment holders. Consequently a meeting had to be held in almost every village, and I had more than eighty villages. Thus the fatigue of speaking at so large a number of meetings as this was a tax on my strength and spirits. But so far as the circumstances allowed, the work was facilitated for me by my trusty and able agent Mr. W. H. Moore. The platform was often a waggon in the midst of the village green, if the evening was I would mount on the box in order to address the rustic folk standing around. Sometimes a barn would be fitted up for our reception, if the evening was wet. Soon I learnt that a considerable section among the farm-labourers had been listening to the siren songs of Liberal charmers, who promised them acres stocked with cattle, and all manner of good things, if only they would vote in a particular way. I was confronted too by Mr. Arthur Chamberlain, my Liberal opponent, a very able and popular candidate.

In the villages the topics for my speeches were naturally parochial. The question of allotments was a burning one at that time. Fortunately I happened to be the owner of many prosperous allotments. So I pointed to these in illustration of my practice, as against the preaching and theories of our opponents. In the country towns, which were not large, imperial topics were desired by the audiences. For example, one evening as I rose to speak watch in hand, I said that just half an hour remained, and asked whether I should devote that to County and Parish Councils, or to Behring Sea and the great Seal controversy. The hearers cried out, "Never mind about the local Councils, tell us of Behring Sea and the Seals."

Once only during a campaign of several months was there any actual collision between my opponent's followers and my own. A body of my supporters attended a Liberal meeting in Evesham; consequently some disputes began and ended in a display of force on both sides, during which my people held somewhat more than their own. In retaliation for this, a meeting of ours, in the capacious barn of a neighbouring village, was broken up by our opponents. It was thereon decided that I should myself

hold another meeting on a subsequent day, and address it in that very barn. So I went with a potent body-guard of the stalwart market gardeners for which Evesham was renowned. They duly answered for order inside the barn while I was speaking. I heard however that outside our meeting the mêlée was at times tumultuous, and that there happened to be a broad trench hard by, into which some ardent opponents were pushed during the free fight.

I have often regretted that a day-book was not kept, wherein to note the amusing phrases that were uttered. Some of them, however, cling to my recollection. I happened to own a cover, which had fortunately been patronised by foxes, and where finds had been tolerably frequent. A rural sportsman, on my first arrival, warned me quite gravely that if I wished to preserve my political influence, I must also preserve my foxes. I replied that this principle was fully acknowledged by me. In the corn-market at Worcester while I was conversing with the farmers, one of them said to me, in a tone of menacing admonition, "We means to 'ave Protection, we does-and we doesn't want no half-hearted uns, we doesn't." I admitted that for so hard an enterprise as this, a whole heart was needed. One day a sturdy villager was recounting to me how he and his had driven an agitator out of their village. I jocularly asked whether they had threatened to bathe the intruder in the horse-pond.



He paused, touched his forehead, and after a moment's reflection, said seriously—"Well, sir, now you names it, there was something said about that." A farmer once was assuring me that his farm-labourers were politically sound. I asked, how he knew that—his prompt answer was "because I 'eerd 'em a hargling among theirselves."

In the end, the rural men kept themselves in what we regarded as the straight path. I frankly said to them that promises could never be made which we might be unable to keep. But I entreated them to stick to us their old friends and neighbours, whose fathers had been known to their fathers. Some of them did indeed wander astray, hoping to attain the unattainable. Nevertheless I was duly elected by a moderate majority.

CHAPTER VI.

(1882-1883).—TRAVELS IN EASTERN EUROPE AND PALESTINE.

Journey to Constantinople—Seraskier Tower—Scutari—San Stefano—Galata Tower—Prince's Islands—Broussa—Turks and Turkish Government—Across Black Sea to Russia—Odessa—Kieff—The Jews—Moscow—Kremlin—Political tendencies—Nijni Novgorod—St. Petersburg—Esthonia—Warsaw—Return to England—Voyage to Palestine—Jaffa to Jerusalem—Jordan and Jericho—Bethel and Shechem—Samaria—Nazareth and Tiberias—Tyre and Sidon—Beyrout and Baalbec—Benefit of travel in Holy Land—Sacred scenery.

TN the spring of 1882 I undertook a tour in Eastern Europe, beginning with Turkey. So, starting from London, I proceeded by railway to Buda Pesth, and saw there a sitting of the Hungarian Parliament. I went on board a steamer on the Danube, and caught a train for Bucharest, the rising capital of the young Roumanian kingdom. Going on to Varna, I embarked on a Black Sea steamer bound for Constantinople. After a night's voyage I went on deck in the morning, and found that our ship was gliding along a narrow strait with mountains on either side and with palaces, castles, villas, down to the water's edge. This was evidently the Bosphorus, and soon Constantinople came in sight, bathed in sunshine and presenting the finest urban scene on earth.



My first care was to ascend the Seraskier—or War Office—Tower in the heart of the old city. From that lofty height the spectator can best understand the mediæval warfare, and the strategic points for modern operations on land or on water. My next thought was to mount the staircase of the Galata Tower in the newer city, from which the view was as instructive and even more picturesque. The panorama indeed was replete with magic beauty. The city, the queen of the East, shone like a diadem of gold and jewels between the azure sky and the emerald sea.

Crossing the water to Scutari, I visited two cemeteries, one most attractive and graceful, the other most gloomy and repulsive despite its grandeur. The former was the resting-place for the British soldiers who fell in the Crimea; the other was the burying-ground for the Turks. In the labyrinth of paths among the Moslem graves overshadowed by funereal cypresses, my guide warned me not to stray beyond the roadway, lest some murderous robber should be lurking behind the tall tombstones.

I spent a day at San Stefano on the shore of the Sea of Marmora, the place where the abortive treaty between Russia and Turkey was arranged in 1878, while the Russian army was encamped in sight of Constantinople. I was shown over the villa where Ignatieff the Russian Minister was staying at the time. Its owner, a Greek, indicated to me, with

evident glee, the balcony where the Minister stood and watched the little black spots on the sea horizon, which were the ironclads of Admiral Hornby's squadron, and which had come to frustrate the Russian policy. According to him, Ignatieff's imprecations and gesticulations of angry chagrin were quite amusing.

I steamed over to Prinkipo amidst the group of Prince's Islands in the sea opposite Constantinople, to visit Valentine Baker Pasha, then in the Sultan's service. I listened to his explanation of the means by which, had war broken out, the British could have obliged Russia to take her hands off Constantinople even when it was almost within her grasp. I lamented his untimely death as a loss to British interests.

In Pera I attended a festivity at the Palace, and saw the Sultan come forth to receive the congratulations of all the leading Ottomans. I admired the hardy and seasoned men of the Turkish battalions; fine fellows who, with honest and loyal commanders, would be equal to any service whatever. Then I took tea with Admiral Hobart Pasha and his wife in their villa.

On my way to Broussa I was carried by a steamer across the Sea of Marmora, finishing up my sketches on deck to the amusement of the burly and affable Turks who crowded around me. From the landing-place in Asia Minor I drove to Broussa by a carriage road. I found the place with its mosques and shrines nestling

at the foot of the Bythinian Olympus. The snowy summit of the mountain seemed proudly to overlook the famous scene. This birthplace and nursery of the Ottoman power is one of the most romantic towns in Asia. I understood that the Turks were saying—When we are driven out of Constantinople we will go to Broussa—when we are expelled from Broussa we will fly to Paradise.

During my sojourn at or near the Turkish capital, I spoke with Europeans, and with Europeanised Turks who would talk to a stranger; with bankers, consuls, officials, merchants, politicians. I perceived without surprise the stolidity, the un-reforming pride of the Turks. But even if there had been the will-which there was not-to improve, still the means of improvement were lacking. The recent loss of the Danubian provinces had impoverished the Treasury. There was scarcely enough money to pay for faithful and honourable service in any department. The State was getting only a moiety of the sums which might be got by honest administration. Whenever some branch of the revenue was, as a security for a part of the national debt, made over to a European syndicate for management, the proceeds would soon be nearly doubled. As for the reforms promised in Asia Minor when, after the Treaty of Berlin, England occupied Cyprus and undertook the defence of Asiatic Turkey against Russia—there remained at this time

but little thought of carrying them out. British consuls were stationed at places in Asia Minor to see all this done; but what they saw was that nothing had been attempted in that direction. The Armenian question had not then become acute; but it was already looming on the political horizon, and the prospect of its development was as a dark vision. Yet on the whole it was thought that the Ottoman dominion would for a while be patched up, and might, like Byron's shattered mirror, "brokenly live on."

The Turks did not choose to recognise that England had stood, and was still standing, as a guardian between them and destruction. They were at that time particularly incensed because they had been recently compelled to cede Thessaly to Greece.

Before my departure I was hospitably received by Lord Dufferin, then British Ambassador. He kindly gave me a letter of introduction to Prince Dolgorouki Governor-General of Moscow, and to the Russian Ambassador. When I waited on the Ambassador, he frankly asked me in French what I wanted to do in Russia. I replied that I was only a traveller; and he kindly gave me introductions to the Governors-General of Odessa and of Kieff. The next day I started in a steamer on a voyage across the Black Sea.

The soil of Russia was first touched by me at Odessa—where I landed during the afternoon. My primary business was to call on Consul-General Stanley,



who forwarded my letter of introduction to the Governor-General Gourko. Immediately there came an invitation to a Reception that very evening by Madame Gourko. I there met many Russian officers, Civil and Military, the conversation being in French. General Gourko had been famous in the recent Russo-Turkish war. His wife was a charming hostess and an accomplished linguist. Altogether my first evening in Russia was delightful.

The next day in the forenoon I attended divine service for the first time on a feast day in the Greek Church. I lunched afterwards with Mr. and Mrs. Stanley to meet General Gourko. In the evening I started by railway for Kieff, traversing a steppe which had been burnt up by drought, and wore a blackened aspect. Just then the rain fell in the nick of time to save everything.

Travelling through the night, I reached Kieff the next day at noon. I at once visited the group of monasteries and churches which make Kieff to the Greek Church what Rome is to the Roman Catholics. My object was to see the pilgrims, mostly male, who were at that moment congregating there from all parts of Russia. In physiognomy, headdress, costumes, girdles, greaves, and sandals—their colouring had many shades and hues. Though worn or travel-soiled, their dress was yet sombre and rich. They were bony, sinewy, muscular, and had great capacity for marching.

Entering the churches and the vestibules of the monasteries, I gazed at the vast altar-pieces with their semi-barbaric splendour. Golden ornaments and precious stones were piled, one article upon the other, in profusion of magnificence. Nevertheless these Greek altars would conduce to pictorial effect more than most of the altars elsewhere, which might have higher pretension to artistic arrangement. These structures, with their gilt domes and pinnacles, stood aloft on a wooded height overhanging the river Dnieper, which was traversed by a railway viaduct.

I was fortunate in meeting countrymen of my own in Russian employ—civil engineers who told me of the labour market—professors who conducted me over the University and the colleges. I understood that the students were politically discontented and sometimes turbulent—while some of them were disposed to Nihilism. This unrest of the spirit, this dislike towards things as they were, seemed to be the outcome of the higher education whether literary or scientific. This was indeed hard on the Russian Government, which had instituted the education for the sake of its people, to qualify them for competition with the advanced nations of Europe, and to prevent all the high posts of Russia being filled by foreigners.

I visited the neighbouring town of Podolia, a smart Jewish settlement with pretty houses and villas. It had quite recently been the scene of anti-Semitic out-



rages committed by the peasantry. Quiet had, indeed, been restored, but the ruins were still smoking. The causes of the outburst of the Russian peasantry against their Jewish fellow-subjects formed the main topic of conversation at that moment. Nothing could justify or even extenuate the deeds of violence which had been done. Still my impression was that the Jews, though grievously sinned against, were themselves not without sin. They had offered a provocation which went on growing for many years, and at length drove the rude, unlettered peasants towards desperation.

Before my departure I had a long interview in French with General Drenteln, the Governor-General. Then I started by train direct for Moscow.

From the railway carriage I had ample opportunity for observing the somewhat gloomy and monotonous landscape of Central Russia. Its features were undulations of immense length, ridges covered with fir forests of which the black green was broken by the gleaming trunks of the birch trees just springing into leaf.

On my arrival at Moscow I alighted at the Slavianski Hotel in the purely Russian part of the city, with the afternoon and the long hours of a May day before me for sightseeing.

With my guide I made straight for the walled enclosure that formed the Kremlin. Entering by one of the grand portals, I ascended the Ivan Velik tower. Not only the Kremlin, but the whole of Moscow was

beneath my eye. Descending I drove along the banks of the Moscow river to the ridge known as Sparrow Hill. Thence I saw the river with its meadows in the foreground, and the structures of Moscow in the middle distance, standing in a line as if marshalled on parade before the spectator. I was on the height where Napoleon caught his first sight of the city, and on the spot where, as I was told, he turned round towards his henchmen and said, "See, gentlemen, it all belongs to you." The view was still the same as it must have been on that memorable day; except that the gorgeously gilded church of St. Sauveur had subsequently been built in memory of the deliverance of Russia from the French. At eventide I drove back in time to sketch the towers of the Kremlin. reflected in the river and rising up darkly against the sky which was glowing with red at sundown.

Having already sent my letter of introduction to the Governor-General, Prince Dolgorouki, I waited the next morning on His Excellency, as he was to hold a levée. I found myself in a large ante-room crowded with Russian officers—but was not allowed to enter with the others into his presence-chamber. When, however, they had all passed through he came into the ante-room to see me, and in the politest manner gave me a little illustrated guide-book to Moscow. Finding that the book contained representations of the very views I wanted to depict, I set about my sketching. My friends warned me against the risk of molestation;

but, knowing that the book was a talisman, I felt secure; and in fact I never was molested.

But I was unable to see the Church of the Kremlin and some other buildings, because they were being prepared for the coronation of the Czar. The very strictest precautions were taken against anyone entering or seeing the arrangement of the interiors. This circumstance was sadly eloquent regarding the dangers which were apprehended. I spent still several days amidst churches, summer-palaces, monasteries, museums, cemeteries, urban festivities, fairs and popular amusements, factories and manufactures. The weather was superb yet cool; blue skies and sunshine enlivened the bright dwellings and laughter-loving crowds. I never spent a more cheerful week anywhere than in Moscow. I conversed much with bankers, merchants, civil-engineers and others.

At the same time, however, uneasiness seemed to pervade society, and peril was in the air. Anxiety prevailed lest at the coming coronation there should be a dread disaster. Some even feared that the city might prove to be honeycombed with Nihilism or other form of anarchy. Even if this apprehension were exaggerated, still beyond doubt the assassination of the Emperor just a year previously had given an impetus to revolutionary ambition. I felt saddened by the thought that, in the belief of well-informed persons, there might be a volcano underlying this city, so bright as it was outwardly, and

so important, too, as being the very heart and centre of Russia.

I obtained an introduction to the superintendent of a steam-flotilla at Nijni Novgorod, and proceeded thither by train. He was a Russian married to an English wife, and his kindness to me was great. From the heights over Nijni I saw the junction of the Oka with the Volga, a fine river-scene. The tongue of land formed by the confluence must be literally alive with the famous fair when that is held there in the autumn.

Then I returned to Moscow and thence proceeded to the northern capital. I drove along the Nevski Prospekt at St. Petersburg, which was almost the longest street I had ever seen. Then I entered the cathedral of St. Isaac, and ascended to the top of the gilded dome. The city and its environs lay beneath my eye—the quays of the Neva, the Winter Palace, the imperial Square, the Admiralty, the War Office, and other structures—all on the left bank of the river. The fortress and the church of St. Peter and St. Paul were on the opposite bank. I sketched this view as being one of the most important in Russia.

I examined carefully the spot where the Emperor Alexander had been killed a year previously by a Nihilist bomb. I visited on a Sunday evening the mourning chapel temporarily erected on the sad site, and watched the strings of mourners, men and women, paying their devotions. This was a weird and strange



scene, showing that fervent loyalty yet lies deep in the hearts of many Russians. I attended divine service with the Greek ritual in the Kazan cathedral amidst a large and attentive congregation largely composed of men. I called at the British Embassy; and met some Russian officers to whom I had introductions. Further, I visited the fortress of St. Peter and St. Paul, in company with Mr. Michell the British Consul-General, and spent a most instructive afternoon with him. Then I started by a night train westwards.

My destination was Revel, on the southern shore of the Baltic, and in the province of Esthonia. I admired the coast scenery, visited some particular Russian friends in that neighbourhood; and then retraced my steps towards St. Petersburg as far as Gatschina. The Czar was then residing there in a palatial summer home, environed by gardens and woodlands under the protection of defensive walls. People remarked that His Imperial Majesty had to live in retirement, it being dangerous for him to move abroad.

Then I travelled by train direct to Warsaw in company with a friendly Russian general and his wife, also with a Polish prince, who, when our Russian companions were not hearing, told me very much about Russian Poland of which Warsaw was the capital. The approach to Warsaw by the bridge over the Vistula was most imposing. The city was sadly romantic, with memorials, in every direction, of heroism without result,

of patriotic blood vainly shed. I spent a day with the Polish prince, who introduced me to several of his compatriots. I visited the historic summer-house and umbrageous gardens of John Sobieski on the bank of the Vistula, the national river dear to every Pole.

On my return to England viâ Berlin, I observed on entering Germany an outward smartness and cleanness of the cottages, a careful culture and trimming of the land, which in some degree contrasted with what I had left behind me in Russia. In fact, the Russian land-scape has a wild vastness which leads to pensive and depressing meditation.

In the latter weeks of the winter in 1883 I went on my long-intended pilgrimage to Palestine.

Travelling from London viâ Brindisi and Alexandria, I landed from a Messagerie steamer on the coast of Palestine at Jaffa early in the morning. I drove along the carriage road to Jerusalem, passing Ajalon on the way just as the young moon seemed to stand still over the vale. At Jerusalem the tempestuous clouds and casual rain-storms, the amber sunrise and rosy sunset added to the effect of scenes that must ever stir the emotions of Christians. I there had the cultured society of my Worcestershire friends Sir Edward and Lady Lechmere.

Then I engaged a dragoman and camp equipage for a march through the interior of the country. We proceeded on horseback by Bethlehem to the Dead Sea, the Jordan and Jericho. We ascended the mountains on the way to Bethel. I there caught sight of the central ridge that formed, so to speak, the backbone of the country. Marching northwards to Shiloh and to the heights beyond, I saw the Vale of Shechem and Mount Gerizim, with Hermon snow-capped far away on the Thence I visited the citadel of northern horizon. Samaria, and passed on to the uplands over against Dothan with Mount Carmel in the background. There I encountered bad weather, and that night my tent was blown down and fell on me as I slept. The next morning in fine weather I rode across the plain of Esdraelon past Jezreel, traversed the Brook Kishon in flood, and entered Nazareth. I was detained there for about three days by rheumatism, being hospitably received in the Latin monastery, and tended most kindly by a Swiss monk, Frère Jean. This interval was not wholly lost time, for it enabled me to complete my numerous sketches.

Meanwhile the rains had been falling in torrents; but the weather cleared sufficiently for a moment to allow me to proceed. After riding across the uplands of Galilee I descended to the Lake of Tiberias—the old Sea of Gennesaret. There was just time for me to be rowed over the sacred water—in the one boat then remaining on the strand which had been busy and crowded in Scriptural times—before a furious storm arose to lash the lake. I spent that night in the Latin monastery,

as it was impossible to stay in tents. I again traversed the Galilean plateau, though impeded by frequent squalls and hail-storms. After that I was thankful to stop at Sefuria, the old Sepphoris.

Thence I descended to the sea-coast at Acre, the weather having somewhat improved. I rode northwards along the Mediterranean coast, past the desolate Tyre and the prosperous Sidon, to Beyrout. Thence I had hoped to travel in the French diligence by a wellengineered road over the mountains to Damascus. the bad weather had covered the road with many feet of snow in several places. The diligence traffic had been temporarily suspended, and the time at my disposal did not allow me to wait for its resumption. So I had to content myself with visiting the ruins of Baalbec, and riding through a narrow passage cut between walls of snow. Returning to Beyrout, I made the acquaintance of Rustem Pasha, then Governor of the Lebanon, and afterwards Turkish Ambassador to England. then embarked on a Messagerie steamer for Alexandria in order to meet the mail for England.

This pilgrimage to Palestine produced a greater mental change in me than any travel I have ever undertaken. It gave me a living knowledge of Scripture, which could not otherwise have been acquired. I had previously studied the language of the Bible, and entered in a manuscript book every striking expression from the first chapter to the last. Now I seemed to



feel the force of these phrases to a degree hardly felt before. Even when the Lessons were read in church, a verse, or even a word, would summon up before me a whole scene or a train of circumstances, which would scarcely be appreciated by those who had not seen the localities concerned.

Regarding the sites of events narrated in Holy Writ, some few situations, thus indicated, were hypothetical, or merely traditional without any traceable authority. Otherwise, there was quite a wealth of sites that had been verified or could be identified. Some few, such as the spot where Our Lord stood and wept over Jerusalem, and the Well where He talked with the woman of Samaria—had a transcending interest. I was surprised at the accuracy with which the first Crusaders built their chapels on veritably Scriptural sites. They were right in their localities at Bethel, at Shiloh, at Shechem. The work of identification in all parts of the land was advancing fast under the Palestine Exploration Society.

The traveller ought, I considered, to go to Palestine in search of spiritual and intellectual instruction, and not in quest of artistic beauty. In all Eastern countries much of the landscape effect depends on the hour of the day; the noon being the least, the morn and the eventide the most, favourable. Still any thoughtful artist would find many scenes and details of loveliness. Some prospects, too, had a high degree of beauty irrespective

of their sacred histories. Such was the view—of Jerusalem from the crest of Olivet—of the Dead Sea from the Wilderness of Judæa—of the Jordan valley from the mountain over against Jericho—of Shechem from the heights near Shiloh—of the Plain of Esdraelon from the plateau near Dothan—of Carmel from the uplands behind Nazareth—of Mount Hermon from the Lake of Tiberias.

CHAPTER VII.

(1882-1894.)—TRAVELS IN EUROPE.

Health-resorts in Continent of Europe—Remarkable churches—Component parts of Poland—Dolomite mountains—Pyrenees—Riviera—German literature—Bohemia—My oil-pictures—Sweden—Stockholm and Upsala—Norway—North Cape midnight—Coast and islands—Norwegian lyric poetry—Spain—Picture Gallery, Madrid—Chapel of Escurial—Seville—Alhambra—Bridge at Ronda—Portugal—Cintra and the Tagus—Return to Madrid—Royal festivities—Spanish literature—Saragossa and Barcelona—Greece—Salonica—General Election in Greece—Gulf of Corinth—Parnassus—Olympus—Moonlight at Thermopylæ, Sunium, and Acropolis.

BETWEEN 1886 and 1893 I went to several of the health-resorts in Europe—such as Marienbad, Carlsbad, in Bohemia; Tarasp in the Engadine; Luchon in the Pyrenees; and Schmeks in the Carpathians. On my way from England to these pleasant places and back again, I visited most parts of the Continent. Thus with the exception of Valencia in Spain, the interior of Sicily, Croatia, Macedonia, the Crimea, Dalecarlia in Sweden, Transylvania—I have seen every district in Europe.

On three separate occasions I visited the component parts of the old Polish kingdom, namely Warsaw in Russia, Galicia in Austria, and Posen in Germany. I often found Poles willing to confide their sentiments to an Englishman when talking with him alone. Irrespective of their political conditions, they cherished the most tender and passionate regard for the language, the poetry, the romance, of Poland in its old integrity. I gathered that the Polish nationality in Russian Poland was profoundly discontented, in Austrian Poland was well treated, contented and loyal to the Emperor, in German Poland was virtually annihilated and amalgamated with the new Empire.

Though loyal absolutely to Protestantism on my own part, I desired to hear and see what the Roman Catholic worship really was. So I attended the services in churches which had striking histories of their own. Thus I heard a requiem for the souls of Ferdinand and Isabella in a chapel adjoining the cathedral of Granada -an Easter-eve service from behind the stone chair of the Popes at Avignon — the Easter Sunday service while standing over the gravestone of Charlemagne in the church at Aix-la-Chapelle—the "Stabat Mater" sung on the evening of Good Friday in the darkened cathedral at Rheims where Joan of Arc proclaimed the French King—the morning service of Good Friday in the chancel at Chartres where Henry IV. was crowned—a Sunday service in the cathedral at Cracow close by the tombs of Sobieski, Poniatowski and Koschiusko-an afternoon service in the Tyne church at Prague from the steps of the pulpit where Huss preached the Reformation—an Easter service in the

church at Caen which witnessed the tragic burial of William the Conqueror.

In Tyrol I visited the Dolomite mountains, probably the remains of coral reefs when Europe was an ocean. They were, under the rays of the rising or declining sun, lighted up with an ethereal illumination, the like of which I never beheld anywhere else.

My sojourn at Luchon in the Pyrenees, though luckless, was rich in experience. After riding about the neighbouring mountains for several days, close up to the Maladetta the queen of the Pyrenees, I was suddenly prostrated by illness, probably arising from the sulphur waters. Being motionless I was for more than a week nursed day and night by two sisters from the convent belonging to the Order of L'Esperance. I shall ever recall with thankfulness the memory of their charitable and assiduous care. After my illness I drove to the Cirque de Gavarni, the finest point in the Pyrenees and, as a rockformation, one of the places best worth seeing in Europe. In my eyes the charm of the Pyrenean region consisted in its equestrian facilities, which were far greater there than in any civilised country I had ever known. At Luchon some three hundred horses used to be saddled every morning in the season. As I lay sick, it was tantalising to hear the cavalcades trotting along the road underneath my windows.

In the Riviera, wandering from one earthly paradise

to another, I followed, at broken intervals here and there, the narrow and well-bridged road on the seashore, along which the soldiers of Cæsar had marched. On the heights above, I noted the policy of Napoleon when he caused the broad Cornice line to be constructed.

I rejoiced to visit my old friend Colonel Harry Rivett-Carnac, then dwelling in the fine castle of Wildeck in Switzerland amidst historic surroundings.

So during my various visits to Germany and Austria I set myself to study its noble literature, sufficiently at least to give me some slight acquaintance with the principal authors in philosophy, poetry, fiction, history and politics, even up to recent dates. Together with all this, I had opportunities of learning the elaborate system of local self-government in the Austrian Empire.

In Bohemia I paid visits in the autumn, during several years, to my hospitable and excellent friends Count and Countess Lützow at their château of Žampach. He has published in English a most instructive, though popular and graphic, sketch of Bohemian history. In those times I came much in contact with the reviving nationality of the Čechs. Prague, their ancient and beautiful capital, was being superbly adorned, and extended in all directions. Their development in manifold respects, social, educational, political, was quite portentous. Their claims, sentiments and aspirations seemed to be causing anxiety in many quarters. The German Liberals in Bohemia were, on the other hand,

asserting themselves. They fondly remembered the Emperor Joseph II. I was present at the unveiling of his statue at Eger, and heard Herr Plener, the well-known parliamentarian, make the speech on that occasion.

In 1890, I attended the decennial performance of the Passion Play at Oberammergau, and was edified as well as delighted. My impression was such that had I, within a short time afterwards, been stricken with mortal illness, some of the images on my wandering brain would have been the sacred scenes there represented.

I formed the project of painting one hundred small oil-studies, on mahogany panels, of scenes beheld during my travels, to be placed in volumes, each of which would have a set of four little pictures. I worked at this project for full ten years from time to time, and it was at last completed. Some of these were reproduced as chromo-lithographs in my book entitled "Palestine Illustrated."

Further, I undertook journeys in particular countries of Europe; and thus I visited Scandinavia, in company with my sister Augusta.

After passing through Copenhagen, examining the statuary of Thorwaldsen, and admiring the gloomy Helsingfors, we entered Sweden.

Taking a Swedish train at Malmö, on the direct railway to Stockholm, I noticed the friendliness of the

Swedes. The landscape of Sweden, despite a certain sameness, had a real character. With its creeks, sheets of water, network of navigable channels, natural or artificial, it reminded me of my river-kingdom in Bengal. Stockholm was the point of meeting between the inland river-navigation with boats and the Baltic navigation with sea-going ships. It struck me as being the most noteworthy city in Europe, next after Venice. Indeed it was justly called the Venice of the North, for instead of streets it had salt-water channels, instead of public conveyances it had little steamers constantly plying to and fro. Its suburbs, too, had the same salt-water channels, fringed by fir-woods to the water's edge, and with bright villas peeping out from amidst the dark foliage. We journeyed northwards to Upsala to see the old cathedral, and the Library with the manuscripts in Gothic, probably the mother of the Scandinavian and Teutonic languages.

During our travel in Norway we passed backwards and forwards through the southern part, which was then the region most frequented by British tourists and sportsmen. My object was rather to study the Northern coast, called the old Norsk, and the original home of the Norsemen.

With that view we went on board a steamer at Throndhjem, a vessel which was to convey a large party of tourists right up that coast round the North Cape to Vadsö, near the Russian frontier, and back



again. Though at the season of our coming the midnight sun had ceased to be visible, yet in those high latitudes the nights would still be as light as day. Consequently the steamer would proceed night and day on her course. But the voyage would be so arranged that the places which were passed during the hours of sleep as we went up, should be taken in the waking hours as we came back. The passage occupied about a fortnight, a week in going and the same time in returning. Our course lay for the most part between the long series of islands and the mainland. Consequently the sea-water was almost always smooth, until we 'rounded the North Cape. Then indeed we faced the Arctic Ocean with nothing between us and the North Pole. Even in summer weather the sea heaved with the potent force of the swell.

The scenery consisted of rugged islands, rock-bound coast, snow-tipped ranges, glaciers sometimes stretching to the wave-washed strand, in close juxtaposition with sea-going steamers. It never fell off, never grew tame, but on the contrary maintained a continuous standard of beauty for hundreds of miles. The finest view was that of the Lofoden Islands, standing across a great arm of the sea like a fleet of gigantic ironclads. The twin head-lands of the North Cape and the Nord Kyn were both sketched by me at the midnight hour. They threw out their massive bluffs as if defying the power of the ocean.

This coast has been the theme of that lyric poetry for which Norwegian literature is renowned. It was, in poetic phrase, garlanded, crowned, wreathed with islands. It was the home of the Vikings, and of the maritime warriors who attacked the coasts of Continental Europe, and carried their victorious flag to the Mediterranean. Indeed the mediæval position of the Norwegians seemed to be largely centred in the dominion of these islands.

With the help of courteous Norwegians whom I met on board ship, I studied their lyric poetry, and translated many pieces. I found it full of fire and spirit, of movement and force, of aspiration and patriotism, of romance and historic lore.

Of the people at large I heard the most favourable accounts on all hands. Indeed I never knew a nationality better spoken of. Their fortitude on sea and land, their cheerful temper and homely virtues, were universally admired. But it was hard to understand how they, so amiable in all the relations of life, could be so troublesome and contentious in politics as they seemed to be. At that time a political agitation was going on. Newspapers and pamphlets in Norwegian were being brought on board, at every station where our steamer stopped, and were handed round even to us foreigners.

The forest-conservancy was noteworthy, indeed quite instructive as being the most complete I had



ever seen in any country. It must have greatly augmented the national resources.

In the autumn of 1883 I went for a tour in Spain and Portugal. On the way thither the train carried me from Paris to Bordeaux, and thence to the Spanish frontier, amidst the scenes of some among the greatest feats ever performed by British arms. Overnight the last thing I saw was sunset in the heart of the Pyrenees. Awaking in the morn, the first object I noticed was the Escurial—and that indicated the approach to Madrid.

There was just a single thing to be seen at Madrid, but that one had the highest merit, for it was the Royal Picture Gallery. It had a unity of interest, a fulness and richness of individuality, the like of which was possessed by no other gallery in Europe. It set forth the whole art-life of Velasquez, and partly that of Murillo. It indicated the origin and growth of the Spanish school of painting. It told the grand story of Spain, of her Kings and Emperors. In it the development of Philip II. could be traced from infancy to old age.

But Madrid was for me the centre of three notable excursions—the first to Toledo overhanging the rock-bound Tagus, with its cathedral most curiously picturesque—the second to Aranjuez where the Tagus water was made to irrigate the gardens of the Spanish Court, as an oasis in a thirsty land—the third to the palace, monastery, and chapel of the Escurial. The

architecture of the Escurial seemed to gain artistic grandeur from the rugged barrenness of the surrounding country. In the great chapel I gazed at an interior which was in chasteness of style, in simplicity and sublimity, the noblest ever beheld by me. While a chaunt was there being sung for all souls, I stood at the casement where Philip II. was placed just before death to cast his last looks at the altar-piece.

Proceeding to Cordova, I saw for the first time a Moorish mosque—quite different from the many mosques I had seen in other lands. It was wondrous but not beautiful, with its colonnades ramifying so as to almost produce the effect of a labyrinth. Thence the journey to Seville was short, and I at once attended a bull-fight there. That was a spectacle to be looked at once, in order to understand the temperament of the Spaniards, but not to be seen again. With its Roman remains, its Moorish structures, its well-shaded squares, its narrow yet elegant streets, its noble river, its sombre cathedral said to exceed all other cathedrals in dimensions-Seville was regarded by me as one among the pleasant places of Europe. The prime object, however, was the Murillo Gallery in the disused refectory of a convent. I there beheld about twenty master-pieces of the painter collected together, with no other pictures to distract the attention. Their position, separately in one series, gave infinite value to the combination.

A day's journey by rail took me to Granada and to



the Alhambra. I there observed three prospects in which landscape glory, romantic interest and historic eventfulness, were blended. The first was from the Vela Tower, looking over the whole palace and fortress of the Alhambra with the snow-masses of the Sierra Nevada right behind it. The second was from the heights of the Generalisse behind the Alhambra, having the fortress in front of the spectator, and in the background that plain of the Vega which was the final battlefield between the Christians and the Moslems. The third was from the gardens of the Albacin, commanding the fullest view of the palace-fortress on its finest side, with the classic Darro winding at its feet. The first and second I carefully painted; the third was not attempted by me, because I possessed a famous sketch of it made by my father. Following the traces of the great Queen Isabella, I saw her tomb in the cathedral, I noticed the horseshoe arch through which she marched in triumph after the surrender of the citadel by the Moorish king, and underneath which her coffin was years afterwards carried for interment. I painted that peerless arch, as seen by night, when the ruddy glare of a fire in the archway contrasted with the pale moonlight outside.

Thence journeying to Malaga, with its air the softest and gentlest ever breathed by me, I passed on to the famous Bridge of Ronda. This structure spanned a narrow ravine of great profundity. The stream

rushing along its base formed a cascade just below the site of the bridge. Thus the spectator looking over the parapet of the bridge, could cast his gaze down to the end of the waterfall, and so perceive in one view fully a thousand feet of depth beneath his eye.

Thence, after visiting the Rio Tinto copper mine, exploited by British skill and capital, I skirted the little Bay of Huelva whence Columbus sailed with his flotilla to discover the New World. So I crossed the Guadiana and went on to Lisbon.

The approach to the Portuguese capital, across the broad estuary of the Tagus, was very imposing. The attraction for me, however, was the neighbouring town of Cintra. Behind it there rose up from the champaign a mighty mass of sharp-pointed rock, determining the course of the Tagus to its mouth. From one of these peaks I looked along the wide river right up to the walls of Lisbon. Then I reflected that on these waters there sailed, in the middle ages, the flotillas with the heroes who went forth to discover the East Indies. I visited Oporto, finely situated on the lofty banks of the Douro, and returned to Madrid.

At that time King Alfonso and his Queen, who subsequently became Regent, were about to receive the Crown Prince of Germany afterwards the Emperor Frederick. I had the honour of attending a State Ball in the Royal Palace. I was present at a luncheon given to His Imperial Highness the Prince by the British



Ambassador, Sir Robert Morier. Those were the days of the sunsets which, from some unexplained cause, seemed to set the country on fire. One evening I and others imagined for a moment that the city was in flames. I witnessed the same wondrous effect at Saragossa, the sunset lighting up with heavenly glow the convent towers and the bridge. Passing by Alcala, Montserrat and Lerida, I quitted Spain by Barcelona. The city of Barcelona was supposed to be a hotbed of Spanish revolutionists.

During my sojourn, I read parts of the Spanish classics and translated some modern sonnets. There was a majestic dreaminess about the literature, but strength and solidity for the most part were wanting. While the diction had ever a stately flow, the substance was often attenuated. "Don Quixote" alone had the inextinguishable spark of vitality.

As Spain justly claimed the parentage of the New World, all would sympathise with that fallen greatness of which traces were to be seen everywhere. I noticed the grave Castilians and the solid steadiness of the middle-class citizens in Madrid, contrasted with the laughter-loving Andalusians. For modern Spain, and for the future of the Spanish people generally, there was little to justify hopefulness. The responsibilities of a self-governing and self-sustaining country did not seem to be understood by them. A public opinion existed, indeed, but it did not seem to be seriously

patriotic, and its manifestations did often more harm than good from hastiness and petulance. There was a general lack of enterprise and of capital; the best industrial enterprises were conducted by foreigners. There were representative assemblies sitting, but the motive power really lay with the armed forces of the country rather than with the Civil authorities. At that time national concerns and State affairs lay at the mercy of military revolutions, with their decrees called "pronunciamentos."

In the spring of 1885, I undertook a tour in Greece, taking my young nephew, Reginald Temple, with me. We travelled to Brindisi and thence took a steamer for the Piræus. At Athens I was very kindly received by the Prime Minister, M. Tricoupis, and his accomplished sister. I had some long conversations with him regarding the foreign policy of Greece, and the national aspirations of the Greeks. At that time the name of Salonica was flying about as a winged word from mouth to mouth. Situate at the head of the Ægæan Sea, it was the place by which the Greek power would be passing, if it should ever pass, on its way through Macedonia onwards. The fear was lest the town and harbour should be occupied by Austria, in which case the way to Macedonia would be barred. All hope of Greek extension in that quarter would be closed, and Austria would be sitting, with a dead weight, on the head of Greece. Such were the expressions then being



used by the Greeks. The recent acquisition by Greece of Thessaly, which had been abstracted from Turkey by moral compulsion with the help of some among the European powers, had encouraged the Greeks to aim at still further dominion.

Actuated by such springs of motive, the Greek people were anxious to maintain their military forces by sea and land. Their national debt was heavy, but they then meant to discharge it honourably. pride forbade them, as yet, to think of repudiation in any form or degree. Still, if these obligations, administrative and financial, were to be fulfilled, heavy taxation had been, and would be, necessary. But it was hard to bring this stern fact home to the Greek electors; and they resented the imposition of fiscal burdens. Their feeling in this respect was about to be tested, for a General Election was impending. The Tricoupis Ministry had carried several measures justly needed to meet the national expenses. But their well-wishers were dreading lest the electors should exact retribution for all this at the polls.

After departing from Athens for my march in the interior, I found every Greek intent on the issues of the Election. My dragoman, an Athenian, was a partisan of M. Tricoupis, and he assured me that all my Greek servants were fellow-thinkers with him. He hoped that I would afford them every facility for recording their votes. I promised my co-operation,

believing M. Tricoupis to be the best man in Greece. On the evening before the fateful day we were at Thebes. I then sent my muleteer and my tent-pitcher to the district of Parnassus to vote at the old Daulis of Philomele. Early in the morning I went with my coachman to the Board-school at Thebes, and saw him enter the ballot-booth. I presumed that he must be voting in accordance with his profession of political faith. He then drove me, with my dragoman and my cook, as fast as four horses could carry us-past Cithæron, Daphne and Eleusis-to Athens. I forthwith went with my dragoman to the Greek cathedral there, and saw him enter the booth to vote. It was now near eventide, but there was just time to send my cook by local railway to Piræus to vote. The next morning I waited on Mdlle. Tricoupis to recount my experience of a Greek election. By that morning's news, however, it seemed certain that the Ministry would be met by a majority against them in the new Parliament. The next day I saw a number of gentlemen driving up to the Royal Palace; and they were the new Ministers.

My tour was in the spring-tide, the bloom of the year when the snow, as yet unmelted, served as a crown to the mountain-brows, like a diadem to the human head. The passage in a steamer through the Gulf of Corinth, and again through the Strait of Eubœa by Chalchis—while the snow tipped the mountains on

either side—was like a summer's voyage on an inland lake. From these waters the sight of Parnassus, with a coruscation of snow under the sun rays, was finer far than anything I had expected. Mount Olympus as seen from the plain of Thessaly, with his rounded top one vast snow-field, also exceeded my anticipations. I was disappointed by nothing except Delphi, and even that grew upon me as I sketched it. The moon too shed her gracious favour upon me. For in three consecutive nights I saw Thermopylæ, Sunium, and the Parthenon, by moonlight. It was signally good fortune for me thus to sit on "Sunium's marbled steep," thus to hear the night wind sigh among the columns of the Acropolis.

Recalling my Rugby days I followed the political course of Demosthenes, from the Pnyx, where he stirred Athenian patriotism in full view of the objects endeared to the national mind, to the island where he died in sight of Attica. I studied the battlefields towards which his brave thoughts were ever turned—Marathon where Greek liberty was founded, Thermopylæ where it was endangered, Salamis where it was re-established, Platæa where it was consolidated, Chæroneia where it was lost.

CHAPTER VIII.

(1882-1884.)—TWO VISITS TO CANADA.

First visit to Canada 1882—Mouth of the St. Lawrence—Quebec—River voyage to Montreal—Visit to Sir John A. Macdonald at Ottawa—Second visit to Canada 1884—Voyage to New York—Meeting of British Association at Montreal—My presidency of Economic Science Section—Ball given by Sir Donald Smith—Our journey to Toronto—Excursion to Rocky Mountains—My chairmanship of Excursionists—Hospitality of Canadian Pacific Railway Company—Across great Prairie—Snow-topped chain of Rocky Mountains—Enter British Columbia—Re-cross North-West Prairie—Arrive at Winnipeg—My address to citizens there.

MY first voyage to North America was undertaken in the autumn of 1882. Early in September of that year I started from Liverpool by the Allan Line for Quebec. Notable among my fellow passengers was the late Dr. Thorold, Bishop of Rochester. After a stormy passage across what the Bishop called "the splenetic Atlantic," we were thankful to discern in sunshine and under a blue sky the rockbound sides of Labrador on the right, and the mountainous coast of Newfoundland on the left. I descried an iceberg in the distance, and rejoiced in the Aurora borealis on the northern horizon. Entering the land-locked Gulf of the St. Lawrence we hoped that our stormtossing was over. Not so, however; for a hurricane

caused us greater risk in that position than on the open ocean.

The next morning was clear, as we steamed up the majestic waterway of the St. Lawrence. I then perceived that which must be nearly, if not quite, unique in geography. The great rivers that I had ever seen or read of would, on approaching the sea, branch out into a network of deltaic streams and so lose their identity. Not so with the St. Lawrence, for I found it entering its Gulf in one single volume of water. Its stream, all the way up to Quebec, was guarded by mountain-ranges on either side. We stopped for a moment at a riverside station for news and letters. Instantly I heard cheering arise from my fellow-passengers. This was for the telegraphic intelligence of Wolseley's victory over Arabi Pasha at Tel-el-Kebir. As we passed, up I caught a glimpse of the mouth of the famous Saguenay river. Then in front of us, against a broad reach or pool of the river, there jutted forth the citadel of Quebec, as the Canadian Gibraltar. I admired the quaint, old-world town, an embodiment of the France of the eighteenth century, preserved as a relic in the new world. I met French Canadians who seemed entirely loyal to the British connexion. Their loyalty was confirmed by the religious and educational freedom which they, as Roman Catholics, enjoyed.

I started at night by river-steamer for Montreal. The nocturnal voyage was one, the like of which I have

never known. There were lights set on either bank from point to point, as lamp-posts on the river-highway. Guided by these, our luxurious steam-boat proceeded at a high rate of speed in the darkness, along a channel broad indeed but encompassed with dangers on either side. We reached Montreal by the morning in perfect safety, after what seemed to me a triumph in river-navigation. At Montreal, I traversed the railway viaduct across the St. Lawrence, then the longest bridge in the world, and ascended the wooded hill which had been turned into the most picturesque cemetery I ever saw.

Then I travelled by rail to Ottawa, the headquarters of the Dominion, on a visit to Sir John A. Macdonald the Prime Minister. He kindly gave me a most instructive explanation of Canadian politics, and presented me to several Members of his Cabinet. He said that Canada must be a part either of the British Empire or of the United States, and that she distinctly preferred her present imperial connexion, being quite content with the internal autonomy she possessed.

I returned quickly to Montreal in order to attend a municipal banquet, where several Governors from neighbouring jurisdictions in the United States would make speeches. From the conversation that night I gathered that the Canadians believed themselves to possess as much liberty under their present form of government as could possibly be had under a Republic. I had myself

to make a brief speech of a strongly imperial tendency in returning thanks for the visitors.

The following day I started by railway for the United States, and travelled to Augusta, Maine, en route to Boston. I afterwards proceeded to New York, and thence journeyed to Toronto. No visitor from England could fail to be struck by the peculiarly British aspect of Toronto, as compared with Quebec, and to some extent with Montreal. It evidently drew its inspiration straight from the mother country. There was a massive solidity about everything in the place. Sturdiness, hardihood, enterprise, were stamped upon all its features. I saw the public and educational buildings, and visited several of the institutions of the city. I had a conversation with Mr. Edward Blake, then leader of the Opposition in the Dominion Parliament. I then recrossed the Canadian border, en route for Chicago; and I did not revisit Canada that year—1882.

On my first visit to Canada, in 1882, as above described, I was a private traveller. On my second visit, in 1884, I had a quasi-official capacity. The annual meeting of the British Association for the advancement of Science was to be held this year in Canada and at Montreal. The work of the Association was divided into several Sections. I had been elected President of the Section of Economic Science and Statistics. Of my fellow Presidents, some took the Allan line for Quebec. Others, including myself,

preferred the Cunard line to New York. Two Sections besides my own were represented in our steamer, namely Physics by Sir William Thompson, afterwards Lord Kelvin, and Chemistry by Sir Henry Roscoe. Among our fellow passengers was Sir Frederick Evans, Hydrographer to the Admiralty, who was proceeding to Washington for the Meridian Conference. We had the company of Mr. Inderwick, Queen's Counsel, who was about to visit some property of his in the Rocky Mountains. Dr. Newman Hall preached to us eloquently on Sunday. One evening I was chosen to preside at a social meeting of the passengers on behalf of a charity. Short addresses of the best kind were given by the eminent scientists on board. Never did I hear so many scientific speeches of the highest authority made in the same evening as on this occasion.

Arriving in New York, I made a tour of some days in the Eastern part of the United States, which will be described hereafter. Then I travelled by rail from Boston to Montreal, where the meeting of the British Association was about to take place.

At Montreal I was received most hospitably by Mr. (afterwards Sir Donald) Smith, and I remained with him during the session of the Association. Of all the excellent hosts I have known in many lands, never was one more genial and generous than he.

I was now intensely occupied with the work of my Economic Science Section. With the aid of the



Secretary, Professor Foxwell, I arranged finally the papers that were to be read. Besides British or European scientists, many Canadian authors wished to appear, and I had to find room for them. Among the two classes of authors, however, European and Canadian, some conflicting claims had to be recognised, and some susceptibilities smoothed. The inaugural address was delivered by the President of the whole Association, Lord Rayleigh, in a spacious hall, to about fifteen hundred people. Of this audience fully one-half consisted of the eight hundred members of the Association who had crossed the Atlantic for this meeting. Lord Lansdowne the Governor-General of the Dominion, and Sir William Thompson (afterwards Lord Kelvin) made speeches, and then we were addressed by a Canadian citizen in French.

This inauguration took place in the evening, and in the forenoon of the following day the Presidents of the several Sections delivered their addresses to special audiences. My own address for the Economic Science Section had been already prepared and printed in England. The subject had been chosen with respect to Colonial hearers. It was entitled—"The Statistics of the British Empire in 1884." We thought that our Canadian fellow-subjects would rejoice in facts and figures that might assist them in measuring exactly the magnitude of the Empire to which they belonged. The room was crowded with people as I rose to read the

address. Applause burst forth from time to time as some fact or figure appealed to their patriotic sympathy.

Then during several days there followed the reading of papers by various authors and the discussions thereon in the daytime always. I presided and tried to regulate the proceedings so as to afford scope for everyone who had a right to be heard, and especially for Canadian speakers. The subjects in hand covered almost the whole range of Economics.

Meanwhile social entertainments were taking place, under the auspices of the Governor-General, of the Municipality, and of some eminent citizens. at a beautiful garden-party given by Mrs. Redpath in grounds situate on the slope of the Montreal Hill, and overlooking the city, the St. Lawrence, the wondrous viaduct, and the gorgeous sunset on the horizon. A great reception was held in the Skating Rink, the most roomy and commodious assembly-room I ever entered. Among the guests was Lieutenant Greely, the American explorer, and I heard from him how he and his men were rescued when just at the point of death from starvation. I was one of those who had to make speeches at the meeting when the British Association bade farewell to the citizens of Montreal. There was a galaxy of speakers that afternoon—Sir-William Thompson, Sir Henry Roscoe, Sir Lyon Playfair (afterwards Lord Playfair), Sir Frederick Bramwell, Sir Henry Lefroy, Mr. Frankland the distinguished



chemist, and Professor Boyd-Dawkins. On that occasion the LL.D. Degree of the M'Gill University was conferred on me together with my colleagues.

The same evening my good host Mr. Donald Smith gave a very pretty and graceful dance. A temporary dancing-room of wood had been put up in thirty-six hours. The house was illuminated and the gardens were lit up with Chinese lanterns. The whole effect in the moonlit night was fairy-like. The dancing over, I conversed after midnight with Canadian gentlemen. Then I had to pack up in readiness for departure early in the morning en route to the North-West of Canada. During the small hours I had to arrange quantities of papers and pamphlets which had been in use during the incessant and urgent business of the last few days. I had hardly any rest at all that night, as our departure was indeed hurried.

So we travelled by railway to Toronto during the day. In the evening there I had to meet the Mayor, and, as senior member of the British Association then present, to introduce my colleagues. The next day addresses were formally presented to the Association in the Town Hall by the Municipality, in the presence of a large company. In the absence of Lord Rayleigh, I had to make a speech on behalf of the British visitors. We then accompanied the Mayor on a circuit all round the well-built town and its fast rising institutions. In the afternoon I attended a garden-party given by the

Lieutenant-Governor, Mr. Robinson, in his beautiful grounds. In the evening I dined with Colonel Denison, the very type of a patriotic and imperially minded Canadian. The following day a large party of us started by railway for the far North-West.

This party had been constituted in a strength of one hundred persons, members of the British Association, for a special purpose. The Canadian Pacific Railway Company had generously undertaken to convey them as its guests, and therefore free of any charge, on an excursion to the Rocky Mountains and back. This number included representatives of the sciences, chemistry, botany, agriculture, geology, natural history. The excursion was probably one of the greatest ever known. The excursionists were numerous; the distance, some three thousand miles in all, there and back, was vast; the time to be occupied, somewhat less than a fortnight, was relatively short; the interest of the prairie and of the mountain range was unbounded. As the trip was designed for the interest and amusement of the excursionists, many questions would arise as to when and where they should stop, what objects they should make a point of seeing, and what things they should give up owing to want of time. Thus for so large a party as this, the details to be considered between them and the railway officials were numerous. It was agreed that the necessary arrangements should be settled with one person as chairman or representative of the excursionists; and they chose me. Accordingly, from day to day, sometimes from hour to hour, I used to determine these affairs, after consulting my friends. The task was quite the most amusing one I ever performed. The railway official with whom I principally had to deal was Mr. Egan, whose activity, efficiency, and good humour I shall ever remember. He was a New Englander of purely Irish descent, and called himself "a blue Yankee"—whatever that might mean.

Our train from Toronto, then, carried us to Lake Huron. A steamer conveyed us to the St. Marie Islands adjoining the American border. We passed the St. Marie Rapids by a series of fine locks, constructed by the Americans, and so reached Lake Superior. We embarked again on a lake-steamer of dimensions suitable to this inland sea. It being Sunday, service was performed on board by the Bishop of Ontario. The next morning we were near Thunder Cape, a headland worthy of its romantic name. It jutted out against this queen of lakes, in a manner that recalled the North Cape of Norway to my remembrance. So we reached Port Arthur at the northern extremity of the immense sheet of water. From this point the railway was being constructed to Winnipeg, the capital of Manitoba. This line was unfinished, the hill-ranges were clad with fir-forests, the streams were flooded by recent rains. After several narrow escapes from being stopped by obstacles here and there, we crossed the

region which is the watershed between the Arctic and Atlantic Oceans. Thus we arrived at a point opposite Winnipeg. As we were to stop at this important place on our way back, we went on without any pause, travelling day and night. The line was now more completely finished, and our faces were set straight towards the Rocky Mountains.

The route lay across the area which had been the broadest of all the North American prairies. But this old prairie was being encroached upon and broken up by civilised man, bit by bit, here and there. Still it was strange to watch the sun rise and set on a flat horizon all round us, as if we were sailing at high speed over an ocean of green herbage. One day we stopped to inspect the encampment of some Indians, comfortable and cheerful in appearance, with the squaws, the wigwams, and the barbaric paraphernalia. From time to time we halted for a brief while at some rising European settlemen. Tents, or wooden cottages called "shanties," had been placed on lines of streets already laid out with good alignment. These dwellings were soon to be succeeded by substantial houses. The settlers, all along the line, regarded our coming as an event of importance. They presented addresses to the excursionists, and I, as the chairman, had to respond. The geniality of the greetings between them and us, fellow-subjects of the same Empire though widely separated by domicile, was such as to warm the heart.

The incline was so gradual that we were unconscious of our ascending many hundreds of feet. So we neared the Rocky Mountains, familiarly called "The Rockies." We were then surprised on discerning many snowy summits, in the early time of autumn, at a height above us much less than might have been expected. The fact was that the champaign basis along which we were moving stood much higher than we had imagined. The weather was fitful, and our first sight of "the Rockies" was imperfect. We perceived, however, that they consisted of separate and numerous rock-masses arrayed on a long line from north to south. As they thus rose abruptly, like fortresses out of an upland plateau mostly grass-grown, we appreciated their name of Rocky. Our train pierced this cyclopean line of rock-outposts, and stopped inside it for the night. The next morning we ascended by trollies-wooden settees propelled by men-along the line then under construction, as far as the central ridge. The weather was misty, and we saw only the near objects. It cleared, however, when we reached the temporary terminus called "the tip," which was inside British Columbia. Thence I gazed wistfully towards the Selkirk Mountains, knowing that Vancouver lay deep down on the other side. We turned backwards in the afternoon, on the way followed by us in the morning. But though the immediate surroundings were the same, the general view was quite different. In place of vapoury wreaths

and palls of fog, we saw snowy summits looking down upon us from every quarter, and seeming quite close to our eyes in their sunset glory. The next morning, having re-entered our train, we emerged from "the Rockies." Re-crossing the champaign right at their base, we stopped for awhile at Calgary.

From a hillock near Calgary, on a bright and clear forenoon, I looked back towards the Rocky Mountains, and beheld a view the like of which I have never seen or heard of anywhere. It stands out in my memory as distinct from all the mountain views I have ever observed. For some two hundred miles, along the western horizon from north to south, one long wall of snow seemed to stretch, with peaks continuously standing up like battlements. The snow-wall rose almost right out of the green and slightly undulating plain, with only a narrow interval of grey near the base. The range really consisted of a long series of rock-masses, each mass separated from the other by an intermediate space. But at even a short distance the intervals were lost to sight, and the masses seemed to fall into one unbroken line. The uniform brilliancy of the white colour completed the effect of combination. The fact of the snow extending downwards near to the base over the plain, was accounted for by the champaign itself being at an elevated level.

Then we hastened back towards Winnipeg with but few stoppages. One Sunday we halted for a while, and moved from our train to a neighbouring encampment in the prairie for divine service. A clergyman said the prayers, I read the Lessons, and the Bishop preached. We stopped one afternoon to inspect an enormous wheat-growing farm in charge of Mr. Bell. It had an area of several square miles, was perfectly cultivated and organised after the European models; and was probably the largest concern of its kind to be found in any country. One process in vogue there struck me as being characteristic of the New World. The farmer did his harvesting by machinery; then upon the sheaves thus formed he brought his threshing machine to bear. The threshed wheat was stored in wooden sheds on the field, in order that the grain might harden, until the snow should fall and assist locomotion. Then by sleighs the grain was drawn easily over the ground to the elevators erected alongside the railway. From the elevators it was shot into the wagons, and so carried away by train for exportation. No wonder that, with all these labour-saving appliances, the average of the cultivated area to each man was extremely high.

When our train reached Winnipeg, the excursionists were to proceed onward at once, as they were returning to England; but I was to remain in order to visit the western regions of the United States. So they held a meeting to receive the congratulations of the Winnipeg public on the success of the excursion.

They explained how their English engagements compelled them to continue their return journey without any delay. But they intimated that I, their chairman, would remain behind, to render to the citizens of Winnipeg a full account of all that we had seen and done. They then passed formally, but with the utmost cordiality, a vote of thanks to me for my conduct as their chairman. An industrial exhibition had been excellently organised in the town for their inspection, so they just stayed the day to go round and examine that instructive display. Then by a night train they departed en route for Lake Superior.

I was thus, so to speak, quite a local lion at Winnipeg, being charged with the duty of telling to the citizens the story of the excursion. They evidently regarded the expedition as an accomplished fact of interest and importance. I was hospitably received by the Lieutenant-Governor of Manitoba, Mr. Aikins. He arranged with the civic authorities the plan by which my exposition was to be given. The place was to be the theatre—popularly called the opera-house. The platform would be the stage, and on that would be placed a table. I was to be supported by the Lieutenant-Governor as chairman, by the chief Minister of Manitoba, Mr. Norquay, by Mr. Brown, the Public Works Minister, by Mr. Logan, the Mayor, and by Mr. Taylor, the United States Consul. Accordingly at eight o'clock in the evening I appeared and, standing in front of the

foot-lights, faced the audience. The pit, stalls, boxes, galleries were all crowded, just as if a theatrical performance of a popular character was about to take place. The hearers were both men and women, somewhat more perhaps of the former than of the latter. After a few introductory remarks by the Lieutenant-Governor, I began a speech whereby the audience were to be kept amused and interested for full two hours. They were bursting with curiosity to hear what we had been seeing and doing, and I was burning with desire to tell them. Thus there was a perfect understanding between us, and the interest never flagged for a moment. With them, in imagination, I ran rapidly over the excursion, "the lone land," the scenery, the minerals, the soil, the farming, the labour, the climate, the treeculture, the forestry, the rising settlements, the prairie as a whole, the communications by rail and by river, the tariff, the colonists, the immigration, and lastly "the land of promise." I besought them to give much more attention than had previously been given to forest conservancy. Rounds of applause at frequent intervals greeted every patriotic point, and at the end, after ten o'clock, I received quite an ovation of cheering. The vastness of what had been seen, the infinite vista of the future which unfolded itself-had lent wings to the imagination and fluency to the tongue. There have been some half-dozen brave occasions in my life, and this was one of them.

Throughout my sojourn in Canada I felt myself to be among, not only my fellow subjects, but also my fellow countrymen. The Canadians, whether of British or French extraction, had formed a nation in unison with the British Empire. Their heart beat in harmony with its heart. Their ideas and aspirations were Imperial, and they were ready to bear arms for the defence of interests common to all parts of a world-wide dominion.

I stayed yet a brief while with Mr. Aikins and his family, holding many conversations with him regarding his province of the Canadian Dominion. I went for a second time over the industrial exhibition, and visited the educational institutions. I attended a ball given in one of those skating rinks for which Canada is renowned, and there bade farewell to my Canadian friends.

Then I started on a journey southwards by rail across the flat and open country which adjoins the Canadian border, on my way to the United States. Crossing that border I entered the fertile, well-cultivated State of Dakota, and went on till I joined the American line of the Northern Pacific Railway.

CHAPTER IX.

(1882.)—FIRST VISIT TO THE UNITED STATES.

Approach United States from Montreal—Boston—Newport, Rhode Island—First visit to New York—Voyage up the Hudson to Albany—To Falls of Niagara—To Chicago—To Omaha—To Kansas City—St. Louis on the Mississippi — Cincinnati — Columbus in Ohio —Washington—Richmond, Virginia—Back to Washington—Baltimore—Philadelphia—Second visit to New York—Mr. John Jacob Astor—Second visit to Boston—Return to New York—American characteristics—Voyage homewards—Queenstown, Ireland—Killarney—Return to England.

I ENTERED the United States immediately after my first visit to Canada, which has been already described, in the autumn of 1882. My desire was to see, not only the exterior aspect of America, but also something of its inner life and some of the best people in it. I had been so fortunate as to obtain influential introductions to prominent Americans.

In the morning of September the 23rd, 1882, I started, from a hospitable house near Sherbrook in Canada, by railway en route for New England. My line ran across the forest-clad range of the northern Alleghanies, amidst furious rain-storms. Descending to Augusta, Maine, I heard and saw something of the effects of the Liquor Prohibition system. I there left the Canadian train, and entered an American train for

Boston. The carriage was elegant, luxurious and ornate. As I complimented a native fellow-passenger on all this, he replied, "Yes, sir, you are now in America." Like all our American cousins, he was most helpful to me a stranger. On our way to Boston he explained to me exactly how I could do and see everything there in the shortest possible time.

The next day at Boston was a Sunday, and I attended divine service in the Anglican church with its elaborately ornate interior. It was under the care of the Reverend Phillips Brooks afterwards Bishop. I visited the University, where I found some old acquaintances among the Professors. Then I proceeded by an evening train to Newport, Rhode Island.

Newport, as I saw it, was worthy of its repute as the most fashionable sea-side resort in America. For several miles stately villas stood in a line along the high coast overlooking the Atlantic. They had umbrageous gardens and were backed by overarching avenues. I had an introduction to Mr. Bancroft, the aged historian. He walked with me through his extensive garden stretching down to the wave-washed rocks. Mrs. Bancroft knew the old world as well as the new, and as a Minister's wife she had a wide acquaintance with the Courts and the politics of Europe.

Thence I proceeded in a luxurious river-steamer, under the shelter of Long Island, during the night.



Early in the morning I entered the river and passed underneath the new suspension bridge, a superb structure connecting New York with Brooklyn. Landing at New York I went with an American friend to breakfast at the famous restaurant of Delmonico, and then proceeded to my hotel, the Brevoort House. I went upstairs with full elasticity of step to bathe and dress, without any apprehension of mishap. But after only an hour spent in my room, I walked downstairs with a stiff knee. Nevertheless I went out, though in some pain, along Broadway to Wall Street, in order to converse with some gentlemen about the then burning question of "Civil Service Reform," versus the counter phrase of "The spoils to the victors." When I returned to my hotel in the evening the doctor was sent for. During the next three days I was confined to my room, unable to do anything except complete my various sketches. I wrote to General Ulysses Grant, whom I had formerly received at Bombay during his visit to India. I explained the cause of my inability to call upon him. He immediately came to see me, spoke with the heartiest remembrance of the hospitality at Bombay. Then, turning to his own country, he gave me the counter view regarding the "Civil Service Reform" movement. Some other leading Americans were also good enough to visit me in my sick-room. On the fourth day an American friend, Mr. Ogden Mills, found me so far improved as to be able to go

with him for a drive to see the exterior of some public buildings, the Fifth Avenue the fashionable street for residences, and the Park where the fast-trotting horses, or teams, were making not only the dust but also fragments of earth fly from under their feet. In the evening he took me to dine at the Union Club, in order to see some more leading Americans. I was fortunate in meeting an American friend, Mr. Clark, whom I had known in Bombay, and who afforded me much aid in learning about men and things.

I had by this time reflected as to what I should, or should not, attempt to do. In the time at my disposal I could visit the Rocky Mountains and California. But then the journeying would be hurried, I should see little but the exterior of the country, and I should have hardly any chance of learning the conditions, social or political, of the Eastern States. I knew that the Americans justly regretted that Englishmen of culture should spend their travelling days in rapid transit from ocean to ocean, acquiring naught but a superficial acquaintance with the land and the people. I decided to defer visiting the Western States till another occasion, to make just a sweep round the Central States, and to give my leisure to the Eastern . States, where I might, owing to the excellent introductions in my possession, hope to have the advantage of meeting some of the best people in the country.

Very soon I started for Albany in a steamer on a

short voyage up the river Hudson. In lovely weather I saw one of the fairest river-scenes on earth. The broad bosom of the Hudson was dotted with the white sails of countless boats. On the right bank were long ridges of the precipitous "Palisade Rocks." On the left bank were stately villas for miles and miles, with gardens sloping down to the river's margin. Then we approached West Point, the strategic centre of Washington's operations in the War of Independence. We passed through the mountain belt called the Highlands, and anchored at Albany the capital of the State of New York. Thence I went on by train the same night to Buffalo and Lake Erie.

The next morning I was on the tiptoe of expectation, having my face set straight for Niagara. Alighting at the railway station of Niagara, I drove towards the river. Soon several columns of white mist, or spray, were seen shooting up from the horizon. These emanations from the falls signified that the wonder of Nature was near at hand.

My first view of the falls was fortunately from the American side, and transcended even the height of my expectations. Besides being extremely beautiful, it was most instructive in respect to physical geography. The brow, or crest, of the vast cascade was not at all in a straight line, but in a series of curves inexpressibly graceful. Having sketched that, I crossed a branch of the river to Goat Island, and drove through a dark

forest with gleaming breakers all round from the rapids of the St. Lawrence-truly a marvel of sylvan scenery. Then I passed by a suspension bridge below the falls, at a great height over blue water with whirlpools circling in white lines—probably a unique spectacle and entered on the Canadian side. Then I drove to the point whence the general prospect is obtained from that quarter. This my second view of the whole line of waterfall was comparatively flat and commonplace. Before the time of railways, this was the prospect which the traveller used to see on his approach, and which doubtless caused people to say that the first sight of Niagara was disappointing. No traveller could say that now, who first sees the falls, as I saw them, from the American side. Then I betook myself to the hotel, which is close up to them. I lay down for a short rest, with the voices of many waters lulling me to sleep, and with my bedroom window open on a hot evening. But soon the spray, wafted by the wind, gently awoke me with a sense of dampness. The next day I visited the tremendous rapids, where Webb the swimmer subsequently lost his life, and then the whirlpools, revolving noiselessly as if they would engulf even the largest objects in the silence of death. in the evening I descended a long flight of steps to a point near the base of the Horseshoe Fall. There I beheld a spectacle in its way unrivalled. In front of me, high up, and athwart my whole plane of vision, the line



of the waterfall stood out against a red sunset sky. The declining sun cast its vivid light, leaving a sharply edged shadow across the falling water—one half being thus sea-green in colour, while the other half was bright orange. From the midst of the base there sprang up a column of spray, which threw a gentle shade on the brightly lighted side of the fall. The idea of a mass of spray, leaving its shadowy reflection on falling water, was marvellous. The column of spray itself had its shadow, the lower half being sombre, the upper half in rainbow hues. Below all this, the river was boiling tumultuously.

Then I journeyed viâ Detroit to Chicago, which the Americans called a "phenomenal city," by reason of the rapidity with which it had sprung up again, like a veritable Phænix, from the embers and ashes of its conflagration. I attended a meeting where a thrilling narrative was given of that event, the memory of which seemed to be fresh in the minds of the audience. My inspection of the fire brigades' organisation was to me a lesson in preparedness.

Thence I crossed the Mississippi and the Missouri, on my way to Omaha near the base of the Rocky Mountains—now a rising city, but in the last generation a prairie—and once famous as the half-way place on the through line between New York and San Francisco. This was the western limit of my present travel.

I passed southwards through the well cultivated State of Nebraska, in order to gain an idea of the American agriculture on a wide scale, so I reached Kansas city, and turning eastwards arrived at St. Louis on the Mississippi. From the footbridge of the railway viaduct, I watched the long quays, where in the time before railways, river-steamers in vast numbers used to be moored in parallel lines. Though the interest of the passenger traffic had in these days departed, and the goods traffic greatly diminished, still enough remained to give me an idea of what the scene must have been in the palmy period. Thence I proceeded to Cincinnati beautifully situated on the heights over the river Ohio. The large cemetery there still occurs to my recollection as a sylvan scene, laid out with extraordinary skill and aptitude in landscape-gardening. I made a trip to Columbus the State capital of Ohio, in order to obtain some acquaintance with the executive and judicial officers of a large State, and to see the educational establishments, University, colleges and schools. had indeed been visiting schools at the various towns through which I had passed on my travels. Here at an educational centre I was able to correct and adjust my notions. Thence I travelled by night-train across the mountains to Washington.

I found Washington to be quite different from any city seen by me anywhere. Apparently it had not grown by degrees, it had no irregularities, it seemed to have been laid out altogether on some fixed plan. Broad roads admirably kept, interminable avenues, imposing vistas often bounded at one end by the great dome of the Capitol—were its characteristics. Senate and the House of Representatives were not in session, but all the State Departments were open. With the help of my friend Colonel Dickinson I visited them all. In the Educational Department I verified the various points and threads of information, which I had gathered up in the schools and colleges of the interior. I gave some time to the Patent Office, an amazing répertoire of American genius and inventive-I had the honour of dining with Lord Sackville the British Minister, and with the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court. I had some long conversations with Mr. Frelinghuysen the Secretary of State, and by him I was presented to the President Mr. Arthur, who received me with affable kindness in the White House. By Mr. Arthur I was introduced to several of the Cabinet Ministers, including Mr. Lincoln son of the historic President. In conversation Mr. Arthur happened to call for the day's issue of a New York newspaper, and gave it to me in reference to a passage among its contents. On reflection I determined to preserve this paper, which was remarkably interesting, as having been given me by the President of the United States in the White House.

I attended service in the several churches, the

CHAP. IX.]

Episcopalian, or the old parish church where the President usually went, the Independent, the Roman Catholic, the Baptist Zion Chapel, where the congregation was negro. The service at Zion was to me memorable by reason of its religious fervour. The sermon was to European ears so emotional as to be quite rhapsodical; but to the dusky listeners it was touching and moving in the extreme. Tears flowed, sobs and low groans were heard, some of the women fell into transient hysterics. As we walked away I heard the negroes saying that the sermon had been "splendid."

I crossed the Potomac, entered Virginia and stopped at Richmond, musing on all the romantic gallantry which the Virginians had displayed in the Civil War. Some people whom I met were still cherishing memories of the great struggle, and told me how Virginia had bared her bosom to the sword. The elections for the House of Representatives were beginning, and I went to hear the candidates addressing the electors, this being the first political meeting which I had attended in America. I noted the audience, their orderly bearing, their patience in listening to oratory most elaborate and prolix. Before my departure, I visited the dwelling place of the ill-fated President Davis-the room where he worked—the apartment where he received visitors—the garden where his escort tethered their This was the southern limit of my travels, and I regretfully postponed visiting the Southern States, until a convenient opportunity which might never arrive.

I then returned to Washington, took leave of my newly formed but excellent friends, and travelled to Baltimore. I there met an old friend Professor Sylvester, and under his skilled guidance saw the Johns Hopkins University, the Peabody Museum and other institutions.

A short journey by rail took me to Philadelphia, where I had the advantage of staying with Mr. John Welsh, one of the best men then in America. drove me round the great Park, and thus I understood the genius with which the Americans are endowed for imparting a grand effect to public enclosures of this description. A sylvan area, wild and natural, of considerable extent, with rock-formations ravines and streams, had been enclosed. It had then been beautified by landscape gardening, and rendered available for spectators by walks and drives which wound about with ever-varying prospects or vistas. Among the friends I made was Mr. Childs of the well-known newspaper "the Public Ledger," and one of the heads of the journalistic profession in America. I visited him in his villa with its beautiful grounds. National festivities were then being held in celebration of the bicentenary of Penn's landing. I had the fortune to witness a procession in honour of the event. I was placed on a balcony amidst

American friends who explained to me every object as it came into view. For the first time I recognised the taste which Americans have for processions, quaintly picturesque, sometimes even mediæval in aspect. This procession paraded the long streets of the city for some hours, and comprised persons, in diverse costumes of several epochs, carrying all manner of things illustrative of the national life, customs and amusements since the days of Penn, together with objects agricultural, industrial, domestic.

A short journey further by rail brought me to New York, whither I was glad to return as I had by this time learned to appreciate the city as the actual capital and the imperial centre of the Union. There I found the discussions about the impending elections to be concentrated. I attended a large meeting in Tammany Hall, but was not favourably impressed by the proceedings. There was much enthusiasm, and a thorough understanding between the speakers and the audience. But I failed to catch any political argument or exposition. The oratory related chiefly to organisation for some purposes not declared, but presumably apprehended by all present. Very wisely the Americans arranged that the elections, for the Lower House of Parliament and for many high functions in the component States of the Union, should take place at the same time. the operations of the two principal Parties, the Republican and the Democratic, extended simultaneously over

many divers elections. But I heard in all quarters that the best time for my studying of politics would be two years later, when the election of the next President would be coming on.

I made the acquaintance of Mr. John Jacob Astor, then one of the leading citizens of the capital, and I inspected the fine Library which he had presented to the public. I was favoured by being made a temporary member of several among the most influential clubs. I made the valued acquaintance of Mr. Andrew Carnegie the great iron and steel manufacturer at Pittsburg. From none in all America did I receive more assistance in my studies than from him. I had to my great benefit some intercourse with Mr. John Jay, a man of European fame and experience. I went with General Ulysses Grant for a drive in the Park and sat behind the fast trotting teams, or pairs of horses, a strange experience amidst the flying dust. The gentlemen who owned and drove the famous teams were busy persons in the Stock Exchange, and this fact showed the sporting instinct of the English-speaking race. At dinner with General Grant I met the then famous Senator Conkling. I went several times to the theatres and thought the tone and tendency of the plays to be good.

I went for a short expedition to Vassar College, instituted for the higher education of women. The situation was admirable, on the cliffs opposite West Point and overlooking the valley of the Hudson.

Among the students some were destined for the educational profession no doubt, but many were acquiring polite knowledge in order to fulfil their future duties in ordinary society. I was introduced to a class of young ladies who had just been listening to a lecture by a learned Japanese on the ambition and aggressiveness of the British in the far East. Their indignation had been thereby aroused, and they began to reproach me as one of the imperialist class to which the lecture was applicable. They softened, however, when I reminded them that, owing to kinship, their characteristics and ours must be much the same.

Amidst the society of New York I noticed a cardinal virtue. In the best sense of the term this society was exclusive, that is to say, its higher circles chose for admission, not those who had wealth especially, but those who had merit whether from gentle birth, or personal qualities or culture and accomplishment. I had heard of "the almighty dollar," but whatever else it might do, it could not by itself procure an entrance to the best American society. Though families could hardly be old in the European sense of the term, still weight was attached to the association with whatever had been distinguished or favourably known during the two centuries of the nation's existence. In this sense the just pride of descent was as strong in America as in any country.

I had a full conversation with General Grant regard-



ing his life during the Civil War. He narrated to me how he had, not only to command, but to create his army, how he had to take in hand bodies of troops, brave and able indeed, but absolutely raw, neither officers nor privates having known anything of arms or of drill. I understood him to consider that his capture of Vicksburg on the Western River was the turning point in the war, because that completed the environment of the doomed South by land as well as by sea.

I then revisited Boston, mainly on the invitation of Mr. Alpheus Hardy. I there addressed a meeting of Protestant Ministers of all denominations and benevolent laymen, on behalf of religious missions in India. seemed to be much impressed, as was shown by several sympathetic speeches which came from them on the occasion. I then visited the Franklin college for the education of women, situated on undulating ground amidst wide belts of oak woods. The foliage was changing colour in the late autumn, and the hues ranging from red to russet were levely. The instruction here was not so high as at Vassar, being intended for a somewhat different class, and it included housewifery of many sorts. The institution seemed to me to be excellently practical.

Here, too, I attended a political meeting in reference to the coming elections. The excitement rose higher than anything I had seen on previous occasions, and there was a section of coloured men in the audience. I felt regret when the American speakers had to address arguments to them especially.

On my return to New York, in preparation for my departure from America, I found that the results of the elections were just being declared. There was disappointment somewhat poignant on one side, and a corresponding degree of triumph on the other. The clergy here, having heard of my address to the meeting at Boston, invited me to do the same at a meeting on behalf of their missions. This meeting was to be not clerical only but general. I had great satisfaction in attending, and in exerting myself to advocate the good cause. A verbatim report of my speech was sent to me for revision, and was subsequently published. Shortly afterwards I visited a Normal College for the instruction of women-teachers, and attended at the hour of morning prayer. The reverend principal read the prayers to the young women assembled in the number of about a thousand. I was standing on the platform behind him, and the audience were seated in semi-circular rows as in a great lecture room. As he finished his brief address, he quietly said that there was a stranger with him who would say a few words to them-pointing to me. I had not even a notion of being required to speak, and for a moment my brow was moist with embarrassment. However there was nothing for it but to stand forward and utter one or two sentences, in order to gain an instant for reflecting on what should be said. Happily the thought flashed across my mind that I would tell them about the education of the women in India. So I made a short speech, which went off well despite my unpreparedness. Afterwards I good humouredly rallied the principal on his having subjected me to such a trial unprepared. He rejoined that, having heard me speak at the missionary meeting, he had deemed me quite capable of facing this ordeal.

Shortly afterwards I attended a banquet given by a large number of American friends to Herbert Spencer the philosopher, who had been for some time travelling in the country. The post-prandial oratory, as is usual in America, was very fine, and the distinguished guest gave an instructive reply. Among other things he reminded the audience that their countrymen underwent too much of mental and nervous tension. This tendency spread from serious to lighter pursuits, and he gave many striking instances.

I started from New York in a Cunard steamer for Queenstown, Ireland, full of regrets, carrying a host of charming memories with me, and hoping that I might be spared soon to pay a second visit.

During a voyage of eight days I had some leisure to consider what points had struck me most, during my happy intercourse with the Americans. Their patriotic sentiment, for the land and its institutions, amounted to a passionate affection; and allusion to this would be made even by the preachers in church. were most desirous that the land and its people should be admired and esteemed, and I have never seen this amiable desire so strong in any other nation. they desired the admiration and esteem of their British cousins far more than that of any other people. welfare of the motherland was frequently prayed for in their churches. If they stood well in British regard, they did not seem much to notice the opinion of other nationalities. Thus they were naturally jealous of British criticism, and if that took a cynical form they were quickly moved to resentment and indignation. At Washington, the British Embassy-or Ministry as it then was—overshadowed in the eyes of Americans all other Embassies. It seemed to me that British people should note all this, as a potent factor in all that concerns the common interests of the Englishspeaking race on both sides of the ocean. A considerate and sympathetic attitude on our part was likely to be of infinite avail towards keeping the Americans in line with us. For I felt assured that, despite any superficial manifestations to the contrary, there was at bottom, au fond, in the American heart an intense regard for the motherland-manet altá mente repostum. I describe the sentiment as it existed then, in the fervent hope that no real change can have subsequently supervened.

After all my agreeable experience I naturally

admired, and sympathised with, the land and the people on the whole. When the Americans saw from my conversation that I entertained this sentiment, they became honestly anxious that I should not carry away with me any wrong notion of everything being perfect, but rather that I should be aware of faultiness here and there, which they recognised and meant to remedy. Indeed they loved to discuss, in the company of a sympathetic stranger, the merits or demerits of their institutions with a candour and frankness which to some might be surprising. For example, they generally complained of the weakness of the Civil power in the face of a mob in most States, not only in outlying districts but sometimes in centres also. This defect had much to do with the occurrence of lynching from time to time; though nothing could justify the malcontents in thus executing what they thought to be rude justice, still the difficulty of obtaining redress might be pleaded in extenuation. Having heard warnings that even in cities something grave would one day be happening, I afterwards remembered these predictions, when events of this character did happen in Cincinnati and in New Orleans. Again, complaint was generally directed against municipal administration in most cities, especially in regard to public works. If I pointed out that nevertheless some things were admirably done in almost every city, the reply was that these were carried out by private companies who must

succeed for their own sakes. There did not seem to be much dread of strikes or labour-organisations tending to socialistic revolution. But I read a graphic novel which was circulating at the time, and which if now re-perused in the light of recent events at Chicago, might seem almost prophetic. The phrase "lobbyist" or "lobbyism" was largely current, as indicating the practice whereby men interested in large schemes, industrial, financial, or other, attended in the lobbies of the Legislature, and urged their views upon the Members. The development of this practice seemed to be causing an alarm which might in some cases affect the elections. Respecting the electoral contests, I did not hear of abuses being largely alleged, not so much indeed as I had heard adduced against electioneering in England. Still, the burden of political organisation was held to be so oppressive in some quarters as to be conducive to malpractice. I read a novel, written in illustration of all this, which at the time had a great circulation. An impression apparently prevailed that, notwithstanding the freedom assured by the laws, and the assertion of a supreme democracy, individuals might be driven hard, and indirectly oppressed or coerced by powerful corporations, and by head-men called bosses. It was thought that even lesser corporations might suffer a similar fate. This was not uncommonly the subject of cartoons, or caricatures, or of comments in the newspapers on the eve of elections.

Yet, in spite of these and other defects which I heard mentioned, there was not only a general desire, but a resolve, to ensure virtue in the servants of the Republic throughout all grades, to make every citizen feel and act up to his share of responsibility for public order, to promote the domestic comfort of labouring men, to imbue the people with a taste for culture, to stimulate national education and especially the higher instruction of women.

Thus musing and reflecting, I landed in due course at Queenstown and thence visited the Lake of Killarney. The beauties of that lake district were enhanced by the autumnal tints, by a sprinkling of snow, and by squalls beating the placid water into waves. Before returning to England I was able to see something of county Kerry, then in the depth of its agrarian troubles.

CHAPTER X.

(1884.)—SECOND VISIT TO THE UNITED STATES.

New York—Mr. Pyne's Villa—President Arthur—Newport, Rhode Island—Mr. Thayer—Boston—Thence to Dakota, viâ Canada—Yellowstone Park—Geyser Valley—Prairie of Idaho—Salt-lake City—San Francisco—Monterey—Yosemité Valley—The "Big Trees"—Mr. Consul Stanley—Central Prairie to Colorado Springs—Denver—Presidential Election—Political Meetings, Peoria—Chicago—Pullman Town—Pittsburgh—Altoona—Philadelphia—New York—Banquet to Mr. Blaine—Union League Club, Republican—Manhattan Club, Democratic—Processions before Mr. Blaine and Mr. Cleveland—Election Day, 4th November—Recount Votes in New York—State—Mr. Cleveland at Albany—Smith College—Mr. John Welsh at Philadelphia—Return New York—General Ulysses Grant—Voyage homewards—Ireland—Limerick and Galway—Return to England.

EARLY in August, 1884, I started in one of the steamers, then called "Atlantic racers," for my second visit to the United States. On this occasion I hoped to fulfil the two objects which remained for accomplishment when I bade farewell for a while to America in 1882. I was now, if possible, to pass through the Rocky Mountains right on to the Pacific, and then to witness the Presidential election. So my pulse beat high with expectation as I entered the noble harbour of New York. The City, as regards Society, was quite out of season, and after a mild summer, the heat had recently become intense. I wondered how white men could

bear such heat so bravely as they did; and at night the temperature was almost like that of India. Nevertheless, as I drove along Broadway towards Wall Street, the animation of the traffic was as great as ever. The decorated house-fronts, ensigns and sign-boards all along the extended line of Broadway, the many-shaped cars and light-painted omnibuses, made it the finest and liveliest street I ever beheld. In the business quarter I found that several noteworthy structures had been added since my last visit two years previously—a new Produce Exchange, a Cotton Exchange, an Insurance institution.

I then paid a visit to a hospitable friend, Mr. Pyne, in his villa at Riverdale on the Hudson, with its richly wooded grounds sloping down to the river's bank, and with the sharp-cut range of the Palisade Rocks across the water. In these shady gardens I entered into a sketching match with some American ladies who were skilled in using the pencil. Thence I went to a dinner party at Mr. Cyrus Field's house, also situated near the Hudson, to meet the President, Mr. Arthur. Afterwards the President was so kind as to take me with him on his way back by railway to New York. Thus I witnessed the local ovations offered to him on the road. I stood behind him as he received valedictory addresses on his approaching retirement. I noted his mode of replying, quiet and genial, yet dignified. In the railway carriage he said much that was instructive regarding

CHAP. X.]

183

the country, but no allusion was made, under the circumstances, to current politics.

Returning to New York, I met Mr. Kiernander the Senator, and many other magnates, chiefly of the Republican Party. Already their conversation was being earnestly directed towards the candidature on their side in the coming election of the new President. Evidently an influential section of the Party was dissatisfied with Mr. Blaine the candidate, by reason of personal objections regarding which no stranger could have any opinion. On the other hand many had the warmest friendship for him. Already I began to hear the name of "Mugwump" applied to those who were discontented, and that of "Stalwart" to those who stood firm in their allegiance. The divergence of opinion, however, cast a cloud on the prospects of the Party.

I started at nightfall by the luxurious river-steamer, the "Old Colony," for a night voyage, through arms of the sea sheltered by islands, to Newport, Rhode Island. I was glad to revisit this famous seaside resort in the height of the season. At that moment the temperature was changing, and a "cool wave," as the Americans were calling it, supervened. I renewed my acquaintance with Mr. Bancroft the historian, and was present at several gatherings. Then I proceeded to visit Mr. Nathaniel Thayer at his country seat in the township of Lancaster near Boston. The house was built of wood in the Swiss style, and was surrounded by umbrageous



elms. I had never met with so fair a chance as this for observing rural life in the oldest part of the United States. The names and the objects around me recalled the England of the elder time. The whole parish was as well-wooded and as verdant as an English sylvan area. The landscape was dotted with wooden houses, which were painted with light colours and belonged to yeomen or peasant proprietors. The main road or street of Lancaster was equal to that of the prettiest English village. We attended divine service in the old parish church.

Thence I proceeded to Boston to renew my acquaintance with several friends there. I had the good fortune to be introduced to General Butler, a candidate for the Presidency. He was independent, not being attached to either of the great Parties, and was therefore supposed not to have any chance. His aspect was striking and bluff, without any attempt at polish. He had much conversational power, and was evidently a born orator for the masses.

By the night I travelled to Montreal to perform my duty with the British Association there as already described, in reference to my second sojourn in Canada,

Having finished my work and my tour in Canada I started on the 18th of September from Winnipeg by railway, crossed the Canadian border and entered the Dakota State. My travelling companion was Dr. Macintyre a retired London physician. I was now about

to undertake my long-projected tour through the Rocky Mountains of America right on to San Francisco.

From Dakota we travelled by the Northern Pacific Railway, and then by a short branch-line to the Mammoth Hotel at the threshold of the Yellowstone Park. In those days the Hotel deserved its name; for it was a monster lodging-house and nothing more; the viands consisted of elk's flesh. The Yellowstone Park, an extensive region within the Rocky Mountains, is now well cared for by the Central Government. those days it was only beginning to be frequented by Americans; the visitors indeed were mostly British: There were establishments of riding horses, and some waggon-conveyance for luggage over unmade roads. So early one morning Dr. Macintyre and I started on horseback, with a mounted guide who was also to take care of our horses. We were to march to the Grand Cañon of the Yellowstone—a long day's ride—carrying the bait for the horses in our saddlebags. After riding for some hours through forests and scattered rocks, past cascades and rivulets, we began in the afternoon to ascend Mount Washburne by long grassy slopes. Here I noticed for the first time the contrast between the gradual inclines facilitating ascent, and the precipitous hill-sides of the Himalaya. We easily reached the summit, about eleven thousand feet above sealevel, the highest altitude up to which I ever rode a horse. Patches of snow lay scattered around, as we



beheld the distant lake of the Yellow-stone far below us. Twilight closed in upon us, as we descended to our destination, the Grand Cañon. We alighted at a wayfarer's resting-place, consisting of tents and bedding, with a tidy landlady to supply us. Our guide, instead of tethering the three horses for the night, turned them out loose to graze on the herbage in the surrounding forests. He said that such was the custom of this region, and that the horses would reappear all right the next morning.

I lost no time on the following day in sketching the Grand Canon, a mighty ravine, between lofty rockwalls of various hues, white, amber, orange, pink, red, and russet. Rarely in any clime have I seen such a combination of boldly abrupt forms with exquisite colours. The sketching was to go on till past noon, when Macintyre and I were to mount and ride off. At noon I told the guide to get ready the horses as soon as might be convenient. He said he would go and hunt for them in the woods, and this reply did not sound cheerful. After more than two hours he came back without having found them. It was then too late to proceed onwards that day. Luckily I met an English friend who was marching with his camp on the way to a cattle "ranch" or pasture. He most kindly proposed that we should sleep that night in his camp, and he would lend us horses for our march the next day. That night we tasted of the bush hospitality, under the overshadowing monarchs of the primæval forest. The next day, mounted on my friend's horses, we rode to the wayside inn near the foot of that Geyser Valley, which was justly styled the wonderland of America.

The next day we marched up the Geyser Valley to its head, and there alighted at the tents of a resting-place for tourists. All the way we admired the geysers bursting periodically in lofty shoots of boiling water. The jets gleamed for a moment like silver, and then turning into vapour disappeared immediately under the cold blue sky. The sulphur-pools, that is to say, sheets of water lying in sulphureous basins, had their colours graduated on the edges from amber to pale green—to emerald—to violet, and ending in the centre with the blackness of infinite depth. At eventide I looked down the long valley with its vista of geysers, some quiescent in their placid pools, some steaming, some bursting, some springing upwards majestically in full play. I never saw a place so full of Nature's wonders as this.

Returning to the inn I arranged to drive across the Prairie of Idaho, and so meet a railway that would take us down to the Salt-lake City. A transit-agent undertook that we should have a carriage with relays of horses. Trusting to this, we started early in the morning, and soon crossed the great watershed range between the Atlantic and the Pacific, this being the centre-line of the Rocky Mountains. As we proceeded,



the relays of horses were not forthcoming, and evidently the same horses must carry us on to our destinaation, the rest-house in the prairie. The plateau of this Idaho Prairie lay seven thousand feet above sea-level, an immensity of drab and ochre with its withered vegetation. No living thing was on its surface save antelope and grouse called prairie-chickens. horizon in all quarters was diversified by summits of perpetual snow. The whole scene was one of ideal dreariness, and our situation was not quite safe. We were in this vast solitude two gentlemen, a coachman and a carriage, with a pair of horses tired though powerful. In the event of any mishap we were resourceless. We could in stress of need have walked on, had there been only one track. But we met several cross-tracks, and a deviation into any one of these would be fatal, as leading to no particular place. Our horses, however, proved to be enduring and our coachman faithful. So we reached the rest-house at nightfall, and the railway station on the next day.

The railway afforded us a rapid passage southwards to Ogden, the great junction-station in the heart of the Rocky Mountains. Thence a short run by railway brought us to Salt-lake City in superb weather. It was hard to imagine how superstition so dark as Mormonism could flourish, and be bravely maintained, in such a paradise as this. I entered the enormous

tabernacle and, inside it, heard from Mormons the story of their faith. Not even in Asia had I come across fables more grotesque than these. The tales they told of female devotees, recruits from the Western counties of England, were distressing for me to hear. I wondered at the sacrifices made, and the burdens borne, by the industrious Mormons for the sake of this mystic organisation.

Then we returned to Ogden and took the express train for San Francisco. In the central prairie of the Rocky Mountains we were whisked through an infinitude of desolation at high speed. After nightfall, looking out from my Pullman car, I saw the young moon reflected on little lakes or tarns, and just tipping the edges of snowy summits with her light. In the morning we found our line roofed over with timber for miles, as a protection against the snows of winter. As we descended the western flank of the Rocky Mountains, the scenery, though fine in its way, was disappointing. I missed the savage boldness of the European mountains. The range threw out long spurs, with gentle inclines facilitating the construction of the line. Our progress in some ways reminded me of the descent from the Alps into Italy. Quitting the chilly rocks, sands and forests, we entered California, and were at once greeted by the sight of grapes and luscious fruit. We advanced straightway towards San Francisco, and crossed by steamboat the harbour, an arm of the sea recalling to



my mind the haven of Bombay, but surpassing it in grandeur. Then we alighted at a magnificent hotel appropriately called "the Palace." I soon got a boat, and was rowed on to the harbour-mouth called "The Golden Gate." Through that romantic portal I looked out on the Pacific with the sheen of sunset on its wavy surface, like a Claude Lorraine picture.

In San Francisco I made the acquaintance of Mr. Coleman, one of the leading merchants. He was full of information which had become historic, having been one of the Vigilance Committee in the troublous days of the city. From him and from his friend Mr. Johnson I received kindness and hospitality never to be forgotten. I was somewhat surprised to learn that San Francisco had not acquired that imperial status which had been anticipated for it, in reference to its geographical position when the through railway was first opened from New York. Its citizens seemed to fear lest the supremacy of the Western coast should fall to Portland Oregon, at the end of the Northern Pacific Railway. I rejoiced to find my old friend Mr. Stanley here as British Consul, whom with his wife I had known at Odessa. I then went with Macintyre to see the beautiful watering place of Monterey on the coast in a southerly direction.

My main care, however, was for an excursion to the far-famed Yosemité Valley, which was well inside the western range of the Rocky Mountains. As far as the

base of these mountains the journey of a few hours by rail from San Francisco was easy enough. From that base onwards there were two kinds of transit; the old one by Mariposa, and the new one by a detour on a smoother line. As we were somewhat tied to time it happened that the new transit would not be available to us, so we must needs fall back on the old. For this latter route the transit-agency promised relays of I doubted whether the promise could be fulfilled beyond Mariposa. But I had acquired some confidence in the coach-drivers of the Rocky Mountains, and I trusted to advance somehow, even though the relays of horses should fail. So we travelled partly by rail and partly by horse-van quite rightly to Mariposa. Then, just as I had feared, nothing was obtainable there, save a dog-cart and a pair of horses to take us for the long way up the mountains to Clarke's Hotel near the Yosemité Valley, and that, too, after some delay. However, the autumnal night was before us, cool and balmy with perfect moonlight. As we advanced, the moon's rays struck on the ground with white light, while the lowering fir trees cast their shadows athwart the rough road, and made it hard for us to see our way. This might be awkward, as the least divergence would cause an accident. Then as midnight approached, we all three-Macintyre, the driver, and myself-began to be drowsy, and that, too, involved danger. So we arranged that by turns one should walk

at the heads of the horses and keep them on the road, while the other two sat in the dog-cart. Having dozed in the cart I would take my turn on foot, and then I was amazed at the sombre grandeur of the fir forest. Perhaps the witching hour made my thoughts transcendental, but it seemed to me that I had never seen such heavenly moonlight. The driver behaved admirably and fully justified my confidence. So we wended our way through the small hours, and by five o'clock in the morning reached Clarke's Hotel. Thus we obtained two hours' rest before it became time to rise again for the trip to the Yosemité.

After breakfast we joined a party of tourists in a roomy open coach with four horses. I was amused at the style in which these trained and sagacious animals turned round the sharp corners, where any divergence meant precipitation into unknown depths. course we reached the head of the Yosemité Valley, at a spot justly called "Inspiration Point," where a short halt was allowed for sketching. Most of the main features were before me as I sketched—the El Capitan bluffs, the Bridal Veil falls—the Cathedral towers—the Sentinel Rock-the North domes-the mighty Halfdome-the Mercedes River deep below, winding through fir-forests-the Sierra Nevada crowning the horizon with white. Then we descended by a zigzag road to the valley with its base level as a floor. There our tourist party broke up, some going to one hotel, some

to another. Macintyre and I alighted at a pretty little inn near the foot of Sentinel Rock.

Then I got a capital mule with a mounted guide, and rode up the mountain-side towards a vantage ground called "Glacier Point." During the ascent I came face to face with the Half Dome, the most memorable rock I ever saw. There had originally been a granite formation, rising several thousand feet above the valley, with its top shaped like an orange. By some volcanic action this round mass had been split or cut into two halves, one half disappearing, the other remaining and rightly named the Half Dome. Then I beheld, on the opposite side of the valley, the famed Yosemité Falls three thousand feet from top to bottom. They descended, not in one sheer unbroken cascade, but in three divisions on the same line—and were reputed to constitute the highest or longest waterfall yet discovered in the world.

From Glacier Point I perceived an upper valley, unseen before. Its bed was one vast plateau of rock, from the midst of which a lofty obelisk stood up named "The Cap of Liberty." Along the rock-plateau there coursed a stream ending in a noble cascade called "The Vernon Fall." Behind all this the Sierra Nevada pierced the violet sky with peaks catching the rose of sunset. After sketching the scene, I turned round to descend homewards. Then I perceived the risen moon whitening the broad face of the El Capitan bluffs.



Right upon that moonlit mass the Sentinel Rock cast its shadow, in full outline of form, from the other side of the valley. On the sky behind El Capitan there was still the afterglow of departed day.

My sightseeing was not over yet, for after dinner I set out in a carriage to see the valley by moonlight—the Mercedes meandering through lines of firs—the North Dome rocks basking in the brightness of the moon—and above all "the Mirror Lake," catching sylvan reflections from all sides, so that no sky was reflected on its surface. Then at last I returned to my hotel for the night.

I had travelled for twelve hours, then undertaken laborious marching or journeying for twenty-eight hours—forty hours in all, out of which I had lain down for only two. But I was not tired; the inspiration of the mountain air, the excitement of travel, the joy of success despite difficulties—lent me strength to defy fatigue. Then, for that night, I slept the sleep of the successful.

The next morning we started by a return coach to Clarke's Hotel. There we joined a party in a coach and four to visit the far-famed grove of "the Big Trees" of hoar antiquity, "the Grisly Giant" and his comrades. The heads were scraggy—but the trunks and the bark were gorgeously rich in hues and in texture. By the passage cut through one of these trunks our coach and four was driven.

Then we returned by the new transit to the nearest railway station, and so by train to San Francisco. My friend Macintyre left for New York, and I remained in California yet awhile. Under the hospitable auspices of Mr. and Mrs. Stanley, I ascended the mountain of Tamal Pais overlooking the harbour of San Francisco and the Pacific beyond. I visited the public Park where sandy dunes were being planted with firs, and saw the seals disporting themselves in the surf of the Pacific. Then I bade my Californian friends farewell, and took the express train for Ogden. I now found that hereabouts the Rocky Mountains did not form a single range, but consisted of a broad desert, several thousand feet above sea-level, which was flanked by two parallel ranges hundreds of miles apart. Of these one overlooked the Pacific coast, the other the Missouri basin. As I looked out once more on the Central Prairie in all its wildness-my thoughts were swimming about in a sea of recollections.

From Ogden, I took a train in what the Americans called "the Scenic Line" of the Rio Grande—by reason of the scenery in the Cañon of the Gunnystone. Emerging from the defiles with their fantastic rockformations, our railway wound by easy inclines up the eastern flanks of the Rocky Mountains to a height of nearly eleven thousand feet above sea-level. This was the greatest altitude I ever reached by railway. Then we

n 2

descended and turning northwards reached Colorado Springs.

The station of Colorado Springs was a lovely health-resort in a wonderful position. It stood on the Mesa an old Spanish name for a flat plateau seven thousand feet above sea-level. Right above it, and seeming to be quite close, there stood peaks again some seven thousand feet above the plateau. They thus had an altitude of fourteen thousand feet altogether, and were consequently tipped with perpetual snow. Near their base I sketched groups of rocks quaintly called "the Garden of the gods." I penetrated a wild valley environed with rugged cliffs of glowing red. No wonder that the Spanish discoverers called this region Colorado—the coloured land.

Thence I proceeded to Denver, and from my bedroom window took a last look at the long line of snowy peaks forming the eastern ridge of the Rocky Mountains. I thus closed the chapter of the mountaineering with the landscape sightseeing, and shut up my sketch-books. For my mind was to be straightway diverted to different subjects.

This being Sunday I attended service at the Episcopal cathedral, and spent a part of the day with Mr. Hill, a Member of the Senate and a man of the best stamp. From him I obtained an outline of the electoral crisis then impending. Indeed, emerging from the solitary quietude of the mountainous region,

and entering the busy haunts of men in the open country, I found every place in a ferment of expectancy, one subject only being in the thoughts and on the lips of men, namely the Presidential Election.

It was now the 21st of October, and the election of the future President of the United States was to take place on the 4th of November. So there was just the most eventful fortnight remaining, within which to see the close of the international contest. On the Republican side the candidate was Mr. Blaine. was himself heading the fight, was making his voice heard and his presence felt everywhere. He was, too, one of the best political speakers of his day. On the Democratic side the candidate was Mr. Cleveland. Though doubtless he was doing much solid work for the election, he made very few speeches. As a stranger I wished to make friends on both sides, and so learn as much as possible without presuming to espouse either of the conflicting policies. By keeping my judgment in suspense I avoided the risk of indicating any opinion.

I was travelling in the train from Denver for Chicago on the 21st of October. But some American fellow-passengers told me of a political meeting to be held immediately at Peoria in the State of Illinois; so I diverged thither. On my arrival there, however, I found that the first meeting would be at a neighbouring town named Pekin on behalf of the Democratic Party; therefore I went on to that place. Heavy rain was falling,

so there was no external display, and the whole affair had a plain garb. A goodly and orderly multitude was gathered in a large room to hear Democratic orators, who were representative men in Illinois; and I was seated in a forward row among the audience. Their speeches referred much to Free Trade, which they seemed to be advocating in some degree at least. But afterwards they drifted into personalities. I had already heard and read outside of the personal element which was being introduced into the contest generally. Such an element was indeed often to be found at elections in every country. But in this electoral campaign then pending it was prevalent to an excess.

Early the next morning at Peoria I was awakened by music sounding as a reveillè for the Republican forces. Workers and organisers, dressed in fancy uniforms, were marching about, some rallying the cavalry, so to speak, and some the infantry. Evidently the Republican Party—in contrast to the Democrats perhaps—were appealing to the senses of the electors by pleasant sights and sounds as well as to their reason and judgment. On this occasion, brilliant weather, after the rain of the previous day, and a starlit sky favoured the proceedings. A torchlight procession preceded the meeting, with bands of music and Chinese lanterns. The meeting itself had a festive and gala aspect. Ladies' dresses enlivened the platform. Young women presented bouquets of autumnal

flowers to the candidates. Alacrity, vivacity, hilarity pervaded the assemblage. The whole affair seemed to me like an electioneering carnival. The leaders were so kind as to place me in the front row on the platform, next to General Logan. He was, after Mr. Blaine, the second man in the, contest being the candidate for the post of Vice-President. He was honourably distinguished in the Civil War. He had dark hair and fine features, bore the friendly name of "the Black Eagle," and was a typical personage. His speech on this occasion was vigorous, and his delivery gentlemanlike. His arguments were those which are ordinarily used for Protection as against Free Trade. He was very polite to me, just as if I had been one of his supporters. The speech of the evening was made by a regular lecturer. He adduced the poverty and distress of the nail-makers near Bromsgrove in Worcestershire as being the consequence of Free Trade. He had worked up his details so as to excite the pity of his hearers, and predispose them to Protection. After the meeting the Republicans asked me what I thought. But I contented myself by saying that I was a native of the Worcestershire which had been prominently mentioned, and that I felt flattered when the evening was spent chiefly in alluding to England and her economic policy.

At these two meetings I had listened to the case stated for each of the two rival Parties, and more

particularly the points for Protection versus Free Trade—as Protection was to be one of the main planks of the Republican platform in the coming election.

On my way to Chicago I found the newspapers full of allusions to England and her policy, real or supposed. I read a leading article entitled "England in Ohio." There had been a local election in the State of Ohio, which was thought to foreshadow the line which that State would take in the Presidential election. gone against the Republican Party, and the newspaper went so far as to attribute the result partly to English gold and influence. I was surprised at the extravagance of such a hypothesis as this. I saw a pamphlet on the Democratic side, and this too related to England. It gave statistics showing the vast acreage of landed estate in the Western States, belonging to Englishmen of wealth and status, and showed the constant growth of what was regarded as foreign property. This was indicated as dangerous to the United States, and as needing a prompt check. Believing that friendliness to England lay deep in the American heart, I remarked to my friends of both Parties that the newspapers abounded with severe or sarcastic hits upon British policy. replied that these meant little or nothing, and that the paragraphs were inserted merely to conciliate an Irish section among the electors, which was hostile to Britain in reference to Nationalism in Ireland.

At Chicago I noticed Republicans, in the evening

after the day's work, drilling for their evolutions which were to take place before and after the meetings, just as if they had been militia under words of command. There was an earnestness about the men which made me think highly of their organisation. I was fortunate in making the acquaintance of Mr. Pullman the well-known proprietor of the car manufactory. Under his auspices I visited the town of Pullman in the neighbourhood. The place was entirely built by him for his men, and supplied with model dwellings, schools, institutes, libraries, gardens for general resort, and every comfort pertaining to industrial life. Never had I seen any place of the kind so generously organised in any country as this had been by him. I was afterwards amazed on hearing—some years later—that the strikes at Chicago originated with his men, and I thought that of all the employers of labour in the world he was the last to deserve such a requital.

Returning to Chicago, I was introduced to the club where I met members of both the rival Parties. I was "interviewed" by more than one representative of the Press. On the other hand I sought interviews with other Press-men, who kindly informed me on many points. It chanced that the arrival of Mr. Blaine in the city was to be celebrated by a torchlight procession. The endless strings of his supporters began thus to defile before him, fringed on either side by a portentously large crowd as if the whole manhood of the vast city had turned out.

The march began after nightfall and lasted up to I know not what hour. After sitting for more than two hours, I was piloted by skilful hands through the seething multitude to the railway station, and went off by the night train in company with Mr. Pullman, en route to Pittsburg.

That night I travelled under Mr. Pullman's hospitable auspices, and he gave me a compartment in his luxurious car. The next day I spent in most useful conversation with him regarding the electoral crisis. So we entered the western side of the Alleghany mountains, and I parted company with him. I alighted at Pittsburg while he went on to New York. As Pittsburg was a centre of steel and iron manufacture, I wished to see the works belonging to my friend Mr. Andrew Carnegie. I then went on to Altoona, near the eastern base of the mountains, and was shown over the railway workshops which existed on a magnificent scale. Thence I had a short journey to Philadelphia. Having renewed my acquaintance with Mr. Childs of the "Public Ledger," and met some of the principal bankers, I obtained introductions to the Democratic leaders, in order to counterbalance the opinions I had imbibed from the Republicans, I was at that moment under the impression that, whatever might be the merits of Democratic arguments, the moral forces would be found on the Republican side. I thought too that

there must be a Republican majority in the country. But I heard men repeat, what had been heard in the previous August, to the effect that in the Party there was a section opposed to Mr. Blaine on sincere and conscientious convictions. Some of them perhaps might prove determined that he should not be elected if they could help it. This grave circumstance might just turn the scale towards the Democratic side.

Then I hastened to New York, having been favoured through the kindness of Mr. Carnegie with an invitation to a banquet to be given to Mr. Blaine by his leading supporters there. Entering the city and driving towards my hotel, the Windsor, in Fifth Avenue, I passed by a crowd near a platform where some speeches were being made in the presence of Mr. Blaine himself. I heard that one of the speakers had, with an alliteration of the letter r, just charged their opponents with supporting "rum, romanism and rebellion," whatever that might mean. This expression being thought dangerous, Mr. Blaine was engaged in explaining it away.

In the evening I appeared at the banquet in Delmonico's Restaurant, covers being laid for two hundred of the most zealous partisans of Mr. Blaine in the Eastern States of the Union. I was the only stranger present, and to be there was for me a memorable and unique privilege. Once more I heard the after-dinner speaking for which America was justly

renowned. Mr. Blaine's reply was admirably delivered both as regards matter and manner. He looked every inch a ruler, and I understood what his friends meant when they spoke of him as "a magnetic man." One passage in his speech caught my attention, for he expressed a hope that some arrangement might be made, whereby the lesser Republics of Central and Southern America should cease from internecine conflicts, and settle their differences peacefully. Pondering thereon, I perceived that this was a very ambitious aspiration of his, for its meaning must be to constitute the United States as arbitrator. The banquet went off for the moment as merry as a marriage bell, and in the drawing-room after dinner he held an informal levée. Among many others, I had the honour of being presented to him.

The next day I saw and heard the adverse side in respect to this banquet. For I attended an openair meeting of the Democrats in the business quarter of the city. I was fortunate in being placed on a platform immediately behind the principal speaker, an eloquent Minister related to the famous Mrs. Beecher Stowe. He objected root and branch to the company in which I had been associating the evening before. He mercilessly dissected each one of the principal men who had been at the banquet. He apparently implied that they belonged to the "lobbyist" class. He summed up the total of political unrighteousness "that had sat under the mahogany" at the feast. Then he turned

CHAP. X. J

round and gave me a look of such severity that I almost feared he was going to denounce me to the audience as having been present there.

I soon found that my Republican friends were fearful lest this banquet should have done more harm than good to their cause. It might have tended to identify Mr. Blaine with a particular section of their Party which would alienate other and still larger sections. They apprehended that it would accentuate the objections to him entertained by many of their fellow-workers. Soon they began to call it "Belshazzar's Feast."

Meanwhile I had been highly favoured by being made a temporary member of the Union League Club, the Republican head-quarter, and of the Manhattan Club, the Democratic centre. The Union League was the handsomest of the two, being indeed one of the finest clubs to be seen in any country. It and its inmates seemed to be in New York what the Carlton Club is in London. The Manhattan Club, though the lesser in external pretension, was most friendly and pleasant. I shall ever feel grateful for the confidence with which I was honoured by the two rival clubs simultaneously. I thus heard the conflicting hopes and fears of the opposite Parties from hour to hour, and I regarded the conversations as confidential. never admitted or repeated anything as against Democrats before Republicans, or against Republicans before

Democrats. The experience thus obtained by me was such as would be rarely obtainable by a stranger.

For example, at meal-time in the Hotel Windsor, I used to sit next to an engaging lady who was an ardent Republican. Our talk ran solely on the one topic of the day. She said that I must be at heart a Democrat—and why? Because she never could get me to say anything of what I must have heard from the Democrats. I replied that, by parity of reasoning, had I been sitting next to a Democratic lady she would have supposed me to be at heart a Republican, because she could not induce me to repeat anything that had been said by Republicans.

As the final week drew near to its close, the Republicans held their grand torchlight procession to defile before Mr. Blaine, at a place near the end of Fifth Avenue. Here I was privileged to sit near him on the platform. Never elsewhere have I seen the like of this immense pageant. The host that marched past was divided into various sections according to locality or to profession. The long line, moving with many men abreast, was lighted on its way by numberless torches. A drizzling rain in no wise damped the ardour of the performance. The streets chosen for the show were those in which the electric lighting had been well established,—and that added an artificial moonlight to the scene. Each section, as it approached the saluting point opposite to Mr. Blaine, was heralded

by blue lights and rockets. Each section again had its special uniform, or fancy costume, or other distinctive dress and head-gear, generally full of colour and glitter. There was every sort of fantastic effect, partly modern, partly mediæval - with armorial bearings, spears and bannerets,—with placards bearing legends, inscriptions, caricatures, - with cars, sedan - chairs, canopies. The men were mostly on foot, but many were on horseback, and often some conspicuous leader rode in front of the troops of his political followers. As each section passed along, there was joyous acclamation from the sympathising crowds that lined the streets. Bands of music were frequently heard, playing popular or patriotic airs. The marching past the platform began soon after nine o'clock that night, and lasted till past three o'clock in the morning. I sat it out till two o'clock, and then retired to my hotel, while shouts and huzzas were still rending the air.

During these long hours I was seated on the platform next to a lady, who would naturally be a strong Republican, and we exchanged sympathetic remarks regarding the beauties and wonders of the show. At last, in order to say something pleasant, I remarked how kind it was of the Republican politicians to go through all this fatigue, not only for their own Party, but for the edification and amusement of the world at large in the city,—and how I hoped to witness a performance by the Democratic Party on the following

day, which perhaps would not be so stylish as this one. Up to that moment she had been entirely gracious, but now she rounded on me sharply and said—"Sir, I see that you do not understand the significance of these things."

The next day I beheld from a balcony the corresponding procession of the Democrats, defiling before Mr. Cleveland by full daylight in the afternoon. It presented an absolute contrast to the rival procession. The men were all in a uniform dress of black coats and low hats, the only distinctive mark being a blue rosette on the breast. The vast multitude marched past in serried ranks, with a discipline just like that of the militia or the volunteers. They were in divisions, indeed, but without any accompanying insignia; and they moved in silence without any music. The crowds were not vociferous nor demonstrative, but gazed on the affair with respectful admiration. The march-past lasted several hours. It wore the appearance of moral strength, and it raised my estimate of the Democratic Party for fighting power. Indeed, I never saw a political demonstration so imposing and so businesslike as this was. I then spent the evening in the Manhattan Club, discussing the events of the afternoon.

On the Sunday the churches which I attended were more crowded than ever. On the Monday there was a cessation from meetings or other demonstrations. The leaders on both sides were occupied in mustering their electors for voting on Tuesday, the decisive day.

During all the hours of that day, Tuesday the 4th of November, I was at the polling booths in various parts of the city, watching the system of voting and the demeanour of the anxious crowds. On the whole, I thought that order was preserved in a degree creditable to all concerned. The evening passed off quietly enough, like a calm after a long storm.

But the next morning all the anxiety and the excitement were renewed, though in a new form. For the telegraphic announcements from the various parts of the Union indicated something like "a dead-heat" in the race between the two Parties. Some parts of the country "had gone solid," as the phrase went, for one Party, and some for the other. But in the doubtful, and therefore the deciding, States it happened that the votes had been so given as to cause a nearly even balance between the two Parties. Foremost among these deciding States was the great State of New York, often called "the Empire State." Instantly it was seen that the action of this State would decide the issue for the whole nation. But its returns, so far as they had come to hand, left doubt as to whether it had "gone" Republican or Democratic. Evidently, there would be but a small majority for either side. I stayed in what was then the most fashionable and influential hotel in New York. The guests, whether native or



stranger, were on the tiptoe of curiosity as to the electoral result. On a morning as we passed through the vestibule to the breakfast-room, men were stationed with bundles of newspapers which supported one Party or the other. As the guests filed past, in a string or queue, they would buy these papers, to compare the conflicting news. The returns from the outlying counties were long in coming, and neither side could possibly have authentic intelligence. But each thought it knew, and with this supposititious knowledge kept alive the hopes of its adherents.

The Democrats at the Manhattan Club were comparatively reserved, and confident of having a small majority. The Republicans at the Union League Club were more demonstrative. I stood with them one evening on the balcony, while a body of their workers brought the latest news. I heard one of the orators address the assembly in the street below, and congratulate them on the State "having gone Republican." Although the dissemination of statistics, semi-authentic only, and of a partisan complexion, could not affect the results, which must in the end be a matter of mere enumeration—yet it caused deep umbrage. opinion was morbidly sensitive even upon such a matter as this. One morning we learned at our hotel that on the previous night certain prominent citizens had slept under the same roof with us. I understood that they had not felt safe in their own houses, because an angry multitude suspected them of circulating statistics likely to mislead the political world.

It had become clear that the result of the whole Election depended on the New York State proving to have had on the 4th November a small majority for either one Party or the other. Upon the difference of a very few thousand, perhaps even a few hundred, votes, the Presidential Election of the United States, in which some millions of votes had been cast, must now depend. When at length the electoral returns were made up, the difference either way was so small that an official re-count was at once demanded. This was ordered, and all men knew that it must occupy several days. While this "count," as it was called, should be going on, there was a truce, an armistice to the excitement, inasmuch as the result of this quasi-judicial enquiry must be awaited.

I occupied the interval in an instructive way, for in company with a kind American friend, Mr. Ruggles, I journeyed to Albany, the head-quarter of the New York State. My hope was to be introduced to Mr. Cleveland himself, who in his capacity as Governor of the State had returned thither. Mr. Ruggles and I had an interview with him in his State apartments, while he was in the very crisis of his fate. He was massive physically and mentally, not gifted with external graces, but having much reserve force, with phlegmatic steadiness. We hesitated to ask him, but



unasked he told us that he did not fear the result of the "count," and that he believed himself to have a small majority of between one and two thousand. Such indeed proved to be the case for him; yet the number seemed but slight to be the determining factor in an all-important issue for a great nation. Then he conversed calmly but freely on his work as Governor, his powers and his opportunities.

As the outcome of the "count" was soon declared, there was no farther excitement. The Democrats took their triumph with calmness, and the Republicans their defeat with fortitude. The personalities, the recriminations, the heated dust-storm, the mental cyclone, vanished into thin air, leaving apparently no ravages, hardly even a trace behind. I was present at a meeting, largely attended by members of both Parties, for the abstract discussion, and the philosophical treatment, of the distinctive issues in the great contest just over and decided. Well-chosen orators put the cases for their respective Parties, and the chairman took care that a Republican speech was always followed by a Democratic one and vice versá. An academic calm pervaded the proceedings.

I still had many interesting and instructive sights to see,—so I visited the Columbia technical school at New York, the College of Civil Engineering at Troy, and the Smith College for the higher instruction of women at Northampton in Massachusetts. The Smith

College was one of the best institutions of its kind I ever inspected. The instruction of the young women in classics, in philology, in science, was being admirably conducted, and there was much of art-culture also. The lady Professors, too, were persons of a high intellectual order.

I made several excursions of a social character. Thus I journeyed to West Point to see Mr. and Mrs. John Bigelow, in their villa and garden overlooking the Hudson, combining with the visit a brief inspection of the famous military establishment in that quarter. I made a point of once more travelling to Philadelphia, to bid farewell to my good friend Mr. John Welsh. I attended a noteworthy garden party in Long Island, at which the greater part of New York Society were present. We the guests proceeded by special train to a point opposite the island, and were ferried across the water. There we found carriages to drive us to lunch in the old-fashioned house near the beach, and we walked in the verdant grounds close by the surf.

I had to pay what proved, alas! to be my farewell call upon General Ulysses Grant. Rumours were rife of his being ill with an obstinate sore throat, but no public apprehension was at that time felt on his account. He told me, however, in confidence that the throat-affection was of a grave character, and he led me to infer, without expressly saying so, that he felt doubtful



as to the chances of recovery. His tone was changed from that of former years, and a certain gravity of manner implied that he was looking to something beyond this life. Still he conversed on politics with a subdued cheerfulness. I alluded to Mr. Blaine's speech at the banquet in reference to the lesser Republics of America, and asked what it really meant. General said I was right in supposing that the object was to constitute the United States as arbitrator in all disputes which these Republics might have among themselves. He admitted that this might ultimately vest the United States with the control of all the foreign affairs of these Republics. He added that this could be arranged only by their entering voluntarily, as sovereign and independent States, into an agreement between themselves and with the United States.

In New York, as the social season was beginning, I found myself paying calls, leaving cards and attending parties, very much as if I had been in London. An American lady of distinguished parentage had, on a journey round the world, passed from the Himalayas to the Rocky Mountains and so home to New York. She was telling a circle of ladies at a tea-party in Fifth Avenue that, as compared with the Himalayas, the Yosemité Valley was a little place. They were somewhat hurt at this and asked me how it could be? I replied that by survey and measurement the Yosemité Valley was only about one-fourth of the Himalayas.

CHAP. X.]

But I added that grandeur of impression did not always depend on dimensions, and that, owing to its formation, the Yosemité produced a more imposing effect than almost any valley in the Himalayas. The last of the entertainments for me was a wedding party at the house of Mr and Mrs. William Astor, where I saw a quadrille in which all the ladies dancing were bridesmaids in their special costume—truly a graceful and pretty sight. Immediately afterwards I attended at Delmonico's Restaurant the annual banquet of the New York Chamber of Commerce. Thence I went straightway on board the Atlantic steamer "Umbria" bound for England.

As I steamed away my thoughts could not but revert to the political issues which I had heard passionately discussed, and then set aside, like arms hung upon a wall. But gathering together my sunny and vivid memories of kindness, confidence and hospitality, I felt as if I had left behind me in America—animæ dimidium meæ.

I landed at Queenstown in Ireland, and proceeded to Limerick which seemed to wear a somewhat melancholy aspect. Thence I visited Galway and went on by lake-steamer to Ardilaun. Returning to Galway, I journeyed via Dublin to England.

CHAPTER XI.

(1884-1894,)-THE SCHOOL BOARD FOR LONDON.

I become Member of the Board in 1884—General Election of the Board for London in 1885—Am elected for the City of London—Become financial Member of the Board—Budgets in 1886 and in succeeding years—The Economical Party—Fresh Election for London in 1888—Am re-elected for the City—Growth of expenditure—Further Election for London in 1891—Am elected for City of London for third time—Religious Instruction—Resign my seat Easter 1894—Conduct and policy of the Board—Merits and demerits—Educational results.

ON my return to London in November 1884 from my second visit to the United States, I received notice that during my absence I had been elected a Member of the School Board for London, on a bye election by co-optation of the Board itself. I was nominated for the Westminster District, the vacancy having occurred there.

I was immediately placed on the Finance Committee, and made the acquaintance of its then Chairman, Mr. Joseph Diggle. While visiting the Board Schools of Westminster, I found myself one day in the back parts of Covent Garden, another day behind Drury Lane, another day in the rear of the Law Courts. The gentlemen Members of the Board fulfilled my expectations fairly well. But I was struck by the ability, and sometimes even the eloquence, of the lady Members.

As the autumn of 1885 approached, I found that the General Election for Parliament, and for the London School Board, would occur about the same time. Being the candidate for a distant Division in Worcestershire, I did not feel able to contest any School Board district in London. It was impossible to conduct "the campaigning" in both places simultaneously. But in the nick of time I received an offer from the City of London to stand for their district, and this too without the need of any "campaigning." Fortunately I had allies there, foremost among whom was my old friend Sir Robert Fowler. I was to accompany him to the Mansion House and there make a speech to the rate-payers; that was all. My colleague in the candidature was Alderman, afterwards Sir Joseph, Savory and a Member of Parliament. Later on, in the throes of my parliamentary election, telegraphic information came that my colleague and I had been elected Members of the School Board for London.

Then as the Conservative or Moderate Party had obtained a majority in the Election, our friends in the new Board wished to elect Mr. Diggle to be the Chairman and me the Vice-Chairman. This election was to take place on the day when the result of my poll in Worcestershire would be declared. Fortunately for me the poll itself took place on the day before. So having done all I could to secure my parliamentary election during those eventful hours, I started the same evening by the

night train for London. Early the next morning I had to meet my new colleagues on the School Board. Meanwhile I could not be present at the declaration of my own poll in Worcestershire. So my old friend Sir Edmund Lechmere represented me on the occasion. was informed of my parliamentary election on entering the great hall of the School Board. The new Board was then meeting, and the first business was the election of Mr. Diggle and me as Chairman and Vice-Chairman. Standing at the table, he and I in turn expressed thanks to the Board. A close alliance was formed between us, which lasted till I left the Board some years later, and which still subsists. As I stood up at the table, I remembered that high on the wall just behind me there hung the portrait of my old Chief, Lord Lawrence, who, many years ago, had been the first Chairman of this Board.

I was then, in December 1885, elected to the Chairmanship of the Finance Committee, a position which I retained for more than nine years, that is until the end of my connexion with the Board. I felt half surprised on finding myself in the executive position of collecting year after year a million to a million and a half sterling from the numerous Vestries of the Metropolis annually.

In February 1886, I produced my first Budget of the Board's finance. Heretofore the financial statements had been presented in a somewhat technical form. The results had been explained to the Board by my predecessor, in excellent speeches, which might or might not be fully reported by the newspapers. anxious that this branch of Metropolitan finance should be understood, not only by my brother Members on the Board, but also by the Metropolitan ratepayers at large whose interests were concerned. I hoped that such understanding on their part would help me in urging the economy which apparently was more and more needed. Therefore, while retaining the technical statements so as to preserve statistical continuity, I superadded a formal exposition of the Budget in a clear and popular form so that the public outside might readily follow it. This exposition, having been printed beforehand, was read out by me to the Board. After its delivery, copies were circulated among my colleagues, and then distributed to the newspapers. Fortunately it attracted the notice of the Metropolitan Press. Thus the flag of economy was hoisted, and round it there gathered an Economical Party of which Mr. Diggle the head, while I was the spokesman, and Mr. Frederick Davies became the Whip. We had a majority in the Board, not large enough, indeed, for real retrenchment, but sufficient to curb extravagance and to prevent the rates from rising appreciably. On each annual occasion, with the assistance of Mr. Attenborough, Accountant to the Board, I produced my Budget exposition, which was honoured by much notice from the Press, and was probably regarded with favour



by most of the ratepayers. On the other hand, it was attacked by our opponents, who desired a more generous expenditure for what they regarded as educational progress. We succeeded, however, in shewing that, together with economy, there had been a gradually increasing efficiency and a continuous advance.

The next triennial Election took place in the autumn of 1888, when my colleague and I were reelected for the City of London. The elections, however, in the Metropolis generally did not go well for us, notwithstanding all the efforts we had made for saving the money of the ratepayers. Our majority was not indeed lost, but it remained with a decrease of strength. Mr. Diggle kept his position as Chairman of the Board, and I continued to be Chairman of the Finance Committee. But our influence for the promotion of economy was less than before. I did my best by the Budget expositions to apprise the ratepayers of that growth in the expenditure which seemed to me to be, in part at least, avoidable.

After the lapse of three years, again an Election came round, when my colleague and I were for the third time elected for the City of London. Not having been satisfied with my majority in the City on the previous occasion, I resolved to take further precautions for this election. So, in company with my skilled agent Mr. Inkersole, I walked through every street within the area of the City, canvassing the ratepayers.

This peregrination lasted just thirteen days, and the result was proportionate. For I obtained a majority of ten thousand four hundred votes over the "Progressive" candidate as he was called. The result of the polls generally was favourable to our Economical Party. Consequently, for the following three years up to 1894, the local taxation did not increase, economy, though far from complete, was fairly observed, and efficiency went on improving at a moderate and steady pace.

At the end of the triennial period in 1894, I should have served for ten years on the Board, devoting to the just interests of the ratepayers a portion of my time, already taxed heavily for Parliament, and my financial experience acquired in other lands. Though grateful for the support accorded to me personally in the City of London, I was yet disappointed at the insufficiency of the support given to the Economical Party in many, though not all, of the Metropolitan districts. decided not to seek re-election in the autumn of 1894; when circumstances arose that caused me to resign my seat on the Board at Eastertide in that year. At the request of my Parliamentary colleagues I had accepted the Chairmanship of the Public Accounts Committee in the House of Commons. The operous work of that post was incompatible with my financial duties on the School Board. So perforce I must resign them without delay. At that moment my Party in the Board were much concerned in the passing of a Circular regarding

Religious Instruction, in which I myself, too, was extremely interested. So I held back my resignation for a little while, to help in securing the safe passage of the Circular. I attended for the last time, when after protracted delays it was to be passed. I voted in the final division for passing it, and that was my closing act in the Board. Immediately afterwards I walked up to the table, and handed my resignation to the Clerk. Shortly after my resignation I attended, by invitation, in the old hall of the School Board, to meet the Accountant and the numerous Clerks of the Finance Department, in order that they might present me with a farewell Address. The occasion passed off with the heartiest friendship on both sides.

During a lengthened and diversified career, I have never gained more valuable and interesting experience than when serving on the School Board for London. Some of my fellow-thinkers will consider that this great Board was marked by numerous faults, and did many things which it ought not to have done. I myself should be the last person to defend its policy all round. I, like my fellows, preferred to retain the Voluntary system, wherever and as much as possible. The Board by unnecessary competition drove many Voluntary Schools out of the field—and that I regarded one of its prime faults. Still all impartial observers must admit that the Board's organisation was magnificent, its teaching staff professionally accomplished

and admirably efficient, its sum total of achievements very great, and its general conduct worthy of the position occupied by one of the largest, if not the very largest, of the educational bodies in the world. That it spent far too much money, and attempted several things not contemplated by, nor pertaining to, the Elementary Education Act—was the belief of myself and my Party. Yet in many parts of the Metropolis it did much needful work which could not have been done by any other agency.

Most of its instruction was useful, practical and conducive to the future welfare of the children. discipline moral and external, in physical drill and manual training, in elementary drawing and the rudiments of industrial art, in that class-singing which humanizes child nature—its system was admirable. I was struck with the proficiency evinced by the children at the annual Exhibitions held under the Board's auspices—in the Albert Hall for physical training—in Exeter Hall for the singing competition in Farringdon Hall for needle-work-in the Crystal Palace for orchestral performance. The assortment of industrial art-works, done by the children and sent to the World's Show at Chicago, was in my eyes wonderful. Certain faults had indeed crept, and threatened to creep still further, into the Religious Instruction. All this constrained us to issue that Circular which was the cause of much controversy at the time. Still for the most part this all-important instruction was, in my belief, unaffected and intact, continuing to deserve the confidence of the parents who desired their children to be brought up in the Christian faith. I had subsequently the pleasure of declaring this belief when distributing, at the request of the Board, the annual prizes munificently given by Mr. Francis Peek for proficiency in Scripture knowledge.

For enforcing attendance at school the efforts of the Board were astonishing. By an ubiquitous staff of Visitors a house-to-house visitation throughout the Metropolis was carried out. This operation was truly arduous in the poorest quarters, swarming with people of many nationalities and of infinitely diverse pursuits. Our legal powers would never have sufficed, had we not been able by temperate and forbearing administration to exercise a moral authority over the parents.

Equally judicious was the system whereby the Board sought out, by night as well as by day, the children who were wanderers, houseless, friendless, uncared for, running fast on the road to ruin. Daily and nightly were these poor little creatures caught and rescued. Their cases were brought before a Committee of the Board, of which I was a member, and we directed due provision for them in the institutions under us or under other agencies. There was an almost scientific system whereby children, apparently incorrigible, were by a peculiar yet gentle discipline reclaimed. For children who came

to school, insufficiently nourished, private charity was largely evoked to supply food, and this, too, at the instance or with the co-operation of the Board—and in these proceedings also I bore a part.

Throughout my ten years' service I seized opportunities of visiting all the poorest schools in the humblest localities. I found that wherever the Board had worked in these dark regions, the social tone and the domestic manners of the inhabitants improved. these schools I looked into the condition of the weakest scholars, that is, the children of the poorest parents. had seen misery of various forms in other lands. nowhere had I noted such black care, such anguish of anxiety, such a striving to keep the head above water in the waves of the world—as in many parts of London. Nowhere had I known such parental fidelity evinced under cruel disadvantages and under crucial trials—as in these saddened localities. After ascertaining the condition of many families—with all their domestic disadvantages—I wondered how they could contrive to send the scholars to school with some show of respectability. Evidently mothers themselves half-starving managed to sustain the children, themselves in tatters did yet clothe the little ones. The manner, again, in which the families would help one another, in extremity or emergency, filled me with admiration. In these respects, indeed, the conduct of many among the London poor raised my estimate of human nature.

CHAPTER XII.

(1886.)—PARLIAMENT IN 1886.

First entrance to Commons—Speech by the Queen in Lords—My parliamentary journal—Maiden speech—Defeat of Conservative Ministry—Mr. Gladstone's Liberal Government—Home Rule Bill—Great debate Second Reading—Liberal Unionist Party—Bill rejected on decisive Division—Dissolution of Parliament and General Election—My election at Evesham—House meets under Conservative Government—Prorogation in Autumn—My position and duty in the Commons.

DURING the General Election of 1885, and in December of that year, I had been elected as a Conservative Member for the Evesham division of Worcestershire. I had not long to wait before entering on my new duties. It was in the beginning of January 1886 when I walked from the School Board for London to the Palace of Westminster. I was surprised at the absence of formality when Members take their seats after a General Election. As I passed through the Members' entrance of the House of Commons, I was asked my name by the policeman on duty, and the same by the door-keeper when I walked inside the Chamber; so that was all.

A hope was now fulfilled which had been cherished since I was twenty years old. An ambition was satisfied which had affected my personal plans during the

closing years of my career in India, and dominated my proceedings in England since 1880. I was not only in Parliament, but was representing my native county of Now, then, was a fair time for elation, yet Worcester. I did not feel elated. There was, indeed, a depression in our parliamentary atmosphere. Our seats had been hardly won; but soon we should have to contend for them again. The Conservative Party, though holding power for the moment, had no majority in the Commons. The balance between the Parties in the Commons was held by the Irish Members following Mr. Parnell as They called themselves Nationalists and I shall hereafter refer to them by that name, meaning the Irish Members who were devoted to Home Rule for Ireland. We feared that the newly elected Parliament must be dissolved after a few months. Mr. Gladstone, as a new convert to Home Rule, would we thought, with the help of the Nationalists, drive the Conservative Ministry from office. He would then introduce a Bill for Home Rule, which would be defeated in the Commons, whereon he would appeal to the country.

I was in the closely pressed throng at the Bar of the House of Lords when the Queen herself read her Speech from the Throne, with special reference to Ireland among other imperial subjects. I could distinctly hear Her Majesty's voice throughout the Speech, even at my distant end of the Chamber.

In the Commons I wished to comport myself modestly



and quietly. I understood that men of my antecedents would be welcomed in respect to subjects wherein their authority was recognised; but would not be accepted as exponents of matters which had not been specially under their cognisance. I would not speak except on subjects where I had personal knowledge and experience not ordinarily possessed by Members, or where I might afford explanation which could hardly otherwise be afforded.

I acted on this principle in my maiden speech, through which ordeal I passed on the first night of the Session. Our Whip asked me to speak after nine o'clock in the debate on the Address in reply to the Speech from the Throne. Many subjects were mentioned and among them I chose the annexation of Burmah, and as a reason for so doing I adduced the experience acquired by me in that country some years previously. An inquiry into Indian affairs having been proposed by the Government, I took the opportunity of adverting to the good qualities of the Natives of India, being anxious that my first words in Parliament should be on their behalf and in commendation of them. In my next proceeding I acted at the bidding of my Leaders. The subject was that of Allotments for agricultural labourers, regarding which I had special knowledge. The Nationalists wished to precipitate a division before our men could come up. For the purpose of gaining time I was asked to speak despite of them. I spoke, indeed, but under some disadvantage. Afterwards, in the division lobby

the Leader told me that I had saved the division. I felt however that, for a new Member like me, an enterprise of this sort ought not to be repeated even at the bidding of a Leader. My first days were indeed eventful; for I saw a Speaker elected, a Ministry fall and a new Ministry rise. After a brief adjournment the House reassembled, and began "Supply," thus voting the necessary sums of money for the public service.

I began keeping a Journal of what was seen and heard by me in the House, with four pages on the average for each day. I persevered in this plan throughout all my years in Parliament. I used also to write a weekly letter to the Conservative organ in my Division, as a sort of statement to my constituents at large.

Soon the new Liberal or Gladstonian Government began to be unduly pressed by its Radical followers on many a point, and had to stand out against them in the discharge of its duty. In such cases I perceived that this duty had a Conservative tendency. It was important that Conservative Members should support Mr. Gladstone in well-doing, when he and his were thus deserted by a portion of their own followers. During the hours after midnight I was often, for this reason, in the same lobby with the Gladstonians, communicating with their Whip almost as if he had been my own. I acted up to this wholesome rule in several succeeding Sessions.

At this time on a Private Members' night a Bill for conferring the parliamentary franchise on duly qualified women was read a second time after a division, though pressure of affairs prevented its further progress that Session. I was glad to vote for the measure on that occasion, having taken a part in the movement before entering Parliament.

I now discovered that the House, so far from being the best club in London as it once may have been, was no longer a club at all, in the sense wherein the Athenæum and the Carlton, for example, are clubs. The Library and the Terrace on the Thames had amenities which could hardly be excelled. The architecture and the elder precincts of the House had associations of high importance. But the dining-rooms and all their belongings were quite inferior to what the Members would see in their clubs and their homes. I was not at all affected by this fault myself; but I was surprised at it, because the authorities should have been interested in inducing Members to stay in the House through the dinner hour, and in obviating any discomfort which might cause them to go elsewhere.

I was laid up by illness when Mr. Gladstone introduced his Home Rule Bill for Ireland. After Easter I listened to the debate on the Second Reading of the Bill, the grandest discussion that occurred in the present generation. I then gathered the meaning of a "full-dress debate," which was a set performance for each

evening arranged between the opposite Parties. There was oratorical cannonading, musketry, sharpshooting in nearly a fixed order, according to the rules of the "Kriegspiel." The evening began by a cannon of first-rate calibre being let off, reply being made by a cannon of equal weight. Then musketry rattled till near the dinner hour. Thereon sharpshooting would play till about ten o'clock. Then guns of heavier sound would fire again, till the night's performance was wound up by fresh cannons going off and answering shot for shot. The arguments were soon worked out by this riddling process, but still the roar of artillery went on; so I wondered what all this was for. I soon perceived that many lesser Members indulged in this wild shooting for the satisfaction of their constituents. The people at large outside did indeed complain of there being an excess of speaking in Parliament. But then the constituencies, if taken one by one, were but too often apt to insist on their Members speaking inside the House. Naturally the consequence was the very excess complained of. Happily my constituents, in their wisdom, refrained from putting any pressure upon me in this respect. So I sat still during the six weeks of this I listened to the mighty performance much debate. as the audience does in the theatre. The excitement arose because many Liberals, justly dissenting from Home Rule, were apparently about to join us. question was whether Mr. Gladstone could by promises



or any legitimate devices induce them to come back to his fold. Knowing his skill and mastery, we feared at first that he might succeed. But having regard to the sterling qualities of our new allies, we hoped he would fail. As the fateful day drew nigh, I and my comrades on the green benches interested ourselves in reckoning the probable numbers on each side. We expected to win indeed, but not by so large a majority as that which the event proved us to have.

On the morning of the division day in summer weather, I rose saying to myself that this day would live in history. I went early to my place and noticed the care with which every Member was, so to speak, gleaned and noted down-so that none should fail. In the closing hours of the Debate the climax was Mr. Parnell's speech, which I regarded as the acme of audacious cynicism. In the small hours of that June morning, we trooped into our lobby with the joy of victory on our faces; though we were sentencing ourselves to Dissolution with all its cares and pains. Nevertheless, at any cost the patriotic duty must be discharged, and the eagerness to beat down Home Rule subdued every other sentiment. After the Division the excitement in all quarters of the House, the rejoicing and triumph in our quarter and in that of our allies, made up a scene the like of which I never A few days afterwards, when Mr. Gladstone announced the Dissolution, there arose from our

benches a furious cheer of defiance, of ardour, and of confidence.

In the General Election which followed, I fared well with my constituents. The declaration of the poll at Evesham, the head-quarter of my constituency, was a moment of triumph for me. The High Sheriff, Colonel Victor Milward-afterwards a Member of Parliament—was reading out the numbers in the balcony of the Town Hall to the multitude in the square below. The name of the Liberal candidate came first alphabetically; and so his number of two thousand and odd hundred was read out. The people heard this in silence with a visible unrest. Then coming to my number the High Sheriff read four thousand, and could get no further. For the multitude instantly burst into vociferous and tumultuous cheering which lasted several minutes. Then the High Sheriff began again, but could not reach the odd hundreds by reason of the renewed cheering. At length, after two or more unsuccessful efforts, he succeeded in reading out the odd hundreds.

In August the House re-assembled under the auspices of a Conservative Government with the Liberal Unionists as our allies. One feature in the General Election had been the wondrous progress of Lord Randolph Churchill, who was now our Leader. The business related to the voting of money for the public service, which must be completed early in the autumn.



It was impeded and at some moments imperilled by the flank movements of the Nationalists. Many blows were parried and several attacks turned by our Leader with as much dexterity as we could have possibly expected. The financial business of the brief and initial Session of the new Parliament was completed fairly in time. Thus we were prorogued in the third week of September.

I had now been a year in Parliament, and the time had sufficed for me to decide what part I should attempt to play in the House. My antecedents gave me advantages, no doubt; but they also involved disadvantages. I had heretofore been accustomed to an open field without favour, where the prize went to the best informed and the ablest. Such was not, indeed could not be, always the case in Party politics. This condition arose from political and national considerations which would be supported by me as a Conservative; so I could not complain. Still there was something I could do for my Cause and my Party in a private and un-official capacity. I could be a working Member of the House all round, on the green benches inside the Chamber, in the division-lobbies, in the Committee-rooms upstairs. I would profit to the utmost by the knowledge thus gained, by the experience thus enlarged. I would never "pair" and go away; I would attend every division without exception, Session after Session, unless prevented by some unavoidable cause. I recalled to mind

the Rugbeian maxim αιèν ἀριστεύειν—always excel. In these respects at least it would be in my power to act up to this maxim; though to excel thus would indeed Few tasks could be harder than to attend be arduous. every division in a Session. It must tax the strength, and it might undermine the health. It would demand ceaseless vigilance, and the sacrifice of many things that are generally thought to make life worth living for in London. It was impossible for many, perhaps even for most, Members to undertake such a duty. Some had business, others had professions, others had avocations which must be attended to. I had none of these and therefore I could compass the task, being master of my own time. My duties in the School Board for London were the only distractions that could ever draw me away from the House. But I meant to make Parliament my first object. Even one Private Member, unfalteringly diligent, might avail much, from the moral force of the example set by him. I hoped, however, that others would do the same; because the existence of a set of men, thus disposed, and able from circumstance so to act would be a clear advantage to my Party indeed to any Party. Moreover, I believed this to be essential to the efficiency of Parliament itself.

Besides these public reasons, there was a personal motive actuating me. The then Government was that of Lord Salisbury. I remembered that His Lordship was Minister of the Crown when I was recommended

for honour after honour by successive Viceroys of India. He also had nominated me for the highest office I ever held. He was therefore one of those towards whom I acknowledged a loyal obligation. I would show in Parliament, towards his Administration, a fidelity which not only in word, but in action and performance, could not easily be surpassed.

CHAPTER XIII.

(1887-1892.)—PARLIAMENT FROM 1887 TO 1892.

House meets January 1887—Conservative policy—Lord Randolph Churchill and Mr. W. H. Smith—Sir Michael Hicks-Beach and Mr. Balfour—Rules of Procedure—All-night sittings—Irish Crimes Bill—Irish Land Bill—Opening Session 1888—Hours of business—Conversion National Debt—Local Government Bill for England—Parnell Commission—Autumn sitting—Session 1889—Scotch Local Government and Universities—Session 1890—Mr. Goschen's Budget—Licensing clauses—Mr. Balfour's success in Ireland—Imperial arrangements Africa—Session in November—Reassembling 1891—Tithes Bill and Irish Land Purchase Bill—Free Education—Death of Mr. W. H. Smith—Session 1892—Mr. Balfour leader—Irish Local Government Bill—Agricultural Small Holdings Bill—Dissolution of Parliament.

THE new Parliament re-assembled in the beginning of 1887 to fulfil its legislative mission. Up to that time my experience, though stormy and eventful, had on the whole been cheerful and lively. Grave issues had been raised and then promptly settled. If the disputes had been sharp they had been also short, the disputants being anxious to come to a decision. There had been anxious uncertainty as to which way such decision would go, and both parties were desirous to solve the doubt. But now I was to learn a very different lesson. The issues to be raised would have their settlement delayed to a distressing degree. The discussions would be



designedly prolonged. One at least of the disputant parties would be anxious to avoid a decision. There was no doubt as to the result, if only a decision could be taken. Seeing this, the weaker party would stave off the decisive moment by interminable impediments.

My comrades and I formed a strong body of Members supporting a strong Government. There was hardly a fixed programme; but main heads of policy had been put forth enough to present the outline of a scheme. It seemed probable that the Parliament might run its course for six to seven years. In that event we understood that there would be measures—for the enforcement of the criminal law in Ireland—for Local Government in Great Britain—for the higher education in Scotland and the secondary education in Wales—for the various landed interests—for the Local Government in Ireland—and for numerous national interests in detail.

Still we had some misgivings for the course and conduct of our Party. Our brilliant Leader, Lord Randolph Churchill, had gone from us; and we rallied under a new Leader, Mr. W. H. Smith. Sir Michael Hicks-Beach was obliged by ill-health to relinquish his post as Chief Secretary for Ireland, and Mr. Arthur Balfour was appointed to fill this place.

The Queen's Speech had foreshadowed an alteration in the criminal procedure for Ireland. But it was evident that if any such law was to be passed through the House, the Rules of parliamentary procedure must be altered. The closure indeed existed already but in a comparatively mild form, and was not easy of application. But its stringency, and the facilities for its employment, must be augmented. The Nationalists saw that the new Rules of procedure were proposed as preliminaries of the legislation to follow. But the old closure was used to expedite a decision whereby a new closure was sanctioned. So the new Rules were passed without any excessive delay.

The Nationalists however set themselves to impede the introduction of the dreaded legislation. The business of voting money in Supply afforded opportunities for erecting barricades. It was thus that I first had experience of "all-night sittings." One Monday I attended the School Board for London soon after midday, and then went on to the House. There I stayed till past midnight, and on through the small hours of Tuesday, till the afternoon of that day, without lying down at all. The Nationalist wranglings had been going on the whole time for a particular object which was defeated. In the afternoon I had just time enough for going to my lodgings in St. James' Place to bathe and dress. Thence I returned straightway to the House and remained there till midnight. Thus I was on duty a day and a half, with a full night too, and without intermission. Another time, I was kept up all night and released in the morning. It was at my

option then to go to bed, as the House would not meet again for some few hours. But the freshness of the morning forbade that, so I took a walk in the Park instead.

About that time it was felt that we must form a band of Private or un-official Members, who would at all hours be either in the Chamber, or in the precincts of the House within hearing of the division bell-who would always dine in the House, never leaving it from the moment when the Speaker mounted his Chair to the moment when he left it. Further, such Members would be on the benches immediately behind the Ministerial bench at those hours when the attendance was expected to be thin, like the dinner hour and the very late hours of the night in protracted sittings. Thus the Minister, be he Leader, or be he Member in charge of the Bill, would never be left without adequate support. Evidently the attacks from the Opposition would test the endurance of the defenders. who undertook this defence used to be familiarly called "the Old Guard," and I was proud to be one of them.

So the Bill for amending the criminal procedure in Ireland, called shortly the Crimes Bill, for the decent and reasonable administration of the criminal law in Ireland, was introduced. It was read a second time soon after Easter. When it entered on the Committee stage, that is, had to be considered clause by clause in a Committee of the whole House, then I learned the

meaning of Obstruction. With a persistency, an ingenuity and a mastery of details quite amazing, the Nationalists contested not only every line but sometimes every word. The new Rules of procedure enabled us to arrive at decisions indeed. But the points to be decided were so numerous that the consumption of time was unconscionable. I remember one day the Minister exclaiming—"At this rate, when can the Bill passthrough Committee?" The Nationalists cried out-"Next year"—which words were equivalent to the Greek kalends, meaning that the Bill should never pass through the Committee stage. From that time a further procedure had to be framed, so drastic as to be sure in its effect. A Resolution was passed fixing a date for the decision of the House being taken on each stage of the Bill. The delays after reaching certain limits would hereby be summarily cut short. The process was familiarly called "the guillotine." Thus the Bill passed after several dramatic scenes, and became law by the middle of summer.

Then the Nationalists tried to wear us out by nocturnal sittings. I became accustomed to see proceedings being put on "from dawn to dawn," as we used to say, and to walk across St. James' Park at sunrise before going to bed. The conduct of the Nationalists was indeed distressful to us, but was quite legitimate warfare. They had a right to oppose us to the utmost. It was within that right for them to

give this particular form to their opposition. If in the small hours they could have succeeded in narrowing our majority, or turning it into a minority, on any details however small, that would have sapped the foundations of our power. We did not complain indeed, but we set our teeth to prevent their succeeding in this way.

In these days the men of our Party gave a banquet in the Crystal Palace to the able and popular Whips, Mr. (afterwards the Right Honorable) Akers Douglas and Sir William Walrond. As we left the terminal station in London, and as we entered the Crystal Palace, it was amusing to watch the keen interest taken in our proceedings by crowds of sight-seers and bystanders.

Shortly afterwards the new Crimes Act had to be carried out. This could be done only by proclaiming the National League. But when the Proclamation came to be issued, Mr. Gladstone with his Nationalist allies led the way in debating these executive steps. Thus for a while our old disputes were resuscitated and our toils renewed.

The Crimes Act, an enforcing procedure, was followed by the Land Bill, a remedial measure. The latter measure, however, included matters which for a while strained the relations between us Conservatives and our Liberal Unionist allies. Notwithstanding its pacific and conciliatory intent, it caused far more

danger to the internal management of our composite Party than the drastic and stringent measure which had gone before. It was, however, passed in due course.

There were yet many votes of money in Supply to be completed. Now as the Bills of the Session, for weal or woe, had become law, we hoped that the Nationalists would refrain from further tormenting. Not so, however; they worried us more effectually than ever, during the autumnal weeks, when many of our men had gone away in weariness. Anxious as the midsummer days had been, still worse was the wasting care of the concluding weeks of that truly tremendous Session. Here, again, we could not complain, for this was lawful warfare which we had to counteract. For all our distress there was the compensation afforded by complete, even triumphant, success.

But we who had borne the brunt and burden of the Session were obliged to look to our future career. The existing Rules evidently enabled our opponents to wear us out by sleeplessness in night sittings. We were not querulous about this; they had a right to do so while the Rules allowed it. But we had to insist on the Rules being altered. Some, perhaps many, of us, myself included, privately intimated to our Leaders that physically we could not go on as we had been going throughout this Session. They naturally sympathized with us; and we assured them of our support in improving the Rules next Session.



When the House reassembled in February 1888, I was, together with my comrades, in good heart. The hours of business were to be altered so as to lighten for us the hours of attendance. The principal measure was to be a Local Government Bill for England. We had in the Exchequer Mr. Goschen, one of the best financiers of the age. If our Party had been victorious in the last Session, how much more would it be so in the Session before us! I could hardly foresee that we were to be brought near to danger, and that this promising Session was to exemplify the vanity of parliamentary expectations.

The first part of the Session, however, did accord with our hopes. The newly-arranged hours of business enabled me to leave the House by half-past twelve at night. I thus, together with my comrades, obtained a fair time for rest and sleep. Mr. Goschen's scheme for reducing the rate of interest on a great part of the National Debt proved quite successful. Subsequently his Budget, too, was much admired. The Local Government Bill was introduced by Mr. Ritchie with acclamation from the Opposition in regard to its principle, and with tacit acquiescence at least from our own Being brought forward by a Conservative Government it seemed sure of a safe passage with the concurrence of the Opposition. Thus we had halcyon days up to the end of May.

But as the Bill advanced by very slow steps through

CHAP. XIII.1

the Committee stage, we perceived that the Opposition, though still professing a general approval, were urging objections in countless particulars. In vain did Mr. Ritchie lighten his ship by throwing all sorts of cargo overboard. Indeed, he deferred that portion of the scheme which related to Parish and District Councils till the more convenient season which never arrived. The measure was then restricted to County Councils The hindrances so increased that we suspected the Opposition of intending to leave the measure stranded. Moreover, some of our own men began to criticize and amend. Thereon the Leaders impressed on us all the need for cohesion, as the situation was drifting towards breakers. Then we found that the Bill could be passed only if the whole Session were devoted to it and the business of voting money on Supply left undone. Thus we feared that a separate sitting in the autumn for Supply would be necessary; and soon the Bill was passed on this understanding.

The necessity was, so to speak, clinched by an occurrence which came upon us suddenly. In consequence of grave charges against the Parnellite party preferred and reiterated by the London "Times," Mr. Parnell asked for a parliamentary enquiry which was refused. He intimated his intention of re-opening the question on a given day. Meanwhile Mr. W. H. Smith, to our astonishment, came down to the House with a proposal for a judicial enquiry into the charges.

A Bill was immediately introduced for appointing a Commission. Our men disliked the measure, for which indeed they could not see any adequate justification. But our loyalty to the Party leaders, and our regard for the safety of the Good Cause as a whole, constrained us to sustain the Bill.

Thus the middle of August was reached, when we separated in order to meet again in November for the business of Supply.

When we met early in November it was soon ascertained that, if our Leaders would abstain from pressing legislative measures, the Opposition would help us to make short work of Supply. Nevertheless, several measures were produced. One measure, for procuring additional funds on account of land-purchase in Ireland, being urgently needed, was passed, though with difficulty. The general consequence was that the Opposition kept us wrangling over Supply, and we were not released from attendance until a late hour on Christmas Eve. We departed in the belief that our strength had been unduly taxed in several respects.

The next Session of 1889 restored our good humour in some degree. Even then, however, the clouds of 1888 threw some shadow over the beginning of 1889. The collapse of the case against Mr. Parnell, in respect of certain compromising letters, did in truth cast no reflection at all upon our Party. On the other hand, many of the grave charges against the Parnellites were

CHAP. XIII.]

found proven by the Judges who formed the Commission. Thus the results of the Enquiry did less harm in some respects, and more good on the whole, than we had anticipated. Otherwise our political affairs promised well for the Session. The Naval Defence Bill passing into law added effectively to the strength of the Navy. The measures regarding the Local Government in Scotland and the Scotch Universities, satisfied some among the most important interests and conciliated the best opinion in North Britain. The grants for the children of the Prince of Wales testified to the faithful loyalty of the Commons. Towards the end, our joy was dashed by the introduction of a Bill regarding Tithes at too late a date in the Session. Still, we separated in contentment for a long Recess, believing that one part of our Party policy had been achieved.

Thus we reassembled in cheerfulness soon after the beginning of 1890. The Tithes Bill was re-introduced, and an extensive measure of Land Purchase in Ireland was brought forward to enable tenants to become owners. At Eastertide Mr. Goschen introduced a successful Budget in a brilliant manner. No sign of trouble; not a cloud in the blue sky was visible. Up to the end of May we supposed that this Session would be at least as successful as the last one had been.

But then a cloud arose upon the horizon, and grew apace till it covered our political horizon with darkness. In the Bill for giving effect to the Budget some clauses



were included for gradually reducing the number of public-houses, with the grant of compensation to the owners of those which might be abolished. These soon became painfully known as the Licensing Clauses. At this time the production of them was regarded by us with extreme regret. Yet we were bound loyally to support our Leaders, and to stand by them in their desperate attempts to pass this licensing measure before Whitsuntide. Despite all our pains, however, we failed, after having wasted some valuable weeks which were sorely needed for carrying out the programme of the Session.

After Whitsuntide there was depression in our ranks, and, still worse, some symptoms of discontent broke out. Indeed, that sort of disintegration set in which might break up even a large majority such as ours still was. Nevertheless, the attempt to pass the licensing clauses was maintained for a time. the frequent Divisions which occurred, our majority became less and less. At length on one afternoon in July it dwindled down to four only. Not only had the licensing clauses to be abandoned, but also the main measures of the Session relating to Tithes and Land Purchase had for the moment to be sacrificed, as no time remained for proceeding with them. Our Party had yet to complete a goodly portion of its general policy within a limited number of Sessions. The fact of one Session being for the most part lost, that is,

bereft of its two principal measures, was, in moral effect, a heavy blow.

Yet there were some circumstances of a reassuring character. Mr. Balfour's administration in Ireland had proved successful beyond all previous experience, and was hailed as a political triumph. It had been formally challenged by the Opposition just at the lowest ebb of our fortunes in the summer. But it was affirmed by a majority of ninety-five, showing that on a fair field for fighting we still had full parliamentary force. Foreign Affairs had been conducted with a grandeur that maintained British influence all over the world. The agreements with Germany and with France in Africa not only consolidated the British Empire, but strengthened the bonds between us and two great European Powers. Lastly, the administration by Mr. Goschen of the finances had given much satisfaction to public opinion.

After all that had happened in the summer, nothing remained but to pass many lesser measures of which the utility was admitted by nearly all Members, and to complete the votes in Supply so that prorogation might take place by the middle of August.

In consequence of the mishaps in the Session of 1890 the following Session instead of beginning normally in February 1891, began abnormally at the end of November 1890—to be carried on till Christmas and then, after a short adjournment, to be resumed in January 1891.



So we reassembled on the 25th of November 1890, and heard a Speech from the Throne. The two Bills of the last Session for Tithes and for Irish Land Purchase were at once reproduced. We were threatened with evil days in the coming wintertide, as the Opposition had been encouraged by the events of the last summer. But suddenly a new conjuncture arose to paralyse them and to proportionably relieve us. A case in the law courts compromised Mr. Parnell personally. Opposition, both leaders and followers, at once became too much occupied with their internal difficulties to trouble the Ministerialists. So we passed the Address in reply to the Crown in a single night, a stroke of good fortune unheard of in our experience. The two large Bills were read a second time without much ado, and to our glad surprise we adjourned after a fortnight's sitting.

When we reassembled in January 1891, the first business was the passing of the Tithes Bill into law. Then the Irish Land Purchase Bill entered on its Committee stage. After lasting for several weeks, it was passed by midsummer.

Meanwhile, Mr. Goschen had introduced his fifth Budget in April. At the end of his statement he informed us that the surplus would be applied to compensating Voluntary Schools for the abolition of fees. Though "Free Education" was thought to be in the air, this was the first definite notice we had of it.

The Bill for "Free Education" was introduced towards the end of June and passed early in July, a rare instance of legislative promptitude. This was largely owing to the dexterity evinced by Mr. W. H. Smith as Leader. The measure was, however, sharply challenged during its passage. The principle of it was objected to by those Conservatives who had paid attention to educational affairs. When the Government had committed themselves to a measure before the House, most Conservatives were prepared to acquiesce in the second reading, in the hope of obtaining good terms for the Voluntary Schools. Some Conservatives, however, of whom I was one, had repeatedly made declarations the other way, and had actually given votes in Divisions as against the principle. We felt bound to resist the second reading, even though we should form but a small minority; Mr. Bartley moved the rejection, and about ten of us went with him into the Division-lobby. Once we had made up our minds that assent could not be given, I, for one, was strong for going to a Division, however scanty our numbers might be. I was naturally sorry to vote against my Party, but occasions will sometimes arise when men must do this, and here was one of that nature. It was well for the House and the country to see that, on a crucial test of consistency, Members will not swerve from their line of conduct.

It was now time to close the Session, which had

lasted for nearly eight months. So the votes in Supply were concluded, and the House was prorogued in the first week of August. The last days of our sittings were brightened by the news that the disputes between our nation and the United States, in regard to seal-catching in the North Pacific, had been submitted to arbitration. Some time after our rising we were grieved rather than surprised on hearing that our Leader, Mr. W. H. Smith, had succumbed to mortal illness.

On our re-assembling in February 1892, under our new Leader, Mr. Balfour, there was a general belief that this, the sixth year of the present Parliament, would be the last. By law there might be yet another Session after this one, and some of us thought that there ought to be. Our majority, though diminished as such majorities always are by bye-elections during the course of a Parliament, was still very large. The unity of our allied Party was unbroken; and much of our original policy still remained to be undertaken. But for reasons, felt rather than expressed, men had settled their opinion that a General Election would take place in the next summer, and had made their arrangements in their constituencies accordingly. Once this process had set in, there would be difficulty in keeping a Party together for any large enterprise within the walls of the House. One reason was this that the principal measure of the Session, the Local Government Bill for Ireland, was not really liked by the Conservatives. On principle they were bound to support its second reading, but they dreaded many of its details. On the other hand, the Nationalists were sure to resist it all round. So our Leaders must have doubted whether the Party could be depended upon to fight the contests that would arise on the Committee stage.

The Bill was introduced at once, proposing concessions, privileges, powers, respecting local administration for the Irish people. But then elaborate precautions had been framed to guard against the abuse of these advantages. The Nationalists immediately denounced these precautions as insults. Evidently the details would cause exhaustive discussions in the Committee stage. If then the Bill was to be carried, not a day was to be lost in pressing forward the second reading, so as to enter on the contentious details as soon as possible. Instead of that, the Government proceeded with an Agricultural Holdings Bill, important and interesting no doubt, but not of any difficulty. second reading of the Irish Bill was delayed till past the middle of May; but this delay was taken to mean that the Bill was to be a declaration of principle rather than a measure to be passed into law. Our Leader had adroitly parried many interpellations as to whether there would be a Dissolution in the summer; but all men on both sides were convinced that there would be. The second reading was carried by a large majority, as the last of the majorities which our party had been victoriously displaying for six years. Then in the middle of June Mr. Balfour quietly announced the Dissolution as a foregone conclusion. At the end of that month the good and great Parliament, elected in 1886, sat for the last time.

CHAPTER XIV.

(1887-1892.)—LIFE IN THE COMMONS.

Jubilee of the Queen's reign—Service in St. Margaret's church—Scene in Westminster abbey—Character of House 1887 to 1892—Opposition and Obstruction—Work with "the Old Guard"—Attendance in Divisions—Nocturnal sittings and morning walks—Drives from Westminster to Hampstead—Routine of labour—Service on Committees—Educational work—Superannuation of Teachers—Hartington Commission—Party meetings the Carlton Club—Parliamentary comrades—Guests in precincts of House—Hours of business—Resign Seat Worcestershire—Accept candidature Kingston Division of Surrey.

THE events of a comparatively long Parliament have been summarised, as they affected me and my parliamentary comrades. Apart from all that, however, I had an individuality, with a life of my own to lead.

In the midst of the Session of 1887, the Jubilee of the Queen's Reign afforded a charming episode. An important preliminary was the service in St. Margaret's, the historic church of the Commons, on the 22nd of May. Together with my comrades I stood in Westminster Hall lined by the Westminster Volunteers under the command of a Member of our House, Colonel, now Sir Charles, Howard Vincent. The Members paired off in a long procession, the rival Leaders Mr. W. H. Smith and Mr. Gladstone being the first pair. The sermon



was preached by the Bishop of Ripon, Dr. Boyd-Carpenter. It gave an account of the last quarter of the nineteenth century; the tendencies and aspirations, the faults and foibles, the virtues and merits being all depicted as with the hand of a limner.

The celebration of the Jubilee was to take place on Tuesday, June the 21st, so we had a very late sitting on the Monday night. After that I walked from Westminster to my lodging in St. James' Place by broad daylight on Tuesday morning. I found the multitudes, who had happily been to bed and had risen betimes, already taking up their places to view the show and the procession. After a very few hours in bed, I rose and walked back to Westminster through the street, which was hung across with band after band of light stuff. Each band bore an inscription. The sum-total of the inscriptions was stirring and imperial—the British Isles—the Indian Empire—the Colonies and Dependencies-in Europe-in America-in Asia-in Africain Australia—in Australasia—salute thee—Victoria our Queen!

In the Abbey I ascended to the gallery for Members of the Commons, on the left side of the Royal Dais near the Altar. Thence I heard the solemn and impressive service in the presence of all that was best, brightest and greatest in the land. The effect of the galleries crowded with brilliant life, high up aloft amid the grey stone architecture, was striking to the eye. Still more

impressive to the mind was the thought of the varied interests in a world-wide Empire, which these crowds represented, and of the genius, valour, learning, status, enterprise, which they contained. Beyond all was the unique contemplation of the august figure, the centre of the whole spectacle. Such a sight could be seen but once in the lifetime of the spectators, and has been beheld but very rarely in the past ages. The service was hardly over when I descended from our gallery in order to obtain a view of the Royal Procession leaving the Abbey. In that exalted company the Crown Prince of Germany was conspicuous, quite a heroic form. I thought of this a year later, while listening to Mr. Gladstone's pathetic oration in the Commons on his death as Emperor.

I had full time for estimating the character of the House, elected in 1886 and lasting to the middle of 1892. I was thankful to find that my estimate was high, when the total of considerations had been summed up. Though some Members might possibly be judged in some quarters as being below the Parliamentary mark, yet on the whole the composition of the Assembly was excellent, was worthy of an imperial nation, and did represent the best elements in our people. I was agreeably surprised at the varied and all-embracing knowledge possessed by the House at large. Outside divinity and theology—there was hardly a subject whereon we could not produce some Member who would make a speech of



practical authority. Though many Members were lax or slack in their attendance, and others were distracted by professional avocations—yet, on the whole, the attention of the House to its arduous and often harassing duties was exemplary. Many Members indeed devotedly gave to their constituents and to their country unpaid labour, with a zeal which no remuneration could purchase. There was a moral electricity in the air of the House, exciting men to efforts which they would not otherwise have put forth. It caused them to forget fatigue at hours ordinarily allowed to mankind for repose.

I had often noted mocking allusions outside to rude scenes and violent language inside the House. No doubt such incidents did sometimes occur, and did lower the status of this exalted Assembly. Here and there a Member, or even a knot of Members, seemed intent on producing this result for some ulterior policy. Apart from all this, however, I learned that quietude, etiquette, punctilio, politeness, were the prevailing—though not the invariable—characteristics of the Commons. No doubt there was too much of conversation in undertone whilst the Debates were going on. With that exception, and possibly one or two exceptions besides, I never saw more courteous manners among gentlemen than among the Members as a rule.

I frequently listened to diatribes against Obstruction, indeed no theme was more common. I found, however,

that the word was used in a partisan sense by each Party from its own point of view. It was generally confounded with legitimate opposition. If Liberals or Nationalists deemed Conservative policy oppressive, they might frustrate it by all the means which the Rules of the House allowed. The Conservatives or Unionists might do likewise, if they thought Liberal or Nationalist policy to be dangerous. The most effective resource for such frustration was to interpose delays or obstacles at every turn, with all the ingenuity derivable from study and practice. I perceived that if a Party is justified in opposing at all, the justification clearly extends to the use of such means. Indeed these were plentiful under the then existing Rules, and would be so under any Rules that could reasonably be framed. But opposition may go beyond these means, or may abuse the Rules, and then it would become Obstruction in an invidious sense. Now, much in the conduct of our opponents, which our men often called Obstruction, was only legitimate opposition as above defined. Some of it, however, did constitute a clear and sheer abuse of the Rules, and did amount to flagrant Obstruction.

The self-imposed task on the part of myself and others as men of "the Old Guard" has been already mentioned. It was discharged unremittingly to the last, and that, too, in unbroken silence, as regards speech-making. We sat behind our Chiefs to sustain them, our voices being raised only to cheer for them



at the right moment, or to protest against unseemly attacks on them. When the House was full and our benches had plenty of occupants, then indeed we might resort for a brief while to the Library, the Tea-room or the Terrace. But when the House was empty, then some of us were always at our post, like sentries behind the Minister, who thus was never left unsupported.

In the Division-lobbies I fulfilled the intention formed by me soon after entering Parliament in I took part in all the Divisions with but few exceptions, that is in over ninety-eight per cent. of the whole, or in 2,072 out of total 2,118 during the Parliament. One of my comrades, General Goldsworthy, performed much the same feat. Had inquisition been made, I could have accounted for every Division I missed. In very few instances my absence was caused by sickness. But I was somewhat handicapped, so to speak, by my duties on the School Board for London, which inexorably called me away now and again. On Thursday afternoons, when the Board had its weekly sittings, I used to be driving backwards and forwards along the Victoria Embankment between the School Board offices and the House-trying to keep my engagements in both places. One afternoon in July, 1890, after I had been for several hours busy in the House, my presence was urgently needed on the Board. I had to make my final reply in the debate there on my Budget,

an affair affecting the ratepayers of the whole Metropolis. The Whips assured me that I might safely go; and after verifying the details of the business before the House, I thought that the assurance might be accepted. So I went, did the needful at the Board, and returned to the House just before the appointed time. At that moment however our opponents had dropped some of the business before the House in order to precipitate a "snap" Division. I rushed towards the door of the chamber, but arrived only at the instant when it was being shut in my face.

The all-night sittings of 1887, the anger and excitement kept alive like embers through the small hours, and then the cool in the morning to refresh the nerves before going to bed-will not be forgotten by me and by others who took part in these proceedings. Memory has, however, a fascinating power to soften even rough associations. Strange to say, after the lapse of years I look back with pleasure to my strolls across St. James' Park in the summer mornings after the night sittings before going to bed. For the moment my weariness was dissipated by the balmy freshness of the air, the amber sky, the sparkling foliage, the stillness of man in the vast Metropolis not yet awake, the silence of all voices save those of the birds. The summer that year was extraordinarily fine, and I said to myself-how much do my countrymen, of many classes, miss who fail to enjoy the climate with



which Providence has blessed them on such summer morns as these.

The termination of my work in the House soon after midnight by the Rules of 1888, was a grateful Previously it had been impossible to go home to my house on Hampstead Heath, and I had occupied lodgings in St. James' Place. But in 1888 and afterwards, I used to go home to Hampstead at night, in company with my friend Mr. Ambrose, Queen's Counsel and Member for Harrow, who lived near me on the Heath. We had to drive late at night for more than five miles with a gradual ascent of four hundred feet. When not overcome by sleep, we used to discuss the events of the sitting we had left. Sometimes in wintry weather, when the ascent to Hampstead was snow-clad or ice-bound, our way was tedious. One night we had to start just after a blizzard had piled up snowdrifts in many places. Our vehicle struggled as far as Euston, but was obliged to halt there at the Station Hotel about three o'clock in the morning. As we presented ourselves at that untimely hour without luggage, the night-porter required a deposit of ten shillings from each of us before giving us bedrooms. The apologies of the manager to us the next morning were amusing to hear.

At the best, however, the life was somewhat too busy, if the Session should be long and the Recess short, as would be too often the case. For four nights

in the week I hardly lay down to sleep before two o'clock in the morning. I had to rise at eight and answer correspondents—who with Members are ever numerous—and to drive down again to Westminster by noon for attendance either at the School Board or at the House for Committee work. Then I stayed in the House till past midnight as before. On Wednesday evenings, being free from the House, I usually had to make a speech somewhere outside. On Saturday evenings I had social avocations in London. On Sunday evenings alone was there any repose; but even then I sometimes broke my rule of quietude. One Sunday evening, for example, I gave a lay address on Palestine to over a thousand factory women. I was soon afterwards asked to give another address to a mixed congregation, and as an inducement to accept, I was promised an audience of at least two thousand. I was obliged to reply that, after the fatigues of the week, I had not strength to address so many as that on the Sunday evening. During two consecutive summers I delivered several lay addresses to large bodies of working men in the City of London. This work used to be after their dinner hour on Thursdays, and formed a hard prelude to my business on those afternoons first on the School Board and then in the House.

Towards the close of each Session the days and the nights, notwithstanding the new Rules, used to be nearly as bad as ever. The Nationalists would know



that the completion of the votes of money on Supply must be effected by a certain date. Therefore they would try to wring concessions from us which we must refuse. So our only resource for beating down these attempts was to suspend the midnight Rule, to sit up all night, and to work out the debates all day till we were prorogued.

This absorption in Parliamentary work not only cut me off from the London society to which I had become accustomed, but also prevented my accepting invitations of importance or of remarkable interest. Several of these have been mentioned in previous chapters, but I may here note some more. On a busy evening I received a telegram from Sir Augustus Harris asking me to dine with him at the Burlington Hotel to meet Jean and Eduard de Reszké. Owing to the exigencies of the Division-lobby I was unable to avail myself of this tempting proposal. I was often asked to exhibit my pictures in oil and in water, of many lands, as a life's work in hours spared from sterner pursuits; but I was never able to do so. I was sorry to miss the chance of attending at the Pan-Anglican assemblage of bishops from all parts of the But I managed to be with the House of Laymen in the final procession in St. Paul's Cathedral when I marched in a pair with Mr. Round, Member of Parliament for Essex, and immediately behind the late Earl of Selborne.

I did not speak during what might be termed the Irish and Scotch debates, nor in any debate where the Ministers were pressed for time. Yet there were occasions when some reply was required from me to arguments which others had used, and when I could speak with authority. I desired to speak only when I could offer some notable statement, or might hope to make some impression. I used to have these speeches reprinted from Hansard's official reports. I have about twenty-five of them for these six Sessions. They cover some considerable ground—chiefly educational at home, India, Russia in Central Asia, Egypt, the Soudan, the African slave trade, the Polynesian labour, abroad.

I carefully kept up my journal of four pages a day for the proceedings of the House throughout these Sessions. I penned a series of memoranda regarding the representative or typical Members in all quarters of the House. I had the daily reminders, technically called Whips, bound up for each Session.

I served much on Committees from noon till four in the afternoon. From the first I was placed on the Public Accounts Committee, one of some difficulty, and on the Grand or Standing Committee on Law, which by devolution had to consider several Bills of importance. In some cases Committees were appointed to determine between conflicting interests. Each side would be allowed to name one of the Members. In this way I was chosen to represent the City of London

in two instances, one relating to the compensation for improvements near the Holborn Viaduct, the other concerning the obligations of some among the City Guilds in Londonderry. Once I was chosen to represent the Liverpool Corporation in reference to the Mersey Docks; once also to represent the Local Government Board respecting some affairs of the Manchester Ship Canal. I was appointed to serve on the Committee upon some railway and tramway projects in the Metropolitan area. I served on several Select Committees-notably on the one which reported to Parliament on the proposed Constitution of Western Australia, which probed to its very basis the political geography in the whole Australian Continent, and from which I gained a knowledge of the social and climatic forces now moving there. Similarly, I acted on the Committees which investigated the financial transactions in London concerning the mines in the Deccan of India, and the position of the telephone companies in regard to the State.

My position on the School Board for London gave me inside Parliament just the qualification I needed. Consequently on educational questions I received the attention which the House always accords to Members who speak on the work in which they are engaged. This work was of growing importance and I was in the very thick of it. Naturally I availed myself of the advantage which thus fell to my lot.

I was in frequent communication with the National Union of Teachers, the body representing a great profession scattered throughout the country. I also conferred with several bodies of Secondary Teachers, especially the College of Preceptors, which had its headquarters in London, and on behalf of which Mr. Hodgson communicated with me most effectively.

I obtained a second reading in the House to a Bill for the Registration of Secondary Teachers, with an order that the Bill be referred to a Select Committee, on which I served, and which conducted a full enquiry. In like manner I obtained a second reading for a Bill for the Superannuation of Teachers under the School Board for London, with an order that it be referred to a Select Committee. Another measure, mainly for Teachers in Voluntary Schools, was brought forward, and that was referred to the Committee of which I was elected Chairman. Thus the question before us embraced the Superannuation of all the Elementary Teachers in England and Wales. Our sittings extended over two Sessions, with actuarial as well as administrative enquiries. Literally by the sweat of my brow, I got the Report of this Committee complete just in time before the Dissolution was announced. In consultation with the teachers at large, as chiefly represented by the National Union of Teachers, I exerted myself from year to year for the improvement of the Educational Code, with special reference to modifying the system popularly



known as "payment by results of individual examintion." With this view I introduced a Resolution into the House one evening, and obtained a favourable recognition of the principle from the Minister of Education.

I was a Member of the Royal Commission over which the Marquis of Hartington (now the Duke of Devonshire) presided, and which investigated the constitution of the Admiralty and of the War Office, together with the relation of these two great Departments towards each other. The desire for this investigation arose partly from the strictures on our military system made in the House by the late Sir Walter Barttelot and by other critics, among whom Mr. (now the Right Honorable) Robert Hanbury was conspicuous. Further, I was on the Committee for revising the organisation of the Military Colleges at Sandhurst and Woolwich.

These various duties and enquiries materially aggravated the burden of my parliamentary life. But as the field covered by them was wide, the enlargement of experience was in proportion thereto. At that time I thirsted for the knowledge which was thereby obtainable. Thus the consciousness of self-culture more than repaid me for the labour I underwent.

Among the memorable circumstances of this Parliament were the Party Meetings at the Carlton Club, when the Conservative Members of the Lords and

Commons were present. The convening of us all in the library of that renowned club was, in each instance, on account of some conjuncture. Lord Salisbury, as Prime Minister, used to address us respecting the situation with infinite tact and skill. The handsome and ornate surroundings, the concourse of famous parliamentarians, the atmosphere electrical with anxiety, the consciousness of momentous issues at stake—made the memory of these scenes ineffaceable. Sometimes we separated in joyous contentment with the conclusions arrived at. Once, however, perhaps even twice, I listened trembling for my Cause, or for my Party, and felt forebodings when the assembly broke up.

With very many Private Members who sat on my side of the House, and with many who sat on the other side also, I formed close and happy relations. With my immediate comrades, in whose company I did and endured much for several years, I cemented a friend-ship which will be of a lasting nature. One of our Nationalist opponents kindly told me that I had never made an enemy since I had been in the House. I humbly hoped that he might be right in this opinion. Certainly, never once either inside or outside the House, had I been personally attacked.

Despite its over-pressure and distractions, the life had some amenity. In the afternoons, say between half-past two and four o'clock, I could often snatch a little time to show my friends, either political from



my own constituency, or personal from the Metropolis, round the House. I would conduct them over the sights, historical, antiquarian, architectural, of the Palace of Westminster. A capital chance was thus afforded of explaining to my supporters and fellowthinkers the situation of parliamentary affairs at the moment, and the attitude of the principal politicians in respect thereto. Sometimes I would entertain a small party at tea on the Terrace, while many other Members In the finest afternoons of were doing the same. summer, these numerous parties going on simultaneously made up quite a large Reception given by the Commons, and constituted one of the gay social scenes of London. The bright performances were, however, usually interrupted by the Division-bell, which caused a stampede of the hosts leaving the guests in amazement. I sometimes joined dinner-parties in the House, but there again the Division-bell would ring us up from dinner to rush towards our places in the Chamber.

Mindful of the manifold engagements to be kept by me, I husbanded my strength as much as possible. Still the hours of work differed for the worse from those in which I had been officially bred and brought up. There was no more the salutary rule of early to bed and early to rise—of open-air exercise as the sun peered above the horizon—of the best work in the day being done before breakfast—of business being closed for the evening with outdoor movement at

British energy for its most imperial manifestations. Instead of that, there was a comparatively late rising after a short night's rest, such exercise as could be obtained at intervals between engagements before noon, then work from noon lasting, with but slight intermission, till past midnight. Thus the change of habit was disadvantageous to a man of my antecedents.

Apart from the Parliament of 1886, where I was mainly a spectator—this Parliament from 1886 to 1892, where I was a worker, comprised a term of six years in my active life. The arduous portions of my previous life had happened to be divided into similar spaces of time. I looked back on my six years in the Panjab Secretariat 1854-60, six years as Chief Commissioner 1862-8, six years as Finance Minister 1868-74, six years as Governor 1874-80. I instinctively compared these busy periods with the period of this Parliament; and I thought that, hard as those were, this was harder In those there was more of noble anxiety, of exalted hope, of real crisis, of solid success. In this there was more of worry and flurry, of carking care, of vanity and vexation. Yet in this I never grudged the personal sacrifice, or the waste of nervous force and of brain-tissue—for the sake of the pride and ambition in doing what I did, of seeing and hearing all that I saw and heard.

During the Recess in the autumn of 1891, I was



obliged to relinquish the candidature for my Worcestershire constituency at the General Election, then expected within the next twelve months. Since May I had, in common with many among my comrades, been suffering from the epidemic influenza of that time. Nevertheless I had been in everyone of the four hundred and fifty Divisions of that Session without any exception. Recovery under such circumstances was hardly to be hoped for; and whenever I had made any speech in the House, I drove home after midnight coughing all the way to Hampstead. I was advised that if after that I were to undertake an electoral campaign, from village to village in a large tract of country, I might break down or lose my voice. My good friends, with Lord Coventry at their head, formally thanked me for my seven years' service with them, and hoped that I might soon become well enough to resume service in some other consituency. My life-long ally, Sir Edmund Lechmere, then Member for another Division, came forward with much public spirit to fill my place at some sacrifice to himself. He kept the seat for our Cause after a sharp contest. At a banquet given by the Party at Evesham in his honour, I testified, with peculiar knowledge, to his merits. On that festive evening we little thought that ere long his sudden death, just as he was about addressing the constituents, would inflict upon us a most grievous loss.

Late in the autumn, of 1891, I was so far recovered

as to be able to accept an invitation from the electors of the Kingston division of Surrey to succeed their popular Member, Sir John Whittaker Ellis, who was retiring. The Chairman of their Committee was my friend Mr. Walter Wilkinson. They considerately said that, in their limited and densely-peopled area, I need not attempt campaigning, and that, after making some general speeches to select audiences, I might resort to the south of Europe for the winter, till the meeting of Parliament early in 1892, as the General Election was not expected till the summer of that year.

CHAPTER XV.

(1892-96.)—PARLIAMENT FROM 1892 TO 1895 AND CONCLUSION.

My election Kingston—Meeting of House August 1892—Defeat of Conservative Ministry—Mr. Gladstone succeeds—Session 1893—Home Rule Ireland Bill passed through Commons by "guillotine" process—Rejected in Lords—Autumn sitting for District and Parish Councils Bill—Protracted into 1894—New Session in March—Resignation of Mr. Gladstone—Sir William Harcourt leader—New Death Duties—Irish Tenants' Bill in Commons—Rejected in Lords—Session 1895—Bill relating to Church in Wales—Ammunition for Army—Resignation of Lord Rosebery's Ministry—Unionist Ministry under Lord Salisbury—Dissolution of Parliament—I resign my seat—Privy Council—Royal Society.

ON the day that Parliament was dissolved at the end of June 1892, I addressed the electors at Kingston the headquarters of my Division of Surrey. I had an excellent agent in my friend Colonel Vaughan Thompson. The "campaigning" was, for a county or rural division, unusually easy in respect to locomotion. In an hour and a half I could drive from one extremity of my area to another. The localities were among the pleasantest places of the earth, and were frequented by holiday-makers and visitors. The season was the finest of the whole year in the open air. The speech-making at the several centres of electoral activity went off smoothly enough. I based my case not on theory, or

on promises, or on programmes for the future, but on proved performance. I cited categorically all that my Party had done during the past six years, as a guarantee of what it would do if returned to power for another term. My relations with the opposing candidate were entirely amicable. One noteworthy incident occurred, which was in this wise. On a Monday I was to address a meeting in the handsome and ornate Assembly Rooms at Surbiton, a residential locality of much beauty and brimful of my supporters. Late at night on the preceding Saturday there had been a free fight between a set of my employees or supporters with a set of similar persons on the other side. My set proved to be the more hard-fisted of the two, and in revenge for this the Radicals determined to disturb the Monday meeting. On the interruption occurring, my friends undertook the ejection of the disturbers, a process which was called "chucking out." Before being ejected, however, the disturbers did damage to the seats of the Rooms, for which I had to pay, returning the expense in my Election accounts as damage done by Radicals to the cushions in the Surbiton Assembly Rooms. It was a triumphal scene for me on Saturday the 16th of July, when the result of the poll was declared in the crowded square of Kingston, on a market day, with all the cheers of my friends overcoming the counter-demonstrations of my opponents. The High Sheriff of Surrey who presided over the counting of the votes, and made

the declaration of my being duly elected, was Mr. Brand. He had, when travelling in the East, been my guest at Calcutta.

The new Parliament met in the beginning of August, and the Conservative or Unionist Party was known to be in a minority. Indeed Mr. Gladstone and his followers had a majority of forty. Nevertheless, Lord Salisbury's Government preferred to meet the Parliament instead of resigning beforehand. Mr. Gladstone then procured the passing of a hostile Resolution, just enough for the expulsion of our Government. It was a strange as well as a melancholy sight to see our two famous Whips, Mr. Akers-Douglas and Sir William Walrond—whom we had seen for several years advancing to the Table on the right after victorious Divisions—now standing on the left, as a sign of their being beaten at last. We were then released from attendance, leaving the House to the Gladstonian Party.

During this Parliament I persevered in writing four pages of Journal for each day that the House sat. I continued to send the weekly letter to the Conservative newspapers in my Surrey Constituency.

When the House reassembled early in 1893 under the leadership of Mr. Gladstone, with his Gladstonian followers and his Nationalist allies—we the Conservative Opposition naturally sat on the left side under Mr. Balfour our Leader. Our allies the Liberal Unionists,

277

however, occupied a quarter on the right or Ministerial side, under the leadership of Mr. Chamberlain. They maintained the same alliance with us in Opposition as that which had subsisted while we were in power. I and the men of the "Old Guard" sat on the corner, nearest the gangway, of the bench immediately behind the Front Opposition bench. This was the place the counter-part to that which we had occupied on the other or right side. But as our position was changed so were our tactics. Heretofore we had been on the defensive, and had spoken less; henceforward we should be on the aggressive, and have to speak much more.

The policy of the Gladstonians with their Nationalist allies had been sufficiently declared. Home Rule in some dangerous form would be undertaken. The disestablishment and disendowment of the Church in Wales would be attempted, as a preliminary to a similar measure against the Establishment throughout Great Britain. Other measures, which we regarded as gravely mischievous, would be introduced according to opportunity. Now, we had promised our constituents to oppose such a policy to the uttermost; and we had been returned to the House under the pledge of so doing. We had to fight the Ministers that were its authors with all the constitutional weapons that the Rules of the House might place in our hands. Rules would be neither strained nor abused, but we would do whatever might be fairly done under them.



This might at first sight seem to be hard doctrine. But it had been used against us in several Sessions, and we had borne it patiently. Therefore we had no compunction in applying it to those who had applied it to us. So the post of the "Old Guard" was given up, and instead thereof a "corner," as they called it, was established. Here was, figuratively, a battery on which guns were mounted to fire, not incessantly, but at the right moment. Here was an unfailing reserve of men who could be depended upon. It would not always claim a conspicuous place, when the House might be full, and there might be plenty of champions to fight. But it would fill up any gap that might occur, strengthening the line when the House might be thin, and ensuring a continuous front of opposition at the moment when slackness might otherwise be feared. The leader of our set was Mr. (now the Right Honorable) Robert Hanbury. His commanding stature, sonorous voice, and parliamentary aptitude marked him out for Leadership. Mr. Gibson Bowles was a constant supporter; Mr. Bartley afforded frequent help with massive force; co-operation was often afforded by the Right Honorable James Lowther, and other friends around lent assistance according to opportunity. The illustrated journals of the day depicted graphically what they termed "the new Fourth Party."

This organisation by Private Members was directed in the first place against a particular measure, namely,

Home Rule for Ireland, which was in the fore-front of Mr. Gladstone's policy. The Bill would consist of several Parts. Each Part would by itself be equal to a considerable Bill. Thus the so-called Bill would be really a group or bundle of Bills. Now we meant to demonstrate that such a Bill as this, with so small a majority as his against an allied Opposition like ourscould not be passed by Mr. Gladstone through the House of Commons in a single Session. He might possibly pass it in two Sessions, by a Special Resolution carrying on the unfinished Bill from one Session to another. Doubtless his Nationalist allies would not have objected thereto. But he dared not do this, because his British followers, hungering for the Newcastle Programme, would not have brooked the delay. So perforce he must pass the Bill in one Session if at all. We resolved, however, that he should not do this, and in the result, he did not. He might force it through the House by some extreme measure or some unconstitutional procedure in reference to a constitutional change like this. But passing it under the Rules of the House, even with all the advantages of closure, should be made impossible for him, and so it was.

This plan of resistance by Private Members was in general subordination to our Leaders in the allied camp. The Party Leaders for us would form the spear head, and would indicate the direction in which we were to

move. They would plot out the ground of which we were to fill in the details. Sometimes it might be convenient that we should begin with musketry, and that they should bring up the guns. At other times it might be better that they should lead the charge, and that we should support them by weight of numbers.

To all this there would be one general exception. Sometimes Mr. Gladstone's Ministry would be in the right, especially when resisting ultra-Radical proposals by their extreme followers. For such resistance, we would loyally support them in doing their duty. This had happened often in 1886 and would be happening again.

At this time I obtained an opportunity for formally introducing to the House a Resolution embodying the scheme for the Superannuation of Elementary Teachers in England and Wales, as contained in the Report of the Parliamentary Committee over which I had presided in the last Parliament. To my Resolution I was so fortunate as to obtain the unanimous assent of the House. This was indeed a red-letter day in my calendar. I had the pleasure to acknowledge heartily the generous assistance afforded on that occasion by the Ministers to me a Member of the Opposition.

I further exerted myself, both inside and outside Parliament, to promote the cause of extending the Parliamentary franchise to duly qualified women. I had mentioned the subject in my Election address, and had found many excellent persons of this class in my Surrey constituency.

Before and after Easter, I was for some weeks intensely occupied as Chairman of one of the Committees on certain Private Bills for material improvements in To this operous office I had been nominated England. by the House. The inquiries were of a quasi-judicial character, the interests at stake were vast, the ablest Counsel at the Parliamentary Bar pleaded before us, witnesses were cross-examined on the several contending sides. As Chairman I had to act almost like a presiding Judge; there were three colleagues as Members of the Committee, and I had the casting vote. The cases tried before us were the brine-pumping scheme for Cheshirethree schemes for utilising the Dartmoor water-supply for Plymouth, Devonport and the neighbourhood—the South Staffordshire water-works-and the Forest of Brecon. This business was, for the time, a grave addition to my Parliamentary duties. Later on I served on a Joint Commission of Lords and Commons for reporting on canal rates in England.

During the course of the Session, Mr. Gladstone, having obtained first reading for his Home Rule Bill soon after the middle of April, proposed to take the second reading before Easter. The Opposition objected to this, insisting that the constituencies should have time for digesting the scheme. Meanwhile there were



many votes of money which must be passed before the end of March and these required much discussion. In vain did Mr. Gladstone struggle with the meshes in which he thus became entwined. For example, in March he proposed that there should be a Saturday sitting, which was indeed an abnormal and unpopular step. This contentious proposal had to be debated, so the debate lasted all Friday afternoon. On the Saturday little was gained in the way of business, less indeed than what might have been gained on the Friday without contention. As a leading newspaper remarked at the time, all Friday was spent in winning Saturday, and then the progress on Saturday failed to compensate for the delay on Friday.

The Home Rule Bill entered on the Committee stage early in May, and then the real struggle began. The Opposition Leaders, Conservative and Unionist in combination, conducted the warfare superbly well. But one of them pertinently remarked to us that they could not do all the fighting. We replied that they might depend on our doing battle also. Not only every line, but sometimes almost every word, of the Bill contained dangerous or disputable matter. So we Private Members used to meet in one of the Conference Rooms of the House, study the amendments on the paper, settle how to maintain them, and if necessary add fresh ones.

We were amused by the petulant impatience of those Gladstonian Members who had entered Parliament but recently. They said, in effect, that the majority must rule, and should summarily put down our opposition. We rejoined that during the last Parliament when our Party was in power, we had been opposed precisely in the same way although our majority was large, whereas theirs was now small—that no Party in power would be allowed by an Opposition, nearly as numerous as itself, to press a most contentious measure through the House with a rush. We were bound, however, to pay to them a tribute of praise for their punctuality and fidelity in attendance, and their silent patience often under what they must have regarded as argumentative provocation.

Still as the Rules were never abused, and as the Government freely applied the closure, the car of the Bill jogged and rumbled over the ruts slowly but steadily. About midsummer, enough of the Bill, nearly one third, was passed, as much as would be equal to a first-rate measure of constitutional importance. Such progress as that, however, did not suffice for Mr. Gladstone's followers and allies. So on the 30th of June he caused a "guillotine" Resolution to be passed, fixing the 29th of July for the termination of the Committee stage.

On the last night for the application of this "guillotine" process, I witnessed a strange commotion in the House. Just as the Division was being called by the Chairman, some expressions were applied by a Nationalist Member to our ally Mr. Chamberlain, to which our men objected, as a point of Order. They



demanded redress from the Chair, but nevertheless the Division proceeded. Thereon they resolved—and I was one of them-not to go to the Division lobby till the point of Order had been heard. So we sat on our benches in serried ranks, with our hats over our eyebrows and our arms folded. One of the Gladstonians crossed over to sit on our front Opposition bench, and this caused a slight—but only a very slight—disturbance. The stir, once begun, grew and waxed apace every moment. Many Nationalist Members came on the scene, and so the crowd thickened. Men swayed backwards and forwards with a rush and crush among the benches. For some seconds there was a risk of physical injury happening. We kept our seats in silence, till the tumult suddenly subsided. The Speaker was then called in, whereon our men explained from their places the origin of the trouble and repeated the expressions to which they had objected. The Member, who was thus complained of, then apologised to the House. Thereon the Division took place just as if nothing had The occurrence caused much comment outside the House, and the commotion was in itself deplorable. Still it arose on a point of Order, which was successfully vindicated and satisfactorily settled.

In August the Report stage of the Bill was entered, and then contested in the same manner as the Committee stage had been. Mr. Gladstone caused the "guillotine" process to be applied to that stage also,

and a date was fixed for the third reading. In one of his closing speeches he alluded to the herculean labours which had been imposed on him. Pointing to us with outstretched arm, he said impressively that in all his long experience he had never known such unremitting opposition as that which had been offered by honorable gentlemen opposite. Instantly we burst into hilarious cheering, which seemed to disconcert him. Apparently he thought that we should be dismayed by his severe reproach. But on the contrary we took it as the highest compliment to our prowess and power. Indeed it was an emphatic testimony, from the highest source, that we had done what was believed by us to be our duty. I said to myself "fas est et ab hoste"—not doceri, but—laudari.

Thus the Bill left the Commons, with the sanction of a majority of only thirty-four, and with more than half of its clauses undiscussed, on the night of the 1st of September. It went on to the Lords at once; but by that time the certainty of its fate there had been ascertained, and we openly said that it was going to its death. Driving home that night I saw a Radical multitude, apparently consisting of the London Irish in the humbler class, walking about the streets and cheering.

On Friday, the 8th of September, I was in the gallery of the House of Lords when the second reading of the Home Rule Bill was rejected. As Lord Salisbury rose to say the last words with all his incisive eloquence,

the spectacle was one of the most stately and beautiful I ever beheld. My contemplation rested on the magnificently ornate chamber, the closely-packed rows and lines of the Peers, the side galleries filled with ladies in summer costumes, the crowded audience at the Bar and at the foot of the Throne, the silent listening and the strained attention.

As I drove home late that night, the roll of long-continued huzzas was heard, oft and oft repeated and heartily sustained. I found that it was the cheering of the Londoners for Lord Salisbury, on his way to his own house, as their deliverer from Home Rule.

In the Commons it immediately became known that there would be an autumn sitting to pass a Bill for Local Government in England, that is for creating District and Parish Councils, as supplementary to the measure for County Councils passed by the late Government in the last Parliament. But the greater part of the votes in Supply remained for completion, and they had to be despatched somewhat hastily. So the adjournment took place in the third week of September.

During this year 1893, I wrote my book entitled "Life in Parliament," which was published by Mr. John Murray in the autumn. It described the House of Commons as seen from the green benches where I and my companions sat from 1886 to 1892 inclusive, and the life we led in the two Parliaments which existed

within this time, the one short and eventful, the other long and distinguished.

Early in November I attended in my place when Mr. (now Sir Henry) Fowler made his statement regarding the Bill for Local Government. A more judicious and conciliatory speech I never heard from a Minister of the Crown in Parliament. He had guarded the rights of the Church in parochial affairs. Thus his Bill made progress during several weeks. prospect of being concluded by Christmastide was quite But early in December some sections of the Gladstonian Party induced their Leaders to tack on to the Bill some Radical amendments. Immediately we began to resist these amendments and other cognate proposals. Then, evidently the Bill could not pass within the year. So there was a brief adjournment for Christmas, with an intimation that the Bill would be resumed immediately afterwards.

When we reassembled shortly after New Year's Day 1894, so sturdy was the opposition that the Bill was in danger of being lost altogether. But some understanding was arrived at between the Leaders on both sides. So the Bill passed through the Commons, to be shorn of its objectionable adjuncts by the Lords. On the 1st of March Mr. Gladstone delivered his final oration in the House of Commons—that arena in which he had long been the first of gladiators. The speech was a diatribe, and a philippic against the House of

Lords. Shortly afterwards his resignation became known, and we were prorogued till the 12th of March for the new Session of 1894.

The Session of 1893, or as it should be styled the Session of 1893-4, had lasted for a full twelvemonth, with but slight intermissions and adjournments, and with no autumn Recess worthy of the name. The duration was rare, if not unique, in the annals of Parliament for some generations, and the fatigues to us the assiduous Members were well-nigh unexampled. My health was suffering in consequence, and I decided not to seek re-election after the dissolution of this Parliament. I intimated this regretfully to my good constituents in Surrey.

When the new Session opened in the latter part of March, Lord Rosebery was the new Prime Minister, and Sir William Harcourt the new Leader in the Commons. Mr. Fowler was then transferred from the Local Government Board to the India Office as Secretary of State. I had the satisfaction of supporting him in that capacity. For certainly, in this and in the following Session, he vindicated the just interests of our Eastern Empire admirably well. Sometimes he repelled Radical attacks in a manner which carried much weight as coming from a Liberal Minister. Never has such defence been more hearty or effectually conducted. We were afterwards glad to see him honoured with the Star of India.

At this time I was asked by my friend Mr. Hanbury whether I would, if chosen by our colleagues, accept the Chairmanship of the Public Accounts Committee. I replied in the affirmative, as the work would familiarise me with the financial business of the House, and would place me in contact with the Audit Department, under Sir Charles Ryan, the Treasury, the accounts of the War Office, of the Admiralty, of the Civil Departments. But the business would be so onerous as to be incompatible with my duties on the School Board for London. I had already contemplated resigning my seat on that Board, and now I resigned it without delay.

After Easter the primary step was Sir William Harcourt's Budget which he introduced with perhaps the greatest speech ever delivered by him. That included the revision of the entire Death Duties on real and personal property. A Finance Bill was shortly afterwards produced, relating to several branches of taxation and embodying the full scheme for the new Death Duties.

After Whitsuntide this Bill entered the Committee stage, and a struggle began, similar in kind but less severe in degree as compared with that which had raged during the previous year. Our set and our Party believed the scheme to be unjust as a whole, to be cruelly hard in many respects, to be one which would be execrated by the widows and the fatherless in several classes of society, and to be beyond the requirements

of the national finance at that time. Mr. Hanbury and Mr. Bartley played their parts well, and I rendered what help I could. The labouring oar, however, was taken by Mr. Gibson Bowles. He had formerly been employed in the Department which collected the Death I never saw a Private Member devote himself with more effect to a particular measure than he did to this Bill. Other helpers were found among the Private Members. Mr. Grant Lawson, a man well versed in all that concerned the landed interest, Mr. Byrne and Mr. Butcher, both chancery barristers, all signalised themselves as incisive critics. Mr. Tomlinson, while acting perhaps independently, did yet in this, as in other great instances, help our Cause by well-aimed shots. At length the measure passed by the third week in July, and Sir William Harcourt was hailed as the hero of the Session, for having carried a Finance Bill of abnormal magnitude whatever its demerits might be.

Special attention was then given to the votes in Supply. Having by this time gained special experience in the military estimates, I was able to support Mr. Hanbury in criticising them. His services to economy with efficiency were signal on this occasion, which lasted over several days.

The rest of the Session was devoted to an attempt to pass a Bill for the benefit of certain Irish tenants. This being met by a resistance too stiff to be overcome under the Rules at the end of a Session, the "guillotine" process was adopted by the Ministers. Thereon our Leaders and Party decided to quit the House, and leave the Ministry to deal with the Bill as they liked. So our quarter of the House was abandoned, and one day Mr. Hanbury and I found ourselves the only persons seated in what was called "the desert of green benches." My comrades indeed generally abstained from voting in the divisions. But it was too great a strain on my Party loyalty to ask me to miss divisions, and to refrain from giving my vote on questions put to the House from the Chair. These questions related to addenda from the Nationalist quarter, making an objectionable Bill still worse. A due resistance to these was offered by the Ministers, and I was always with them in the Division lobby, on my principle of always supporting the opposite Party whenever they were in the right. The Bill, after passing the Commons in this irregular fashion, went to its death in the Lords where it was rejected on second reading. We then adjourned during the last week of August for the autumnal Recess.

During this Session I exerted myself repeatedly to protest against the treatment which France was inflicting on Siam, and the injury thereby accruing to British interests in the East. The leader in this movement was the Honorable (now the Right Honorable) George Curzon. Having recently travelled in that part of Asia, he urged the wrongs of Siam with graphic and

touching eloquence. Regarding Africa, I vindicated British interests up to Uganda, and beyond that to the Upper Valley of the Nile. I also made several attempts, but in vain, to save the Swazis and Swaziland from subjugation by the Boers.

When we re-assembled in February 1895 new Session, the air was thick with rumours of immediate Dissolution. During the Recess the Ministerial and Radical orators had vowed vengeance against the Lords. After all they had been saying, the Ministers were in consistency bound to produce some Resolution with this object at the beginning of the Session. then long delays must arise, interrupting the legislative business. Such embarrassments might precipitate the fate of the Ministry, as their majority was dwindling, from the defection of the Parnellite section of the Nationalists, the impatience of the Welsh Members, and the hostility of some among the Radicals. Our idea was that the Government would either be defeated straightway on the Address in reply to the Queen's Speech, or not at all. Should they survive that, they might go on during several months, inasmuch as they would command more than their normal majority on the Bill against the Church in Wales, which was to be the principal measure of the Session.

Accordingly they were challenged, but in vain, regarding their vaunted Resolution against the House of Lords. They were formally attacked in various

ways; but they overcame the attacks by very narrow majorities. They were then able to make progress with the votes in Supply, partly because their financial proposals for strengthening the Navy had pleased us on the Opposition side. Thus they found time before Easter for the second reading of their Bill for disestablishing and disendowing the Church in Wales, by a majority better than anything they had been accustomed to in this Parliament. Further, they obtained second reading to some Bills, especially an Irish Land Bill, in which the real struggle would supervene during the Committee stage; and a first reading to other Bills. All this we regarded as merely the flourishing of trumpets.

At the request of my friend Sir John Hibbert, Secretary to the Treasury, I accepted re-election to the Chairmanship of the Public Accounts Committee.

I was present when Mr. (now Viscount) Peel resigned the Speakership. The speech with which Mr. Peel took leave of us from the Chair, which he had long adorned, was a most impressive and dignified oration. I then saw Mr. Gully elected as Speaker.

Meanwhile my comrades and I had been diligently preparing for the actual conflict, which would take place during the Committee stage of the Church in Wales Bill about the beginning of May. In the fighting ranks of the Private Members there would be two



The first of these was the "corner," or knot of men among whom I was one, and who had sat at the end of the benches near the gangway since the beginning of this Parliament. The second was the "Church Brigade," a set of Members all leading Churchmen who sat in a committee room upstairs, with Sir Richard Webster as their Chairman and Mr. Griffith Boscawen as their convener and private Whip. This time, as at former times, the Leaders gave us to understand that they would lead indeed, but could not do all the fighting. We replied that they might rely on our steadfast cooperation in doing battle. So the campaign began; and after one night's sitting one line, out of a Bill many pages long, on another night two lines, on another night, three lines, would be passed. The subject was a noble one admitting of fine controversy. So we pressed many points of history, of tradition, of finance, of topography into the service of our argument.

Mr. Asquith, the Minister in charge of the Bill shewed exceeding ability and debating power, together with patience, forbearance and self-command, amidst the storm by which he was encompassed, and the logical missives with which he was pelted.

The arrangements among ourselves were interesting, and would sometimes have been amusing also, were it not for the sad gravity of the case. The "corner" men would sometimes ask Mr. Boscawen whether the "Brigade" would fight such and such an amendment

through to its end. If the "Brigade" would, then the "corner" might be quiet for a while. Sometimes the "Brigade," being exhausted for the moment, would ask the "corner" whether it would do the needful on such and such a point, which indeed would be unfailingly done. At one time we feared lest the speaking should fall too much on a few individuals. I myself had made twelve or more speeches in a few sittings, and some of my comrades had done still more. So we appealed to the "Brigade," fresh speakers reinforced us, and very welcome they were.

Towards the dinner hour, say from a quarter-past seven o'clock onwards, one or two of our "corner" menwere ever present. At that time the Private Member, in Opposition, has the best chance of checking the Ministerial proceedings if so minded. This was popularly called by our men "holding the fort." One evening it had been arranged that Mr. Hanbury and I should do this. Naturally confiding in us as stalwarts, several of our comrades, who meant to speak after the dinner hour, went away to dine. So we argued the case fully till half-past eight, till a quarter to nine, on the amendment under consideration, expecting every moment that the Chairman would rise as usual for dinner. Indeed, he was expected to rise soon after eight. But no; he sat steady, and the Minister was evidently bent on getting this amendment disposed of before dinner. It was nearly nine when we had fairly exhausted the argument, and nothing remained for us but to challenge a Division, whereon the Government defeated the amendment by their usual majority. Presently our comrades returned from dinner, ready to carry on the argument, but too late. Still in order to beat us thus far, the Minister had been obliged to retard the other business relating to the Bill for that evening.

All this while the Bill lay helpless at the mercy of the Opposition, like a dismasted vessel drifting about. The rest of the legislative programme was relegated to a dim future, and the position of the Government was in the air. Just before we adjourned for the Whitsuntide Recess on the 31st of May, I wrote the following passage in my Journal for that day, recorded before I could foretell the events which afterwards occurred— "It is thought that there is an increasing section of Liberals who regard the spectacle of Ministerial impotency in the Commons as the worst possible condition, and would prefer early or immediate dissolution before things get worse. I apprehend that they will, indeed must, struggle forwards. If they were to abandon their task now-thereby confessing that they could not pass their Bill against the Church in Wales, even through the Commons to say nothing of the House of Lords—that they could not go on with their Irish Land Bill, that they must leave the Newcastle programme re infectá, that they could not even think of their long-threatened Resolution against the House of Lords—then what would their position be? Surely doomed and fated at the General Election. And they must know this."

When we met after Whitsuntide, early in June, Sir William Harcourt was pressed with challenging questions. He answered like a man prepared for the worst. He had said incidentally that probably or possibly he would not be holding office in the following yearthough we were not sure whether he had said "probably" or "possibly." When towards the middle of June the Committee stage of the Bill against the Church in Wales was resumed, a difficulty approached more critical than any encountered. A section of the Welsh Members had proposed a set of amendments which from our point of view would mitigate some of the evils of the Bill: and our Party had resolved to support them. Apparently this would reduce the Government to difficulty. The first and least formidable of these two amendments came forward on Thursday, June the 20th; the second and more formidable was expected on the following Tuesday, the 25th. When the Division was taken at midnight on Thursday, the amendment was defeated by a majority of six only for the Government. This was indeed ominous; for it was naturally argued that the lot of the Government would be harder still on the following Tuesday. that day indeed our principal attack was to be delivered. That night, being lame, I leant on the arm of Sir



Richard Webster as we walked downstairs. Our conversation was to the effect that a canker was setting in among the Ministerialists.

Meanwhile an intermediate attack was being prepared for the next day, Friday the 21st. As that attack proved to be eventful in our Parliamentary annals, I heard it afterwards described as a casual or stray shot. In fact, however, it was, on the contrary, planned with deliberation. I first knew of it on the Wednesday the 19th, but, being unwell, doubted whether I could help. On Thursday Mr. Hanbury had a short conversation with me, explaining that on the morrow (Friday) the attack would relate to the insufficient supply of ammunition to the British Infantry, and that the Government might possibly be beaten. I reluctantly said I was too lame to procure papers from the Library, or to walk upstairs to a Committee-room. That night I heard that a Whip denoting urgency would be sent round. Entering the House on Friday afternoon I learned that "the counting in," that is the reckoning by the officials of our Whips of the Members who had entered on both sides, showed a small majority for the Government. So I feared that the old story would be once more repeated of a shot being carefully aimed and yet just missing the Feeling unequal to the effort of debating, I sat in a quiet nook of the House and listened. The attack was duly delivered by Mr. Brodrick and answered by

the War Minister, Mr. (now Sir Henry) Campbell-Bannerman. Then it was supported by our allied Leaders, Mr. Balfour, Mr. Chamberlain, Mr. Goschen, This circumstance, which was in truth very significant, did not, however, serve as a warning to Indeed our counsels had been well the Ministerialists. kept, notwithstanding the circulation of a Whip among a large number of Members. I heard how Sir William Harcourt was just then sitting on the Terrace at teatime on a lovely summer's afternoon, and saying that he was at rest because on that day at least there would be no political crisis. We went through the Division Lobby late in the afternoon, still believing that the Government had a small majority. I was sitting in my quiet nook watching the Whips advance to the Table. I saw a movement among them, and a change from one side to the other. Then it was perceived that our Whips were standing on the right or victorious side; and in a moment we heard the figures read out, shewing that the Government were in a small minority. was the effect of glad surprise on the frame, even in sickness, that, forgetting lameness, I rushed somehow to my old seat in our "corner" and joined with my comrades in cheering. We noted the blank pallor on the faces of the Ministers on this catastrophe.

In the twinkling of an eye the face of things inside the House was changed. The business of Supply being suspended, the Chairman left the Table and the Speaker ascended his Chair. Mr. Balfour calmly asked what business would be taken. Sir William Harcourt, with altered mien, dropped at once some darling measures which stood next on the Order of the day; and said that the Naval Works Bill would now be taken. A brief debate ensued, and among others I spoke on behalf of the new docks at Gibraltar, thankful that my last speech in this Parliament should be on so imperial a subject as that. This Bill being quickly passed, another Bill relating to Friendly Societies was taken; and at half-past ten Sir William Harcourt moved the adjournment of the House without a speech.

On the evening of the next day, Saturday, the 22nd, a Whip was circulated, from the tenour of which we feared that on Monday, the 24th, the Government might attempt to rehabilitate itself. On that day, however, Sir William Harcourt put us out of suspense by announcing the resignation of the Government. Then he formally bade farewell to his Leadership of the Commons. His utterance was pathetic as well as dignified; and we, his old opponents, cheered almost every one of his sentences in gentle and appreciative tones—mentem mortalia tangunt. On Wednesday, the 26th, we were officially informed that Lord Salisbury had accepted from the Queen the task of forming a new Ministry, and that there would be a Dissolution as soon as possible.

It was not till the beginning of July that the new

Unionist Government were in the saddle. Meanwhile we had leisure for reflecting upon the fall of the late Government. Among the reflections recorded in my Journal I find the following—"We likened their Ad-"ministration to a barque steering in strong currents "amid scattered reefs. We set up a rock here and a "rock there. If they avoided one, they might fall on "another. If they escaped both, we set up another "rock in front of them. If to avoid that they should "turn either to the right or the left, then we would "interpose other rocks to catch them. As it happened, "they were fatally caught somewhat earlier than we had "ventured to hope. Two obstacles had been arranged, "one for the Friday the other for the following Tuesday "-after they had narrowly escaped defeat on Thursday. "In order to steer clear of the coming Tuesday's obstacle, "which was most to be dreaded, they fell on to the "Friday's obstacle and were lost."

At this time the second son of the Amir of Caubul was sojourning in London. I had the honour of being commanded by the Prince of Wales to attend a banquet to be given by His Royal Highness at Marlborough House to the Afghan Prince. On that day the change of Ministry was taking place. Members of the Cabinets of Lord Rosebery and Lord Salisbury were present, as also many representative men from the several branches of the Imperial Service. Indeed, I never saw a dinner-party at which so many guests of fame and name

throughout the Empire were gathered together, as on this occasion under the Royal auspices.

On the 1st of July at the beginning of business I stood according to custom at the Bar of the House, with the Report of the Public Accounts Committee in my hand. I advanced along the Floor of the House to the Table bowing to the Chair. On presenting my Report I received the congratulations of the Speaker on the conclusion of my labours. I was greeted with cheers from friends on both sides of the House. Apparently they liked to see an old stager walking up with the last of his many Reports.

This day we had changed sides, and I took my seat in the place where the "Old Guard" used to sit. Among the Ministers, I rejoiced to see that the first to arrive, and sit on the Treasury Bench, was my old comrade Mr. Robert Hanbury (now the Right Honourable), the closest and best of my parliamentary friends.

The indispensable business, mostly financial, for winding up the Session in readiness for the Dissolution, was soon accomplished. At ten in the forenoon of Saturday, the 6th July, I attended to help in ensuring a quorum for the third reading of the Appropriation Bill. This over, I left the House of Commons, not to return, as I had declined to seek re-election, and had regretfully decided to bid farewell to my kind and valued constituents in Surrey.

For the ensuing fortnight I was actively occupied

in my late constituency of Kingston, in advocating the candidature of my successor, Mr. Skewes-Cox, and in sustaining the Conservative Cause in that important part of Surrey. In due course the electors returned him with a very large majority. Then straightway I travelled to Leek in North Staffordshire, to join in speaking the last word before the polling-day.

My health then suffered for a time, but I partially recovered it in the Highlands of Scotland, which I visited with the kind offices of Viscountess Molesworth. and of the Dowager Lady Tweedmouth, the daughter of Sir James Hogg, who handed to me the college prizes in my Haileybury days. In England I always received valuable counsel respecting countless matters from my Bombay ally, Sir Gerald Seymour Fitzgerald, whose friendly regards I shall ever remember. ing to Kingston, I attended a large banquet given by the leading men throughout my late constituency in honour of me and of the sitting Member. Middleton, Mr. Brodrick, and other representative men of Surrey were present. The toast of my health was proposed by Mr. George Curzon (then the Right Honourable), my Parliamentary comrade. It was difficult for me to reply adequately to an eloquent commendation uttered by one of the rising orators of the day.

I received a communication from the National Union of Elementary Teachers in England and Wales,



expressing their regret at my withdrawal from Parliament, recounting the educational measures advocated or promoted by me in the Commons, and declaring that the Teachers would never forget my efforts for establishing Superannuation, which measure they would continue to associate with my name.

In the last days of 1895, I received a letter from Lord Salisbury, informing me that Her Majesty had been pleased, on my retirement from Parliament, to direct that I should be admitted to the Privy Council. On the 8th of February 1896 I had the honour of being invited, together with Mr. Stuart Wortley, to Osborne, to be sworn before Her Majesty as a Member of the Council, the Duke of Devonshire as President of the Council being present.

I then became eligible under the rules of the Royal Society to be elected a member of that illustrious body. I was thankful to be thus associated with the general cause of science, because at Calcutta and at Bombay, when I possessed the power, I had fought and striven for scientific instruction being afforded to the Natives of India. I was elected in March, and was formally admitted as a member at Burlington House on the 30th April, Sir Joseph. Lister being President and Lord Rayleigh Honorary Secretary.

END OF VOL. II.

INDEX.

Abdul, Latîf, service in Calcutta, i., 276 Aberdare, Lord, at Geographical Society, ii., 91 Aboo, Mount, view of, ii., 13 Address from Commons to Crown, ii., Address on Economic Science at Montreal, ii., 148 Aden, control of, ii., 6 — visit to, i., 15 Admiralty, Royal Commission on, ii., 268 Afghan, South, frontier readjusted, ii., 68 - war, ii., 88 Afghanistan, affairs of, ii., 29, 41 – first visit to, ii., 39 – second, ii., 47 Agra, Durbar at, i., 165 first visit to, i., 41-43 - Mogul capital, i., 37 return to, i., 47
Agricultural College, Bombay, ii., 24 - Holdings Act, ii., 253 Ahmedabad, visit to, ii., 8 Aikins, Mr., Lt.-Governor, Winnipeg, ii., 157-159 Aix la Chapelle Cathedral, ii., 127 Ajalon, moonlight at, Pr. x - visit to, ii., 121 Ajmere, visit to, ii., 13 Akber the Great, i., 42 —— his Minister, i., 43 Akers-Douglas, Mr., banquet to, ii., - Conservative Whip, ii., 276 Akyab, visit to, i., 125 Albany, in America, ii. - first visit to, ii., 164 - second, ii., 211 Albert Hall, School Board performance in, ii., 223 Alexander, Bishop of Derry, sojourn with, ii., 94 - Mrs., ii., 94 Alexander the Great, vestiges of, in India, i., 70, 94 Alexander II. of Russia, his death, ii.,

Alfonso, King, reception at Madrid, ii. 137 Algiers, sight of, i., 14 Alhambra moonlight, Pr. x visit to, ii., 136 Allahabad, first sojourn at, i., 47-49 - Lord Canning at, i., 84 official visit to, i., 134 Allgood, at Rugby, i., 5 All-night sittings in Parliament, 1887, ii., 239, 243 —— effects of, ii., 261 Amir Kabir of Hyderabad, his position, i., 169 Amir of Caubul, his fall, ii., 31 (see Shere Ali) his son in England, ii., 301 Amritsar, in Panjab, visit to, i., 61 Andaman Islands, i., 215 — Lord Mayo's death at, i., 215 Anderson, Captain, aide-de-camp, ii., 15
— Colonel, Deccan, Settlement, ii., 10
Andrew, Sir William, of Sind, i., 82 Anglo-Indian administration, ii., 83 drawbacks, i., 16, 20, 21 life, brightness, Pr. vii. Anti-Corn Law League, meeting of, 1846, i., 12 Apollo Bunder, Bombay, ii., 3 my departure from, ii., 55 Appropriation Bill, Parliament, ii., 302 Arab chiefs at Hyderabad, i., 129, 179
— troops, Nizam's service, i., 178, 179
Arabi Pasha defeat, news of, ii., 144
Arabia, affairs in, ii., 6, 14 Arabian horse-dealers, Calcutta, i., 25 Aranjuez, visit, ii., 134 Arbuthnot, Sir Alexander, Madras, i., Arcot, visit to, i., 297 Ardilaun, visit to, ii., 215 Area of India, i., 20 Argyll, Duke of, helps my career, Pr. vili Secretary of State, India, i., 201-204 prolongs my term of office, i., 219 Army, European India, ii., 73

— Native Indian, ii., 72



119

Arnold, Dr., Rugby, i., 3, 6, 7 personality, i., 41 Matthew, Rugby, i., 4 - William D., Rugby, i., 5 Arracan, visit to, i., 125 Art Institute Potteries, Address at, ii., Arthur, Mr., President, United States, ii., 168 his closing days, ii., 182
Asiatic Society, London, ii., 94
Asquith, Mr., Church in Wales Bill, ii., Assam, visit to, i., 260 Astor, John Jacob, New York meeting with, ii., 172 — William, wedding party, ii., 215 Athenæum Club, London, ii., 89, 230 at Richmond, ii., 97 Athens, first visit, ii., 139, 140 - second do., ii., 141 Atlas, Mount, sight of, i., 14 School Attenborough, Accountant, Board, ii., 219 Attock, Indus crossing at, i., 93, 95 Augusta, Maine, ii., 120, 146 Aurangzebe, Emperor, i., 43 - his tomb, i., 131 Austen, Jane, novels, i., 28 Australia, Western, Committee on, ii., 266 Austria, local government in, ii., 129 Ava annexation, my speech on, ii., 228 Avignon, church at, ii., 127

В

Baalbec, my visit to, i., 123 Baigree, Major, paintings, i., 194——death at Poona, ii., 11 Bailey Guard, historic site at Lucknow, i., 134
aker, Valentine, at Constantinople, Baker, Baker, Sir Samuel, African repute, ii., 24 - his visit to Bombay, ii., 24 Balfour, Mr. Arthur, in Ireland, ii., 238 - success there, ii., 249 - Conservative Leader, ii., 252, 254, 276 — in Opposition, ii., 299, 300 — Sir George, Calcutta, in Military Finance, i., 123 Ball at Government House, Calcutta, 1847, i., 28 Baly, 270 Archbishop, at Calcutta, Bancroft, historian, America, ii., 161, - Mrs., at Newport, Rhode Island, ii., 161 Banihal Pass to Cashmere, i., 212 Bankers' Institute, London, my addresses to, ii., 97

Barcelona, my visit to, ii., 138 Bar Forest, near Lahore, i., 63 Bari Doab Canal, Panjab, opening, i., 105 Baring, Evelyn, Lord Cromer, at Calcutta, i., 226 Lady Emma, at Calcutta, i., 217, Barnes, Mr. George, his death, i., 125 his help to my career, i., 140 Barnstaple, Devon, politics, ii., 103 Baroda, my visit to, ii., 22 Baronetcy conferred on me, ii., 280 Barrackpore, near Earl Calcutta, Canning at, i., 78
— Earl Northbrook at, i., 224-228 Barracks, European, India, ii., 73
Bartley, Mr., in Parliament, Free Education, ii., 251 - in Opposition, ii., 290 Barttelot, Sir Walter, in Parliament, ii., 268 Bayley, Sir Lyttelton, at Bombay, ii., 25, 90

— Sir Steuart, in Behar and Bengal, i., 233, 256 Beaconsfield, Lord, interview with, ii., 92 Bear shooting, India, i., 152 Beas river in Panjab, i., 43 — canal from, i., 105 Beauchamp, Earl, Worcestershire, ii., 89 Beder in Deccan, visit to, i., 130 Beecher Stowe, Mrs., meeting at New York, ii., 204
Beejapore, Deccan, my visit to ruins, ii., 2 Behar, canals of, i., 252 — famine in, i., 236-239 - Government of, i., 249 - people of, i., 232, 238, 240 - province, i., 230-232 Bellary, Madras Presidency, visit to, i., 128 Bell's Farm in Canada, ii., 156 Belshazzar's feast, banquet at New York, ii., 205 Beluch people, ii., 36 Beluchistan, visit to, ii., 14 Belvedere, Calcutta, i., 233-235 — description of, i., 251 garden party at, i., 265 - my residence in, i., 286, 287 - presentation of address at, i., 247 Benares, my first visit to, i., 31-34
— passing through, i., 41, 77, 84
Bengal, address from, ii., 11, 12 - administration, i., 250-290 - Bank of, i., 192 - bay of, i., 16, 19 - departure from, i., 291 - extent, i., 250 famine, i., 224, 225 - famine relief, i., 229-248 (** Famine)

Bengal Government, i., 249	Bombay, land defences, ii., 6
Lieutenant-Governor, i., 249, 255;	Municipality, ii., 17
ii., l	my final departure from, ii., 55
[Also see Lieutenant-Governor]	
my first arrival in, i., 27, 28	— my relations towards, Pr. vi
— river kingdom, i., 256 — sailors of, i., 261, 262	my visits to, i., 159
Benson, Ralph, in Worcestershire ii.,	- Natives, ii., 12
88	—— Presidency, ii., 2, 52
Berar in Deccan, administration of, i.,	prosperity of, i., 160
173	— relief works, ii., 20
— my official visit to, i., 173	science at, ii., 304
my visits to, i., 132, 168	— third visit, i., 197
Berlin, pass through, i., 162	trust, ii., 14
Bernard, Sir Charles, Secretary, i., 147	— University, ii., 14, 26
—— in Behar, i., 236 —— in Bengal, i., 244, 245	— waterworks, ii., 21 Bombay and Baroda Railway, ii., 8
— in Central Provinces, i., 166	Bonifacio, Straits of, my passage through,
—— in Madras, i., 292	i., 79
Bethlehem, my visit to, ii., 121	Booddhists in Sikkim, i., 253-255
Beypore, South Indian coast, my visit	Boscawen, Mr. Griffith, in Parliament,
to, i., 222	ii., 294
Beyrout, Syria, my visit to, ii., 123	Bosphorus, my visit to, ii., 109
Bhopal Begum, her knighthood, ii., 65	Boston, United States, ii., 161
Bhurtpore, my visit to, i., 37	Missions at, ii., 175
Biddulph, Sir Michael, paintings, i., 194 —— my marches with him, i., 195	— my first visit to, ii., 161 — second do., ii., 175
Bigelow, Mr. and Mrs., West Point,	third do., ii., 184
New York, ii., 213	Botanic Gardens, Calcutta, i., 22
"Big trees," the, California, ii., 194	Bourbel, Marquis de, Afghan frontier,
Bijayanagar, Southern India, my visit	ii., 39
to, i., 297	Bourke, Hon. E., at Madras, i., 222
Biscay Bay, passage through, 1., 14	Bowles, Mr. Gibson, in Parliament, ii.,
Black Pagoda in Orissa, view of, i.,	278
246 Plaina Wn America ii 182 214	— on Death Duties, ii., 290
Blaine, Mr., America, ii., 183, 214 —— banquet to, New York, ii., 203	Boyd-Carpenter, Bishop, Jubilee Ser-
— candidate for Presidency, ii., 197-	mon, ii., 256 Boyd-Dawkins, at Montreal, ii., 150
206	Bradley, Dean, at Rugby, i., 4
Blake, Mr., Opposition Leader, Canada,	Brahmaputra river, my voyage on, i.,
ii., 146	261
Blomfield, Captain A., at Nagpore, i.,	Brahminical faith, i., 20
142	Brahmins at Benares, i., 31
Boar-hunting, India, i., 99	Brahmo sect, i., 187, 275
Board of Administration, Panjab, i., 61, 62	Bramwell, Sir Frederick, at Montreal,
— its dissolution, i., 67	Brand, Mr., High Sheriff, Surrey, ii.,
Boers in Swaziland, ii., 292	275
Bohemia, my visit to, ii., 126	- at Calcutta, i., 276
— nationality, ii., 129	Brandis, Sir Dietrich, in Indian Forests,
Bolan Pass, description, ii., 34, 35	i., 153
route by, ii., 36, 39	Brecon Forest Parliamentary Committee,
Bolarum in Deccan, my sojourn at, i.,	ii., 281
173 Bombay Army, ii., 5, 36	Breveort House, New York, ii., 160 Brevoort House, New York, ii., 162
	Brindisi my route by ii 84
—— despatch of troops from, ii., 15-20	Brindisi, my route by, ii., 84 British Association, Science, my work
—— docks, ii., 14, 47	with, ii., 97, 184
— European society at, ii., 20	—— meeting at Montreal, ii., 146-150
famine, ii., 2, 8, 15, 21	—— Columbia, my visit to, ii., 154
—— fourth visit, i., 220	Government of India, ii., 83
Government, ii., 5	Broadway, New York, ii., 162, 182 Brock, Mr. R. A., sculptor of my statue,
	Brock, Mr. R. A., sculptor of my statue,
Governorship, i., 286	ii., 89, 90 Brodrick, Hon. George, in Parliament,
	ii., 298
2	,
u 2	

treal, ii., 146-150 to, ii., 154 ia, ii., 83 ii., 162, 182 or of my statue, in Parliament, Digitized by Google

Brodrick, Hon. George, his motion re-Calcutta, municipal franchise, i., 272 garding ammunition, ii., 298 Broussa, my visit to, ii., 111 Brown, Mr., Minister, Winnipeg, ii., Browne, Lord Ulick, at Darjeeling, i., Brownlow, Sir Charles, at Muttra, i., 39 Bruce, Colonel Herbert, in Burmah, i., 125-127 at Nagpore, i., 145 Bucharest, my visit to, ii., 109 Buckingham, Duke of, at Delhi, i., 290
— at Madras, i., 296, 299
Buckingham Palace Drawing-Room, ii., ii., 19 Buckland, Mr. C. E., i., 226 in Bengal and Behar, i., 229, 236 — in Bombay, ii., 4, 15 — in Madras, i., 292 - my Private Secretary, i., 227 Buda Pesth, my visit to, ii., 109 Budget, Indian, i., 198

— my first, i., 199

— second, i., 207

— third, i., 211 — fourth, i., 217 fifth, or statement, i., 218, 224 in London School Board, 218-220 Mr. Goschen's, ii., 247, 250 Sir William Harcourt's, ii., 289 Buffalo, United States, my journey by, ii., 164 Bulwer, novels read in India, i. Bund, Mr. Willis, Worcestershire, ii., Burlington House, Royal Society, ii., 304Burmah province, i., 19, 124

— my visit to, i., 125

— Chief Commissionership, i., 127 - my speech on, in Commons, ii., 228 Burne, Sir Owen, at Calcutta, i., 205 Burning-place, Hindu, at Benares, i., Burrows, Colonel, at Bombay, ii., 17 Bussora, my affairs with, ii., 6 Butcher, Mr., in Parliament, ii., 290 Butler, Dr., at Harrow, i., 162 — General, at Boston, ii., 184 Byculla Club, Bombay, ii., 51, 52 — banquet at, ii., 53 Byrne, Mr., in Parliament, ii., 290 C Caen, Normandy, my visit to, ii., 128

Caird, Mr. James, at Bombay, ii., 24 Cairo, citadel, i., 84 — view of, Pr. x - my first visit, i., 14, 15 - second, i., 83 Calcutta, European society at, i., 250, - external progress, i., 272

- my farewell to, i., 137 - my finance at, i., 197, 204 my first sojourn at, i., 22-29
my relations towards, Pr. vi - my service in, i., 118 - pass through, i., 84 Caldwell, Bishop, consecrated, i., 298 Calgary, Canada, view from, ii., 155 California, my visit to, ii., 189 Caliphs, tombs of, at Cairo, i., 15 Cambridge, H.R.H. Duke of, at Malta, meeting at, ii., 94 University, ii., 95
Honorary Degree, ii., 96
Camel transport, Afghan frontier, ii., Campbell, John, in Central Provinces, i., 162, 166
— Sir Colin, at Cawnpore, i., 85
— Sir George, Lieutenant-Governor,
Bengal, i., 225-255 departure from India, i., 234 — in Bengal Famine, i., 233 Campbell-Bannerman, Rt. Hon. Sir H., Division in Commons, ii., 299 Camp life, Northern India, i., 44 Canada, dominion, ii., 158 - experience in, Pr. vii - first visit to, ii., 143 - Imperialism, ii., 159 - political system, ii., 145 second visit to, ii., 146 Canadian Pacific Railway, ii., 151-156 Canals of irrigation, India, ii., 74 - in Behar, i., 268 - in Madras deltas, i., 148, 223 – in the Panjab, i., 105 Canal Rates, England, Parliamentary Committee, ii., 281 Canara, Western India, my visit to, ii., Candahar, force at, in 1880, ii., 47 - keys of, ii., 92 - movement on, ii., 33 - projected railway to, ii., 40, 41 - my visit to, ii., 42-44 - sight of, ii., 41 Canning, Countess, at Lahore, i., 112 - her death, i., 136, 277 - in India, i., 78 - Earl, at Allahabad, i., 134-135 - — in Calcutta, i., 119-124 - departure from India, i., 137 - during Mutinies, i., 84, 102 favour to me, i., 140 - Governor-General, i., 76 - help to my career, Pr. viii. letter from, i., 116 - visits Lahore, i., 111-113 my first meeting with, i., return to Calcutta, i., 136

Cañon, United States, of Gunnystone,
ii., 195
of Yellowstone, ii., 185, 186 Canterbury, Archbishop, nominates me to House of Laymen, ii., 95
Canterbury, Archbishop, nominates me
to House of Laymen, ii., 95
DOLLICS OF THE DOLORAN OF IT. 109
Cape of Good Hope, resort to, i., 21;
Cape of Good Hope, resort to, i., 21; ii., 80 Capitol, Washington, view of, ii., 168 Carlton Club, Lord Beaconsfield at, ii.,
Capitol, Washington, view of, ii., 168
Carlton Club, Lord Beaconsfield at, ii.,
92
— my election to, ii., 89 — my entrance, ii., 85
my entrance, ii., 85
— parliamentary meetings at, ii., 268 — status of, ii., 230
— status of, ii., 230
Carmel Mount, view of, ii., 122, 125 Carnac, Colonel H. Rivett-, in Bengal
Carnac, Colonel H. Rivett-, in Bengal
Famine, i., 231 — in Central Provinces, i., 142 — Colonel Stirling, i., 292; ii., 4 — on Afghan frontier, ii., 34, 38 — at Candahar, ii., 42 — General i 2
Colonal Stipling : 200 : ii 4
on Africa frontian ii 24 29
et Candahan ii 49
General i 2
- Mrs. of Sir Joshua Reynolds i 2
— Mr., ii., 2 — Mrs., of Sir Joshua Reynolds, i., 2 — Sir James Rivett, at Bombay, ii., 2
2
Carnegie, Mr. Andrew, at New York, ii., 172, 202, 203 Cashmere Gate, Delhi, i., 86-89
ii., 172, 202, 203
Cashmere Gate, Delhi, i., 86-89
Cashmere, valley of, 1., 69
my first visit to, i., 105-107
— my first visit to, i., 105-107 — second i., 212, 213 Cathedral, Calcutta, building of, i., 26 Caubul, British Mission destroyed, ii.,
Cathedral, Calcutta, building of, i., 26
Caubul, British Mission destroyed, ii.,
37
river, flood, i., 94
Cautley, Sir P., Ganges Canal, 11., 67
river, flood, i., 94 Cautley, Sir P., Ganges Canal, ii., 67 Cavalry, 3rd Bengal, i., 39 Cawnpore, my visit to, i., 34
Cawnpore, my visit to, 1., 34
Cechs in Bohemia, nationality, ii., 129
Ceded districts, Madras Presidency, i., 127
Comptony Turkish Soutoni ii 110
Cemetery, Turkish, Scutari, ii., 110 Census, Indian, ii., 79, 80 Central Provinces of India:
Central Provinces of India
—— administration i 146 148 158
— my arrival in i 137
- administration, i., 146, 148, 158 - my arrival in, i., 137 - constitution, i., 133 - departure from, i., 154 - marches in, i., 144
—— departure from. i., 154
marches in. i., 144
— physical character, i., 149
—— population, i., 150, 151
my Reports on, i., 148, 149
—— return to, i., 156
— physical character, i., 149 — population, i., 150, 151 — my Reports on, i., 148, 149 — return to, i., 156 — tenures and settlements, i., 150,
191
[Also see Chief Commissioner]
Ceylon, pass by, i., 15 Chæroneia, battlefield, ii., 142
Chalabia in Crosss
Chairman London Sahaal Baar Lie
Chalchis, in Greece, my visit to, ii., 141 Chairman London School Board, his election, ii., 217 Chamber of Commerce, at Bradford, ii.,
Chamber of Commerce at Readford ::
96

- at Manchester, ii., 92, 96 - at Stoke-on-Trent, ii., 96 Chamberlain, Arthur, in Worcestershire election, ii., 106 — Rt. Hon. J., in Commons, ii., 299 — — Liberal Unionist Leader, ii., Sir Neville, at Delhi, i., 88 Chambers' Encyclopædia, my work in, Chapar Rift, Pishin Railway, ii., 45 Chapman, Mr., publisher, ii., 94 —— R. B., Indian finance, i., 209 Chartres Cathedral, ii., 127 Cheeta-hunt in Central Provinces, i., Chenab river bounds my jurisdiction, i., 61, 69, 98 crossed by me, in flood, i., 70 view of, i., 212 Cheshire brine-pumping, Parliamentary Committee, ii., 280 Chesney, Sir George, Cooper's Hill, ii., Chicago city, ii., 179

— my first visit to, ii., 166

— second do., ii., 200-202

— World's Show at, ii., 223
Chief Commissioner of Berar, i., 173 - my proceedings as, i., 180 - of Central Provinces, i., 133 — my appointment as, i., 136 — officiating, i., 141, 142 re-appointment to, i., 157 - relinquishment of, i., 155 — ultimate resignation, i., 165 Childs, Mr., at Philadelphia, ii., 170, Chillianwalla, my visit to battlefield, i., 70 China, contact with, from Burmah, ii., Cholera at Calcutta, i., 272 - at Lahore, i., 75 Chord line in Bombay, Deccan, ii., 15 Chouringhee, at Calcutta, i., 23 Christ Church, Oxford, my membership, ii., 96 Christianity in India, ii., 63, 77 Christians, Native, character, i., 33; Church Brigade in Commons, ii., 294, 295 Church Missionary Society, i., 31; ii., - its meetings, ii., 95 Church in Wales, Bill in Commons, ii., Church, new, at Nagpore, i., 146 Churchill, Lord Randolph, Conservative Leader, ii., 233
— resigns leadership, ii., 238
Cincinnati, my visit to, ii., 178
Cintra, my visit to, ii., 137

Chamber of Commerce at Liverpool, ii.,



Circular on religious instruction, School Board, ii., 221, 222 Civil Code, Panjab, my preparation of, i., 67, 69 Finance Commission, Calcutta, 1860, i., 119 Service Reform in United States, meaning of, ii., 162 Clarendon, Earl, interview with, i., 204
—— Press, Oxford, my relations with, ii., 94 Clark, Mr., in New York, ii., 163 Clarke's Hotel, near Yosemité Valley, ii., 191-194 Clerk, Sir George, at Poona, i., 130 Cleveland, Mr., elected President leveland, Mr., elected Pres. United States, ii., 197-208 — visit to him at Albany, ii., 211 Clive, Lord, victory of, in Bengal, i., 30 Closure, parliamentary, effect of, ii., Cloudland, picture-book, i., 219 Clyde, Lord, at Cawnpore, interview, i., 85 his management of mutinous troops, i., 102 Cobham, Lord, verses on, i., 209 Codes of law, India, ii., 71 Coleman, Mr., at San Francisco, ii., 190 Coleridge, Mr. Justice, in Court, 1845, i., 9 College of Preceptors, London, my work with, ii., 96, 267 Colleges, American, ii., 212 - for women, ii., 180 - near Boston, ii., 174 - Normal, New York, ii., 175 - the Smith, ii., 212 - at Vassar, ii, 172, 174 Colorado, my visit to, ii., 196
— Springs, ii., 196
Columbus, Ohio, ii., 167
— sets out from Huelva, ii., 137 Colvin, Mr. J. R., Lieutenant-Governor, offers me office, i., 69 Committees, House of Commons, my service on, ii., 265-6 Commons, House of, character of, ii., 257 - commotion in, ii., 284 - my conduct in, ii., 234-236 my departure from, ii., 303
my entrance in, ii., 226, 227
life in, ii., 255-273 - political parties in, ii., 229 - rules of procedure, ii., 239 – my services in, Pr. viii – society in, ii., 230 Communities, village, North India, i., Compensation for mutiny losses, Panjab, i., 96 Conferences among Members, Commons, ii., 282 Congress, Social Science, I presiding, Conington at Rugby, i., 4

Bombay, ii., 20 Central Provinces, i., 153 — Norway, ii., 133 Conservative Party at Carlton Club, ii., conduct in Commons, 1886, ii., 227-233 sight of, Pr. x "Contemporary Review," my contributions to, ii., 94 Continent of Europe, my sojourn, Pr. viii.; ii., 126-142 Continental tour, 1857, i., 81 Contingent troops, Hyderabad, i., 173, 178, 179 Cooper's Hill Engineering College, my connection with it, ii., 95 Copenhagen, my visit to, ii., 130 Corbett, Mr. and Mrs., Calcutta, i., 276 Cordery, Mr., at Hyderabad, i., 173 Cordova, my visit to, ii., 135 Corinth, my visit to, ii., 141 "Corner" formed in Commons, ii., 278, 294 - its results, ii., 295, 299 Cornwallis, Marquis, tomb, i., 31 Cosmopolitan Essays, my book, ii., 94 Cotton, Bishop, at Nagpore, i., 146 - at Rugby, i., 4 - scene of his death, i., 277 Cotton Duties, India, my speech at Man-chester, ii., 92 Cotton, Sir Arthur, canal projector, i., 148 Couch, Sir Richard, Calcutta, i., 272 Council, Bombay Executive, ii., 5 - Legislative, ii., 6 Bengal Legislative, i., 235, 267 constitution, ii., 71 Executive, Governor-General's i., 193-197 on Finance, i., 213, 215, 217 India, i., 191 — Legislative, for Indian Finance, i., 199, 207, 211, 224 Count, official, at New York, ii., 212 Court, my, at Goojerat, i., 70 - at Muttra, i., 38 Covenanted Civil Servant, my status as, Pr. v Covent Garden, Schools near, ii., 216 Coventry, Earl of, Worcestershire, ii., 86, 272 Cracow, my visit to, ii., 127 Crete, view of, ii. 84 Crimes Act for Ireland, passing, il., 242 Croome Court, Worcestershire, ii., 86—hunt at, ii., 102 Crown Prince of Germany at Madrid, ii., 137 - at Queen's Jubilee, ii., 257

Conkling, Senator, New York, ii., 172

Conservancy of Forests, Bengal, i., 268

Delhi, Moslem capital, i., 37

Crystal Palace, Conservative banquet at, ii., 242
— School Board at, ii., 223
Cunningham, Sir Henry, at Lahore, i., 210
Currency, Indian, silver, fall, ii., 97

Currency, Indian, silver, fall, ii., 97 Curzon, Rt. Hon. George, at Kingston banquet, ii., 303

— in Commons, on Siam, ii., 291 Cust, Robert, at Lahore, 1858, i., 92 Cutch, Western India, my visit to, ii., 22 Cuttack, my visit to, i., 154 Cyprus, British tenure of, ii., 112

D Dacca (Bengal) in famine time, i., 243 — Regatta at, i., 259

Dakota, United States, visit to, ii., 184

Dalhousie, Marquis, at Simla, i., 56, 57

— farewell letter from, i., 76 - last interview with, i., 82 — in the Panjab, i., 62, 69 Dalhousie Square, Calcutta, i., 197 Dalkeith, Lord, at Bombay, ii., 24 Dallas at Rugby, i., 5 Daniell, Major, police service, Deccan, ii., 29 Darbhunga, Behar, famine centre, i., 231, 233 - railway to, i., 232, 238 Darjeeling, Himalaya, accident at, i., 281- European society at, i., 252, 283 - market, i., 282 - scenery, i., 252 - visit to, i., 244, 245 Darro stream, Alhambra, ii., 136 Dartmoor water supply, Parliamentary
Committee on, ii., 281
Dasht-i-bedoulat, desolate plain of,
Beluchistan, ii., 36 Davidson, Colonel, Resident, Hyderabad, i., 128 Mr. F., London School Board, Davies, ii., 219 Sir Henry, in Panjab, i., 98 Davis, Southern President, at Richmond, Virginia, ii., 169
Daylesford, Worcestershire, ii., 108
Dean-Pitt, Captain, A.D.C., ii., 15 Death duties in Commons, 1894, ii., 289 Debt, national, England, ii., 244 - India, i., 20; ii., 81 - conversion, i., 208 Deccan, Bombay Presidency, ii., 2 peasantry, ii., 10 - Mines Parliamentary Committee, ii., 266 my residence in, i., 168-184 - Nizam's country, i., 124 - settlement of, ii., 10 trouble in, ii., 28 Deccanee troops, Nizam's, i., 178 Degumber Mitter, in Bengal, i., 247

ex-King of, i., 89, 90 Imperial assemblage at, i., 287-290 - Magistrates of, i., 91 — after re-capture, i., 85, 86 — siege and re-capture by British, 1857, i., 81, 82, 87 - Viceregal camp at, i., 287, 288; ü., 11 my first visit to, i., 77 —— second do., i., 87 Delmonico's, New York, banquet at, ii., 203 Democratic Party at Pekin, Illinois, ii., 198 - at New York, ii., 208-211 - at Philadelphia, ii., 202 - United States, for Presidential election, ii., 197 Demosthenes, observe local associations, Greece, ii., 142 Denison, Colonel, at Toronto, ii., 151 - Mr. Speaker, interview with, i., 203 - Sir William, visit to, at Madras, i., 127 Denman, Lord, aspect in Court, i., 9 Denver, United States, my visit to, ii.. Detroit, United States, passing through, ii., 166 Devonshire, Duke of, at Osborne, ii., 304 Dhurmsala, Himalaya, my visit to, i., Dickens', Charles, works circulate in India, i., 39, 246 Dickinson, Colonel, at Washington, ii., 168 Dickson, George, Calcutta, on gold standard, i., 192 Diggle, Mr. J., Chairman School Board, ii., 218, 220 - friend on School Board, ii., 218, 220 - leader of Economical Party, ii., 219 Dinkar Rao, Native Statesman, India, i., 187 Directors, East India Company, at Haileybury, i., 11, 13 Dispensaries, charitable, India, ii., 76 Dissolution of Parliament, 1886, ii., 232 - 1892, ii., 253, 254 - 1895, ii., 300, 302 District Councils Bill in Commons, ii., ii., 245 Division bell, ii., 270 Divisions in the Commons, ii., 260 - my attendance at, ii., 234, 235 - on Church in Wales, ii., 297 - Free Education, ii., 251 - Home Rule Bil, ii., 232 on June, 1895, ii., 299 Docks, scheme at Bombay, ii., 14 Dolgorouki, Prince, at Moscow, ii., 117 Dolomite mountains, visit to, ii., 128 "Dombey and Son," read in India, i., 39



Doulatabad, Deccan, my visit to, i., 130
Douro river, cross, at Oporto, ii., 137
Dovedale, Derbyshire, visit to, ii., 304
Drenteln, General, at Kieff, ii., 116
Dressden, my visit to, i., 162
Drury Lane Schools, near, ii., 216
Duff, Dr. Alexander, meet at Calcutta, i., 28
— at Edinburgh, i., 162
Dufferin, Marquis, hospitality at Constantinople, ii., 113
Durand, Sir Henry, farewell at Simla, i., 209
Dyas, Captain, canal engineer, Panjab, i., 105

 \mathbf{E} Eastern Question, my speeches on, ii., 88 East India Association, my Presidentship, ii., 97 East India Company, my service under, Pr. v - appointments under, ii., 69 - historic career, i., 10, 17, 18 - military services, i., 99-103 termination of, i., 81, 95 East India Railway Company in famine time, i., 230 Eastwick, Professor, Haileybury, i., 11 Economical Party, London School Board, ii., 219, 221 Economic science in British Association, meeting at Montreal, ii., 97 Eden, Sir Ashley, Lieutenant-Governor, Bengal, i., 290 Edgar, Sir John, at Darjeeling, i., 253 Edgbaston, Birmingham, constituency, Edinburgh, H.R.H. Duke of, visit to Calcutta, i., 206 my visit to, ii., 99 Education in Bengal, i., 268
— in Bombay, ii., 14, 26
— in Central Provinces, i., 146, 158 - Elementary, England, Act, ii., 223 - in London School Board, ii., 222-225 - by the State in India, i., 18; ii., 61 Edwardes, Sir Herbert, at Jullunder, i., - at Peshawur, i., 94 Egan, Mr., Canadian Railway, ii., 152 Eger, Bohemia, my visit to, ii., 130 Egerton, Sir Robert, at Lahore, i., 103, 113 - in Central Provinces, i., 166 - 1892, ii., 252, 272-274 – in Greece, ii., 140, 141 - London School Board, ii., 217, 220 - Municipal, India, i., 271 – in Bombay, ii., 27

Election, Municipal, in Calcutta, i., 271 Elections, General, my connection with Pr. vi Electric Telegraph in Bombay, ii., 19, 20 · India, its value, ii., 73, 74 Panjab, i., 73 Elephants, Índian, in Behar, i., 267 in Central Provinces, i., 153 – at Lahore, i., 113 — at Puttiala, i., 110 Elephanta Island, Bombay, value, ii., 7 Elgin, Earl, arrival Calcutta, 1862, i., 137 and the Central Provinces, i., 142 — his death, i., 155 Ellenborough, Earl of, Somnath, ii., 22 Elliot, Colonel, Central Provinces, i., 132, 136, 142 - his death, i., 157 — his return to Nagpore, i., 155 Elliott, Sir Charles, Central Provinces, i., 166 Ellis, Sir Barrow, colleague at Simla, i., 209 Sir John Whittaker, at Richmond, ii., 273 Ellora, my visit to caves, i., 131 Elphinstone, Mountstuart, read his history, i., 42
Empress of India proclamation at Delhi, i., 288, 289 effects of, ii., 69 Empson, Law Professor, Haileybury, i., "Encyclopædia Britannica," my contribution to, ii., 94 "English Men of Action," Macmillan series, ii., 94 Erie Lake, pass by, ii., 164 Escurial, my visit to, ii., 134 Esthonia, my visit to, ii., 120 Eubœa, pass by, view of, ii., 141 European soldiery, trouble at Lahore, i., 99-103 Evans, Sir Frederick, Admiralty, on voyage to New York, ii., 147 —— Sir William, Derby, at Bombay, ii., Everest, Mount, sight of, i., 225 Evesham, Worcestershire, constituency, ii., 103-106 election at, ii., 227, 233, 272
Excursion, British Association, Canada, ii., 151-156 Exeter Hall, Church Missionary meetings at, ii., 95 School Board exercise at, ii., Exhibition, art and industry, Jubbul-pore, i., 165

Nagpore, i., 163 - art, water-colour, Simla, i., 194 - children's work, London School

Board, ii., 223

F

Famine, Bengal and Behar, i., 230-238 - conclusion, i., 244-247 - extent, i., 230 grain storage, i., 230 prevention, i., 240-243 relief work, i., 233-237 - transport, i., 231 - Bombay, Deccan, i., 286 - relief operations, ii., 2, 8, 10 - India, Commission on, ii., 24 my connection with relief, Pr. vi - Government of India, ii., 63 Ireland, Sir Charles Trevelyan, i., 12 Madras Presidency, i., 289 relief operations, i., 293-296 Fane, Colonel Walter, paintings, i., 194 Farringdon Hall, School Board exercise. ii., 223 Fergusson, author on architecture, London, ii., 90 - Sir James, my successor, Bombay, ii., 49 Ferozshah battlefield, i., 98 Ffrench, Bishop, at Rugby, i., 4
—— in Sind, ii., 7 Field, Mr. Cyrus, New York, ii., 182 Fifth Avenue, New York, ii., 163 Finance Bill, 1894, Commons, ii., 289, 290 - London School Board, ii., 216, 218 - my department in, ii., 222 Minister, India, policy, i., 198-224 Ministership offered me, i., 189, 190 Provincial, India, i., 213 - surplus, i., 224 Finances, British India, Pr. vi Financial work with Mr. Wilson, i., 119, 120 Fingal's Cave, my visit to, ii., 100, 101 Fireworks at Lahore, i., 113 Fitzgerald, Sir Gerald, at Bombay, i., 197 in London, ii., 303 - Sir Seymour, at Bombay, i., 180, 197 - Poona, ii., 8 Florence, my visit to, i., 81 Football at Rugby, i., 6 Forbes, Archibald, Bengal famine, i., Foreign affairs, Conservative conduct of, ii., 249 Foreign Secretaryship offered me, i., · my work in, i., 186-188 Forestry in India, ii., 97 (see Conservancy) Forests and forestry, Bengal, i., 268

Bombay, ii., 20

Central Provinces, i., 153 - Norway, ii., 133 Forsyth, T. D., at Rugby, i., 5 Fortescue, Earl, at Castle Hill, i., 203

Fortescue, Hon. Dudley, friend in London, i., 162: ii., 203 "Fortnightly Review," my contributions to, ii., 94 Fort William, Calcutta, aspect, i., 23 College at, i., 25, 30
Forwood, Sir William, Liverpool, ii., 93
Fowler, Sir Henry, Local Government,
Commons, ii., 287 - — Secretary for India, ii., 288 - Sir John, in North Scotland, ii., 100 Sir Robert, at Calcutta, i., 276
in City of London, ii., 217 Fox, W. J., anti-Corn Law orator, i., 12 Foxwell, Professor, British Association, Montreal, ii., 148 France in Africa, ii., 249
—— in Siam, ii., 291 our neighbour in Asia, ii., 69 Franchise, Municipal, Bombay, ii., 27, 28 — Calcutta, i., 271
Francis, Sir Philip, duel at Alipore, near
Calcutta, i., 250
Frankland, Professor, chemistry, ii., 164 Fraser, Bishop, Manchester, hospitality, ii., 92, 93 Mrs., ii., 92 Free Church of Scotland, missions, i., Free Education, ii., 250, 251 Frelinghuysen, Mr., at Washin meeting with, ii., 168 French Canadians, loyalty, ii., 144 Frere, Lady, at Poona, i., 159 at Washington, - Śir Bartle, banquet to, in London, ii., 99 in Bombay, i., 158, 159
 in Council, Calcutta, i., 124 - first meeting, i., 15 - funeral, ii., 99 - his help to my career, i., 140 - at Poona, i., 159, 163 - statue, London, ii., 99 "Friend of India" newspaper, first meeting, i., 78 - its status, i., 137 —— second meeting, i., 123 Friendly Societies' Bill, Commons, ii., Frith, Captain, A.D.C., Bengal, i., 256 · Bombay, ii., <u>1</u>5 Frontier, Eastern Indo-China, ii., 69 - North-west, ii., 68 - Panjab, i., 61, 93-95 - Southern Afghanistan, ii., 33-47

G

Gaekwar at Baroda, my visit to, ii., 22 Gairsoppa waterfalls, my visit to, i., 221 Galata tower, Constantinople, view from, ii., 110 Galicia, Austrian province, my visit to ii., 126 Galway, my visit to, ii., 215



Ganesh-khind, house near Poona, ii., 8 - my residence at, ii., 9, 30 Ganges canal, ii., 67 — river, crossing, i., 31-33 — — in time of famine, i., 230, 242 - source, i., 194 - in time of war, i., 86 Garden of the gods, Colorado, ii., 196 Garth, Sir Richard, Chief Justice, Calcutta, i., 272 Gaslighting at Bombay, ii., 51 - at Calcutta, i., 26 Gatschina, Russia, my passing by, ii., Gavarni, Pyrenees, my visit to, ii., 128 Gawilgurh, Fort, Berar, my visit to, i., 180 Gazette of India, my services notified, ii., 4 Gazetteer of India, preparation for Bengal, i., 271 Geographical Society, my work with, ii., 90, 94 — at Southampton, ii., 97 Geography, instruction in, Rugby, i., 7 German language, my studies, ii., 129 Germany in Africa, ii., 249 Geysers in Yellowstone Park, my visit to, ii., 187 Ghazipore, my visit to, i., 31 Gibbs, James, Council, Bombay, ii., 4 Gibraltar, docks project, ii., 300 — my speech on, in Commons, ii., 300 — my visit to, i., 14 Gipsies in Central Provinces, their life, i., 150 Girdlestone, meeting, in Nepal, i., 279
Gladstone, Mr. W. E., conduct in
Commons, ii., 227, 229
— at Dissolution, 1886, ii., 232
— his first Home Rule Bill, ii., 230-232 - his second Home Rule Bill, ii., 279meeting with, in London, i., 162, 201 —— Prime Minister, ii., 276 - opposition to, ii., 282-286 - in Opposition, 1887-1892, ii., 242 — his final resignation, ii., 287
— speech on Emperor Frederick, ii., 257
— W. H., Worcestershire election, ii.89 policy and conduct, ii., 276, 277, 282, 287 Gladstonian Party formed, ii., 229 Goa, Portuguese, my visit to, i., 220, 221 Goat Island, Niagara, my visit to, ii., 164 Godavery river, navigation project, i., —— my visit to, i., 161 Golab Sing, Panjab, my meeting with, Golconda, Deccan, scene at, i., 130 Gold standard for India, my proceedings, -- renewed efforts, i., 223

Gonds in Central Provinces, their character, i., 144 - papers regarding, i., 161 Goojerat, Panjab, my service at, i., 69, Western India, my visit to, ii., 8, 22 Goomti river, Oudh, my visit, i., 134 Goorkhas, Nepal, their character and habitat, i., 279, 280 Gooty, Southern India, i., 196 Goschen, Mr. G. J., conversion National Debt, ii., 244 — his Budget, 1888, ii., 244 — 1890, ii., 247 — 1891, ii., 250 — finance, Commons, ii., 244, 299 - first meeting, in London, i., 202 — his general success, ii., 249 Gough, Lord, his victories, Chenab to Jhelum, i., 70 Gour, Bengal, my visit to ruins, i., 233 Gourko, General, meeting at Odessa, ii., Government House, Calcutta, party at, i., 24

Viceregal reception at, i., 262 Governor-General, title and office, ii., Granada, my visit to, Cathedral, ii., 127 Grand Committee (see Standing) - Trunk Road, Northern India, future of, i., 51 - transit after Mutinies, i., 85 — my travel by, i., 34, 47, 77 Grant-Duff, Sir M. E., visits me at Calcutta, i., 256 Grant Lawson, Mr., in Commons, ii., Great Indian Peninsula Railway in Central Provinces, i., 159 opened to Nagpore, i., 159, 160 — terminal station at Bombay, ii., 49 Greece, modern, my visit to, ii., 139-142 Greek Church, services at, Kieff, ii., Odessa, ii., 114 - St. Petersburg, ii., 120 Greeks, political character, ii., 140 Greely, Lieutenant, explorer, meeting, in Canada, ii., 149 Grisi, Madame, memory of, i., 9 Grote, George, historian, my meeting with, i., 204
"Guillotine" procedure, Commons, ii., 241, 283, 293 uindy Harr

 \mathbf{H}

Haddington, Earl of, forests, ii., 100 Haig, Colonel, in Bengal, i., 268

Guindy House, near Madras, i., 223 Gully, Mr., election, Speaker, ii., 293

Gunnystone scenery, Colorado, ii., 195 Gwalior, my visit to, i., 134

Halesowen, political meeting at, ii., 87 Halsey, W., with Mr. Wilson, i., 121 Hampstead, my house at, ii., 93, 102 residence during Sessions, ii., 262, Hampton, Lord, letter from, regarding election, ii., 30 - meeting, in England, i., 203 - my father's friend, i., 9 Hanbury, Right Honourable W. R., at home at Ilam, ii., 304 - as minister, ii., 302 - Military Estimates, ii., 268, 290 - in Opposition, ii., 291, 298 - Public Accounts, Commons, ii., 289 leader of a section, ii., 278 Hanover, my visit to, i., 162 Hansard, Rev., at Rugby, i., 5 Harcourt, Sir William, Death Duties, ii., 289 his farewell, ii., 300 - leader, Commons, ii., 288, 297 Harda river, Nagpore, i., 168
Harding, J. D., painter, my father's friend, i., 9
Hardinge, Viscount, annexes Trans-Hardinge, Viscount Satlej States, i., 43 Governor-General, i., 24 Hardy, Mr., Alpheus, of Boston, United States, ii., 174 Harris, Sir Augustus, invitation from, ii., 264 Harrow, division, candidature, ii., 103 — my visit to, i., 162 Hart, George, in Bengal Famine, i., 230 - at Bombay, ii., 15 my Private Secretary Finance, i., 227, 229 Hart-Dyke, Sir William, as Whip, ii., Hartington, Marquis, Royal Commission, ii., <u>2</u>68 Harvey, Dr., with me in Southern India, i., 292 Hasan and Hosên, Moslem martyrs, i., Hastings, Warren, duel at Alipore, i., governance of Bengal, i., 249 — house at Calcutta, i., 24 — memory of, i., 10, 27; ii., 108 Hatfield, my visit to, i., 203 Hawking near Peshawur, i., 94 Hayward, Rugby friend, i., 5 Health resorts, Europe, my visits to, ii., Heaviside, Canon, Professor, Hailey-bury, i., 11 Hibbert, Sir John, in Commons, ii., 293 Hicks-Beach, Sir Michael, in Ireland, ii., High Courts at Bombay, ii., 25

Haig, Colonel, on the Godavery, i., 148

Haileybury College, magazine, i., 12

- my stay at, i., 10 - its Professors, i., 11

High Courts at Calcutta, i., 272, 273 for India, ii., 72 — natives in, ii., 79 Highlands, Scotland, my visit to, ii., 303 Hill, Mr., American Senator, Denver, ii., Himalaya, around Cashmere, i., 106, - cloud effects in, i., 219 - eastern ranges, i., 244, 253, 282 - first sight of, i., 52 – near Brahmaputra, i., 261 - on Thibetan frontier, i., 283 — scenery, Pr. x - as seen from Simla, i., 194-127 snowy range, Panjab, i., 105 [Also see Darjeeling, see Simla] Hinchinbroke, Viscount, ii., 24 Hindlip, Lord, in election, Worcestershire, ii., 85 - Hall, hospitality, Worcestershire, ii., 88 Hindu faith, ii., 61 – holidays, Pr. 🗴 mind, i., 20 – mythology, i., 37- nationality, i., 31 - temperance, ii., 63 Hindustani language, my practice in, i., 28, 54, 151 resources of, ii., 56 Hislop, Rev. Stephen, service at Nag-pore, i., 158, 160 — his death, i., 159 Historical Society, my addresses to, ii., History, instruction, at Rugby, i., 7 Hobart, Lord, at Madras, i., 223 - Pasha, Constantinople, meeting, ii., 111 Hobhouse, Lord, Council, Simla, i., 218 Hodgson, Mr., candidate, Kingston, ii., Hodson, of Hodson's Horse, i., 4 Hogg, Colonel, service at Bombay, ii., Sir James, Director, at Haileybury, i., 11 memory of, ii., 303 Sir Stuart, at Calcutta, i., 235, 262 Holborn Viaduct Works Committee, Commons, ii., 266 Holkar, Maharaja, my visit to, i., 164 Homburg, my visit to, i., 204 Home Rule, Ireland, in Commons, ii., 227 — first bill for, ii., 230, 231 —— second bill for, ii., 281-285 Honorary functions for natives in India, in Bengal, i., 275 - in Bombay Presidency, ii., 27, 28 Hooghly, mouth of, i., 16 River, opening scene, i., 22 Hooker, Sir Joseph, in Sikkim, i., 282



Hope, Sir Theodore, Bombay, Presi-India, canals of irrigation in, ii., 74 dency, ii., 6 - Émpire of, ii., 69 Hornby, Admiral, at Constantinople, ii., 111 ii., 79 Horses, my riding, Nagpore, i., 143 Horse-shoe Fall, Niagara, ii., 165 Hospitals in India, ii., 76 Houghton, Lord, hospitality at Fryston, i., 202 — meeting at Vichy, ii., 91 Huddleston, Baron, i. 10 Hudson river, New York, my visit to, 91 ii., 164 Huelva, Spain, my visit to, ii., 137 Hughes, Thomas, at Rugby, i., 5 Hunter, Sir Guyon, Bombay University, ii., 26
— Sir William, Gazetteer of India, i., 271 – rulers of India series, ii., 94 Hurdwar, northern India, view of, ii., 67 Huron Lake, my visit to, ii., 152 83 Hyderabad city, i., 168, 170 - Deccan, my first visit to, i., 127 – my departure, i., 184 - military contingent, i., 173, 178, 179 - my return to, i., 168 - my work at, i., 174 - races at, i., 182 Residency, i., 165, 168, 171 [Also see Residency] — revisit, i., 293 — Sind, my visit to, ii., 7 1 ii., 220 Idaho Prairie crossed by me, ii., 188 Iddesleigh, Earl of, his help to me, Pr. viii ii., 97 - offers me Finance Ministry, India, i., 189 Ignatieff at San Stefano, ii., 110

Ilam Hall, Staffordshire, ii., 303 Illuminations at Bhurtpore, i., 37 - at Calcutta, i., 263 - at Hyderabad, i., 182 - at Lahore, i., 113 - at Oodeypore, ii., 13 - at Puttiala, i., 111 Imperial assemblage by Lord Lytton, i., 280, 283 at Delhi, i., 287-290 Income Tax, India, introduced by J. Wilson, i., 119 - increased, i., 205, 207 - reduced, i., 211, 214 - re-introduced by me, i., 199 - relinquished, i., 218, 224 - supported by Lord Lawrence, i., Inderwick, Mr., fellow passenger to New York, ii., 147 India, Anglo-Indian Life, i., 20 - armies of, ii., 73

– British rule in, ii., 70

- employment of natives by the State, extent of, ii., 68, 69 - government, constitution in, ii., 71, officers, condition, ii., 81 Native aristocracy of, ii., 78 states in, ii., 69, 70 — population, increase, ii., 79-80 — public health in, ii., 75 — instruction in, ii., 75, 76 railways and electric telegraphs in, retrospect of, 1848-1880; ii., 68revenues of, ii., 81 - trade of, ii., 80 - ultimate outcome, ii., 82 - under East India Company, i., 18 — Vernacular press of, ii., 77 Indian navy abolished, i., 122 Indigo Commission, Bengal, my share in, i., 119 Indo-China, British contact with, ii., 69 Indo-Chinese frontier, i., 282; ii., 69 Indore, my visits to, i., 164; ii., 13 Indus, valley of, i., 19; ii., 82 - crossing of, i., 93-95 - river floods, ii., 23 Inkersole, Mr., agent in City London, Institute of Bankers, London, ii., 97 of British architects, my address to, Inverary, Argyllshire, my visit to, i., Irawaddy river, imperial boundary, i., — my visit to, i., 126 Ireland, my first visit to, i., 162 — my second, ii., 180 - third, ii., 215 [Also see Home Rule] Irregular force, Nagpore, disbandment, i., 145 Irrigation by the State, for India, i., 18; from canals, Madras, i., 148, 223 Irrigation from wells, Panjab, i., 63 Isabella, Queen of Ferdinand, ii., 136 Jacko, Mount, Simla, view from, i., 195,

,

Jackson, Dr., kindness at Calcutta, i.,

Jaffa, my visit to, ii., 121

Jaganath car, sight of, i., 245

Jain religion, seats of, ii., 14 Jama Mosque at Delhi, after siege, i., 87 Jammu State, Panjab, meet Native Sovereign of, i., 105, 107 Sovereign or, i., 105, 107

— second meeting, i., 212

— my visit to, i., 74, 105

Jamna river, distant source of, i., 194

— my district near, i., 48

Jang Behadur, Nepal, meeting with, i., 279 Jay, Mr. John, friend at New York, ii., Jedda, Red Sea, my relations with, ii., 6 Jehangir, Emperor, my visit to his tomb, read history of, i., 42 Jeremie, Rev., Dean, at Haileybury, i., Jericho, my visit to, ii., 122 Jerusalem, my visit to, ii., 121, 124 Jewish community, Bombay, virtues, ii., - troubles near Kieff, ii., 116 Jeypore, Rajputana, my visit to, ii., 67 Jezreel, my visit to, ii., 122 Jhelum river, crossing of, i., 68 - my barge on, i., 213 - my district near, i., 69 - view of, in Cashmere, i., 106 - visit to source of, i., 212 Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, my visit to, ii., 170 Johnson, Mr., friend at San Francisco, ii., 19ó Joint Magistrate, my appointment, Allahabad, i., 4 Jones, Rev. R., Professor, Haileybury, i., 10 Jordan river, my visit to, ii., 122 Joseph II. of Austria, statue unveiled, ii., 130 Jotendro Mohun Tagore, friend at Calcutta, i., 287 Journal, my parliamentary, extract from, ii., 296 - in 1886, ii., 229, 265 - in 1892, ii., 276 — my Himalayan, published, ii., 101 Jubbulpore, Exhibition, art and industry at, i., 165 my first visit to, i., 133
my stay at, i., 137, 141
Jubilee, the Queen's, celebrated by the Commons, ii., 255-257 Jullunder, Panjab, my appointment to,

K

my settlement work at, i., 50, 58

i., 50

Kamptee, near Nagpore, farewell banquet at, i., 156
— Madras force at, i., 145
Kansas city, my visit to, ii., 167
Katmandu, my visit to, i., 279, 280

Kattywar, Western India, my visits to, ii., 8, 22 Kaye, Sir John, meeting with, i., 81 Keatinge, Colonel, meeting, at Shillong, Kedgeree, Bengal, my arrival at, i., 16, Keene, Mr. H. G., i., 5 Kemball, Mr., at Byculla banquet, ii., 52 Kempsey, my native place, i., 1, 13 Kennaway, Sir John, Church Missionary Society, ii., 95 Kennedy, Sir Michael, service in famine, Bombay, ii., 2 Kerry, my visit to, ii., 180 Keshab Chunder Sen, Brahmo leader, i., 187, 275 Khwaja Amran hills, Afghan frontier, ü., 41 railway to, ii., 46 Khyber Pass, view of, i., 94 Kieff, its religious importance, ii., 113 my visit to, ii., 114, 115 Kiernander, Mr., Senator, New York, ii., 183 Killarney, my visit to, ii., 180 Kinchinjunga, Mount, views of, i., 245, 255, 282 King, Dr., his botanical service, i., 270 Kingston-on-Thames constituency, ii., 273- election day, ii., 275 - farewell banquet, ii., 303 - meeting at, ii., 274 - resignation, ii., 288 Kinnaird, Mr. Arthur, his help to me, i., 162 Kirpa Ram, of Jammu, meeting, i., 212 Kishon, crossing of, ii., 122 Kistna river, visit irrigation works, i., 223Kohat, my visit to, i., 95
Kot Kangra, view of, i., 59
Kremlin, my visit to, ii., 116-118
Krishna Mohun Banerjee, my friend at Calcutta, i., 276 Krishna mythology, i., 37 Kristo Das Pal, journalist, Calcutta, i., 276 Kurrachi, farewell to, ii., 48

L

— third do., ii., 47 Kussowlee, Himalaya, my visit to, i., 56

my first visit to, ii., 7
second do., ii., 12

Lafont, Rev. Father, at Calcutta, i., 270
Lahore, my Commissionership, i., 98
— departure from, i., 117
— European artillery at, i., 100
— farewell banquet, i., 116
— my life at, i., 114
— my first visit to, i., 60-62
— Native troubles at, i., 103, 108, 109

Lahore, my work at, i., 64-66	Lawrence, Lady, in India, i., 193
Laing, Mr. Samuel, advice to me, i.,	—— in England, 203 —— Mr. Edward, friend at Liverpool,
— Finance Minister, i., 122, 125	ii., 93
—— residence in Scotland, i., 135 Lakes in Cashmere, i., 213	novelist, at Rugby, i., 4 Sir Henry, departure from Lahore,
—— English, tour in early life, i., 7 —— at Naini Tal, Himalaya, ii., 67	i., 67
at Nami Tai, Himalaya, ii., 67 — at Oodeypore, in Rajputana, ii., 13	—— first meeting, i., 62 —— on Panjab Board, i., 65
in Sikkim, Himalaya, i., 282	Laymen, House of, my part in, ii., 95 Lechmere, Sir Edmund, death, ii., 272
— in Sikkim, Himalaya, i., 282 — in Sind, ii., 23 "Lalla Rookh," my visit to scene of, i.,	Lechmere, Sir Edmund, death, ii., 2/2 —— at Evesham, ii., 218
106	early life, i., 3
Lancaster, near Boston, United States, my visit to, ii., 184	— in Palestine, ii., 121 Leek, Staffordshire, my speech at, ii.,
Land Bill, Ireland, Commons, 1887, ii.,	303
242 ———————————————————————————————————	Lee-Warner, Mr., service, ii., 6 Lefroy, Sir Henry, at Montreal, ii., 149
Purchase Bill, Ireland, Commons,	Legislative Council, Bengal, i., 235,
1889, ii., 247, 248 ————————————————————————————————————	267 — Bombay ii 6
Landscape painting, my own, Bengal,	— Bombay, ii., 6 — for Finance, its work, i., 199, 205
i., 282 — Rombay ii 11 21 30	207, 211, 217 —— India, constituted, ii., 71
—— Bombay, ii., 11, 21, 30 —— Northern India, i., 149, 194	Leupolt, Rev., Missionary, Benares, i.,
Lansdowne, Marquis, meeting, at Montreal, ii., 148	31 Liberal Party in Commons, policy, ii.,
Lascar sailors in Red Sea, i., 15	229, 231
Lawrence, General Richard, at Jammu, i., 74	Liberal Unionist Party in Commons, ii., 233
— John, Lord, his help to me, Pr. viii	—— its policy, ii., 242, 276
—— —— in Trans-Satlej States, i., 43 —— summons me to Panjab, i., 50,	Library of the Commons, its amenity, ii., 230, 260
52, 56	License Tax, India, Mr. Massey, i., 193 Licensing Clauses, Commons, 1890, ii.,
— my first interview with, i., 57	Licensing Clauses, Commons, 1890, ii.,
—— — on Panjab Board, i., 62, 64, 67 —— Chief Commissioner, i., 67-70 —— am appointed Secretary to, i.,	Lieutenant-Governor, Bengal, my appointment, i., 225, 249
71, 72 am appointed Secretary to, i.,	pointment, i., 225, 249 ————————————————————————————————————
my work in that capacity,	status, ii., 1
i., 73-75 —— his service during Mutinies, i.,	— North - Western Provinces, Mr. Thomason, i., 34, 41, 43-50
81, 82, 84, 87	Sir William Muir, i., 227
after Mutimies, 1., 85-91	"Life in Parliament," my book, Pr. ix Life, my own, led in the Commons, ii.,
on Indus frontier, i., 93-96 my Memoir of, ii., 94 appointed Lieutenant-Gover-	256-273
nor, i., 97	— in camp, Northern India, i., 44,
——————————————————————————————————————	Life Insurance projected for Natives by
——————————————————————————————————————	me, i., 223 "Light of the Harem," historic, ii., 61
	scene of romance, i., 213
eral, i., 156 —— letter from, regarding Hyder-	Lincoln, Bishop of, ii., 95 —— Mr., 1882, Cabinet at Washington,
abad, i., 165	11., 168
——————————————————————————————————————	— my speech at, ii., 95 Lindsay, Col. James, R.E., ii., 39, 47
tary, i., 185	Lindsay, Col. James, R.E., ii., 39, 47 — Laura, Mrs. C. Buckland, i., 210 — Mary, Lady Temple, i., 210
my work with him, i., 187, 188 I become his Finance Minister,	— Mary, Lady Temple, i., 210
i. 189. 192. 197	at Calcutta, i., 234, 251
— departure from India, i., 198	
— — his financial policy, i., 199 — meeting, in England, i., 203 — his position in London School	at Hampstead, ii., 93
——————————————————————————————————————	
,,	at Dillia, 1., 210

1172
Lindsay, Mary, Lady Temple, on Southern India, tour, i., 220-222 ————————————————————————————————
— Mr. C. R., i., 210, 288 — Mrs., i., 210, 288
— Mr. C. R., i., 210, 288 — Mrs., i., 210, 288 — Mrs., i., 210, 288 Lingen, Lord, at Rugby, i., 6 Lisbon, my visit to, ii., 137 Lister, Sir J., Royal Society, ii., 304 Liverpool politics, ii., 103, 104 — Chamber of Commerce, my address,
11., 50
Loan, public works, Calcutta, 1868, i., 200
Lobbyists, Washington, American opinion, ii., 204 Local Government, Commons, Bill, Eng-
land, ii., 244, 245 —— Ireland, ii., 252-254 —— Scotland, ii. 247
Loch Katrine, storm in, ii., 100 Locusts, Indian coast, ii., 23 Locoden islands, my visit to ii. 132
land, ii., 244, 245 — Ireland, ii., 252-254 — Scotland, ii., 247 Loch Katrine, storm in, ii., 100 Locusts, Indian coast, ii., 23 Lofoden islands, my visit to, ii., 132 Logan, General, election, Peoria, Illinois, ii., 199 — Mr., at Winnipeg, ii., 157 London City, my addresses delivered in, ii., 263
London City, my addresses delivered in, ii., 263
— my arrival, 1880, ii., 84 — the poor of, ii., 225 — my relations with, Pr. vi — School Board, ii., 216-225 (see School
Board) ————————————————————————————————————
— —— Election, ii., 217, 220 — society, ii., 98, 263, 264 Londonderry, Guilds Parliamentary Committee, ii., 266 — my visit to, ii., 94 Long Island, United States, garden party, ii., 213 Lords, House of, bar of, ii., 227
Long Island, United States, garden party, ii., 213
— modify Parish Councils Bill, ii.,
my first sight of, 1, 202, 203
— proposed resolution regarding, i., 292 — reject Home Rule Bill, ii., 285 — reject Irish Tenants' Bill, ii., 291 Low, Mr. Malcolm, Central Provinces, i., 167 — Mr. Robert, meeting, London, i.
162
Lowther, Mr. Robert, my relations with him, Allahabad, i., 48, 49 — Rt. Hon'ble James, Commons, in Opposition, ii., 278
Luchon, Pyrenees, my visit to, 11., 128
my visit to, i., 134 Lumsden, Sir Harry, at Hyderabad, i., 173
— Sir Peter, at Simla, i., 194, 195 Lützow, Count, hospitality from, ii., 129 Lyall, Sir Alfred, in Ajmere, ii., 13 — in Berar, i., 173, 180 — in Central Provinces, i., 166
—— in Central Provinces, i., 166

Lytton, Earl, Afghan policy, ii., 31-39
— appointed Viceroy and GovernorGeneral, i., 267
— at Delhi, i., 288, 289
— at Poona, ii., 9
— arrival at Calcutta, i., 278
— — residence there, i., 278; ii., 13
— my farewell to, ii., 53
— telegram from Calcutta, i., 287
— telegrams from, at Bombay, ii., 15, 16, 19

м

Macaulay, Lord, meeting with, i., 83 Macdonald, Colonel, at Bombay, ii., 17 — Sir John A., Canada, ii., 145
Macdonnell, Sir Charles, in Bengal
Famine, i., 236, 237
Macedonia, Greek policy towards, ii., 139 MacGill University, Montreal, my degree, ii., 150 Macgregor, Sir Charles, Bengal Famine, i., 231 Macintyre, Dr., my companion, ii., 184, 190, 195 — in Yosemité, ii., 191, 192 Mackenzie, Colonel Hector, in Central Provinces, i., 147 Mackinnon, Sir William, Bengal Famine, i., 230 Maclean, J. M., distinguished journalist, Bombay, ii., 25 Macleod, Sir Donald, in Panjab, i., 59 - Lieutenant-Governor, i., 189, 190 Macleod, Dr. Norman, at Calcutta, i., 187 Macmillan, Men of Action Series, ii., 94 Macnabb, Sir Donald, companion at Simla, i., 194 Macnaghten, Mr., in Ireland, i., 162 Madhava Rao at Baroda, ii., 22 – my third, í., 296 - --- pass by, i., 16 - famine, i., 289-299 - ---- recurrence, ii., 4 — relief of, i., 299 government, i., 290 my deputation to, i., 289-299; ii., 1 Presidency, my relations with, i., 289, 293 - Railway Company, i., 295 - Sepoys Central Provinces, i., 145 Madrid, excursions from, ii., 135 - my first visit to, ii., 134 - picture gallery, ii., 134 - second visit, ii., 137 Madura, Southern India, my visit to, i., Magrath, Dr., Vice-Chancellor, Oxford, ii., 94 Magrath, Mr., in Bengal Famine, i., 236 237

Mahabalipuram, near Madras, i., 297 Mahabaleshwar, my visits to, i., 220; ii., Mahanaddi river, my visit to, i., 154 Mahrattas, my acquaintance with, i., -132, 147, 151 - former empire, i., 220 - nationality, ii., 8, 94 - trouble in Deccan, 1879, ii., 29 Maiden speech, my own, in Commons, ii., 228 Maine, Sir Henry, in Council, Calcutta, i., 186 Malabar Point, Bombay, my departure, ii., 55 my residence at, ii., 5, 7, 16
proceedings at, ii., 24, 27
Malaga, my visit to, ii., 136
Malleson, Colonel, author, M Military Finance, i., 123 Malta, despatch of troops to, from Bombay, ii., 15-19
— my visit to, i., 14
Malvern, Lord Dalhousie at, i., 82 my sojourn at 1880, ii., 91 Mammoth Hotel, Yellowstone, quality, ii., 185 Manchester, my speech on Missions, ii., 93 - my visit to Chamber of Commerce, ii., 93 Ship Canal Finance, Commons, ii., 266 Mandu, my visit to ruins, i., 164 Mango groves, Northern India, i. 45 Manhattan Club, New York, member-ship, ii., 205, 208, 210 Manifold river, Staffordshire, ii., 304 Manitoba, Canada, my visit to, ii., 151, 157 Mansfield, Sir William, Lord Sandhurst, Gold Standard, i., 192 Mansion House, London, meeting, ii., Marathon, my visit to, ii., 142 Marble rocks near Jubbulpore, beauty, i., 133, 141 Mario, singer, memory of, i., 9
Marlborough, Duke, my essay on, i., 11
— House, Royal banquet, ii., 301 Marseilles, passing through, i., 97 Marshman, Mr. J. C., my visit to, i., 82 at Serampore, i., 78

Martindale, Charlotte, Mrs. Temple, i., 48

death, i., 74 marriage, i., 49 Masaks in swimming bath, i., 40 Massey, Right Honourable W., Finance Minister, India, i., 191 Masulipatam, my visit to, i., 223 Matheran, near Bombay, visit to, i., Matthews, Mr., Bombay and Baroda Railway, ii., 8 May, Sir Erskine, Lord Farnborough, meeting with, London, i., 203

Mayo, Earl of, appointed Governor-General, i., 198 arrival at Calcutta, i., 198 Budget speech, i., 211 - Countess of, i., 216 - Countess of, 1., 215
- his death, i., 215
- obsequies, i., 216
- his policy, i., 205, 213, 215
- reception at Umballa, i., 200 Meade, Sir Richard, at Indore, i., 164 Meadows Taylor, distinguished author, Medical College at Calcutta, meeting, i., - at Hyderabad, i., 180 Meeaday, Burmah, my visit to, i., 126 Meean Meer, Panjab, cholera, i., 75 Meerut, European artillery at, i., 100 Megna river, my visit to, i., 35 Melvill, Rev. Canon, Haileybury College, i., 10 Secretary, Lahore, death, i., 70
"Men and Events," my book, Pr. viii
—composition of, ii., 91, 93 Menabrea, Signor, at Cambridge, ii., 96 Mendelssohn, memory of, i., 9 Merewether, Sir William, at Kurrachi, ii., 7
Merriman, Colonel, services, Deccan, ii., Mersey Docks, Commons Committee, ii., 266 Merve, danger regarding, i., 188 Metcalfe, Lord, at Hyderabad, i., 173 Mr., Bengal Famine, i., 233, 236 Mhow, Central India, my visit to, ii., 13 Midleton, Viscount, at Kingston, ban-quet, ii., 303 Military Finance Commission, Calcutta, i., 119 my work in, i., 123 Mill, John Stuart, meeting with, i., 81 Millais, Sir John, degree, Oxford, ii., 96 Milman, Bishop, death, i., 277 Milward, Mr. Victor, at Evesham, ii., 233 Mints, Indian closure, ii., 97 Minutes, my own, Bengal, i., 255 — Bombay, ii., 6, 20
Missionaries, Rev., Benares, i., 31, 33, 41 India, ii., 77 Tinnevelly, i., 298 Missionary Colleges, Calcutta, i., 270 Bombay, ii., 26 Societies, my addresses for, ii., 95 Missions in America, ii., 171, 174 - religious, Benares, i., 41 - India, ii., 77 - Tinnevelly, i., 298 Mississippi, my crossing, ii., 166, 167 Missouri, my crossing, ii., 166 Moderate Party, School Board, ii., 217 Mogul Emperors, memory of, i., 42, 105
Empire, i., 81 – Palace, Delhi, i., 86

Molesworth, Viscountess, in Highlands,
_ii., 303
Monghyr, Famine Relief Station, i., 238, 239
my proceedings there, i., 241, 244
- my first visit to i 30
Mont Cenis, my crossing, i., 81 Monterey, California, my visit to, ii.,
Monterey California my vigit to ii
100
montgomery, Sir Robert, his aid to my
Montgomery, Sir Robert, his aid to my career, i., 138
first meeting with, 1., 34
— Judicial Commissioner, i., 67-69
— Judicial Commissioner, i., 67-69 — Lieutenant-Governor, Panjab, i.,
98, 99 — in Oudh, i., 92 — on Panjab Board, i., 62, 65 Montreal Paitible Association et ii 07
— in Oudh, i., 92
on Paniah Board i 62 65
Montreal, British Association at, ii., 97
— my first visit to, ii., 145
my mst visit w, n., 140
—— second, ii., 147-150
scientific proceedings, ii., 140, 184
Moon of November, India, 1., 46
— scientific proceedings, ii., 146, 184 Moon of November, India, i., 46 Moonlight in divers countries, Pr. x
Moore, poet, Cashmere, memory of i
42, 106, 213
42, 106, 213 — W. H., Worcestershire friend, ii.,
105
Moorshedabad, pass by, i., 36 Morier, Sir Robert, Madrid, hospitality,
Morier, Sir Robert, Madrid, hospitality
ü., 138
Mormons, my meeting with, ii., 188,
189
Morris, Sir John, farewell banquet
Morris, Sir John, farewell banquet to me, Nagpore, i., 166 — work in Central Provinces, i., 158
to me, Nagpore, 1., 100
- work in Central Provinces, 1., 158
Moscow Government, ii., 113 — my visit to, ii., 116-119
my visit to, ii., 116-119
view or, Pr. viii
Moslem faith, ii., 61
Moslem faith, ii., 61 —— festivals, Pr. x
— Minaret at Benares, i., 33 — priests, disposition, i., 108
priests, disposition, i., 108
Moslems, India, their character, ii., 63 Mosque, Hyderabad, the Mecca, i., 171 Lahore, the Emperor's, i., 61, 108
Mosque, Hyderabad, the Mecca, i., 171
Lahore, the Emperor's i 61 108
——————————————————————————————————————
Muir, Sir William, at Agra, i., 42 — becomes Finance Minister, i., 227 — Foreign Secretary, i., 186 — Lieutenant-Governor, i., 227
horomos Financo Minister i 997
Foreign Secretary : 192
Timber and Community, 1., 100
Lieutenant-Governor, 1., 227
nrst meeting with, 1., 15
nis neip to me, 1., 140
Multan, my visit to, 11., 12
Mumtaz Muhuil, Empress, Agra, 1., 42
Munich, my visit to, i., 201
Munro, Sir Thomas, Madras, memory
— first meeting with, i., 15 — his help to me, i., 140 Multan, my visit to, ii, 12 Mumtaz Muhull, Empress, Agra, i., 42 Munich, my visit to, I., 201 Munro, Sir Thomas, Madras, memory of, i., 16 — plee of his death i. 296
— place of his death, i., 296 Murillo, his pictures at Madrid, ii., 134
Munillo his nictures at Madrid ii 124
muino, ma piccures ac mauriu, n., 104
Seville, 11., 135
— — Seville, 11., 135 Murray, Mr. John, publishes my books, ii., 90, 94, 286 Murree, Himalayas, my sojourn at, i., 68, 72, 75
Seville, 11., 135

Mutineer Sepoys at Delhi, i., 88
Mutinies, Northern India, crisis of, i., 82, 88
— news of, i., 81
Muttra, Northern India, camp life there, i., 42-44
— departure, i., 47
— my first district, i., 34, 35
— my service there, i., 37, 38
Mydan plain at Calcutta, i., 23
— in illumination, i., 263
Mysore, my first visit to, i., 127
— second, i., 296

N

Nagpore, my administration, i., 165, 166 cholera at, i., 161 Exhibition, art and industry, i., 163 - farewell banquets at, i., 155, 165 - final departure from, i., 167 --- first departure from, 155, 156 - province, i., 124, 133 my residence at, i., 144, 146 town, i., 132 my work at, i., 154, 156 Naini Tal, Himalaya, sight of, ii., 67 Napier, Lady, i., 184

Lord, of Ettrick, Acting Governor-General, i., 216, 217

at Madras, i., 184 - Lord, of Magdala, at Simla, i., 209 – in Calcutta, i., 123, 137 — in Calcutta, 1, 123, 137
— service in Panjab, i., 66
— Sir Charles, at Kurrachi, ii., 7
Naples, my visit to, i., 201
Narendra Krishna, of Calcutta, i., 287
Nari Gorge, for Pishin Railway, ii., 45
"Nash, The," etymology, ii., 102
— my residence, Pr. xi.; i., 2
— my return to it, ii., 101, 102, 304
National League, 1887. ii., 242 National League, 1887, ii., 242

Union Teachers, my relations with, ii., 303 Nationalist Party in Commons, ii., 227 -- their conduct in 1886, ii., 228 --- 1887, ii., 239-243 Native armies, India, ii., 81 Bombay Presidency, ii., 6 — States, India, political value, ii., 66 - Northern India, i., 187 Natives of India, acceptance of change, ii., 61 brief description, ii., 56-67 – character, ii., 56 - conscience, ii., 63 - conversation, ii., 56-58 - courage, ii., 63, 64 — domestic servants, ii., 58-60 — domestic virtues, ii., 62 - early marriages, ii., 63 - gratitude, ii., 58 - improved integrity, ii., 62 - loyalty, ii., 65-67

Natives of India, my speech in Commons, ii., 228 - sense of the beautiful, ii., 67 - women, ii., 64, 65 Naval Defence Bill, Commons, 1889, ii., 247 - works, 1895, ii., 300 Navy, Indian, abolition of, i., 122; ii., Nazareth, my visit to, ii., 122 Negro Chapel, Washington, ii., 169 Nepal, my visit to, i., 279, 280 Nerbudda river, fair on bank, i., 150
—— marble rocks, i., 133, 141 territories, my relations with, i., 124, 133 valley, i., 149 Nevski Prospekt, St. Petersburg, ii., Newcastle, Bishop of, i., 277 Newman Hall, Rev., on Atlantic voyage, ii., 147 New Orleans, troubles at, ii., 178 Newport, Rhode Island, my first visit, ii., 161 - second, ii., 183 New York, approach to, ii., 181 — my first visit, ii., 162 — fourth, ii., 203 — second, ii., 171 third, ii., 182 - Presidential election in, ii., 209 - society in, ii., 173, 213, 214 - State, ii., 209, 211 Niagara, my visit to, 164-166 Nicholson, General John, services at Delhi, i., 88, 89 Nihilism at Kieff and Moscow, ii., 115, 118 Nijni Novgorod, my visit to, ii., 119 Nile valley, my visit to, i., 84 Nilgiri Peak, view of, i., 222 Nimar, my visit to, i., 163 Nizam of Hyderabad, his death, i., 186 farewell interview, i., 182 - first interview, i., 129 - second interview, i., 180 official reception, i., 170 policy and conduct, i., 169-171, 175, · his successor, i., 187 Noacolly, Eastern Bengal, my visit to, i., 284 Noel, Mr. C., Worcestershire, ii., 88 Norman, Mr., Chief Justice, Calcutta, death, i., 216 death, i., 216
— Sir Henry, President in Council, i., 286 Northcote, Sir Stafford, Earl of Iddesleigh, his help to me, Pr. viii
— meeting with, in London, i., 203 - offers me Finance Ministership, i., Northbrook, Earl of, arrives Calcutta as Governor-General, i., 217 - at Barrackpore, i., 228

Northbrook, Earl of, relieves Bengal famine, i., 224-248 - at Calcutta, i., 234, 264 - at Dacca, i. 243 departs from India, i. 278
- financial policy, i., 217, 219
- his help to me, Pr. viii.; i., 203 - life at Simla, i., 224 prolongs my stay, i., 278 North-West Frontier, my first knowledge of, i., 27, 61
— political importance of, ii., 31, 68 my visit to, i., 93-96
North-Western Provinces, my appointment to, i., 27, 28, 34 departure from, i., 51 districts, Muttra and Allahabad, i., 36, 47 - example afforded by, i., 154 - my service in them, i., 36-50 Norway, my visit to, ii., 131 - North Cape, ii., 132 - north coast, ii., 132, 133 Norwegian lyric poetry, ii., 133 - people, their character, ii., 133 politics, ii., 133 Nugent, Mr., services at Bombay, ii., 5 Nundidroog, Mysore, my visit to, i., 296 0 Oberammergau Passion Play, my attendance, ii., 130 Obstruction in Parliament, ii., 241, 248
—— its character, ii., 249, 259 Odessa, government, ii., 113
— my visit to, ii., 114 Ogden in Rocky Mountains, my visits, ii., 188, 195 — Mills, Mr., friend, New York, ii., Oldbury election, meeting at, ii., 86, 87 Old Guard" in Commons, 1887, formation, ii., 240 service of, ii., 259, 278 Olympus, Bythinian, ii., 112 Greek, as seen from Thessaly, ii., 142 Omaha, United States, my visit to, ii., Onslow, Mr. Denzil, Indian Finance, i., 191 Ontario Province, Bishop of, ii., 152, 156
— my visit to, ii., 146, 150 Oodeypore, my visit to, ii., 13 Ootacamund, my visit to, i., 222 Oporto, my visit to, ii., 137
"Oriental Experience," my book, ii., 94
Orissa, government of, i., 249 my tour in, i., 245
Orlebar, Rev., at Rugby, i., 5
Ormiston, Mr., Bombay Docks, ii., 47 Osborne, Privy Council ceremony, ii.,

Ottawa, my visit to, ii., 145

Oudh, interview with Ex-king, i., 187, 188

— offer of secretaryship, i., 92

— my visit to, i., 134

Ouseley, Mr., Professor at Haileybury, i., 10

Oxford University, honorary degree at, ii., 96

P

Pacific, sight of, ii., 190, 195
Pakington, Sir John, Lord Hampton,
my father's friend, i., 9 letter from, regarding constituency, ii., 30 meeting with, in England, i., 203 Palanquins in Bengal, i., 24, 29
—— Central Provinces, i., 133 Panjab, i., 51, 52 Palestine Exploration Society, ii., 124 my visit to, ii., 121-125

scenery of, ii., 124

Palestine Illustrated," my book, ii., Palisade Rocks, Hudson River, view of, ii., 164 Palmerston, Viscount, meeting with, in England, i., 162 - memory of, i., 8 Viscountess, kindness to me, i., 162, 202 Pamirs, Russian approach, i., 188 Pan-Anglican assemblage, my attendance, ii., 264 Panjab, my appointment to, i., 50 first offer regarding, i., 43 — frontier, my visit to, i, 93-96
— service there, i., 53-76, 87-117
Panjabi aristocracy, i., 114
— language, i., 54 — troops, temper, i., 92, 93
Panther hunting, Central Provinces, i., 152 Paper Currency, introduction of, Calcutta, i., 116, 119 - department, stock held by, i., 208 Parell House, Bombay, my entrance to, ii., 3, 5 Paris, my passing through, ii., 84 Parish Councils Bill, Commons, ii., 286 Park, Hyde, riding in, ii., 98 · St. James's, walks in, at dawn, ii., 239, 241 Parliament, my departure from, ii., 302 - my entrance, ii., 227 - my service in 1886, ii., 226 - 1887, ii., 237 - 1892, ii., 274 - 1893, ii., 276 - 1894, ii., 287 - 1895, ii., 292 - my views in, ii., 235, 236 Parnassus, views of, ii., 142 v 2

Parnell, Mr., in Commons, ii., 227, 232 - Judicial Commission on, ii., 245-247 - his fall, ii., 250 Parnellite party, ii., 292 Parry, Bishop, at Rugby, i., 4 Parsees, farewell to, ii., 55 Town Hall meeting, Calcutta, ii., 9 Patna, Behar, first visit to, i., 30 second, famine time, i., 229 Payment by results debates, Commons, ii., 268 Peabody Museum, visit to, ii., 170
Pearson, Colonel, Forests, Central Provinces, i., 153
Peek, Mr. Francis, donor prizes, scripture knowledge, ii., 224 Peel, Sir Lawrence, Calcutta, Chief Justice, i., 26 — Sir William, steamer, Bengal, i., Viscount, Speaker, Commons, ii., 293 Pegu Province, Chief Commissionership, i., 127 Peile, Sir James, service, Bombay, ii., 5 Pekin, Illinois, election meeting at, ii., Pell, at Rugby, i., 5 Pelly, Sir Lewis, at Rugby, i., 5 in Bombay, i., 163 Peoria, Illinois, election meeting at, ii., 198 Pera, near Constantinople, my visit to, ii., 111 Perim, control, ii., 6 Periplus picture-book, i., 223 Permanent Settlement, Bengal, maintained, i., 267 Persian language resources, i., 28; ii., Pertabgurh in Western Ghat Mountains, my first visit, i., 220 my second visit, ii., 20 Peshawur, my visit to, i., 93-95 - question regarding, i., 96 Philadelphia, United States, election at, ii., 202 my first visit to, ii., 170 —— my second, ii. 213 Philip II. Spain, Madrid pictures, ii., 134 resting-place, Escurial, ii., 135 Pictures, my oil series, ii., 130 Pines, the, near Exeter, i., 203
Pishin Valley, Afghan frontier, my
tour in, ii., 37, 39-41 railway to, ii., 46 Pittsburg, United States, manufactures, ii., 172 — my visit to, ii., 202 Plant, Captain, A.D.C., Bombay, ii., Plassy battlefield, pass by, i., 30

Platœa battlefield, visit to, ii., 142 Playfair, Lord, in Canada, ii., 149 Podolia, my visit to, ii., 115 Poland, Old, my tours in, ii., 126, 127 Poles, nation, my experience of, ii., 120, 126 Police Commission, Calcutta, my part in, i., 119 Pompei, my visit to, i., 201 Poona, in Deccan, my visits to, i., 130, 159, 163 - residence at, ii., 8, 9, 21 Population, India, ii., 80 Port Arthur, Lake Superior, ii., 152 Portland, Oregon, importance of, ii., 190 Portsmouth, Earl of, hospitality, i., 163, Portugal, my visit to, ii., 137 Posen, Germany, my visit to, ii., 126 Potsdam, my visit to, i., 162 Prague, my first visit, i., 162 further visits, ii., 129 "Precursor," steamship, my passage in to India, i., 15, 22 Prepostors at Rugby, their value, i., 3, 7
Presidency Colleges, Bombay, ii., 26
—— Calcutta, i., 270 President in Council, India, at Calcutta, Presidential Election, United States, ii., 197-212 - proceedings at Chicago, ii., 200, 201
- — at New York, ii., 203-211
- — at Philadelphia, ii., 202 - at Peoria, îi., 198, 199 Press, European, in India, i., 120
—— at Bombay, ii., 25
—— at Calcutta, i., 199-109 - Vernacular, at Bombay, ii., 28 - at Calcutta, i., 274 - in India generally, ii., 77 Price, Mr. Bonamy, Rugby, master, i., 4 Prince of Wales' banquet to son of Afghan Amir, ii., 301 · H.R.H., children vote, Commons, ii., 247 - visit to Calcutta, i., 262-266 - to Behar, i., 267 his statue at Bombay, i., opens buildings, United Service Institution, ii., 97 — — unveils Frere statue, London, ii., 99 Princes Dock, amalgamating project, Bombay, ii., 14 —— opening ceremony, ii., 47 Islands, view of, ii., 111 Prinkipo, near Constantinople, my visit to, ii., 111 Private Bills, Committees, Commons, ii., 281

Private Members, Commons, their position, ii., 235, 238 - conferences among, ii., 282 my association with, ii., 269; ii., 283 their action and conduct, ii., 239, 279, 293 Privy Council, my admission to, ii., 304 Probyn, Sir Dighton, at Calcutta, i., 123 Procedure, Rules of, Commons, ii., 239, 241, 243 working of, ii., 259, 283 Processions, American, at Chicago, ii., —— at New York, ii., 206-208 —— at Peoria, ii., 198 —— at Philadelphia, ii., 170 Proclamation, Imperial, India, Delhi, i., 288 Progressive Party,
Board, ii., 221 London Prohibition liquor at Augusta, Maine, ii., Prome, my visit to, i., 126 Propagation of the Gospel Society, my connection with, ii., 95 Protection and Free Trade, ii., 198, 199 economic, ii., 103, 107 Provincial Finance, India, Lord Mayo, i., 213 Public Accounts, Committee, my chairmanship of, ii., 289, 293, 302 School Board, London, ii., 218, 225 health, India, improvement, ii., 75 - Houses, Bill regarding, Commons, ii., 248 - instruction, England, Commons, ii., 268 "Public Ledger," newspaper, Mr. Child's, ii., 170, 202
Puchmurri, Central Provinces, my visit to, i., 143 Pullman, Mr., at Chicago, ii., 201, 202 Puttiala, Panjab wedding, description of, i., 110, 111, Pyne, Mr. Percy, New York hospitality, ii., 182 Pyramids, my first visit, i., 14 - second, i., 84 Pyrenees, my tour in, ii., 128

Q

Queenstown, my first visit, ii., 180

— my second, ii., 215

Quetta, Beluchistan, description of, ii., 40, 42

— my affairs in, ii., 34

R

Radical gathering, London, ii., 285 —— Party, policy, 1895, ii., 292 Railways, Bombay to Nagpore, i., 159, in Bengal famine, i., 230, 232, 238 - in Bombay, Deccan, ii., 15 - in Ganges valley, i., 137 - in Hyderabad, Deccan, i., 183, 293 - Indian, beginning, i., 51, 77 - mutiny time, Cawnpore, i., 85 - in Madras Presidency famine, i., 295 · in Sind, ii., 12 Rajmehal, my visit to, i., 30 Rangoon, my visit to, i., 126 Raniganj, Bengal, my visit to, i., 77 Ranjit Singh's tomb, Lahore, i., 61 Rats, plague of, in Deccan, ii., 21
Ravi river, near Lahore, i., 61, 63
— grand parade near, i., 111
— irrigation from, i., 105 Ravenscroft, my colleague, Bombay, ii., 5 Rayleigh, Lord, British Association, Canada, ii., 148, 150 — Royal Society, ii., 304 Reay, Lord, unveils my statue, Bombay, ii., 90 Recess, Parliamentary, ii., 247, 271, 288, Record of Rights, Jullunder, Panjab, i., Recruits, Native army, question of, ii., 81 Redpath, Mrs., party at Montreal, ii., 149 Reforms, Asia Minor, question of, ii., 112, 113 Regiment, 81st, services at Lahore, i., 75 Registership, Sudder Court, Agra, offered me, i., 69 Registration of land tenures, Allahabad, i., 48, 49 Jullunder, i., 56 Muttra district, i., 38, 41, 45
— use to my career, i., 138
Relief of famine (see Famine)
Rennie, General, i., 75
Report, on Central Provinces, i., 148 - my first Panjab, i., 64-66 - its value to my career, i., 139 – my second Panjab, i., 72 - on Trans-Indus frontier, i., 76 Republican Party, United States, ii., 197
— Chicago, ii., 200

— at Peoria, ii., 198 — New York, ii., 206, 210, 212 — two sections, ii., 183

 v^*

Residency, offer of appointment, i., 165 - house for residence, i., 171 - Hyderabad, ball at, i., 176 - visit to, i., 128 - my work at, i., 174 - Lahore, Sir Henry Lawrence, i., 62, 67, 74

— Lucknow, site of, i., 135 — Nagpore, my tenure, i., 144, 155 Reszke, M. de, invitation to meet, ii., Revel, Esthonia, visit to, ii., 120 Rheims Cathedral, my visit to, ii., 127 Rhododendron at Simla, i., 56 — beauty in Sikkim, i., 255, 282 "Rhotas," State barge used on Ganges, i., 242 ball on board, i., 258 - Native parties in, i., 273 - in famine time, i., 243, 244 - in Eastern Bengal, i., 257, 284 Richmond, Surrey, Athenæum, my addresses, ii., 97 Virginia, United States, my visit to, ii., 169 Rio Grande Railway, Colorado, scenery, ii., 195 Rio Tinto, my visit to, ii., 137 Ripon, Bishop of, Jubilee sermon, ii., steamship, my first voyage, i., 14 Ritchie, Mr., Commons, Local Govern-ment, ii., 244 Rivett family, my descent from, i., 2
—— take name of Carnac, i., 2 Riviera, my sojourn in, ii., 128 Roberts, Da friend, i., 9 David, artist, my father's Robinson, Lieutenant-Governor, Toronto, garden party, ii., 151 Rocky Mountains, American, ii., 185-196 - Canadian, ii., 151-155 - my thoughts towards, ii., 163, 181 of, ii., 77 Rome, my visit to, i., 201 Ronda bridge, Spain, my sight of, ii., 136, 137 Roscoe, Sir Henry, on Atlantic voyage, ii., 147 —— at Montreal, ii., 149 Rosebery, Earl of, Prime Minister, ii., 288 - at Marlborough House banquet, ii., 301 Round, Mr., Pan-Anglican Assemblage, ii., 264 Roving Commissions, my appointment on, i., 124, 125—to Burmah, i., 126 – to Hyderabad, i., 127 - to Nagpore, i., 132 — to Nerbudda territories, i., 133 Royal Commission, War Office, Admiralty, my share in, ii., 268 Royal Society, my election to, ii., 304



Rubini, singer, memory of, i., 9 Rugby school, description of, i., 3, 7, 8 Ruggles, Mr., New York, ii., 211 "Rulers of India" series, my share in, ii., 94 Rules, Commons (see Procedure)
—— of leave and furlough, India, improved, ii., 81 Rupee, fall of, affecting European interests, ii., 81 Ruskin's works, my study of, i., 9
Russia, landscape, ii., 116, 121
—at time of Malta expedition, ii., 19 — movements in Central Asia, i., 189 — my speeches at election time, ii., 86, - neighbour to India, ii., 69 - political condition, ii., 115, 118, 119 — my visit to, ii., 113-121 Russo - Turkish war, possible effect, Deccan, ii., 29 Rustem Pasha, my meeting with, at Beyrout, ii., 123

S Sackville, Lord, meeting with, at Washington, ii., 168 Salamis, my sight of, ii., 142 Salar Jung, aspect described, i., 129 - farewell to, i., 184 - Nizam's Minister, i., 169, 171, 175 - policy and conduct, i., 176-179 — regency with, i., 186 — my relations with, i., 175 - review of troops before, i., 178 Salisbury, Marquis of, message from, regarding Bombay Governorship, i., 286 - in Carlton Club, at meetings, ii., 269 - meeting with, in England, i., 203 - his favour to me, Pr. viii - in Opposition, ii., 286 — Prime Minister, first time, ii., 235

— — second, ii., 233, 276

— — third, ii., 300, 301

— letter to me, Privy Council, ii., 304 Salonica, Greek policy regarding, ii., Salt Lake City, my visit to, ii., 187, 188 Salt works in Bengal abolished, i., 122 Samaria, my visit to, ii., 122, 124 San Francisco, view of, Pr. x.; ii., 189 — my first visit, ii., 189 second, ii., 195 San Stefano, my visit to, ii., 110 Sandars, Mr., at Rugby, i., 4 Sandeman, Sir Robert, on Afghan frontier, ii., 35, 39, 40 — promotes railway project, ii., 45, 46 Sandford, Bishop, at Rugby, i., 4 Sandhurst College Committee, my share in, ii., 268

Sanitation in India, ii., 75 Sankey, Sir Richard, paintings, i., 194 Saragossa, my visit to, ii., 138 Sarjent, Missionary Bishop, Tinnevelly, i., 298 Sassoon, Sir Albert, erects statue Prince of Wales at Bombay, ii., 9 Satlej river, boundary dominion, 1847, i., 19, 43 – fine view of, i., 195 — my crossing, i., 52 Saugor, Central Provinces, my visit to, i., 134 Saunders, Mr. C. B., at Mysore, i., 127 Sautpura mountains, my crossing, i., 133 — my tour in, i., 143 Savings Banks for Natives by State, my project, i., 223 Savory, Sir Joseph, School Board colleague, ii., 217 Schlich, Dr., at Cooper's Hill, ii., 96 —— in Bengal, i., 268
School Board for London, as affecting my work in Parliament, ii., 226, 235, 239 my first Budget, ii., 218 second and third, ii., 220 - bye-election, ii., 216 - Chairman Finance Committee, ii., 218 - elected Vice-Chairman, ii., 217, 218 my first election by ratepayers, ii., 217 second, ii., 220 third, ii., 220 its help to my career in Commons, ii., 263, 266 policy of the Board, ii., 223, 224 Moderate or Economical Party, ii., 217, 219 - my connection with, Pr. vi religious instruction, ii., 224
my resignation, ii., 221 Schools, London, visited by me, ii., 216, Science Degrees arranged by me at Bombay, ii., 26 physical, instruction at Bombay, ii., - at Calcutta, i., 269 Scotland, first visit to, i., 162 second, ii., 99third, ii., 100 Scott, Mr. Hercules, Jullunder Settlement, i., 53
— Sir Walter, novels read in India, i., 28, 75 Scottish Arboricultural Society, meeting with, ii., 99 — Highlands, visit to, ii., 303 Scutari, my visit to, ii., 110 Secretary Panjab Administration, my career as, i., 71-97 value of, to me, i., 139 Secunderabad station, subsidiary force, Deccan, i., 173

Sefuria, or Sepphoris, my visit to, ii., Selborne, Earl, at Pan-Anglican assemblage, ii., 264 Selkirk Mountains, British Columbia, distant view of, ii., 154 Sepoys, Bengal, their status, i., 24, 35 — mutiny of, i., 92 Serampore, Bengal, my visits to, i., 78, 137, 228 Seraskier tower, Constantinople, my view from, ii., 110 Seringapatam, my visit to, i., 128 Session in the Commons, my first, 1886, ii., 228-232 - second, ii., 233-234 - third, ii., 237 - fourth, ii., 246 — fifth, ii., 247 — sixth, ii., 249 — Foreign Secretary, India, i., 190 — President Indigo Commission, i., 119 Settlement, districts between rivers Ravi and Chenab, i., 61, 63, 66, 68, 69

Goojerat district, i., 69 — Jullunder district, i., 53-60 — officer, India, his duties, i., 50, 52 in the Panjab, i., 138 Severn, river, near my home, i., 3 Seville, my visit to, ii., 135 Shahjehan, Emperor, memory of, i., 42 Shalimar, near Lahore, farewell at, i., "Shanameh" quoted by me at Bombay, ii., 9 Shechem, my visit to, ii., 122
— view of, ii., 125 Sheppard, Mr., in Goojerat, ii., 14 Sherbrook, in Canada, my stay there, ii., 160 Shere Ali, of Cabul, later troubles with, ii., 31, 32 - meeting at Umballa, i., 188, Sherer, J. W., Rugby friend, i., 5 Shiah, Moslem festival, Lahore, i., 103, 104 Shiloh, visit to, ii., 122 Shillong, Assam, my visit to, i., 261 Shubrick, General, at Kamptee, i., 156 Siam, my advocacy of, in the Commons, ii., 291 relations with France, ii., 291 view of frontier, i., 127 Sibi desert, my march across, ii., 35, 37, - railway through, ii., 38, 39

Sidon, my visit to, ii., 123 Sierra Nevada from Alhambra, ii., 136 seen from the sea, i., 14 Sikh baptism, i., 61
— devotees, Amritsar, i., 61 - peasantry, Jullunder, i., 54 - rule, its character, i., 60 - war, first, i., 43 - — second, i., 195 Sikhs at Lahore, i., 109 - beaten at Goójerat, i., 70 irrigation for, i., 105 Sikkim, East Himalayas scenery, [i., 281-283 Also See Darjeeling) Sim, General, Central Provinces, and School Board, i., 167 Simla, Himalaya, art exhibition at, i., 195, 213 - my first visit to, i., 56, 58 - my second, i., 192 --- my residence in, i., 192-197, 208-219 - scenery of, i., 195, 219 - departure from, i., 225 Simmons, Sir Lintorn, United Service Institute, ii., 97 Sinai, distant view of, i., 15 Sind, my departure, ii., 48
—— desert of, ii., 22
—— history, i., 19 - my first visit, ii., 7 - my second, ii., 12 my third, ii., 34
my fourth, ii., 38
Sindhia, Maharajah, at Gwalior, i., 187 Sitabuldi citadel, Nagpore, i., 144, 145 Sivaji, historical Mahratta, i., 220 - his achievements, ii., 20, 29 - his tomb, ii., 67 Skating rink at Montreal, ii., 149 Winnipeg, ii., 159 Skewes-Cox, Mr., election, Kingston, ii., Smith, Captain Lucie, Central Provinces, i., 161

Dr. George, "Friend of India,"
Serampore, i., 123, 137

Rev. W., missionary, Benares, i., 31, 32 Right Hon. W. H., leader in the Commons, ii., 238, 245 - last legislative work, ii., 251 — — has death, ii., 252

— his death, ii., 252

— Sir Donald, at Montreal, his hospitality, ii., 147, 149

— farewell ball, ii., 150

Sobieski, his garden nearWarsaw, ii., 121

Sobraon battlefield, visit, i., 98

Society of Arts my address to ii. 97 Society of Arts, my address to, ii., 97 Socotra, my relations with, ii., 6 Somali coast, my relations with, ii., 6 Somnath, my visit to, ii., 22 Spain, literature, ii., 138 - prospects, ii., 138 - my visit to, ii., 134-139

Sparrow Hill, near Moscow, view from, ii., 117 Speaker in the Commons, election of, ii., 229 Speeches, my own, in the Commons, collection of, ii., 265
Spence, Captain, A.D.C., Bengal, i., 236
Spencer, Mr. Herbert, banquet at New York, ii., 176
Spencer's Hatel Calcutte is 22 Spence's Hotel, Calcutta, i., 23 St. Gothard Pass, my crossing, i., 81 St. James' Park, early walks in, ii., 241, 261 - Place, my residence in, ii., 239, 262 St. Lawrence river, Canada, character, ii., 144, 145 St. Louis city, United States, my visit to, ii., 167 St. Margaret's church, Jubilee sermon, ii., 255 St. Marie rapids, North America, passage, ii., 152 t. Paul's Cathedral, Pan-Anglican assemblage, ii., 264 St. Petersburg, my visit to, ii., 119, 120 St. Stephen's chambers, my first political lesson in, ii., 85 St. Xavier's college, Bombay, ii., 26 - Calcutta, i., 170 Staffordshire waterworks, Committee in the Commons, ii., 281 Stamer, Bishop, at Rugby, i., 4 Standing Committee, Law, in Commons, my service, ii., 265 Stanhope, Earl, meeting with, at Homburg, i., 204
Stanley, Consul-General, at Odessa, ii., 113, 114 - at San Francisco, ii., 190, 195 Dean, at Rugby, i., 4 — H. M., married in Westminster Abbey, ii., 99 Staples, Surgeon-Major, Bengal famine, i., 240 Star of India, am Grand Commander, ii., 28 — Companion, i., 161
— Knight, i., 177
Statistical Society, my address to, ii., 94 Statue, my own, at Bombay, ii., 90 Staveley, Sir Charles, Commander-in-Chief, Bombay, ii., 5, 11 Stephen, Sir James Fitzjames, in Council, Calcutta, i., 215, 218
Stewart, Sir Donald, takes Candahar, ii., 35 hospitality to me there, ii., 43, 44 Stockholm, my visit to, ii., 130, 131 Strachey, Sir John, at Calcutta, i., 215, 216 - in Central Provinces, i., 167 at Delhi, i., 289 at farewell banquet to me, i., 156 - at Simla, i., 198, 208 Strahan, Captain, pictures, i., 194 Stratton, Hants, my visit to, i., 203

—— my passing through, i., 15, 83, 201 Sukkur, Sind, base of military transport, ii., 34, 46 - my visits to, ii., 12, 38 Sultan Hassan's mosque, Cairo, view of, i., 15 Sundarbunds forest, my tour in, i., 268 Sunium, Attica, my visit to, ii., 142 view of, Pr. x Sunni Moslems at Lahore, i., 103, 104 Superior, Lake, my voyage, ii., 152 Superannuation of Teachers, my efforts, ii., 229, 233 Parliamentary Committee on, li., 267 Supply in the Commons, Session 1886, ii., 229, 233 1887, ii., 239, 243, 245, 246, 249 Supreme Courts, India, abolished, ii., 72 Surbiton, my political connection with. ii., 275 Surrey constituents, ii., 288, 302, 303 —— my election in, ii., 274, 275 Sutherland, Duke of, with Prince of Wales, Calcutta, i., 264 Swazis, my speeches for protection of, ii., 292 Swedes, their friendly bearing, ii., 130, Swimming-baths, India, at Hyderabad, i., 172 Muttra, i., 40 — Nagpore, i., 146 Sykes, Colonel, Director East India Company, his parting advice, i., 13

Т

Tagus river, mouth, my visit, ii., 134, 137

Tait, Archbishop, at Rugby, i., 4, 7

Taj, marble mausoleum at Agra, i., 42

Tamal Pais, Mount, California, my ascent, ii., 195

Tanjore, Southern India, my visit to, i., 222

Tanks, old, at Calcutta, insalubrious, i., 24

"Tara," Indian novel, graphic history, ii., 2

Taunus Mountains, my walk in, i., 204

Taylor, Sir Alexander, at Cooper's Hill College, ii., 96

— at seige of Delhi, i., 89

Taylor, Sir Alexander, services in Public Works, Panjab, i., 66 Telephone Companies, Parliamentary Committee, ii., 266 Temple, Augusta, my sister, ii., 91, 130 Charles, my son, i., 214; ii., 102 - Edith, my daughter, i., 74; ii., 5 - family, i., 1 George, my brother, ii., 90, 91 - Henry, my son, i., 67, 162, 220, 288; ii., 101 John, my brother, i., 146

John, my grandfather, i., 2

Mrs., at "The Nash," ii., 86, 102 - Reginald, my nephew, ii., 139 - Richard, my father, educated me, i., 2, 8-10 Richard, my son, i., 50, 162, 219; ii., 101 published my journals, ii., 101 - Sir Richard, Pr. i – in America, ii., 143 – in Bengal, i., 249 — in Bombay, ii., 1 — in Continent of Europe, ii., 109 — in early life, i., 2 — in English life, ii., 84 - in North-Western Provinces, i., 37 - in Parliament, ii., 226 - in the Central Provinces, i., 141 - in the Government of India, i., 191 — in the Nizam's, Deccan, i., 168 - in the Panjab, i., 53 - on London School Board, ii., 216 – paintings, ii., 101, 130 – revisits England, i., 76, 80, 161, 204 — Sir William, acquired "The Nash," "Temple's Raj," Central Provinces, i., 155 Tenancy Bill, Panjab, in my charge, i., 193 Tenasserim province, my visit to, i., 126, Tennant, Mrs., her death at Florence, i., 81 Tennyson, Lord, my conversation with, ii., 98 Terrace of the Commons, ii., 230, 260, Thayer, Mr. N., visit to, near Boston, United States, ii., 183 Thessaly, cession of, to Greece, ii., 113, Thibet frontier, my visit to, i., 281-283; ii., 11 Thomason, James, Lieutenant-Governor North-Western Provinces, first letter from, i., 34 - first meetings with, i., 41, 43 - further orders from, i., 47, 48 his administrative school, i., 52 — his death, i., 68

Thomason, James, his farewell, i., 50 my memoir of, Pr. viii.; ii., 94
his visit to the Panjab, i., 60
Thompson, Colonel Yaughan, at Kingston, Surrey, ii., 274 Sir Rivers, in Bengal, i., 236, 256 Sir William (Lord Kelvin), with British Association, Montreal, ii., 147, Thornton, Edward, at Lahore, i., 109, 116 Murree, i., 68 Muttra, i., 34-38 Thorold, Bishop, fellow voyager, ii., 143 Throndhjem, my visit to, ii., 131 Thuggee in the Panjab, my experience of, i., 98 Thunder Cape, Lake Superior, my view of, ii., 152 Tiberias, my visit to, ii., 122 Tigers in Central Provinces, i., 152-164 in Panjab, i., 96
"Times, The," London, in re Parnell, ii., 245 Tinnevelly, Southern India, my visit to, i., 298 Tippoo, Sultan, memory of, i., 128 Tirumal, his palace at Madura, i., 222 Tithes Bill in the Commons, ii., 247, 250 Titles for Natives of India, recommended by me, ii., 78 Toledo, my visit to, ii., 134 "Tom Brown," picture of school life, Toronto, my first visit to, ii., 146
——second, ii., 150 Town Hall, Birmingham, my speech, ii., 91 - Bombay meetings, ii., 8, 51 Manchester, my address, ii., - Toronto, ceremonies, ii., 150 Townsend, Dr., in Madras famine, i., 292 Meredith, Mr., meeting with, at Serampore, i., 78 Trade of India, great progress, ii., 80 Transport for famine relief, Bengal, i., - military in Sind, ii., 34-39 Treasury buildings, Calcutta, i., 24, 191 - chambers, Calcutta, my tenure of, i., 218, 225 Whitehall, Sir Charles Trevelyan, i., 12 Trevelyan, Sir Charles, Finance Minister, India, i., 156, 191 - my first meeting with, i., 12 - revisited by me in England, i., 83 Trevor, Tudor, in the Deccan, i., 174 Trichinopoly, my visit to, i., 222
Tricoupis, M., in Greece, my sev
meetings with, ii., 139-141
Trieste, my passing through, i., 162
Tricity, College Combres, i., 162 mv several Trinity College, Cambridge, membership, ii., 96 Trossachs, storm near, ii., 100 Turkey, my election speeches on, ii., 86,

Turkey, my visit to, ii., 109-113 Turkish troops, their quality, ii., 111 Turks, disposition, ii., 111, 112

— prospects, ii., 113

Turner, J. M. W., my visit to his studio, Tweedie, Colonel W., at Hyderabad, Deccan, i., 174 Tweedmouth, Lady, in the Highlands, ii., 303 Tyre, my visit to, ii., 123

U

- my speeches in the Commons, ii., Umballa, Lord Mayo receives Shere Ali,

Uganda politics, ii., 99

- my first visit to, i., 51 "Umbria" Steamship, Atlantic, my

i., 200

ii., 77

India, i., 50

voyage in, ii., 215 "Uncle Tom's Cabin" read at Lahore, i., 67 Union Club, New York, my membership, ii., 163 — League Club, New York, my membership, ii., 205, 210
Unionist Party in the Commons in alliance with Conservatives, ii., 232, 242, 252, 282, 302 United Service Institution, Whitehall, my address to, ii., 97

States, first visit to, ii., 160 - interests in North Pacific, ii., 252 — my experience of, Pr. vii — second visit to, ii., 182 Universities, American, Harvard, ii., Johns Hopkins, ii., 170 - Scottish, Bill in the Commons, ii., 247 University, Bombay, my Chancellorship, ii., 14, 26
— Calcutta, my Fellowship, i., 269
Urdu recitation at Lahore, i., 103 Urgandab river at Candahar, its value. Vadsö, North Norway, my visit to, ii., Varna, my passing through, ii., 109 Vassar College for Women, near New — my visit to, 168, 170 Waters, 'Surgeon-Major, on my Staff, York, my visit to, ii., 172, 174 Vega plain, Granada, view of, ii., 136 Vellore, my visit to, i., 297 Vernacular Press, India, its character,

in Bengal, i., 274
in Bombay, ii., 28
schools established in Northern

my election as, ii., 217, 218 Viceroy of India at Delhi, i., 288-290 - constituted, ii., 71 - recommends for honours, ii., 236 Vichy, my sojourn at, ii., 91 Vicksburg alluded to by General Grant, ii., 174 Victoria Embankment, Sir Bartle Frere's statue on, ii., 99 Vienna, my visit to, i., 162 Village accountants, their value, i., 86
— communities, Northern India, their character, i., 39, 55
— proprietors, Central Provinces, their status, i., 151
Vincent, Sir C. Howard, with Volunteers in Westminster Hall, ii., 255 Vindhya mountains, Central India, view of, i., 163 irginia, United States, my visit to, ii., Vistula river, my visits to, ii., 120 Volga at Nijni Novgorod, my visit to, ii., 119 Voluntary Schools as compared with Board Schools, ii., 222 - superannuation for them, ii., 267 Volunteers at Darjeeling, their value, i., - raised at Bombay, ii., 9, 27 "Vulgus," Latin epigram, at Rugby, i., Waddington, M., at Rugby, i., 5 Wales, Church in, Bill regarding, ii., 292, 293, 297 — tour in, i., 9 Wall Street, New York, my visit to, ii., 162Walrond, Mr., at Rugby, i., 4, 6
—— Sir William, Conservative Whip, ii., 242, 276
War Office, my service on Royal Commission, ii., 268 Warburton, Rugby friend, i., 5 Ward Hunt, Right Hon., at Homburg, i., 204 Warren, Henry, painter, my father's friend, i., 9 Warsaw, my visit to, ii., 120 — national question, ii., 126 Washington, United States, British Embassy at, ii., 168

Vice-Chairman of London School Board,

journey towards, ii., 167

ii., 298 Wedgwood, my Potteries, ii., 97

Bombay, ii., 7 Webster, Sir Richard, Chairman of Church Committee, Commons, ii., 294

- my conversation with him on crisis.

speech on, in the

Wellesley, Arthur, takes Gawilgurh, i., 180 Marquis, his structures at Calcutta, i., 24, 25 Welsh Members in the Commons, their policy, ii., 292

Mr. John, my friend at Philadelphia, ii., 170, 213 West Point, near New York, my visit to, ii., 164, 213 Western Ghat Mountains, my marches in, ii., 4, 16 - their political consequence, ii., 29 Westminster Abbey, Queen's Jubilee in, ii., 256 wedding of H. M. Stanley in, ii., 99 Hall, Jubilee muster of the Commons, ii., 255 Palace, occupied by Parliament, ii., 226, 270 - School Board in, ii., 216 Westropp, Sir Michael, Chief Justice, Bombay, ii., 25, 52 - letter from, regarding statue, ii., 89 Whewell, books read by me in Calcutta, i., 28 Whips, Conservative, banquet to, ii., 242 - their services, ii., 85, 228, 276, 299 Liberal, my relations with, ii., 229 papers of, preserved by me, ii., 266 Whitehall, United Service Institute, my address to, ii., 97 Wick, my first school at, near Worcester, Wildeck, in Switzerland, ii., 129
Wilson, Bishop, of Calcutta, consecrates
Cathedral, i., 26
— Horace Hayman, Sanscrit, Haileybury, i., 10 James, at Calcutta, i., 118, 119

at Lahore, i., 115, 116 his aid to my career, Pr. vii.; i., 139, 189 - his death, i., 120, 121 - memoir of, i., 122 Wilkinson, Mr. Walter, my friend at Kingston, ii., 273, 303 Williams, Sir Monier, at Belvedere, Calcutta, i., 265 — at Haileybury, i., 11
Windham, General, quells trouble at
Meean Meer, near Lahore, i., 101, 102 Winn, Roland (Lord St. Oswald), my meeting with, ii., 85 Winnipeg, my address at, ii., 157, 158 my starting-point for Rocky Mountains, ii., 184 - pass by, ii., 151

- my visit to, ii., 155, 157

Wodehouse, Sir Philip, Governor, Bombay, i., 220, 286 - departure from Bombay, ii., 3 - in famine relief, ii., 2 Women's Suffrage, my advocacy of, ii., 230, 280 Woodcock, Mr. T. Parry, my friend at Allahabad, i., 34 Woodrow, Mr., his death, i., 253 Woolwich College, Military, my service on Committee, ii., 268 Worcester, my early life near, i., 1, 3, 9, 10, 13 - return to, ii., 85 Worcestershire, announcement of poll, ii., 217, 218 — Conservative party in, ii., 30, 41 — election in 1880, ii., 89 — — in 1885, ii., 103-108 — memory of Warren Hastings, i., 249 - my arrival from India, ii., 86, 91 revisited, i., 79, 162, 204 sojourn there, ii., 102 Writership granted me by East India Company, i., 10 Wynaad, Mysore, my visit to, i., 222 Wynne le Poer, his service in Foreign Office, Calcutta, i., 186

х

Xavier, St., College, at Bombay, ii., 26
— at Calcutta, efficiency, i., 270

Y

Yellowstone Park, beauty of, ii., 101
— cañon of, ii., 186
— my visit to, ii., 185
Yosemité, California, view of, Pr. x
— conversation regarding, in New

York, ii., 214, 215 —— departure from, ii., 194

—— falls of, ii., 193

Inspiration Point, ii., 192
 my tour in, ii., 193, 194

valley of, journey towards, ii., 190,

Yule, Sir George, his departure from Hyderabad, i., 169

— in council at Simla, i., 176 — my meeting with, at Residency, Hyderabad, i., 165, 168, 169

7

Zampach, in Bohemia, hospitality, ii., 129
Zemindars, in Bengal, their status maintained, i., 267, 268
Zoological Gardens founded by me at Alipore, near Calcutta, i., 266



A SELECTED LIST

o F

Cassell & Company's

PUBLICATIONS.



Illustrated, Fine Art, and other Volumes.

Abbeys and Churches of England and Wales, The: Descriptive, Historical, Pictorial. Series II. 218.

Adventure, The World of. Fully Illustrated. Complete in Three Vols. 9s. each. Adventures in Criticism. By A. T. QUILLER-COUCH. 6s.

Africa and its Explorers, The Story of. By Dr. ROBERT BROWN, F.R.G.S., &c. With about 800 Original Illustrations. Complete in 4 Vols. 7s, 6d. each.

Allon, Henry, D.D.: Pastor and Teacher. The Story of his Ministry, with Selected Sermons and Addresses. By the Rev. W. HARDY HARWOOD. 6s. American Life. By PAUL DE ROUSIERS. 12s. 6d. Animal Painting in Water Colours. With Coloured Plates. 5s.

Animal Fainting in water Colours. With Coloured Plates. 5s.

Animals, Popular History of. By Henry Scherren, F.Z.S. With 13

Coloured Plates and other Illustrations. 7s. 6d.

Architectural Drawing. By R. Phenré Spiers. Illustrated. 10s. 6d.

Art, The Magazine of. Vearly Volume. With about 400 Illustrations, 14

Etchings or Photogravures, and a Series of Full-page Plates. 21s.

Artistic Anatomy. By Prof. M. Duval. Cheap Edition, 3s. 6d.

Astronomy, The Dawn of. A Study of the Temple Worship and Mythology of the Ancient Egyptians. By Professor J. NORMAN LOCKVER, C.B., F.R.S., &c.

Illustrated. 22s. Illustrated.

Atlas, The Universal. A New and Complete General Atlas of the World. List of Maps, Prices, and all particulars on application.

Ballads and Songs. By WILLIAM MAKEPEACE THACKERAY. With Original

Illustrations. 6s.

Barber, Charles Burton, The Works of. With Forty-one Plates and Portraits, and Introduction by Harry Furniss. 21s. net.

Battles of the Mineteenth Century. An entirely New and Original Work, with Several Hundred Illustrations. Complete in Two Vols., 9s. each.

"Belle Sauvage" Library, The. Cloth, 2s. (A complete list of the volumes post

"Belle Sauvage" Library, America of the Insecta. By A. W. KAPPEL, F.L.S., F.E.S., and W. Egmont Kirry. With 12 Coloured Plates. 3s. 6d.

Biographical Dictionary, Cassell's New. Containing Memoirs of the Most Eminent Men and Women of all Ages and Countries. Chap Edition. 3s. 6d.

Birds' Nests, British: How, Where, and When to Find and Identify Them. By R. Kearton. With nearly 130 Illustrations of Nests, Eggs, Young, etc., from

Birds' Nests, Eggs, and Egg-Collecting. By R. KEARTON. Illustrated with 16 Coloured Plates of Eggs. Fifth and Enlarged Edition. 58.

Black Watch, The. A Vivid Descriptive Account of this Famous Regiment. By

16 Coloured Plates of Eggs. Fifth and Enlarged Edition. 5s.

Black Watch, The. A Vivid Descriptive Account of this Famous Regiment. By ARCHIBALD FORBES. 6s.

Britian's Roll of Glory; or, the Victoria Cross, its Heroes, and their Valour. By D. H. Parry. Illustrated. 7s. 6d.

British Ballads. 275 Original Illustrations. Two Vols. Cloth, 15s.

British Baltads. 275 Original Illustrations. Two Vols. Cloth, 15s.

British Battles on Land and Sea. By James Grant. With about 800 Illustrations. Four Vols. 4to £1 16s; £library Edition, Four Vols., £2.

Bridding World. Half-yearly Volumes, I. and II. 4s. each.

Butterfiles and Moths, European. By W. F. Kirby. With 61 Coloured Plates. 35s.

Canaries and Cage-Birds, The Illustrated Book of. By W. A. BLAKSTON, W. SWAYSLAND, and A. F. WIENER. With 56 Fac-simile Coloured Plates. 35s.

Captain Horn, The Adventures of. By Frank Stockton. 6s.

Capture of the "Estrella," The. By COMMANDER CLAUD HARDING, R.N. Cheab Illustrated Edition. 3s. 6d.

Cassell's Family Magazine. Yearly Volume. Illustrated. 7s. 6d.

Cathedrals, Abbeys, and Churches of England and Wales. Descriptive, Historical, Pictorial. Popular Edition. Two Vols. 25s.

Cats and Kittens. By Henriette Ronner. With Portrait and 13 magnificent Full-page Photogravure Plates and numerous Illustrations. 4to, £2 10s.

China Painting. By FLORENCE LEWIS. With Sixteen Coloured Plates, &c. 5s.

Choice Dishes at Small Cost. By A. G. Payne. Cheap Edition, 1s.

Chums. The Illustrated Paper for Boys. Yearly Volume, 8s.

Cities of the World. Four Vols. Illustrated. 7s. 6d. each.

Civil Service, Guide to Employment in the. Entirely New Edition. Paper, 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d.

- Clinical Manuals for Practitioners and Students of Medicine. (A List of Volumes forwarded post free on application to the Publishers.)
- Cobden Club, Works published for the. (A Complete List on application.)
- Colour. By Prof. A. H. CHURCH. New and Enlarged Edition, 3s. 6d. Combe, George, The Select Works of. Issued by Authority of the Combe Trustees. Popular Edition, 1s. each, net.
 - The Constitution of Man. Moral Philosophy. Science and Religion. Discussions on Education. American Notes.
- Conning Tower, In a; or, How I Took H.M.S. "Majestic" into Action. By H. O. Arnold-Forster, M.P. Cheap Edition. Illustrated. 6d. Conquests of the Cross. Edited by Edwin Hodder. With numerous Original Illustrations. Complete in Three Vols. 9s. each.

 Cook, The Thorough Good. By George Augustus Sala. With 900 Recipes. 21s.
- Cookery, Cassell's Dictionary of. With about 9,000 Recipes, and Key to the
- Cookery, Cassell's Dictionary of. With about 9,000 Recipes, and Key to the Principles of Cookery, s.

 Cookery, A Year's. By PHYLLIS BROWNE. New and Enlarged Edition, 3s. 6d.
 Cookery Book, Cassell's New Universal. By Lizzie Heritage. With 12 Cookery, Cassell's Popular. With Four Coloured Plates. Cloth gilt, 2s.
 Cookery, Cassell's Shilling. 125th Thousand. 1s.
 Cookery, Cassell's Shilling. 125th Thousand. 1s.
 Cookery, Vegetarian. By A. G. Payne. 1s. 6d.
 Cooking by Gas, The Art of. By Marie J. Sugg. Illustrated. Cloth, 2s.
 Cottage Gardening. Edited by W. ROBINSON, F.L.S. Illustrated. Half-vearly Vols. 2s. 6d. each. With 12

- yearly Vols., 2s. 6d. each.

 Countries of the World, The. By Dr. Robert Brown, F.L.S. In Six Vols., with about 750 Illustrations. 7s. 6d. each. Cheap Edition. Vols. I., II. and III., 6s, each.
- Cyclopædia, Cassell's Concise. Brought down to the latest date. With about
- 600 Illustrations. 7s. 6d. Cyclopædia, Cassell's Miniature. Containing 30,000 Subjects. Cloth, 2s. 6d.; half-roxburgh, 4s.

 David Balfour, The Adventures of. By R. L. STEVENSON. Illustrated.
- David Balfour, The Auventure Two Vols. 6s. each. Ridnapped.
- Part 2.—Catriona.
- Dictionaries. (For description see alphabetical letter.) Religion, Biographical, Encyclopædic, Concise Cyclopædia, Miniature Cyclopædia, Mechanical, English, English History, Phrase and Fable, Cookery, Domestic. (French, German, and Latin, see with Educational Works.)
- Diet and Cookery for Common Ailments. By a Fellow of the Royal College of Physicians, and Phyllis Browne. Cheap Edition. 2s. 6d.

 Dog, Illustrated Book of the. By Vero Shaw, B.A. With 28 Coloured
- Plates. Cloth bevelled, 35s.; half-morocco, 45s.

 Domestic Dictionary, The. An Encyclopædia for the Household. Cloth, 7s. 6d.

 Doré Don Quixote, The. With about 400 Illustrations by GUSTAVE DORÉ.
- Cheap Edition, bevelled boards, gilt edges, ros. 6d.

 Doré Gallery, The. With 250 Illustrations by Gustave Doré. 4to, 42s

 Doré's Dante's Inferno. Illustrated by Gustave Doré. Popular Ed Popular Edition.
- Dore's Dante's Inferno. Illustrated by GUSTAVE DORÉ.
 With Preface by A. J. BUTLER. Cloth gilt or buckram, ys. 6d.
 Dore's Dante's Purgatory and Paradise. Illustrated by
- Illustrated by Gustave Doré. Cheap Edition. 7s. 6d.

 Doré's Milton's Paradise Lost.

- Cheap Edition. 7s. 6d.

 Dorf's Milton's Paradise Lost. Illustrated by Gustave Dorf. 4to, 21s. Popular Edition. Cloth gilt, or buckram gilt. 7s. 6d.

 Barth, Our, and its Story. Edited by Dr. Robert Brown, F.L.S. With 36 Coloured Plates and 740 Wood Engravings. Complete in Three Vols. 9s. each. Edinburgh, Old and New, Cassell's. With 600 Illustrations. Three Vols. 9s. each; library binding, £1 10s. the set:

 Egypt: Descriptive, Historical, and Picturesque. By Prof. G. EBERS. Translated by Clara Bell, with Notes by Samuel Birch, LL.D., &c. Two Vols. 42s. Electric Current, The. How Produced and How Used. By R. Mullineux Walmsley, D.Sc., &c. Illustrated. 10s. 6d.

 Electricity, Practical By Prof. W. E. Ayrton. Illustrated. Cloth, 7s. 6d. Electricity in the Service of Man. A Popular and Practical Treatise. With upwards of 950 Illustrations. New and Revised Edition, 10s. 6d.
- upwards of 950 Illustrations. New and Revised Edition, 108. 6d.

 Employment for Boys on Leaving School, Guide to. By W. S. BEARD, F.R.G.S. 18. 6d.
- Encyclopædic Dictionary, The. Complete in Fourteen Divisional Vols., 10s. 6d., each; or Seven Vols., half-morocco, 21s. each; half-russia, 25s. each.



```
England, Cassell's Illustrated History of. With upwards of 2,000 Illustrations. New and Revised Edition. Complete in Eight Vols., 98. each; cloth gilt, and embossed gilt top and headbanded, 64 net the set.

English Dictionary, Cassell's. Containing Definitions of upwards of 100,000 Words and Phrases. Cheap Edition, 38. 6d.; Superior Edition, 58.

English History, The Dictionary of. Edited by SIDNEY LOW, B.A., and Prof. F. S. Pulling, M.A., with Contributions by Eminent Writers. Cheap Edition. 108. 6d.

English Literature, Library of. By Prof. H. Morley. In 5 Vols. 78. 6d. each. English Literature, Horley's Pirst Sketch of. Revised Edition, 78. 6d.

English Literature, The Story of. By Anna Buckland. 38. 6d.

English Writers from the Earliest Period to Shakespeare. By Henry Morley. Eleven Vols. 58. each.

Esop's Fables. Illustrated by Ernest Griset. Cheap Edition. Cloth, 38. 6d.;
```

bevelled boards, gilt edges, 5s.

Etiquette of Good Society. New Edition. Edited and Revised by LADY
COLIN CAMPBELL. 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d.

Europe, Cassell's Pocket Guide to. Leather, 6s.

Fairy Tales Far and Near. Retold by Q. Illustrated. 3s. 6d.

Fairway Island. By HORACE HUTCHINSON. Cheap Edition. 2s. 6d.

Family Physician. By Eminent Physicians and Surgeons. Cloth, 218; roxburgh, 25s.

Fiction. Cassell's Popular Library of. 3s. 6d. each.

The Snare of the Fowler. By Mrs. ALEXANDER.
Out of the Jaws of Death. By Frank
BARRETT.
Fourteen to One, &c. By ELIZABETH
STUART PHELPS
The Medicine Lady. By L. T. MEADE.
Leona. By Mrs. MOLLSWORTH.
Father Stafford. A Novel. By ANTHONY

HOPE.

Dr. Dumány's Wife. By MAURUS JÓKAI.

Field Naturalist's Handbook, The.
Wood. Cheap Edition, 2s. 6d.

Wood. Cheap Edition, 2s. 6d.
Figuier's Popular Scientific Works.
each. 3s. 6d. each.

The Insect World. The Human Race. Reptiles and Birds.

Mammalia.

The World before the Deluge.

The Vegetable World. Ocean World.

"La Bella," and others. By EGERTON CASTLE.

A Blot of Ink. Translated by Q. and PAUL. M. FRANCKE, 5s.

The Avenger of Blood. By J. MACLAREN COBBAN.

A Modern Dick Whittington. By JAMES PAYN.

The Man in Black. By STANLEY WEYMAN.
The Doings of Raffles Haw. By A. CONAN
DOYLE.

By Revs. J. G. WOOD and THEODORE

With Several Hundred Illustrations in

Figure Painting in Water Colours. With 16 Coloured Plates. 7s. 6d.

Flora's Feast. A Masque of Flowers. Penned and Pictured by WALTER
CRANE. With 40 pages in Colours. 5s.

Flower Painting, Elementary. With Eight Coloured Plates. 3s.

Flowers, and How to Paint Them. By MAUD NAFTEL. With Coloured Plates. 55.

Football: the Rugby Union Game. Edited by Rev. F. MARSHALL. Illustrated.

New and Enlarged Edition. 7s. 6d.

For Glory and Renown. By D. H. PARRY. Illustrated. Cheap Edition. 3s. 6d.

Fossil Reptiles, A History of British. By Sir RICHARD OWEN, F.R.S., &c.

With 268 Plates. In Four Vols. £12 128.

France, From the Memoirs of a Minister of. By STANLEY WEYMAN. 6s.

Franco-German War, Cassell's History of the. Complete in Two Vols., containing about 500 Illustrations. 9s. each.

Free Lance in a Far Land, A. By Herbert Compton. 6s.

Garden Flowers, Familiar. By Shirley Hibberd. With Coloured Plates by F. E. Hulme, F.L.S. Complete in Five Series. Cloth gilt, 12s. 6d. each.

Gazetteer of Great Britain and Ireland, Cassell's. With numerous Illustrations and Maps in Colours. Vols. I., II. and III. 7s. 6d. each.

Gladstone, The Right Hon. W. E., M.P., Life of. Profusely Illustrated. 18.

Gleanings from Popular Authors. Two Vols. With Original Illustrations.

98. each. Two Vols. in One, 15s.

Gulliver's Travels. With 88 Engravings. Cloth, 3s. 6d.; cloth gilt, 5s. Gun and its Development, The. By W. W. GREENER. Illustrated. 10s. 6d. Guns, Modern Shot. By W. W. GREENER. Illustrated. 5s. Health. The Book of. By Eminent Physicians and Surgeons. Cloth, 21s. Heavens. The Story of the. By Sir ROBERT STAWELL BALL, LL.D., F.R.S. With Coloured Plates and Wood Engravings. Popular Edition, 125. 6d. Hiram Golf's Religion; or, the Shoemaker by the Grace of God. 2s. Hispaniola Plate. A Romance. By John Bloundelle-Burton. 6s. History, A Footnote to. EightYears of Trouble in Samoa. By R. L. STEVENSON. 6s. Home Life of the Ancient Greeks, The. Translated by ALICE ZIMMERN. Illustrated. Cheap Edition. 53. Horse, The Book of the. By SAMUEL SIDNEY. With 17 Full-page Collotype Plates of Celebrated Horses of the Day, and numerous other Illustrations. Cloth, 158. Horses and Dogs. By O. EERELMAN. With Descriptive Text. Translated from the Dutch by CLARA BELL. With Author's portrait and Fifteen Full-page and other Illustrations. 25s, net. Houghton, Lord: The Life, Letters, and Priendships of Richard Monckton Milnes, First Lord Houghton. By Sir Wemyss Reid. Two Vols. 32s. Household, Cassell's Book of the. Illustrated. Complete in Four Vols. 5s. each; or Four Vols. in Two, half-morocco, 25s. Hygiene and Public Health. By B. ARTHUR WHITELEGGE, M.D. Illustrated. New and Revised Edition. 7s. 6d.

1a: A Love Story. By Q. Illustrated. 3s. 6d.

Impregnable City, The. By MAX PEMBERTON. 6s. In-door Amusements, Card Games, and Fireside Fun, Cassell's Book of. With numerous Illustrations. Cheap Edition. Cloth, 2s. Iron Pirate, The. By MAX PEMBERTON. Illustrated. 5s. Island Nights' Entertainments. By R. L. STEVENSON, Illustrated, 6s. Italy from the Fall of Napoleon I. in 1815 to 1890. By J. W. Probyn. 3s. 6d. Kennel Guide, Practical. By Dr. GORDON STABLES. Illustrated. Cheap Edition, 1s. Khiva, A Ride to. By Col. FRED BURNABY, New Edition. Illustrated. 3s. 6d.

King George, In the Days of. By Col. Percy Groves. Illustrated. 1s. 6d.

King's Hussar, A. Memoirs of a Troop Sergeant-Major of the 14th (King's)

Hussars. Edited by HERBERT COMPTON. 3s. 6d. Ladies' Physician, The. By a London Physician. Cheap Edition, Revised and Enlarged. 3s. 6d.

Lady's Dressing Room, The. Translated from the French by LADY COLIN CAMPBELL. Cheap Edition. 2s. 6d.

Lady Biddy Fane, The Admirable. By FRANK BARRETT. New Edition. With 12 Full-page Illustrations. 6s.

Lake Dwellings of Europe. By ROBERT MUNRO, M.D., M.A. Cloth, 31s. 6d. Letters, The Highway of; and its Echoes of Famous Pootsteps. By Thomas Archer. Cheap Edition, Illustrated, 5s.

Lette's Diaries and other Time-saving Publications are now published exclusively by Cassell & Company. (A List sent post free on application.)
Little Minister, The. By J. M. Barrie. Illustrated Edition, 6s.
Lobengula, Three Years with, and Experiences in South Africa. By J. COOPER-CHADWICK. Cheap Edition. 25. 6d. Locomotive Engine, The Biography of a. By Henry Frith. 3s. 6d.
Loftus, Lord Augustus, P.C., G.C.B., The Diplomatic Reminiscences of.
Series. With Portrait. Two Vols. 32s. Second Series. Two Vols. 32s.
London, Cassell's Guide to. With Numerous Illustrations. 6d. London, Greater. By EDWARD WALFORD. Two Vols. With about 400 Illustrations. 9s. each. Library Edition. Two Vols. £1 the set.

London, Old and New. By WALTER THORNBURY and EDWARD WALFORD. With about 400 Six Vols., with about 1,200 Illustrations. Cloth, 98 each. Library Edition, £3. London, The Queen's. With nearly 400 Superb Views. 98. Loveday: A Tale of a Stirring Time. By A. E. Wickham. Illustrated. 68. Manchester, Old and New. By WILLIAM ARTHUR SHAW, M.A. With Original Illustrations. Three Vols., 318. 64.

Medical Handbook of Life Assurance. By James Edward Pollock, M.D., and Lame Chispholm. New and Remised Relition.

and JAMES CHISHOLM. New and Revised Edition. 7s. 6d.



```
Modern Europe, A History of. By C. A. FYFFE, M.A. Cheap Edition in One
                Volume, 10s. 6d.; Library Edition, Illustrated, 3 vols., 7s. 6d. each.
 Mrs. Cliffs Yacht. By Frank Stockton. 6s.

Music, Illustrated History of. By Emil Naumann. Edited by the Rev.

Sir F. A. Gore Ouseley, Bart. Illustrated. Two Vols. 31s. 6d.
 Mational Library, Cassell's. Consisting of 214 Volumes. Paper covers, 3d.; cloth, 6d. (A Complete List of the Volumes post free on application.)
 Matural History, Cassell's Concise. By E. PERCEVAL WRIGHT, M.A., M.D.. F.L.S. With several Hundred Illustrations. 7s. 6d.; also kept half-bound.
 Matural History, Cassell's New. Edited by P. Martin Duncan, M.B., F.R.S., F.G.S. Complete in Six Vols. With about 2,000 Illustrations. Cloth, 9s. each.
 Mature's Wonder Workers. By KATE R. LOVELL. Illustrated. 2s 6d.

Melson, The Life of. By ROBERT SOUTHEY. Illustrated with Eight Plates. 3s. 6d.

Mew Zealand, Pictorial. With Preface by Sir W. B. PERCEVAL, K. C. M. G. Illust. 6s.

Mursing for the Home and for the Hospital, A Handbook of. By CATHERINE

J. WOOD. Cheaf Edition, 1s. 6d.; cloth, 2s.

Mursing of Sick Children, A Handbook for the. By CATHERINE J. WOOD. 2s. 6d.

Old Maids and Vonne. By Elsa D'ESCREPPE-KELING. 6s.
 Old Maids and Young. By ELSA D'ESTERRE-KEELING. 6s. Old Boy's Yarns, An. By HAROLD AVERY. With 8 Plates. 3s. 6d. Our Own Country. Six Vols. With 1,200 Illustrations. Cloth, 7s. 6d. each.
 Painting, The English School of. By Ernest Chesneau. Cheap Edition, 3s. 6d. Paris, Old and New. Profusely Illustrated. Complete in Two Volumes.
 os. each, or gilt edges, ros. 6d. each.

Parliament, A Diary of the Home Rule, 1892-95. By H. W. Lucy. ros. 6d.
 Peoples of the World, The. By Dr. ROBERT BROWN, F.L.S. Complete in Six Vols. With Illustrations. 7s. 6d. each.

Photography for Amateurs. By T. C. HEPWORTH. Illustrated, is.; cloth, is. 6d.
  Phrase and Fable, Dr. Brewer's Dictionary of. Entirely New and largely
 increased Edition. 10s. 6d. Also in half-morocco.

Physiology for Students, Elementary. By ALFRED T. SCHOFIELD, M.D., M.R.C.S., With Two Coloured Plates and numerous Illustrations. New Edition. 5s.

Ploturesque America. Complete in Four Vols., with 48 Exquisite Steel Plates, and about 800 Original Wood Engravings. £12 12s. the set. Popular Edition, Vols.
  I., II. and III., price 18s. each.

Picturesque Australasia, Cassell's. With upwards of 1,000 Illustrations.
 Floturesque Canada. With about 600 Original Illustrations. Two Vols. £9 9s. the set.

Ploturesque Europe. Complete in Five Vols. Each containing 13 Exquisite Steel

Plates, from Original Drawings, and nearly 200 Original Illustrations.

Edition. In Five Vols. 18s. each

With a Series of Magnificent Illustration

Ploturesque Mediterranean. The.

With a Series of Magnificent Illustration In Advise Colon.
 Buttons. In rive vois. 788. each.

Picturesque Mediterranean, The, With a Series of Magnificent Illustrations from Original Designs by leading Artists of the day. Two Vols. Cloth, £2 28. each.

Pigeon Reeper, The Fractical. By Lewis Wright. Illustrated. 38. 6d.

Pigeons, Fulton's Book of. Edited by Lewis Wright. Revised, Enlarged, and Supplemented by the Rev. W. F. Lumley. With 50 Full-page Illustrations.

Popular Edition. In One Vol., 708. 6d. Original Edition, with 50 Coloured Plates and numerous Wood Energyings. 218.
 Popular Edition. In One vol., 108. Oct. Original Advances.

Planet, The Story of Our. By the Rev. Prof. Bonney, F.R.S., &c. With Coloured Plates and Maps and about 100 Illustrations. Cheap Edition. 108. 6d.

Playthings and Parodies. Short Stories, Sketches, &c. By BARRY PAIN. 38. 6d.
  Pocket Library, Cassell's.
                                                                       Cloth, 1s. 4d. each.
        A King's Diary. By PERCY WHITE.

A White Baby. By JAMES WELSH.

Lady Bonnie's Experiment. By TIGHE
HOPKINS.
                                                                                                       The Little Huguenot. By MAX PEMBERTON. A Whirl Asunder. By GERTRUDE ATHER-
                                                                                                      TON.
The Paying Guest. By GEO. GISSING.
                                                                                                                                                             (A List will be-
  Polytechnic Series, The.
                                                                         Practical Illustrated Manuals.
  tent on application.)

Pomona's Travels. By FRANK R. STOCKTON. Illustrated. 5s.

Portrait Gallery, Cassell's Universal. Containing 240 Portraits of Celebrated
  Men and Women of the Day. Cloth, 6s.

Portrait Gallery, The Cabinet. Complete in Five Series, each containing 36

Cabinet Photographs of Eminent Men and Women of the day. 15s. each.

Poultry Keeper, The Practical. By Lewis Wright. Illustrated. 3s. 6d.
  Poultry, The Book of. By LEWIS WRIGHT. Popular Edition. Illustrated. 10s. 6d.
```

Poultry, The Illustrated Book of. By Lewis Wright. With Fifty Exquisite
Coloured Plates, and numerous Wood Engravings. Revised Edition. Cloth, git
edges, 218.; half-morocco (price on application). "Punch," The History of. By M. H. SPIELMANN. With nearly 170 Illustrations, Portraits, and Facsimiles. Cloth, 16s.; Large Paper Edition, £2 28. net. Prison Princess, A. By Major Arthur Griffiths. Puritan's Wife, A. By MAX PEMBERTON, Illustrated, 6s. Q's Works, Uniform Edition of. 5s. each. Dead Man's Rock.
The Splendid Spur.
The Blue Pavilions.
The Delectable Duchy. The Astonishing History of Troy Town.
"I Saw Three Ships," and other Winter's Tales.
Noughts and Crosses.
Stories, Studies, and Sketches. Queen Summer; or, The Tourney of the Lily and the Rose.

Portrayed by WALTER CRANE. With 40 pages in Colours. 6s. Penned and Queen, The People's Life of their. By Rev. E. J. HARDY, M.A. Queen Victoria, The Life and Times of. By ROBERT WILSON. Complete in 2 Vols. With numerous Illustrations. 9s. each. Queen's Scarlet, The. By G. MANVILLE FENN. Illustrated. 3s. 6d. Rabbit-Keeper, The Practical. By Cuniculus. Illustrated. 3s. 6d. Railway Guides, Official Illustrated. With Illustrations on nearly every page.

Maps, &c. Paper covers, 1s.; cloth, 2s. London and North Western Railway. Great Western Railway. Midland Bailway. Great Northern Railway. Great Eastern Bailway.
London and South Western Bailway.
London, Brighton and South Coast Bailway.
South Eastern Bailway. Railway Guides, Official Illustrated. Abridged and Popular Editions. Paper covers, 3d. each. Great Eastern Railway. London and North Western Railway. London and South Western Railway. London, Brighton and South Coast Railway. Great Western Railway. Midland Railway. Great Northern Railway. South Eastern Railway. Railways, Our. Their Origin, Development, Incident, and Romance.
JOHN PENDLETON: Illustrated. 2 Vols., 12s. Rivers of Great Britain: Descriptive, Historical, Pictorial. The Royal River: The Thames from Source to Sea. Popular Edution, 16s. Rivers of the East Coast. With highly-finished Engravings. Popular Edution, 16s. Robinson Crusos. With mighty-insided Engravings. Formar Lauton, 108.

Robinson Crusos. Cassell's New Fine-Art Edition. With upwards of 100 Original Illustrations. 7s. 6d. Cheap Edition, 3s. 6d. or 5s.

Rogue's March, The. By E. W. HORNUNG. 6s.

Romance, The World of. Illustrated. One Vol., cloth, 9s.

Ronner, Henriette, The Painter of Cat-Life and Cat-Character. By M. H.

SPIELMANN. Containing a Series of beautiful Phototype Illustrations. 12s.

Royal Academy Pictures, 1896. With upwards of 200 magnificent reproductions of Pictures in the Royal Academy of 1806. 7s. 6d. of Pictures in the Royal Academy of 1896. 7s. 6d.

Russo-Turkish War, Cassell's History of. With about 500 Illustrations. Two
Vols., 9s. each; library binding, One Vol., 15s. New Edition. Vol. I., 9s.

Sala, George Angustus, The Life and Adventures of. By Himself. Library Edition in Two Vols. 32s. Cheap Edition, One Vol., 7s. 6d.

Saturday Journal, Cassell's. Illustrated throughout. Yearly Vol., 7s. 6d. Science for All. Edited by Dr. ROBERT BROWN, M.A., F.L.S., &c. Revised Edition. With 1,500 Illustrations. Five Vols. 9s. each.

Science Series, The Century. Consisting of Biographies of Eminent Scientific Men of the present Century. Edited by Sir Henry Roscoe, D.C.L., F.R.S., M.P. Crown 8vo, 3s. 6d. each. John Dalton and the Rise of Modern Chemistry. By Sir Henry E. Roscoe, F.R.S.
Major Rennell, F.R.S., and the Rise of English Geography. By CLEMENTS R. MARKHAM, C.B., F.R.S., President of the Royal Geographical Society.

Justus Von Liebig: His Life and Work. By W. A. SHENSTONE.

The Herschells and Modern Astronomy. By Miss AGNES M. CLERKE.

(Physics Lynell and Modern Astronomy. By Miss AGNES M. CLERKE. Charles Lyell and Modern Geology. By Professor T. G. BONNEY, F.R.S. J. Clerk Maxwell and Modern Physics. By R. T. GLAZEBROOK, F.R.S. Sir Humphry Davy, Poet and Philosopher. By T. E. THORPE, F.R.S. Charles Darwin and the Theory of Natural Selection. By EDWARD B. POULTON M.A., F.R.S. Scotland, Picturesque and Traditional. By G. E. EYRE-TODD. Sea, The Story of the. An Entirely New and Original Work. Edited by Q. Illustrated. Complete in Two Vols.. os. each



```
Sea-Wolves, The. By Max Pemberton. Illustrated. 6s.
Sentimental Tommy. By J. M. BARRIE. 6s.
```

Shaftesbury, The Seventh Earl of, K.G., The Life and Work of. By EDWIN HODDER. Illustrated. Cheap Edition, 38. 6d.

Shakespeare, Cassell's Quarto Edition. Edited by CHARLES and MARY COWDEN CLARKE, and containing about 600 Illustrations by H. C. SELOUS. Complete in Three Vols., cloth gilt, £3 32.—Also published in Three separate Vols., in cloth, viz.:—The COMEDIES, 215.; The HISTORICAL PLAYS, 18s. 6d.; The TRAGEDIES, 25s. Shakespeare, The England of. New Edition. By E. GOADBY. With Full-

page Illustrations. Crown 8vo, 224 pages, 2s. 6d.

Shakespeare, The Plays of. Edited by Prof. Henry Morley. Complete in Thirteen Vols. Complete in 13 Vols., cloth, in box, 21s.; also 39 Vols., cloth, in box, 21s.; half-morocco, cloth sides, 42s.

Shakspere, The International Edition de luxe.

King Henry VIII. By Sir James Linton, P.R.I. (Price on application.) Othello. Illustrated by Frank Dicksee, R.A. £3 10s. King Henry IV. Illustrated by Herr Eduard Grützner. £3 10s. As You Like It. Illustrated by the late Mons. Emile Bayard £3 10s.

Shakspere, The Leopeld. With 400 Illustrations, and an Introduction by F. J. FURNIVALL. Cheap Edition, 3s. 6d. Cloth gilt, gilt edges, 5s.; roxburgh, 7s. 6d. Shakspere, The Royal With Exquisite Steel Plates and Wood Engravings.

Three Vols. 153. each.

Sketches, The Art of Making and Using. From the French of G. FRAIPONT.

By Clara Bell. With Fifty Illustrations. 2s. 6d.

Social England. A Record of the Progress of the People. By various writers.

Edited by H. D. TRAILL, D.C.L. Vols. I., II., and III., 15s. each. Vols. IV. and V., 17s. each. Vol. VI., 18s. Vols. I., II., and III., 15s. each. Vols. IV. and

Songs for Soldiers and Sailors. By JOHN FARMER. 58. Words only, 6d. Sorrow, The Highway of. By HESBA STRETTON and a well-known Russian exile. 6s.

Sports and Pastimes, Cassell's Complete Book of. Cheap Edition, 3s. 6d. Squire, The. By Mrs. PARR. Cheap Edition, 38. 6d.

Star-Land. By Sir Robert Stawell Ball, LL.D., &c. Illustrated. 6s. Story of Francis Cludde, The. A Novel. By STANLEY J. WEYMAN. 6s. Story of My Life, The. By SIR RICHARD TEMPLE. Two Vols., 21S.

Sun, The Story of the. By Sir Robert Stawell Ball, LL.D., F.R.S., F.R.A.S. With Eight Coloured Plates and other Illustrations. 218

Sunshine Series, Cassell's. In Vols. is. each. A List post free on application. Taxation, Municipal, at Home and Abroad. By J. J. O'MEARA. 7s. 6d.

Thames, The Tidal. By GRANT ALLEN. With India Proof Impressions of 20 Magnificent Full-page Photogravure Plates, and many other Illustrations, after original drawings by W. L. Wyllie, A.R.A. New Edition, cloth, 42s. net. Also in half morocco (price on application).

Things I have Seen and People I have Known. By G. A. SALA. With Portrait and Autograph. 2 Vols. 215.

To the Death. By R. D. CHETWODE. With Four Plates.

"Treasure Island" Series, The. Cheap Illustrated Edition. Cloth, 3s. 6d. each,

Treasure Island. By ROBERT LOUIS STEVENSON.
The Master of Ballantrae. By ROBERT LOUIS STEVENSON.
The Black Arrow: A Tale of the Two Boses. By ROBERT LOUIS STEVENSON.
King Solomon's Kines. By H RIDER HAGGARD.

Treatment, The Year-Book of, for 1897. A Critical R. Medicine and Surgery. Thirteenth Year of Issue. 78. 6d. A Critical Review for Practitioners of

Trees, Familiar. By Prof. G. S. BOULGER, F.L.S., F.G.S. Two Series. With Forty Coloured Plates in each. (Price on application.)

Tuxter's Little Maid, By G. B. Burgin. 6s.

Uncle Tom's Cabin. By HARRIET BEECHER STOWE. V Original Illustrations Fine Art Memorial Edition. 7s. 6d. With upwards of 100

"Unicode": The Universal Telegraphic Phrase Book. Edition. 24. 6d. each. Pocket or Desk United States, Cassell's History of the. By EDMUND OLLIER. With 600 Illustrations. Three Vols. qs. each.

Universal History, Cassell's Illustrated. With nearly ONE THOUSAND ILLUSTRATIONS, Vol. I. Barly and Greek History.—Vol. II. The Roman Period.—Vol. III. The Middle Ages.—Vol. IV. Modern History. 9s. each. With nearly ONE THOUSAND

Verses, Wise or Otherwise. By Ellen Thorneycroft Fowler. 3s. 6d.

Wandering Heath. Short Stories. By Q. 6s.

War and Peace, Memories and Studies of. By Archibald Forbes. Original Edition, 16s. Cheap Edition, 6s.

Water-Colour Painting, A Course of. With Twe R. P. Leitch, and full Instructions to the Pupil. 5s. With Twenty-four Coloured Plates by

Westminster Abbey, Annals of. By E. T. Bradley (Mrs. A. Murray Smith). Illustrated. With a Preface by The Dean of Westminster. 63s.

What Cheer! By W. CLARK RUSSELL. 6s.

White Shield, The. By BERTRAM MITFORD. 6s. Wild Birds, Familiar. By W. SWAYSLAND. Fo Four Series. With 40 Coloured Plates in each. (In sets only, price on application.)

Five Series. With Wild Flowers, Familiar. By F. E. HULME, F.L.S., F.S.A. 40 Coloured Plates in each. (In sets only, price on application.)

Wild Flowers Collecting Book. In Six Parts, 4d. each.

Wild Flowers Drawing and Painting Book. In Six Parts. 4d. each.

Windsor Castle, The Governor's Guide to. By the Most Noble the MARQUIS OF LORNE, K.T. Profusely Illustrated. Limp cloth, 1s. Cloth boards, gilt edges. 2s.

World of Wit and Humour, Cassell's New. With New Pictures and New Text. Complete in Two Vols., 6s. each.

With Claymore and Bayonet. By Col. PERCY GROVES. With 8 Plates. 3s. 6d. Work. The Illustrated Journal for Mechanics. Half-Yearly Vols. 4s. each.

"Work" Handbooks. A Series of Practical Manuals prepared under the Direction of Paul N. Hasluck, Editor of Work. Illustrated. Cloth, 1s. each.

World of Wonders, The. With 400 Illustrations. Cheap Edition. Vol. I. 4s. 6d. Wrecker, The. By R. L. Stevenson and LLOYD OSBOURNE. Illustrated. 6s.

ILLUSTRATED MAGAZINES.

The Quiver, for Sunday and General Reading. Monthly, 6d. Cassell's Family Magazine. Monthly, 6d.

"Little Folks" Magazine. Monthly, 6d.

The Magazine of Art. With Three Plates. Monthly, 1s. 4d. Cassell's Saturday Journal. Weekly, Id.; Monthly, 6d.

Chums. The Illustrated Paper for Boys. Weekly, rd.; Monthly, 6d.

Work. Illustrated Journal for Mechanics. Weekly, Id.; Monthly, 6d.

Building World. The New Practical Journal on Building and Building Trades. Weekly, id.; Monthly, 6d.

Cottage Gardening. Illustrated. Weekly, \(\frac{1}{2}\)d.; Monthly, 3d. * Full particulars of CASSELL & COMPANY'S Monthly Serial Publications will be found in Cassell & Company's COMPLETE CATALOGUE.

Catalogues of Cassell & Company's Publications, which may be had at all Booksellers', or will be sent post free on application to the Publishers:—

CASSELL'S COMPLETE CATALOGUE, containing particulars of upwards of One

Thousand Volumes.

CASSELL'S CLASSIFIED CATALOGUE, in which their Works are arranged according to price, from Threepence to Fifty Guineas.

CASSELL'S EDUCATIONAL CATALOGUE, containing particulars of CASSELL & COMPANY'S Educational Works and Students' Manuals.

CASSELL & COMPANY, Limited, Ludgate Hill, London



Bibles and Religious Morks.

```
Bible Biographies. Illustrated. 1s. 6d. each.
```

The Story of Joseph. Its Lessons for To-Day. By the Rev. GRORGE BAINTOM. The Story of Moses and Joshua. By the Rev. J. TELFORD. The Story of Judges. By the Rev. J. WYCLIFFE GENCE. The Story of Samuel and Saul. By the Rev. D. C. TOVEY. The Story of Lavid. By the Rev. J. WILD.

The Story of Jesus. In Verse. By J. R. MACDUFF, D.D.

Bible, Cassell's Illustrated Family. With 900 Illustrations. Leather, gilt edges, £2 10s.; full morocco, £3 10s.

Bible, Cassell's Guinea. With 900 Illustrations and Coloured Maps. Royal 4to. Leather, 21s. net. Persian antique, with corners and clasps, 25s. net.

Bible Educator, The. Edited by E. H. PLUMPTRE, D.D. With Illustrations, Maps, &c. Four Vols., cloth, 6s. each.

Bible Dictionary, Cassell's Concise Illustrated. By the Rev. ROBERT HUNTER, LL.D. Illustrated. 7s. 6d.

Bible Student in the British Museum, The. By the Rev. J. G. KITCHIN, M.A. Entirely New and Revised Edition, 15. 4d.

Bunyan, Cassell's Illustrated. With 200 Original Illustrations. Cheap Edition,

Bunyan's Pilgrim's Progress (Cassell's Illustrated). 4to. Cheap Edition, 3s. 6d. Child's Bible, The. With 200 Illustrations. Demy 4to, 830 pp. 150th Thousand.

Cheap Edition, 7s. 6d. Superior Edition, with 6 Coloured Plates, gilt edges, 10s. 6d.

Child's Life of Christ, The. Complete in One Handsome Volume, with about 200 Original Illustrations.

Cheap Edition, cloth, 7s. 6d.; or with 6 Coloured Plates, Cloth, gilt edges, 10s. 6d.

Demy 4to, gilt edges, 21s.

Commentary, The New Testament, for English Readers. Edited by the Rt. Rev. C. J. Ellicott, D.D., Lord Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol. In Three Vols. 21s. each.

Vol. 1.—The Four Gospels.
Vol. II.—The Acts, Edmans, Corinthians, Galatians.

. cach.
Vol. 11.—The Four Gospels.
Vol. 11.—The Acts, Romans, Corinthians, Galatians.
Vol. 111.—The remaining Books of the New Testament.

Commentary, The Old Testament, for English Readers. Edited by the Rt. Rev. C. J. Ellicott, D.D., Lord Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol. Complete in 5 Vols. 21s. each.

Vol. I.—Genesis to Numbers.
Vol. II.—Deuteronomy to Samuel II.
Vol. V.—Jeremiah to Malachi.
Vol. V.—Jeremiah to Malachi.

Commentary, The New Testament. Edited by Bishop Ellicott. Handy Volume Edition. Suitable for School and General Use.

St. Matthew. 3s. 6d.
St. Mark. 3s. 6d.
St. Luke. 3s. 6d.
St. Luke. 3s. 6d.
St. John. 3s. 6d.
The Acts of the Apostles.
St. 6d.

St. 6d.

St. Glossians, Thessalonians, and Philippians. 3s.
Colossians, Thessalonians, and Introduction to the New Testament. 2s. 6d.

Commentary, The Old Testament. Edited by Bishop ELLICOTT. Handy Volume Edition. Suitable for School and General Use.

Leviticus. 3s. Numbers. 2s. 6d.

Deuteronomy. ss. 6d.

onary of Religion, The. An Encyclopædia of Christian and other Religious Doctrines, Denominations, Sects, Heresies, Ecclesiastical Terms, History, Biography, &c. &c. By the Rev. William Benham, B.D. Cheap Edition, 10s. 6d. Dictionary of Religion, The.

Bible. With 230 Illustrations by GUSTAVE DORÉ. Original Edition.
Two Vols., best morocco, gilt edges, £15. Popular Edition. With Full-page Illustrations. In One Vol. 158. Also in leather binding. (Price on application.)

Early Days of Christianity, The. By the Very Rev. Dean FARRAR, D.D., F.R.S.
LIBRARY EDITION. Two Vols., 24s.; morocco, £2 2s.
POPULAR EDITION. Complete in One Vol., cloth, 6s.; cloth, gilt edges,

7s. od.; Persian morocco, 10s. od.; tree-calf, 15s.

Family Prayer-Book, The. Edited by the Rev. Canon GARBETT, M.A., and the Rev. S. MARTIN. With Full-page Illustrations. New Edition. Cloth, 7s. 6d. Gleanings after Harvest. Studies and Sketches. By the Rev. JOHN R. VERNON, M.A. Illustrated. 6s.

- "Graven in the Rock;" or, the Historical Accuracy of the Bible confirmed by when the Mode; or, the Historical Accuracy of the Data Museum and elsewhere. By the Rev. Dr. Samuel Kinns, F.R.A.S., &c. &c. Illustrated. Library Edition, in Two Volumes, cloth, with top edges gilded, 155.
- "Heart Chords." A Series of Works by Eminent Divines. In cloth, 1s. each.
- My Father. By the Right Rev. Ashten Oxenden, late Bishop of Montreal.

 My Bible. By the Rt. Rev. W. Boyd Carpenter, Bishop of Ripon.

 My Work for God. By the Right Rev. Bishop Cotteril
- Cotterill. My Object in Life. By the Very Rev. Dean
- My Golect III IIII.

 W Farrar, D.D.

 My Aspirations. By the Rev. G. Matheson, D.D.

 My Emotional Life. By Preb. Chadwick, D.D.

 My Body. By the Rev. Frof. W. G. Blaikle, D.D.

 My Soul. By the Rev. F. B. Fower, M.A.
- My Growth in Divine Life. By the Rev. Prebendary Reynolds, M.A. My Hereafter. By the Very Rev. Dean Bicker-My Walk with God. By the Very Rev. Dean Montgomery.
 My Aids to the Divine Life. By the Very Rev. Dean Boyle.
 My Sources of Strength. By the Rev. E. E. Jenkins, M.A.
 My Comfort in Sorrow. By Hugh Macmillan, D.D.
- Helps to Belief. A Series of Helptul Manuals on the Religious Difficulties of the Day. Edited by the Rev. ТЕІСИМОЙТИ SHORE, M.A., Canon of Worcester, and Chaplain-in-Ordinary to the Queen. Cloth, 1s. each.
- CREATION. By Harvey Goodwin, D.D., late Lord Bishop of Carliale. MIRACLES. By the Rev. Brownlow Mait-land, M.A. PRAYER. By the Rev. Canon Shore, M.A.
- THE DIVINITY OF OUR LORD. By the Lord Bishop of Derry.
 - THE ATONEMENT. By William Connor Magee, D.D., Late Archbishop of York.
- Holy Land and the Bible, The. A Book of Scripture Illustrations gathered in Palestine. By the Rev. Cunningham Geikie, D.D., LL.D. (Edin.). Cheap Edition, with 24 Collotype Plates, 12s. 6d.
- Life of Christ, The. By the Very Rev. Dean FARRAR, D.D., F.R.S., Chaplainin-Ordinary to the Queen.
 - CHEAP EDITION. With 16 Full-page Plates. Cloth gilt, 3s. 6d.
 POPULAR EDITION. Cloth, 7s. 6d. Persian morocco, gilt edges, 10s. 6d.
 ILLUSTRATED EDITION. Cloth, 7s. 6d. Cloth, full gilt, gilt edges, 10s. 6d.
 LIBRARY EDITION. Two Vols. Cloth, 24s.; morocco, 42s.
- Moses and Geology; or, the Harmony of the Bible with Science. the Rev. Samuel Kinns, Ph.D., F.R.A.S. Illustrated. Library Ed Library Edition, revised to date, 10s. 6d.
- My Last Will and Testament. By Hyacinthe Loyson (Père Hyacinthe).

 Translated by Fabian Ware. 18.; cloth, 18. 6d.

 New Light on the Bible and the Holy Land. By Basil T. A. Evetts, M.A.
- Illustrated, Cloth, 7s. 6d.

 Old and New Testaments, Plain Introductions to the Books of the
- taining Contributions by many Eminent Divines. In Two Vols., 3s. 6d. each.

 Plain Introductions to the Books of the Old Testament. 336 pages. Edited by
- the Right Rev. C. J. ELLICOTT, D.D., Lord Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol. 3s. 6d.
- Plain Introductions to the Books of the New Testament. 304 pages. Edited by the Right Rev. C. J. ELLICOTT, D.D., Lord Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol. 3s. 6d. Protestantism, The History of. By the Rev. J. A. WYLIE, LL.D. Containing upwards of 600 Original Illustrations. Three Vols., 27s.

 "Quiver" Yearly Volume, The. With about 600 Original Illustrations and
- upwards of 600 Original Illustrations. Inree vois., 275.

 "Quiver" Yearly Volume, The. With about 600 Original Illustrations and Coloured Frontispiece. 7s. 6d. Also Monthly, 6d.

 St. George for England; and other Sermons preached to Children.

 Edition. By the Rev. T. TEIGMMOUTH SHORE, M.A., Canon of Worcester.

 St. Paul, The Life and Work of. By the Very Rev. Dean FARRAR, D.D., F.R.S.
- LIBRARY EDITION. Two Vols., cloth, 24s.; calf, 42s.

 ILLUSTRATED EDITION, One Vol., £1 1s.; morocco, £2 2s.

 POPULAR EDITION. One Vol., 8vo. cloth, 6s.; Persian morocco, 10s. 6d.; tree-
- calf, 15s. 3s. 6d.
- Searchings in the Silence. By Rev. George Matheson, D.D.
- Shall We Know One Another in Heaven? By the Rt. Rev. J. C. Ryle, D.D.,
 Bishop of Liverpool. New and Enlarged Edition. Paper covers, 6d.

 Shortened Church Services and Hymns, suitable for use at Children's Services.
 Compiled by the Rev. T. Teignmouth Shore, M.A., Canon of Worcester.

 Enlarged Edition. 18.
- Signa Christi: Evidences of Christianity set forth in the Person and Work of
- Christ. By the Rev. James Attentson. 2s. 6d.
 "Sunday:" Its Origin, History, and Present Obligation. By the Ven. Archdeacon Hessey, D.C.L. Fifth Edition, 7s. 6d.
 Twilight of Life, The: Words of Counsel and Comfort for the Aged. By
- JOHN ELLERTON, M.A. 18. 6d.



Educational Morks and Students' Manuals.

Agricultural Text-Books, Cassell's. (The "Downton" Series.) Fully Illustrated-Edited by John Wrightson, Professor of Agriculture. Soils and Manures. By J. M. H. Munro, D.Sc. (London), F.I.C., F.C.S. 2s. 6d. Farm Crops. By Pro-fessor Wrightson. 2s. 6d. Lave Stock. By Professor Wrightson. 2s. 6d. By Pro-

Alphabet, Cassell's Pictorial. Mounted on Linen, with rollers. 3s. 6d.

Arithmetic: -Howard's Art of Reckoning. By C. F. Howard. Paper, 1s.; cloth, 2s. Enlarged Edition, 5s.

Arithmetics, The "Belle Sauvage." By GEORGE RICKS, B.Sc. Lond. With

Test Cards. (List on application.)
Atlas, Cassell's Popular. Containing 24 Coloured Maps. 1s. 6d.

Book-Keeping. By Theodore Jones. For Schools, 2s.; or cloth, 3s. For THE MILLION, 2s.; or cloth, 3s. Books for Jones's System, Ruled Sets of, 2s.

British Empire Map of the World. New Map for Schools and Institutes. By G. R. Parkin and J. G. Bartholomew, F.R.G.S. Mounted on cloth, varnished, and with Rollers or Folded. 25s.

Chemistry, The Public School. By J. H. Anderson, M.A. 2s. 6d.

Cookery for Schools. By Lizzie Heritage. 6d.

Dulce Domum. Rhymes and Songs for Children. Edited by John Farmer,
Editor of "Gaudeamus," &c. Old Notation and Words, 5s. N.B.—The Words of
the Songs in "Dulce Domum" (with the Airs both in Tonic Sol-Fa and Old Notation) can be had in Two Parts, 6d. each.

English Literature, A First Sketch of, from the Earliest Period to the Present Time. By Prof. Henry Morley. 7s, 6d.
Euclid, Cassell's. Edited by Prof. WALLACE, M.A. 1s.

Euclid, The First Four Books of. New Edition. In paper, 6d.; cloth, 9d.

French, Cassell's Lessons in. New and Revised Edition. Parts I. and II., each, 2s. 6d.; complete, 4s. 6d. Key, 1s. 6d.

French-English and English-French Dictionary. Entirely New and Enlarged Edition. 1,150 pages, 8vo, cloth, 3s. 6d.; half-morocco, 5s.

French Reader, Cassell's Public School. By GUILLAUME S. CONRAD. 25. 6d. Galbraith and Haughton's Scientific Manuals.

Plane Trigonometry. 2s. 6d. Euclid. Books I., II., III. 2s. 6d. Books IV., V., VI. 2s. 6d. Mathematical Tables. 3s. 6d. Mechanics. 2s. 6d. Optics. 2s. 6d. Hydrostatics. 2s. 6d. Algebra. Part I., cloth, 2s. 6d. Complete, 7s. 6d. Tides and Tidal Currents, with Tidal Cards, 2s. Gaudeamus. Songs for Colleges and Schools. Edited by JOHN FARMER. 58.

Words only, paper, 6d.; cloth, 9d. Geometrical Drawing for Army Candidates. By H. T. Lilley, M.A. 2s, 6d. Geometry, First Elements of Experimental. By PAUL BERT. Illustrated. 15.6d. Geometry, Practical Solid, By Major Ross, R.E. 2s.

German Dictionary, Cassell's New. German-English, English-German. Cheap Edition, cloth, 3s. 6d.; half-morocco, 5s.

German Reading, First Lessons in. By A. JÄGST. Illustrated. 18.

Hand and Eye Training. By GEORGE RICKS, B.Sc., and JOSEPH VAUGHAN.

Illustrated. Vol. I. Designing with Coloured Papers. Vol. II. Cardboard Work.

28. each. Vol. III. Colour Work and Design, 38.

Hand and Eye Training. By G. RICKS, B.Sc. Two Vols., with 16 Coloured

Plates in each Vol. Crown 4to, 6s. each.
"Hand and Eye Training" Cards for Class Work. Five sets in case. 1s. each. Historical Cartoons, Cassell's Coloured. Size 45 in. x 35 in. 2s. each. Mounted on canvas and varuished, with rollers, 5s. each. (Descriptive pamphlet, 16 pp., 1d.) Italian Lessons, with Exercises, Cassell's. In One Vol. 3s. 6d.

Latin Dictionary, Cassell's New. (Latin-English and English-Latin.) Revised by J. R. V. MARCHANT, M.A., and J. F. CHARLES, B.A. 3s. 6d.; half-moreoco, 5s.

Latin Primer, The New. By Prof. J. P. Postgate. 2s. 6d.

Latin Primer, The First. By Prof. POSTGATE. 18.

Latin Prose for Lower Forms. By M. A. BAYFIELD, M.A. 28. 6d.

Laws of Every-Day Life. For the Use of Schools. By H. O. ARNOLD-FORSTER. M.P. 13. 6d. Special Edition on green paper for those with weak eyesight, 13. 6d.

- Lessons in Our Laws; or, Talks at Broadacre Farm. By H. F. Lester, B.A. Part I.: The Makers and Carriers-Out of the Law. Part II.: Law Courts and Local Rule, &c. 1s. 6d. each.
- Little Folks' History of England. By ISA CRAIG-KNOX. Illustrated. 15. 6d. Making of the Home, The. By Mrs. Samuel A. Barnett. is. 6d.
- Marlborough Books:—Arithmetic Examples. 3s. French Exercises. Grammar, 2s. 6d. German Grammar. 3s. 6d.
- Mechanics for Young Beginners, A First Book of. By the Rev. J. G. EASTON, M.A. Cheap Edition, 2s. 6d.
- Mechanics and Machine Design, Numerical Examples in Practical. By R. G. BLAINE, M.E. New Edition, Revised and Enlarged. With 79 Illustrations. Cloth, 2s. 6d.
- Natural History Coloured Wall Sheets, Cassell's New. Consisting of 16 subjects. Size, 39 by 31 in. Mounted on rollers and varnished. 3s. each.
- Object Lessons from Nature. By Prof. L. C. MIALL, F.L.S., F.G.S. Fully Illustrated. New and Enlarged Edition. Two Vols. 1s. 6d. each.
- Physiology for Schools. By ALFRED T. SCHOFIELD, M.D., M.R.C.S., &c. Illustrated. 1s. od. Three Parts, paper covers, 5d. each; or cloth limp, 6d. each.
- Poetry Readers, Cassell's New. Illustrated. 12 Books. 1d. each. Cloth, 1s. 6d.
- Popular Educator, Cassell's New. With Revised Text, New Maps, New Coloured Plates, New Type, &c. Complete in Eight Vols., 5s. each; or Eight Vols. in Four, half-morocco, 5os.
- Readers, Cassell's "Belle Sauvage." An Entirely New Series. trated. Strongly bound in cloth. (List on application.)
- Reader, The Citizen. By H. O. ARNOLD-FORSTER, M.P. Cloth, is. 6d.; also a Scottish Edition, cloth, 1s. 6d.
- Reader, The Temperance. By Rev. J. DENNIS HIRD. 18. 6d.
- Readers, Cassell's "Higher Class." (List on application.)
- Readers, Cassell's Readable. Illustrated. (List on application.)
- Readers for Infant Schools, Coloured. Three Books. 4d. each.
- Readers, Geographical, Cassell's New. With Numerous Illustrations in each Book. (List on application.)
- Readers, The Modern Geographical. Illustrated throughout. (Liston application.)
- Readers, The Modern School. Illustrated. (List on application.)
- Reading and Spelling Book, Cassell's Illustrated. 18.
- Round the Empire. By G. R. PARKIN. With a Preface by the Rt. Hon. the Earl of Rosebery, K.G. Fully Illustrated. 18. 6d.
- Science Applied to Work. By J. A. Bower. Illustrated. 1s.
- Science of Every-Day Life. By J. A. BOWER. Illustrated. 1s.
- Sculpture, A Primer of. By E. ROSCOE MULLINS. Illustrated. 2s. 6d.
- Shade from Models, Common Objects, and Casts of Ornament, How to. By W. E. Sparkes. With 25 Plates by the Author. 3s.

 Shakspere's Plays for School Use. Illustrated. 9 Books. 6d. each.
- Spelling, A Complete Manual of. By J. D. Morell, LL.D. is.
- Technical Educator, Cassell's New. An entirely New Cyclopædia of Technical Education, with Coloured Plates and Engravings. Complete in Six Vols., 5s. each.
- Technical Manuals, Cassell's. Illustrated throughout. 16 Vols., from 2s. to 4s. 6d. (List free on application.)
- Technology, Manuals of. Edited by Prof. AYRTON, F.R.S., and RICHARD WORMELL, D.Sc., M.A. Illustrated throughout. (List on application.)
- Things New and Old; or, Stories from English History. By H. O. ARNOLD-FORSTER, M.P. Fully Illustrated. Strongly bound in Cloth. Standards I. and II., 9d. each; Standard III., 1s.; Standard IV., 1s. 3d.; Standards V. and VI., 1s. 6d. each; Standard VII., 1s. 8d.
- World of Ours, This. By H. O. ARNOLD-FORSTER, M.P. Fully Illustrated. 3s. 6d.

Books for Poung People.

"Little Folks" Half-Yearly Volume. Containing 480 pages of Letterpress, with Pictures on nearly every page, together with Six Full-page Plates printed in Colours. Coloured boards, 3s. 6d.; or cloth gilt, gilt edges, 5s.

86p. A Book for the Little Ones. With Original Stories and Verses. Illustrated with beautiful Pictures on nearly every page, and Four Full-page Plates in Colours. Yearly Vol. Elegant picture boards, 25. 6d.; cloth, 35. 6d. Bo-Peep. A Book for the Little Ones.

Beneath the Banner. Being Narratives of Noble Lives and Brave Deeds. By F. J. Cross. Illustrated. Limp cloth, za.; cloth boards, gilt edges, 2s.

Good Morning! Good Night! Morning and Evening Readings for Children, by the Author of "Beneath the Banner." Fully Illustrated. Limp cloth, 1s., or cloth

boards, gilt edges, 2s.

Five Stars in a Little Pool, By EDITH CARRINGTON, Illustrated. Cheap Edition, 3s 6d.

Merry Girls of England. By L. T. MEADE. 3s, 6d.

Beyond the Blue Mountains. By L. T. MEADE. Illustrated. 58.

The Cost of a Mistake. By SARAH PITT. Illustrated. New Edition. 2s. 6d. The Peep of Day. Cassell's Illustrated Edition. 2s. 6d.

A Book of Merry Tales. By Maggie Browne, Sheila, Isabel Wilson, and C. L. MATÉAUX. Illustrated. 3s. 6d.

A Sunday Story-Book. By Maggie Browne, Sam Browne, and Aunt Ethel. Illustrated. 3s. 6d.

A Bundle of Tales. By Maggie Browne, Sam Browne, & Aunt Ethel. 3s. 6d Story Poems for Young and Old. By E. DAVENPORT. 3s. 6d.

Pleasant Work for Busy Fingers. By MAGGIE BROWNE, Illustrated. Cheap

Edition. 28. 6d., c at Home. By Prof. HOFFMAN. Fully Illustrated. Magic at Home. A Series of easy and startling Conjuring Tricks for Beginners. Cloth gilt, 3s. 6d.

Schoolroom and Home Theatricals. By ARTHUR WAUGH, tions by H. A. J. Miles. New Edition. Cloth, is. 6d.

Little Mother Bunch. By Mrs. Molesworth. Illustrated. New Edition. 2s. 6d. Heroes of Every-Day Life. By LAURA LANE, With about 20 Full-page Illustrations. 256 pages, crown 8vo, cloth, 2s. 6d.

Ships, Sailors, and the Sea. By R. J. Cornewall-Jones. throughout, and containing a Coloured Plate of Naval Flags. Cheap Edition, 28. 6d. With Four Original

unrougnout, and containing a Coloured Plate of Naval Flagi
Gift Books for Young People. By Popular Authors.
Illustrations in each. Cloth gilt, 1s. 6d. each.
The Boy Hunters of Kentucky, By
Edward S. Ellis.
Red Feather: a Tale of the American
Frontier. By Edward S. Ellis.
Pritters; or, "It's a Long Lane that has
no Turning."
Trixy; or, "Those who Live in Glass
Houses shouldn't throw Stones."
The Two Hardoastles.
Beeking a City.
Rhoda's Reward.
"Golden Mottons." Savias Tha

"Golden Mottoes" Series, The. Each Book containing 208 pages, with Four full-page Original Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth gilt, 2s. each. "Nil Desperandum." By the Rev. F. Lang-

bridge, M.A. "Bear and Forbear." By Sarah Pitt.
"Foremost if I Can." By Helen Atteridge.

"Cross and Crown" Series, The. With Four Illustrations in each Book. Crown

8vo, 256 pages, 2s. 6d. each.

Heroes of the Indian Empire; or, Stories of Valour and Viotory. By Emest Foster. Through Trial to Triumph; or, "The Royal Way." By Madeline Bonavia Hunt. In Letters of Flame: A Story of the Waldenses. By C. L. Mateaux. Strong to Suffer: A Story of the Jews. By E. Wynne.

Jack Marston's Anchor. Frank's Life-Battle. Major Monk's Motto; or, "Look Before you Lesp." Tim Thomson's Trial; or, "All is not Gold

Tim Thomson's Trial; or, "All is not Gold that Gitters."
Ursula's Stumbling-Block.
Buth's Life-Work; or, "No Pains, no Gains,"
Rags and Rainbows.
Uncle William's Charge.
Pretty Pink's Purpose.

"Honour is my Guide." By Jeanie Hering
(Mrs. Adams-Acton).
Aim at a Bure Band." By Emily Searchfield.
"He Conquers who Endures." By the Author
of "May Cunningham's Trial," &c.

By Fire and Sword: A Story of the Hugue-nots. By Thomas Archer. Adam Hepburn's Vow: A Tale of Kirk and Overnant. By Annie S. Swan. No. XIII.; or, The Story of the Lost Vestal. A Tale of Early Christian Days. By Raman Marshall.

Freedom's Sword: A Story of the Days of Wallace and Bruce. By Annie S. Swen.

Albums for Children. Price 3s. 6d. each.

The Album for Home, School, and Play. | My Own Album of Animals. Illustrated. Set in bold type, and illustrated throughout. | Ficture Album of All Borts. Illustrated. The Chit-Chat Album. Illustrated.

"Wanted-a King" Series. Cheap Edition. Illustrated. 2s. 6d. each.

Great-Grandmamma. By Georgina M. Synge, Pairy Tales in Other Lands. By Julia God-dard.

Robin's Ride. By Filinor Davenport Adams.

Wanted-a King; or, How Merle set the Nursery Rhymes to Rights. By Maggle Browne.

Wild Adventures in Wild Places. By Dr. Gordon Stables, R.N. Illustrated. Modern Explorers. By Thomas Frost, Illustrated. New and Cheaper Edition. Early Explorers. By Thomas Frost. Home Chat with our Young Folks. Illus-

Jungle, Peak, and Plain. Illustrated throughout.

Cloth gilt, 2s. 6d. each.

"Peeps Abroad" Library. Cheap Editions.

Rambles Round London. By C. L.
Matéaux. Illustrated.
Around and About Old England. By C.
L. Matéaux. Illustrated.
Paws and Claws. By one of the Authors of
"Poems Written for a Child." Illustrated.
Decisive Evente in History. By Thomas
Archer, With Original Illustrations.
The True Robinson Orusoes.
Peops Abroad for Folks at Rome. Illustrated throughout.

Three-and-Sixpenny Books for Young People. With Original Illustrations. Cloth gilt, 3s. 6d. each.

Told Out of School. By A. J. Daniels. + Red Rose and Tiger Lily. By L. T. Meade.

The Romance of Invention. By James Burnley.

† Bashful Fifteen. By L. T. MEADE

The King's Command. A Story for Girls.
By Maggie Symington.

↑ A Sweet Girl Graduate. By L. T. Meade.

† The White House at Inch Gow. By Sarah Pitt.

+ Polly. By L T. Meade.

trated throughout

† The Palace Beautiful. By L. T. Meade. "Follow my Leader." For Fortune and Glory.

Lost among White Africans. † A World of Girls, By L. T. Meade.

Books marked thus + can also be had in extra cloth gilt, gilt edges, 5s. each.

Books by Edward S. Ellis. Illustrated. Cloth, 2s. 6d. each.

The Great Cattle Trail. The Path in the Ravine. The Young Ranchers. The Hunters of the Ozark.
The Camp in the Mountains.
Ned in the Woods. A Tale
of Early Days in the West. Down the Mississippi.
The Last War Trail.
Ned on the River. A Tale
of Indian River Warfare.
Footprints in the Forest
Up the Tapajos.
A Story of Floneer Life in
Kentucky.

The Lost Trail.
Camp-Fire and Wigwam.
Lost in the Wilds.
Lost in Samoa. A Tale of
Adventure in the Navigator
Islands.
Tad; or, "Getting Even"

Tad; or, "Getting with Him. Shod with Silence.

Cassell's Picture Story Books. Each containing 60 pages. 6d. each.

Little Talks. Bright Stars. Nursery Joys. Pet's Posy. Tiny Tales. Daisy's Story Book.
Dot's Story Book.
A Nest of Stories.
Good Night Stories.
Chats for Small Chatterers.

Auntie's Stories. Birdie's Story Book. Little Chimes. A Sheaf of Tales. Dewdrop Stories.

Illustrated Books for the Little Ones. Containing interesting Stories. All Illustrated. 1s. each; or cloth gilt, 1s. 6d.

Illustrated. Is, each; or Bright Tales and Funny Pictures. Merry Little Tales. Little Tales. Little Teles for Little People and Their Pets. Tales Told for Sunday. Tales Told for Sunday. Broople. Stories and Pictures for Sunday.

Seventeen Cats.
Bunty and the Boys.
The Heir of Eimdale.
The Mystery at Shoneliff
School.
Claimed at Last, and Roy's Reward. Thorns and Tangles.

Bible Pictures for Boys and Girls. Firelight Stories. Sunlight and Shade. Eub-a-dub Tales. Fine Feathers and Fluffy Fine Feathers and Fiu:
Fur.
Scrambles and Scrapes.
Tittle Tattle Tales.
Dumb Friends. Indoors and Out. Some Farm Friends.

Those Golden Sands.
Little Mothers and their
Children.
Our Pretty Pets.
Our Schoolday Hours.
Creatures Tame.
Creatures Wild.
Up and Down the Garden.
All Sorts of Adventures.
Our Sunday Stories.
Our Holiday Hours.
Wandering Ways.

Shilling Story Books. All Illustrated, and containing Interesting Stories.

The Cuckoo in the Robin's John's Mistake. (Nest. Diamonds in the Sand. Surly Bob. The History of Five Little Pitchers. Pitchers. Chadle. Shag and Doll.

Aunt Lucia's Locket.
The Magic Mirror.
The Cost of Revenge.
Clever Frank.
Among the Bedskins.
The Ferryman of Brill.
Harry Maxwell.
A Banished Monarch.



Selections from Cassell & Company's Publications.

Eighteenpenny Story Books. All Illustrated throughout.

Wee Willie Winkie.

Ups and Downs of a DonRoy's Life Unister Lessies.

Three Wee Unister Lessies.

Dick's Hero; & other Stories.

The Chip Boy.

Raggles, Baggles, and the Emperor.

Tom Morris's Error.
Worth more than Gold.
"Through Flood—Through Fire."
The Girl with the Golden
Looks.
"Through of the Olden Time. Stories of the Olden Time.

Library of Wonders. Illustrated Gift-books for Boys. Cloth, 1s. 6d. Wonders of Animal Instinct.
Wonderful Balloon Ascents.
Wonders of Bodily Strength and Skill. Wonderful Adventures. Wonderful Escapes.

The "World in Pictures" Series. Illustrated throughout. Cheap Edition, 1s. 6d. each.

A Ramble Round France. All the Bussias. Chats about Germany. Peeps into China. The Land of Pyramids (Egypt).

The Eastern Wonderland (Japan). Glimpses of South America. Round Africa. The Land of Temples (India) The Isles of the Pacific.

Two-Shilling Story Books. All Illustrated.

Margaret's Enemy. margarets Enemy.
Stories of the Tower.
Mr. Burke's Niccea.
May Cunningham's Trial.
The Top of the Ladder:
How to Reach it.
Little Flotsam. Madge and her Friends. The Children of the Court. Maid Marjory. The Four Cats of the Tippertons.
Marion's Two Homes.
Little Folks' Sunday Book. Two Fourpenny Bits.
Poor Nelly.
Tom Heriot.
Aunt Tabitha's Waifs.
In Mischief Again.
Through Peril to Fortune.
Peggy, and other Tales.

Half-Crown Story Books. In Quest of Gold; or, Under the Whanga Falls. On Board the Esmeralds; or, Martin Leigh's Log. Esther West.

Three Homes. For Queen and King. Perils Afloat and Brigands Ashore.

Working to Win. At the South Pole. Pictures of School Life and Boyhood.

Cassell's Pictorial Scrap Book. In Twenty-four Books, each containing 32 pages, 6d. each.

Books for the Little Ones. Fully Illustrated.

Rhymes for the Young Folk. By William Allingham. Beautifully Illustrated. 18. 6d.

The Sunday Scrap Book. With Several Hundred Illustrations. Boards, 3s. 6d.; cloth, gilt edges, 5s.

The New "Little Folks" Painting Book. Containin
Colouring. 1s.

Cassell's Bobinson Crusoe. With too Illustrations. Cloth, 3s. 6d.; gilt edges, 5s. The Old Fairy Tales. With Original Illus-trations. Cloth, 1s. Cassell's Swiss Family Bobinson. Illus-trated. Cloth, 3s. 6d.; gilt edges, 5s.

Containing nearly 350 Outline Illustrations suitable for

The World's Workers. A Series of New and Original Volumes by Popular Authors. With Portraits printed on a tint as Frontispiece. 18. each.

John Cassell, By G. Holden Pike. Charles Haddon Spurgeon. By G. Holden Pike.

File.
Dr. Arnold of Rugby. By Rose E. Selfe.
The Earl of Shaftesbury.
Sarah Robinson, Agnes Weston, and Mrs.
Meredith.
Thomas A. Edison and Samuel F. B. Morse.
Mrs. Somerville and Mary Carpenter.
General Gordon.
Charles Dickons.
Florence Nightingale, Catherine Marsh,
Frances Ricley Havorgal, Mrs. Ranyard (* L. M. L.*).

Dr. Guthrie, Father Mathew, Elihu Burritt, Joseph Livesey.

Sir Henry Havelock and Colin Campbell Lord Clyde.

Abraham Lincoln.

David Livingstone. George Muller and Andrew Reed. Richard Cobden. Benjamin Franklin. Handel.

Hange. Turner the Artist. George and Robert Stephenson. Sir Titus Salt and George Moore. . The above Works can also be had Three in One Vol., cloth, gilt edges, 35.

CASSELL & COMPANY, Limited, Ludgate Hill, London: Paris & Melbourne.

This book should be returned to the Library on or before the last date stamped below.

A fine is incurred by retaining it beyond the specified time.

Please return promptly.

